FORTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS



INTERACTION OF BCI WITH THE UNDERLYING NEUROLOGICAL CONDITIONS IN PATIENTS: PROS AND CONS

Topic Editors Aleksandra Vuckovic, Jaime A. Pineda, Kristen LaMarca, Disha Gupta and Christoph Guger





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-489-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-489-6

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

INTERACTION OF BCI WITH THE UNDERLYING NEUROLOGICAL CONDITIONS IN PATIENTS: PROS AND CONS

Topic Editors:

Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of Glasgow, UK Jaime A. Pineda, University of California, USA Kristen LaMarca, California School of Professional Psychology, USA Disha Gupta, Burke-Cornell Medical Research Institute, USA Christoph Guger, Guger Technologies OG, Austria



The subject's EEG is recorded using BioInfiniti, a Thought Technology Ltd. software that measures EEG, EMG, ECG, respiration and skin conductance. The EEG signal is fed into the game itself and provides the user with visual feedback (positive feedback indicated in green and negative feedback in red). Through this feedback, subjects learn to change brain activity voluntarily and thus control the game. In the social interaction sequences, the child's avatar (i.e. child with the blond hair) must approach the non-player character (NPC; child with the hat) and while facing him, the player has to

change mu power volitionally. In the course of sessions, mu is shaped to increase and theta and beta frequencies were shaped to decrease. The rewarding feedback is the child's avatar imitating the facial emotion of the NPC. Figure taken from Friedrich EVC, Suttie N, Sivanathan A, Lim T, Louchart S and Pineda JA (2014) Brain–computer interface game applications for combined neurofeedback and biofeedback treatment for children on the autism spectrum. Front. Neuroeng. 7:21. doi: 10.3389/ fneng.2014.00021.

Table of Contents

06 Interaction of BCI with the Underlying Neurological Conditions in Patients: Pros and Cons

Aleksandra Vuckovic, Jaime A. Pineda, Kristen LaMarca, Disha Gupta and Christoph Guger

09 Neurorehabilitation of Social Dysfunctions: A Model-Based Neurofeedback Approach for Low and High-Functioning Autism

Jaime A. Pineda, Elisabeth V. C. Friedrich and Kristen LaMarca

- 15 Brain–Computer Interface Game Applications for Combined Neuro Feedback and Biofeedback Treatment for Children on the Autism Spectrum Elisabeth V. C. Friedrich, Neil Suttie , Aparajithan Sivanathan, Theodore Lim, Sandy Louchart and Jaime A. Pineda
- 22 Challenges in Clinical Applications of Brain Computer Interfaces in Individuals with Spinalcord Injury Rüdiger Rupp
- 37 Effectiveness of the P3-Speller in Brain–Computer Interfaces for Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Mauro Marchetti and Konstantinos Priftis
- 43 Brain-Computer Interface-Based Robotic End Effector System for Wrist and Hand Rehabilitation: Results of a Three-Armed Randomized Controlled Trial for Chronic Stroke

KaiKeng Ang, Cuntai Guan, Kok Soon Phua, Chuanchu Wang, Longjiang Zhou, Ka Yin Tang, Gopal J. Ephraim Joseph, Christopher Wee Keong Kuah and Karen Sui Geok Chua

52 Brain-Computer interface with Somatosensory Feedback Improves Functional Recovery From Severe Hemiplegia Due to Chronic Stroke

Takashi Ono, Keiichiro Shindo, Kimiko Kawashima, NaokiOta, Marilto, Tetsuo Ota, Masahiko Mukaino, Toshiyuki Fujiwara, Akio Kimura, Meigen Liu and Junichi Ushiba

60 Case Report: Post-Stroke Interventional BCI Rehabilitation in an Individual with Preexisting Sensorineural Disability

Brittany M. Young, Zack Nigogosyan, Veena A. Nair, Léo M. Walton, Jie Song, Mitchell E. Tyler, Dorothy F.Edwards, Kristin Caldera, Justin A. Sattin, Justin C. Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran

72 Characterizing Relationships of DTI, fMRI, and Motor Recovery in Stroke Rehabilitation Utilizing Brain-Computer Interface Technology

Jie Song, Brittany M. Young, Zack Nigogosyan, Leo M. Walton, Veena A. Nair, Scott W. Grogan, Mitchell E.Tyler, Dorothy Farrar-Edwards, Kristin E. Caldera, Justin A. Sattin, Justin C. Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran 83 Changes in Functional Brain Organization and Behavioral Correlations After Rehabilitative Therapy Using a Brain-Computer Interface

Brittany M. Young, Zack Nigogosyan, Léo M. Walton, Jie Song, Veena A. Nair, Scott W. Grogan, Mitchell E.Tyler, Dorothy F. Edwards, Kristin Caldera, Justin A. Sattin, Justin C. Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran

- 98 Changes in Functional Connectivity Correlate with Behavioral Gains in Stroke Patients After Therapy Using a Brain-Computer Interface Device
 Brittany Mei Young, Zack Nigogosyan, Alexander Remsik, Léo M. Walton, Jie Song, Veena A. Nair, Scott W. Grogan, Mitchell E.Tyler, Dorothy Farrar Edwards, Kristin Caldera, Justin A.Sattin, Justin C.Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran
- 110 Movement-Related Cortical Potentials in Paraplegic Patients: Abnormal Patterns and Considerations for BCI-Rehabilitation Ren Xu, Ning Jiang, Aleksandra Vuckovic, Muhammad Hasan, Natalie Mrachacz-Kersting, David Allan, Matthew Fraser, Bahman Nasseroleslami, Bernie Conway, Kim Dremstrup and Dario Farina
- **119** Exploration of the Neural Correlates of Cerebral Palsy for Sensorimotor BCI Control Ian Daly, Josef Faller, Reinhold Scherer, Catherine M. Sweeney-Reed, SlawomirJ.Nasuto, Martin Billinger and Gernot R. Müller-Putz

Interaction of BCI with the underlying neurological conditions in patients: pros and cons

Aleksandra Vuckovic¹*, Jaime A. Pineda², Kristen LaMarca³, Disha Gupta⁴ and Christoph Guger⁵

¹ School of Engineering, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK

³ Clinical Psychology, California School of Professional Psychology, San Diego, CA, USA

⁴ Burke Rehabilitation Center, Burke-Cornell Medical Research Institute, White Plains, NY, USA

⁵ Guger Technologies OG, g.tec medical engineering GmbH, Graz, Austria

*Correspondence: aleksandra.vuckovic@glasgow.ac.uk

Edited and reviewed by:

Laura Ballerini, University of Trieste, Italy

Keywords: BCI performance, patients, amyothopic lateral sclerosys, spinal cord injury, autism spectrum disorders, stroke volume, cerebral palsy

The primary purpose of clinical Brain Computer Interface (BCI) systems is to help patients communicate with their environment or to aid in their recovery. BCI can be used to replace, restore, enhance, supplement, or improve natural Central Neural System (CNS) output (Wolpaw and Wolpaw, 2012).

A common denominator for all BCI patient groups is that they suffer from a neurological deficit. As a consequence, BCI systems in clinical and research settings operate with control signals (brain waves) that could be substantially altered compared to brain waves of able-bodied individuals. Most BCI systems are built and tested on able-bodied individuals, being insufficiently robust for clinical applications. The main reason for this is a lack of systematic analysis on how different neurological problems affect the BCI performance.

This special issue highlights interaction of BCI systems with the underlying neurological problems and how performance of these BCI system differ compared to similar systems tested on healthy individuals. The issue presents 4 reviews (Friedrich et al., 2014; Pineda et al., 2014; Priftis, 2014; Rupp, 2014) and 8 experimental studies (Ang et al., 2014; Daly et al., 2014; Ono et al., 2014; Song et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2014; Young et al., 2014a,b,c). It covers studies on five different patient groups: stroke (Ang et al., 2014; Ono et al., 2014; Song et al., 2014; Young et al., 2014a,b,c), spinal cord injury (SCI) (Rupp, 2014; Xu et al., 2014), autism (Friedrich et al., 2014; Pineda et al., 2014), cerebral palsy (CP) (Daly et al., 2014) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Priftis, 2014). Three different types of BCI are presented: motor imagery, P300 and neurofeedback (operant conditioning). In the presented papers, BCI has been used either on its own or in a combination with an external device such as a robot or a functional electrical stimulation (FES).

Review papers discuss several possible applications of BCI including methods to replace (Priftis, 2014; Rupp, 2014), restore (Rupp, 2014) and improve (Friedrich et al., 2014; Pineda et al., 2014; Rupp, 2014) natural CNP output. Several experimental studies in this special issue present BCI applications to improve and restore CNP functions (Ang et al., 2014; Ono et al., 2014; Young et al., 2014a,b) while some present basic research papers looking into the effect of BCI training on the cortical activity (Song et al., 2014; Young et al., 2014b,c) or exploring EEG

signature characteristic for a certain patient group, such as SCI or CP (Daly et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2014).

In two review articles Pineda et al. and Friedrich et al. look into the application of BCI on a relatively novel group of patients, autistic children, who show deficits in social and communicative skills, including imitation, empathy, and shared attention, as well as restricted interests and repetitive patterns of behaviors. They discuss evidences for model-based neurofeedback approach for treating autism and propose a BCI game for treating both high and low functioning autistic patients. The game is unique in that it includes social interactions and provides neural- and body-based feedback that corresponds directly to the underlying significance of the trained signals as well as to the behavior that is reinforced. A review by Rupp provides a comprehensive critical analysis of pros- and cons- of different types of BCI for spinal cord injured patients. He also discusses advantages and disadvantages of using BCI for communication, wheelchair and environmental control, control of neuroprosthesis and for clinical, rehabilitation purposes. This paper provides a valuable analysis of different medical and personal factors which might affect the performance of a BCI. While some of these factors are specific for spinal cord injured patients, many of them would exist in most patient groups using BCI. A review paper by Priftis provides a critical analysis of the evidences of the effectiveness of P300 speller as a communication tool for ALS patients. This is one of the rare application for which a commercially available solution exists (intendix, g.tec medical engineering GmbH, g.USBamp P300 model, Guger Technologies OG, Austria). While accuracy of this type of BCI reaches 90% in able-bodied, only 70% can be achieved in patients (Ortner et al., 2011). Priftis (2014) therefore concluded that requirements of ALS patients haven't been met yet, and highlights a striking fact that a tiny portion of published papers on P300 BCI presents experimental studies on ALS patients.

Papers showing experimental results in the special issue are either oriented toward rehabilitation or toward a basic science research. Stroke remains the most frequently tested patient population. In a randomized controlled trial on 21 chronic stroke patients, Ang et al. compare three hand and arm rehabilitation therapies, BCI with a haptic knob (HK) robot, HK alone or a

² Department of Cognitive Science, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA

standard physiotherapy. They provided evidences for BCI-HK group achieving significantly larger motor gain than the other two groups.

Ono et al. combined motor imagery based BCI with two different types of feedback for rehabilitation of hand function in chronic stroke patients; a visual and somatosensory. While both feedback modalities increased cortical response, as measured by the intensity of event-related desynchronization (ERD), only BCI training with somatosensory feedback provided improved motor function. This paper therefore demonstrates that changes in the cortical level might not necessarily be indicators of functional recovery.

An interesting case study by Young et al. (2014a), which fits well with the topic of the special issue, investigated how the preexisting neurological condition (congenital deafness) of a stroke patient influences performance of BCI system used for motor rehabilitation. The same research group provided a comprehensive analysis on the influence of BCI training on functional brain connectivity and brain organization, as measured by EEG and fMRI and it's relation to motor gains (Song et al., 2014; Young et al., 2014b,c). In a controlled study on 14 chronic hemiplegic patients they showed that only a treatment group, which received BCI-FES therapy, showed differential changes in brain activity patterns between lesioned and non lesioned hemisphere, which were associated with changes in a specific motor function (Young et al., 2014b). Using diffusion tensor imagining they showed that baseline fractional anisotropy of the posterior limb of the internal capsule predicts motor recovery (Song et al., 2014). They also used fMRI to measure brain activity in stroke patients in a simple tapping task before and after a BCI intervention, showing that task-based functional connectivity correlates with gain in the motor outcome. However they also gave a word of warning indicating that BCI therapy might produce both adaptive and maladaptive changes (Young et al., 2014c).

Xu et al. compared movement related cortical potentials (MRCP) between three groups: able bodied volunteers, chronic paraplegic patients with central neuropathic pain and chronic paraplegic patients with no pain. They found significantly larger MRCP in both paraplegic patients groups compared to ablebodied people, independent on the underlying sensory loss or presence of chronic pain. This contrasts studies based on ERD analysis, in which paralysis and pain showed differential effect on the activity of the sensory-motor cortex (Vuckovic et al., 2014) and in which paraplegic patients with no pain have weaker ERD signatures than able-bodied people (Pfurtscheller et al., 2009; Vuckovic et al., 2014); the study indicates that in this patient group, for motor imagery based BCI, time and phase locked MRCP might be a better suited feature than time but not phase locked ERD.

Daly et al. provided one of the rare BCI studies on adults with CP. They showed that motor imagery in patients with CP results in significantly less ERD and less functional connectivity compared to the able-bodied, indicating potentially lower BCI performances.

In summary, for BCIs it is still a long way to presenting an adequate replacement of the existing technologies for communication and control in patients with a minimum of preserved motor and cognitive function. Rehabilitation seems to be the area which provides the most immediate measure of benefit to a user. Rehabilitation is limited to a certain period of time and is typically performed in clinical environment, therefore can be operated by a clinically trained person. Recent tendencies to prolonged, home based rehabilitation will however likely increase requirements for a rehabilitation BCI in respect to size, price, esthetic, and user friendliness.

We are optimistic that this special issue will generate a body of knowledge valuable both to researchers working with clinical populations, but also to a vast majority of BCI researchers testing new algorithms on able-bodied people. This should lead toward more robust or tailor-made BCI protocols, facilitating translation of research from laboratories to the end users.

REFERENCES

- Ang, K. K., Guan, C., Phua, K. S., Wang, C., Zhou, L., Tang, K. Y., et al. (2014). Brain-computer interface-based robotic end effector system for wrist and hand rehabilitation: results of a three-armed randomized controlled trial for chronic stroke. *Front. Neuroeng*, 7:30. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00030
- Daly, I., Faller, J., Scherer, R., Sweeney-Reed, C. M., Nasuto, S., Billinger, M., et al. (2014). Exploration of the neural correlates of cerebral palsy for sensorimotor BCI control. *Front. Neuroeng*, 7:20. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00020
- Friedrich, E. V. C., Suttie, N., Sivanathan, A., Lim, T., Louchart, S., and Pineda, J. A. (2014). Brain-computer interface game applications for combined neurofeedback and biofeedback treatment for children on the autism spectrum. *Front. Neuroeng*, 7:21. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00021
- Ono, T., Shindo, K., Kawashima, K., Ota, N., Ito, M., Ota, T., et al. (2014). Brain-computer interface with somatosensory feedback improves functional recovery from severe hemiplegia due to chronic stroke. *Front. Neuroeng.* 7:19. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00019
- Ortner, R., Aloise, F., Prückl, R., Schettini, F., Putz, V., Scharinger, J., et al. (2011). Accuracy of a P300 speller for people with motor impairments: a comparison. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 42, 214–218. doi: 10.1177/155005941104 200405
- Pfurtscheller, G., Linortner, P., Winkler, R., Korisek, G., and Müller-Putz, G. (2009). Discrimination of motor imagery-induced EEG patterns in patients with complete spinal cord injury. *Comput. Intell. Neurosci.* 2009:104180. doi: 10.1155/2009/104180
- Pineda, J. A., Friedrich, E., and LaMarca, K. (2014). Neurorehabilitation of social dysfunctions: a model-based neurofeedback approach for low and highfunctioning autism. *Front. Neuroeng.* 7:29. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00029
- Priftis, K. (2014). Effectiveness of the P3-speller in brain-computer interfaces for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Neuroeng*, 7:12. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00012
- Rupp, R. (2014). Challenges in clinical applications of brain computer interfaces in individuals with spinal cord injury. *Front. Neuroeng.* 7:38. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00038
- Song, J., Young, B. M., Nigogosyan, Z., Walton, L. M., Nair, V. A., Grogan, S. W., et al. (2014). Characterizing relationships of DTI, fMRI, and motor recovery in stroke rehabilitation utilizing brain-computer interface technology. *Front. Neuroeng*, 7:31. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00031
- Vuckovic, A., Hasan, M. A., Fraser, M., Conway, B. A., Nasseroleslami, B., and Allan, D. B. (2014). Dynamic oscillatory signatures of central neuropathic pain in spinal cord injury. J. Pain 15, 645–655. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2014.02.005
- Wolpaw, J. R., and Wolpaw, E. W. (2012). "Brain-computer interfaces: something new under the sun," in *Brain Computer Interfaces: Principles and Practice*, eds J. R. Wolpaw and E. W. Wolpaw (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 3–12.
- Xu, R., Jiang, N., Vuckovic, A., Hasan, M. A., Mrachacz-Kersting, N., David Allan, D., et al. (2014). Movement-related cortical potentials in paraplegic patients: abnormal patterns and considerations for BCI-rehabilitation. *Front. Neuroeng.* 7:35. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00035
- Young, B. M., Nigogosyan, Z., Nair, V. A., Walton, L. M., Song, J., Tyler, M. E., et al. (2014a). Case report: post-stroke interventional BCI rehabilitation in an individual with preexisting sensorineural disability. *Front. Neuroeng.* 7:18. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00018

Young, B. M., Nigogosyan, Z., Remsik, A., Walton, L. M., Song, J., Nair, V. A., et al. (2014b). Changes in functional connectivity correlate with behavioral gains instroke patients after therapy using a brain-computer interface device. *Front. Neuroeng*, 7:25. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00025

Young, B. M., Nigogosyan, Z., Walton, L. M., Song, J., Nair, V. A., Grogan, S. W., et al. (2014c). Changes in functional brain organization and behavioral correlations after rehabilitative therapy using a brain-computer interface. *Front. Neuroeng*, 7:26. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00026

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 06 October 2014; accepted: 03 November 2014; published online: 18 November 2014.

Citation: Vuckovic A, Pineda JA, LaMarca K, Gupta D and Guger C (2014) Interaction of BCI with the underlying neurological conditions in patients: pros and cons. Front. Neuroeng. 7:42. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00042

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Vuckovic, Pineda, LaMarca, Gupta and Guger. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Neurorehabilitation of social dysfunctions: a model-based neurofeedback approach for low and high-functioning autism

Jaime A. Pineda *, Elisabeth V. C. Friedrich and Kristen LaMarca

Department of Cognitive Science, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA

Edited by:

Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of Glasgow, UK

Reviewed by:

Frank Pollick, University of Glasgow, UK Lucia Billeci, National Research Council of Italy, Italy

*Correspondence:

Jaime A. Pineda, Department of Cognitive Science, University of California, 9500 Gilman Drive, San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92093, USA e-mail: pineda@ coasci.ucsd.edu Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is an increasingly prevalent condition with core deficits in the social domain. Understanding its neuroetiology is critical to providing insights into the relationship between neuroanatomy, physiology and social behaviors, including imitation learning, language, empathy, theory of mind, and even self-awareness. Equally important is the need to find ways to arrest its increasing prevalence and to ameliorate its symptoms. In this review, we highlight neurofeedback studies as viable treatment options for highfunctioning as well as low-functioning children with ASD. Lower-functioning groups have the greatest need for diagnosis and treatment, the greatest barrier to communication, and may experience the greatest benefit if a treatment can improve function or prevent progression of the disorder at an early stage. Therefore, we focus on neurofeedback interventions combined with other kinds of behavioral conditioning to induce neuroplastic changes that can address the full spectrum of the autism phenotype.

Keywords: neurofeedback training, autism, low functioning autism, autism spectrum disorders, intervention studies, classical conditioning

AIM

In this review, we highlight preliminary yet promising observations to support the hypothesis that neurofeedback training (NFT) in combination with a new behavioral intervention, TAGteach, is a viable treatment option not only for highfunctioning but also for low-functioning children with ASD.

SYMPTOMS

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is now estimated to affect 1 in 68 children (Baio, 2014), who show marked deficits in social and communicative skills, including imitation, empathy, and shared attention, as well as restricted interests and repetitive patterns of behaviors. These problems significantly affect social interactions and prevent children from establishing normal social relationships with others. The ASD phenotype varies in severity and character, encompassing individuals who are asocial but otherwise high-functioning (sometimes at the "savant" level), and low-functioning non-verbal individuals. The distinction between low and high-functioning autism is typically based on the child's IQ, with the cutoff being around 80. At the high-functioning end of the spectrum, the deficits primarily impair social interactions and prevent children from establishing adequate relations with others. At the low-functioning end, children show interactions mainly with the goal of behavior regulation such as protesting rather than social engagement (Maljaars et al., 2012).

CAUSES AND BRAIN CORRELATES

Different models to explain autism have been proposed, but the neuroetiology of autism is not yet entirely understood.

Rubenstein and Merzenich (2003) have proposed an "increased ratio of excitation/inhibition in sensory, mnemonic, social and emotional systems", which can be caused by a combination of environmental and genetic factors. Another working hypothesis is that a dysfunction in motor processing, specifically in the mirror neuron system (MNS; di Pellegrino et al., 1992; Williams et al., 2001; Rizzolatti and Craighero, 2004), is an underlying factor in the condition. In one anatomical MRI study, Hadjikhani et al. (2006) examined 14 high-functioning adults with ASD and observed significant cortical thinning compared to matched control participants. These differences were found in areas considered part of the classic MNS, such as the inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), bilateral inferior parietal lobule (IPL), as well as right superior temporal sulcus (STS). These findings have been strengthened by significant correlations with autism symptoms, as diagnosed by the autism diagnostic interview-revised or ADI-R (Lord et al., 1994). Williams et al. (2006) studied 16 adolescents with ASD during finger movement imitation. Although no effects were detected in IFG, a comparison with matched typically developing (TD) children showed reduced activation for the ASD group in bilateral IPL. Dapretto et al. (2006) reported reduced activation in IFG in another fMRI study in which they tested nine boys with ASD during imitation of emotional facial expressions. Although children were able to perform the imitation task, significantly reduced activation in IFG was detected bilaterally in a comparison with controls. In contrast, Martineau et al. (2010) reported hyperactivation of the pars opercularis (belonging to the MNS) during observation of human motion in autistic subjects compared to controls. Baastiaansen et al.

(2011) reported that IFG activity during the observation of facial expressions increased with age in subjects with autism, but not in controls, suggesting improved social functioning with age. In terms of functional connectivity, Villalobos et al. (2005) found reduced fMRI connectivity between primary visual cortex and bilateral IFG during visuomotor coordination in eight participants with ASD, compared to matched TD participants. Likewise, studies using resting state (rs)-magnetoencephalography (MEG) or quantitative electroencephalography (QEEG) support the notion of dysfunctional connectivity in ASD. Tsiaras et al. (2011) showed reduced interdependence strength within bilateral frontal and temporal sensors, as well as between temporal sensors and other recording sites in a group of ASD participants. Cornew et al. (2012) indicated that children with ASD exhibited regionally specific elevations in delta (1-4 Hz), theta (4-8 Hz), alpha (8-12 Hz), and high frequency (20-120 Hz) power, supporting an imbalance of neural excitation/inhibition as a neurobiological feature of ASD. Billeci et al. (2013) showed that children with ASD present several differences in power spectra, coherence, and symmetry measures compared to controls. This is true both when the signals are acquired in resting conditionswith either open or closed eyes-and when specific tasks are performed. For all these reasons it is speculated that abnormal functional connections exist that can lead to ineffective or atypical neural communication, which in turn may impede early affective, social and communicative development. This suggests that a reasonable therapeutic approach for the treatment of ASD is to normalize abnormal functional connections (Pineda et al., 2012). However, most of these findings rely on data from highfunctioning individuals (Dapretto et al., 2006). As IQ correlates with brain volume (Posthuma et al., 2002; Posthuma and Polderman, 2013), brain structure (Price et al., 2013) and brain function (van den Bos et al., 2012), it has yet to be shown if a generalization of these results to the lower end of the spectrum is justified.

TREATMENTS

In clinical studies, the most effective type of therapy for ASD has been behavioral intervention, with an efficacy rate of approximately 48% (Lovaas, 1987; McEachin et al., 1993; Smith et al., 2009). However, behavioral therapy is time consuming and costly for such a low potential benefit, making it entirely out of reach to the majority of the affected population, especially in developing countries. Moreover, research aimed at interventions is predominantly conducted with highfunctioning adults or adolescents and a review of the literature confirms that social skills training for ASD mostly involves high-functioning children (Cappadocia et al., 2012; Wainer and Ingersoll, 2013). However, it is the younger lower-functioning groups that have the greatest need for diagnosis and treatment, who have the greatest barrier to communication (and hence the greatest need for replacement or enhancement of communication), and who may experience the greatest benefit if such tools can improve function or prevent progression of the disorder at an early stage. Ben et al. (2008, 2011) reported better outcome in behavioral therapy for children with an IQ above 70 and less severe symptoms than for children with an IQ below

70 and more deficits. This emphasizes that different treatment approaches are needed and should be used for lower functioning children on the spectrum. Thus, alternative interventions that normalize social behavior would be beneficial and warrant serious consideration.

One alternative to behavioral therapy is NFT. NFT allows for visualization of brain activity to be fed back to a user by means of a computer in a closed "neurofeedback" loop, allowing subjects to learn to control the natural operation of brain rhythms in vivo and in near real time (Nowlis and Kamiya, 1970; Delorme and Makeig, 2004; Delorme et al., 2011). Brain electrical rhythms are instantiated across different spatial scales (Buzsáki and Draguhn, 2004) from single neurons (Hutcheon and Yarom, 2000), to neuronal circuits (Whittington et al., 1997), to re-entrant thalamocortical and large-scale cortico-cortical networks (Lorincz et al., 2009). It is assumed that these rhythms enable the dynamic routing and gating of information via the synchronization of various bits of information (Salinas and Sejnowski, 2001; Schoffelen et al., 2005; Jensen and Mazaheri, 2010). From a systems level perspective, electroencephalographic (EEG) responses to sensory stimuli can partially be explained by transient, stimulus-induced adjustment in the phase of ongoing rhythms via phase-resetting (Sayers et al., 1974; Makeig et al., 2002; Klimesch et al., 2007). The possibility of self-directed modulation of these rhythms and phase adjustments raises an interesting set of questions. Is it possible to promote/enhance or inhibit/suppress rhythmic oscillations in distinct neural networks in vivo? Can we modulate these rhythms volitionally through some periodic internal input or drive? Theoretically, a functional impact is possible through the modulation of brain rhythms that may play a causal role in specific cognitive functioning.

There is consensus that EEG activity recorded on the scalp arises mainly from cortex (Pantev et al., 1991; Llinás and Ribary, 1993). Neurons firing in synchrony while an individual is at rest produce large amplitude oscillations detected over various brain regions (Hari et al., 1997; Klimesch, 1997; Pfurtscheller et al., 1997, 2000; Muthukumaraswamy and Johnson, 2004; Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2004). The mu rhythm is such an oscillation in the 8-13 Hz band, limited to brief periods of 0.5-2 s duration and recorded in the absence of movement over sensorimotor cortex. Activation by self-movement, the observation of movement, and even the imagination of movement produces desynchronization and a suppression of mu rhythm activity (Salmelin and Hari, 1994; Pfurtscheller et al., 1997). The link between mu rhythms and mirroring activity was first proposed by Altschuler et al. (1998), and thereafter by other researchers (Cochin et al., 1998, 1999; Hari et al., 2000). More recent studies have found that mu rhythm is modulated by objectdirected actions (Muthukumaraswamy and Johnson, 2004). Since it is generated by activity in sensorimotor areas and mirror neurons have been located primarily in premotor areas, it is hypothesized that mu rhythm indexes downstream modulation of primary sensorimotor areas by mirroring activity in frontal cortex (Muthukumaraswamy and Johnson, 2004; Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2004; Oberman et al., 2005; Pineda, 2005). Furthermore, TD individuals can learn to modulate mu rhythms via NFT (Pineda et al., 2000, 2003), and while normal individuals exhibit

mu suppression to both self-directed and observed movement, high-functioning ASD individuals fail to exhibit mu suppression to observed movement (Oberman et al., 2005).

Most NFT approaches use a simple visual stimulus or game to train individuals to increase/decrease a particular bandwidth of the EEG signal. With training, the majority of individuals develop a high level of conscious and unconscious control over their brain activity. During training, subjects are exposed to the same visual/auditory feedback or reward stimuli, and hence the entrained EEG differences most likely represent the modulation of some internal brain state associated with the event rather than to external factors. While the precise mechanisms of how using neurofeedback can induce changes in the brain are unclear, the evidence suggests they capitalize on the innate plasticity of the brain to produce neural, functional, and ultimately behavioral changes. Furthermore, the use of QEEG (Cantor and Chabot, 2009; Coben and Myers, 2010; Thompson et al., 2010a,b) combined with specific and individualized protocols (e.g., amplitude and coherence training) can help fit the training to the heterogeneity of autistic symptomatology.

The majority of studies using neurofeedback for ASD includes children at the higher end of the autism spectrum and these studies have reported significant normalization of brain functioning as well as improvement in behavior and cognitive function (Pineda et al., 2008; Kouijzer et al., 2009; Coben et al., 2010). However, the generalization of these findings to adults or very young and lower functioning children is not yet well examined (Coben et al., 2010). One concern is whether nonverbal children even understand instructions and can process the meaning of feedback. High functioning individuals seem to process external, concrete feedback in a way similar to their TD peers (Larson et al., 2012). However, a recent study suggested that nonverbal low functioning individuals with ASD are able to attribute goals to other persons but are not able to consider the person's circumstances or the context to interpret the actions and attribute intentions as most typical developing children do (Somogyi et al., 2013). Indeed, neurofeedback-based learning is correlated with IQ (van den Bos et al., 2012).

TREATMENT FOR LOW-FUNCTIONING CHILDREN WITH AUTISM: TEACHING WITH ACOUSTICAL GUIDANCE AND NFT

Operant and classical conditioning principles have been key to the behavioral treatment of autism for decades (Helm, 1976; Neuringer, 2002; Pickett et al., 2009). Secondary or conditioned reinforcers, such as auditory markers, have been shown to enhance learning, including the learning of complex sequences of behaviors, through the value acquired from their associations with primary reinforcers. As lower functioning children with ASD have a greater degree of social, language, and other behavioral deficits, they have less available treatment options and tend to be precluded from research. An auditory marker appears well suited for the enhancement of skill-teaching in this population in that it eliminates the social features of verbal praise and is more precise than verbal reinforcement. Teaching with Acoustic Guidance or TAGteach,¹ a new behavioral intervention that uses a conditioned auditory reinforcer to mark and shape behaviors in successive approximations, was recently used to accelerate learning in a child with ASD who had difficulty learning through a traditional behavioral approach (Persicke et al., 2014). Case reports on the TAGteach webpage² and several case presentations at the Applied Behavioral Analysis International (ABAI) meeting have also reported that TAGteach can enhance skill acquisition rates in children with ASD who have more difficulty learning through traditional means.

Ueda (2007) demonstrated that TAGteach was effective in easing the difficulties with transitions between tasks experienced by a 3 year old with autism. After implementing TAG methodology to increase compliance with transitions, the amount of time and number of prompts decreased compared to baseline data. In a second case study of an 8 year old female diagnosed with autism, Ueda showed that TAG decreased the number of prompts and increased the level of independence in fine motor imitation skills and requesting behaviors. Also Hanson and Madden (2007) demonstrated an increase in acquisition rates for the mastery of several different target behaviors in 5 case studies with the use of TAGteach compared to the traditional operant strategies that were used in collecting baseline data. Rosenblum (2007) used TAG to teach typing to a 9-year-old male student with autism. The subject learned to type words via TAGteach with 62.3% fewer prompts than words for which TAGteach was not used. Also, Gutierrez (2007) investigated the effects of TAG on acquisition rates of imitation behaviors in two male children with autism, ages 2 and 3, following little or no progress during baseline conditions that used traditional discrete trial methods. Following 7 months of baseline data with no progress, the 3-year-old student showed 90% accuracy for two imitation responses in just 15 sessions once TAG was used. The 2-year-old student was able to acquire target behaviors in less than four TAGteach sessions following a baseline of eight sessions without TAG that showed minimal acquisition. Winkle (2007) used TAGteach with a 12 year old male diagnosed with autism to teach a social interaction by approaching a peer, getting the peer's attention, making eye contact, and saying hello. She showed that the time for the participant to perform a behavior and the average number of cues per interaction decreased while the average number of eye contact occurrences per session increased when using TAGteach. Winkle also noted improvement in the participant's affect and communication skills. Though preliminary, the aforementioned case studies, highlight the potential of TAGteach to enhance shaping procedures in children with ASD that have difficulty learning behaviors through traditional behavioral methods could prove to be highly valuable to the field.

There is a need for the empirical exploration of novel treatments that target the core deficits of autism, align themselves with prominent neuroetiological theories, and are suitable for lower functioning populations. To that end, we have combined TAGteach with NFT to bridge the gap that currently exists and completed a case series of seven children with autism and with impairments that would typically preclude them from research participation in the typical study with high functioning children.

¹http://www.TAGteach.com

²http://www.TAGteach.com/Autism_And_Special_Education

The study aimed to investigate (a) whether TAGteach could be used to behaviorally prepare children to perform the skills required of an NFT intervention and EEG outcome tasks; and (b) whether electrophysiological changes or improvements in behavioral outcomes would occur in participants learning to self-regulate mu rhythms through operant strategies.

Participants were required to have a diagnosis of Autistic Disorder, be between the ages of 8 and 12, and have an IQ below 80. TAGteach was first used to shape a set of prerequisite behaviors in all participants so they could undergo an electrophysiological assessment, namely the Mu Suppression Index (MSI) and NFT thereafter. Mu suppression indices were calculated as the ratio of power during biological, goal-directed, and social action conditions relative to the power during the non-biological action condition, which is a type of movement that does not typically produce mu rhythm suppression. Following completion of pretest measures, participants attended NFT sessions for 30-45 min 2 or 3 times per week, totaling 20 h over 20 weeks. They were trained to control power in the mu band (8-13 Hz over electrode site C4) as well as a second frequency range (43–59 Hz) recorded over C4 that reflects muscle movement artifact. A secondary auditory reinforcer, used in the TAGteach part of the study, continued to mark when participants exceeded the mu power threshold during NFT. This was followed by the primary reinforcer, which included either a videogame or preferred DVD movie that played upon mu activity exceeding a threshold. Thresholds were set based on initial individual assessment and increased when participants showed learning. Following the completion of treatment, post assessments were completed by participant and caregiver.

The results were highly encouraging in that all participants learned to perform the behaviors required of NFT and EEG outcome tasks in an average of 5 h over 6 TAGteach sessions (see **Figure 1**). The administration of NFT was entirely feasible via TAGteach in these children, providing a promis-



TAGteach sessions. Cases 1–6 met 100% criteria in less than 6.25 h (M = 4.71, SD = 1.16) of training.



lesser severity.

ing way to normalize mu suppression responses and improve behavior (see **Figure 2**). Furthermore, the results suggested that biofeedback-assisted TAGteach training could indeed help children with low functioning autism to better sustain complex skills and reduce artifact-creating behaviors for the required durations. These findings support TAGteach as a feasible method of preparing lower functioning children on the spectrum to cooperate with research tasks and participate in an otherwise inaccessible, or difficult to implement, treatment.

CONCLUSION

There are few research studies including children on the lower end of the autism spectrum, which creates poor treatment options for this population. In this review we present TAGteach in combination with NFT as a promising alternative that may be suitable for low functioning children on the spectrum.

REFERENCES

- Altschuler, E. L., Vankov, A., Wang, V., Ramachandran, V. S., and Pineda, J. A. (1998). Person see, person do: human cortical electrophysiological correlates of monkey see monkey do cells. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* Suppl. S:91, Abstract.
- Baastiaansen, J. A., Thioux, M., Nanetti, L., van der Gaag, C., Ketelaars, C., Minderaa, R., et al. (2011). Age-related increase in inferior frontal gyrus activity and social functioning in autism spectrum disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 832– 838. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.11.007
- Baio, J. (2014). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2010. MMWR Surveill. Summ. 63, 1–21.
- Ben, I. E., Lahat, E., and Zachor, D. A. (2011). Advanced parental ages and low birth weight in autism spectrum disorders–rates and effect on functioning. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 32, 1776–1781. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2011.03.004
- Ben, I. E., Lahat, E., Burgin, R., and Zachor, A. D. (2008). Cognitive, behavior and intervention outcome in young children with autism. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 29, 447– 458. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2007.08.003

- Billeci, L., Sicca, F., Maharatna, K., Apicella, F., Narzisi, A., Campatelli, G., et al. (2013). On the application of quantitative EEG for characterizing autistic brain: a systematic review. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:442. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013. 00442
- Buzsáki, G., and Draguhn, A. (2004). Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. *Science* 304, 1926–1929. doi: 10.1126/science.1099745
- Cantor, D. S., and Chabot, R. (2009). QEEG studies in the assessment and treatment of childhood disorders. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 40, 113–121. doi: 10. 1177/155005940904000209
- Cappadocia, M. C., Weiss, J. A., and Pepler, D. (2012). Bullying experiences among children and youth with autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 42, 266–277. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1241-x
- Coben, R., and Myers, T. E. (2010). The relative efficacy of connectivity guided and symptom based EEG biofeedback for autistic disorders. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 35, 13–23. doi: 10.1007/s10484-009-9102-5
- Coben, R., Linden, M., and Myers, T. E. (2010). Neurofeedback for autistic spectrum disorder: a review of the literature. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 35, 83–105. doi: 10.1007/s10484-009-9117-y
- Cochin, S., Barthelemy, C., Lejeune, B., Roux, S., and Martineau, J. (1998). Perception of motion and qEEG activity in human adults. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 107, 287–295. doi: 10.1016/s0013-4694(98) 00071-6
- Cochin, S., Barthelemy, C., Roux, S., and Martineau, J. (1999). Observation and execution of movement: similarities demonstrated by quantified electroencephalography. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 1839–1842. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999. 00598.x
- Cornew, L., Roberts, T. P., Blaskey, L., and Edgar, J. C. (2012). Resting-state oscillatory activity in autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 42, 1884–1894. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1431-6
- Dapretto, M., Davies, M. S., Pfeifer, J. H., Scott, A. A., Sigman, M., Bookheimer, S. Y., et al. (2006). Understanding emotions in others: mirror neuron dysfunction in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 28–30. doi: 10. 1038/nn1611
- Delorme, A., and Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. J. Neurosci. Methods 134, 9–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003. 10.009
- Delorme, A., Mullen, T., Kothe, C., Akalin, A. Z., Bigdely-Shamlo, N., Vankov, A., et al. (2011). EEGLAB, SIFT, NFT, BCILAB and ERICA: new tools for advanced EEG processing. *Comput. Intell. Neurosci.* 2011:130714. doi: 10. 1155/2011/130714
- di Pellegrino, G., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., and Rizzolatti, G. (1992). Understanding motor events: a neurophysiological study. *Exp. Brain Res.* 91, 176–180. doi: 10.1007/bf00230027
- Gutierrez, M. R. (2007). "Implementing TAG to increase preacademic skills in the school environment," in *Teaching with Acoustical Guidance (TAG) at Applied Behavior Consultants Inc. Symposium Conducted at the 25th Annual Western Regional Conference*, eds J. Morrow and J. Vargas (Burlingame, CA: California Association for Behavior Analysis).
- Hadjikhani, N., Joseph, R. M., Snyder, J., and Tager-Flusberg, H. (2006). Anatomical differences in the mirror neuron system and social cognition network in autism. *Cereb. Cortex* 16, 1276–1282. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhj069
- Hanson, R., and Madden, K. (2007). "Implementing TAG to increase self-help skills in the home environment," in *Teaching with Acoustical Guidance (TAG)* at Applied Behavior Consultants Inc. Symposium Conducted at the 25th Annual Western Regional Conference, eds J. Morrow and J. Vargas (Burlingame, CA: California Association for Behavior Analysis).
- Hari, R., Levanen, S., and Raij, T. (2000). Timing of human cortical functions during cognition: role of MEG. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 4, 455–462. doi: 10.1016/s1364-6613(00)01549-7
- Hari, R., Salmelin, R., Makela, J. P., Salenius, S., and Helle, M. (1997). Magnetoencephalographic cortical rhythms. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 26, 51–62. doi: 10. 1016/s0167-8760(97)00755-1
- Helm, D. (1976). Psychodynamic and behavior modification approaches to the treatment of infantile autism empirical similarities. J. Autism Child Schizophr. 6, 27–41. doi: 10.1007/bf01537940
- Hutcheon, B., and Yarom, Y. (2000). Resonance, oscillation and the intrinsic frequency preferences of neurons. *Trends Neurosci.* 23, 216–222. doi: 10. 1016/s0166-2236(00)01547-2

- Jensen, O., and Mazaheri, A. (2010). Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory alpha activity: gating by inhibition. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 4:186. doi: 10.3410/f. 6253958.6325058
- Klimesch, W. (1997). EEG-alpha rhythms and memory processes. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 26, 319–340. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(97)00773-3
- Klimesch, W., Sauseng, P., Hanslmayr, S., Gruber, W., and Freunberger, R. (2007). Event-related phase reorganization may explain evoked neural dynamics. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 31, 1003–1016. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.03.005
- Kouijzer, M. E. J., de Moor, J. M. H., Gerrits, B. J. L., Buitelaar, J. K., and van Schie, H. T. (2009). Long-term effects of neurofeedback treatment in autism. *Res. Autism Spectr. Disord.* 3, 496–501. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2008.10.003
- Larson, M. J., South, M., Clayson, P. E., and Clawson, A. (2012). Cognitive control and conflict adaptation in youth with high-functioning autism. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 53, 440–448. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02498.x
- Llinás, R., and Ribary, U. (1993). Coherent 40-Hz oscillation characterizes dream state in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 90, 2078–2081. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 90.5.2078
- Lord, C., Rutter, M., and Le, C. A. (1994). Autism diagnostic interview-revised: a revised version of a diagnostic interview for caregivers of individuals with possible pervasive developmental disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 24, 659–685. doi: 10.1007/bf02172145
- Lorincz, M. L., Kekesi, K. A., Juhasz, G., Crunelli, V., and Hughes, S. W. (2009). Temporal framing of thalamic relay-mode firing by phasic inhibition during the alpha rhythm. *Neuron* 63, 683–696. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.012
- Lovaas, O. I. (1987). Behavioral treatment and normal educational and intellectual functioning in young autistic children. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 55, 3–9. doi: 10. 1037//0022-006x.55.1.3
- Makeig, S., Westerfield, M., Jung, T. P., Enghoff, S., Townsend, J., Courchesne, E., et al. (2002). Dynamic brain sources of visual evoked responses. *Science* 295, 690–694. doi: 10.1126/science.1066168
- Maljaars, J., Noens, I., Scholte, E., and van Berckelaer-Onnes, I. (2012). Evaluation of the criterion and convergent validity of the diagnostic interview for social and communication disorders in young and low-functioning children. *Autism* 16, 487–497. doi: 10.1177/1362361311402857
- Martineau, J., Andersson, F., Barthélémy, C., Cottier, J. P., and Destrieux, C. (2010). Atypical activation the mirror neuron system during perception of hand motion in autism. *Brain Res.* 1320, 168–175. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.01.035
- McEachin, J. J., Smith, T., and Lovaas, O. I. (1993). Long-term outcome for children with autism who received early intensive behavioral treatment. *Am. J. Ment. Retard.* 97, 359–372.
- Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., and Johnson, B. W. (2004). Changes in rolandic mu rhythm during observation of a precision grip. *Psychophysiology* 41, 152–156. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-8986.2003.00129.x
- Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., Johnson, B. W., and McNair, N. A. (2004). Mu rhythm modulation during observation of an object-directed grasp. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 19, 195–201. doi: 10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2003.12.001
- Neuringer, A. (2002). Operant variability: evidence, functions and theory. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 9, 672–705. doi: 10.3758/bf03196324
- Nowlis, D. P., and Kamiya, J. (1970). The control of electroencephalographic alpha rhythms through auditory feedback and the associated mental activity. *Psychophysiology* 6, 476–484. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1970.tb01756.x
- Oberman, L. M., Hubbard, E. M., McCleery, J. P., Altschuler, E. L., Ramachandran, V. S., and Pineda, J. A. (2005). EEG evidence for mirror neuron dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 24, 190–198. doi: 10. 1016/j.cogbrainres.2005.01.014
- Pantev, C., Makeig, S., Hoke, M., Galambos, R., Hampson, S., and Gallen, C. (1991). Human auditory evoked gamma-band magnetic fields. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U S A 88, 8996–9000. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.20.8996
- Persicke, A., Jackson, M., and Adams, A. N. (2014). Brief report: an evaluation of TAGteach components to decrease toe-walking in a 4-year-old child with autism. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 44, 965–968. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1934-4
- Pfurtscheller, G., Neuper, C., Andrew, C., and Edlinger, G. (1997). Foot and hand area mu rhythms. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 26, 121–135. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(97)00760-5
- Pfurtscheller, G., Neuper, C., and Krausz, G. (2000). Functional dissociation of lower and upper frequency mu rhythms in relation to voluntary limb movement. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 111, 1873–1879. doi: 10.1016/s1388-2457(00) 00428-4

- Pickett, E., Pullara, O., O'Grady, J., and Gordon, B. (2009). Speech acquisition in older nonverbal individuals with autism: a review of features, methods and prognosis. *Cogn. Behav. Neurol.* 22, 1–21. doi: 10.1097/wnn.0b013e318190d185
- Pineda, J. A. (2005). The functional significance of mu rhythms: translating "seeing" and "hearing" into "doing". *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 50, 57–68. doi: 10. 1016/j.brainresrev.2005.04.005
- Pineda, J. A., Allison, B. Z., and Vankov, A. (2000). The effects of self-movement, observation and imagination on mu rhythms and readiness potentials (RP's): toward a brain-computer interface (BCI). *IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng.* 8, 219–222. doi: 10.1109/86.847822
- Pineda, J. A., Brang, D., Hecht, E., Edwards, L., Carey, S., Bacon, M., et al. (2008). Positive behavioral and electrophysiological changes following neurofeedback training in children with autism. *Res. Autism Spectr. Disord.* 2, 557–581. doi: 10. 1016/j.rasd.2007.12.003
- Pineda, J. A., Juavinett, A., and Datko, M. (2012). Self-regulation of brain oscillations as a treatment for aberrant brain connections in children with autism. *Med. Hypotheses* 79, 790–798. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2012.08.031
- Pineda, J. A., Silverman, D. S., Vankov, A., and Hestenes, J. (2003). Learning to control brain rhythms: making a brain-computer interface possible. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 11, 181–184. doi: 10.1109/tnsre.2003.814445
- Posthuma, D., and Polderman, T. J. (2013). What have we learned from recent twin studies about the etiology of neurodevelopmental disorders? *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 26, 111–121. doi: 10.1097/wco.0b013e32835f19c3
- Posthuma, D., de Geus, E. J., Baare, W. F., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., Kahn, R. S., and Boomsma, D. I. (2002). The association between brain volume and intelligence is of genetic origin. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 83–84. doi: 10.1038/nn0202-83
- Price, C. J., Ramsden, S., Hope, T. M., Friston, K. J., and Seghier, M. L. (2013). Predicting IQ change from brain structure: a cross-validation study. *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.* 5, 172–184. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2013.03.001
- Rizzolatti, G., and Craighero, L. (2004). The mirror-neuron system. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 27, 169–192. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144230
- Rosenblum, J. (2007). Using TAG to Teach Typing to a Student with Autism. Submitted for TAGteach Level 1 Certification.
- Rubenstein, J. L., and Merzenich, M. M. (2003). Model of autism: increased ratio of excitation/inhibition in key neural systems. *Genes Brain Behav.* 2, 255–267. doi: 10.1034/j.1601-183x.2003.00037.x
- Salinas, E., and Sejnowski, T. J. (2001). Correlated neuronal activity and the flow of neural information. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2, 539–550. doi: 10.1038/35086012
- Salmelin, R., and Hari, R. (1994). Characterization of spontaneous MEG rhythms in healthy adults. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 91, 237–248. doi: 10. 1016/0013-4694(94)90187-2
- Sayers, B. M., Beagley, H. A., and Henshall, W. R. (1974). The mechansim of auditory evoked EEG responses. *Nature* 247, 481–483. doi: 10.1038/247481a0
- Schoffelen, J. M., Oostenveld, R., and Fries, P. (2005). Neuronal coherence as a mechanism of effective corticospinal interaction. *Science* 308, 111–113. doi: 10. 1126/science.1107027
- Smith, T., Eikeseth, S., Sallows, G. O., and Graupner, T. D. (2009). Efficacy of applied behavior analysis in autism. J. Pediatr. 155, 151–152. doi: 10.1016/j. jpeds.2009.01.065
- Somogyi, E., Kiraly, I., Gergely, G., and Nadel, J. (2013). Understanding goals and intentions in low-functioning autism. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 34, 3822–3832. doi: 10. 1016/j.ridd.2013.07.039
- Thompson, L., Thompson, M., and Reid, A. (2010a). Functional neuroanatomy and the rationale for using EEG biofeedback for clients with Asperger's

syndrome. Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback 35, 39–61. doi: 10.1007/s10484-009-9095-0

- Thompson, L., Thompson, M., and Reid, A. (2010b). Neurofeedback outcomes in clients with Asperger's syndrome. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 35, 63–81. doi: 10.1007/s10484-009-9120-3
- Tsiaras, V., Simos, P. G., Rezaie, R., Sheth, B. R., Garyfallidis, E., Castillo, E. M., et al. (2011). Extracting biomarkers of autism from MEG resting-state functional connectivity networks. *Comput. Biol. Med.* 41, 1166–1177. doi: 10.1016/j. compbiomed.2011.04.004
- Ueda, M. (2007). "Implementing TAG to increase compliance in the school environment," in *Teaching with Acoustical Guidance (TAG) at Applied Behavior Consultants Inc. Symposium Conducted at the 25th Annual Western Regional Conference*, eds J. Morrow and J. Vargas (Burlingame, CA: California Association for Behavior Analysis).
- van den Bos, W., Crone, E. A., and Güroğlu, B. (2012). Brain function during probabilistic learning in relation to IQ and level of education. *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.* 2(Suppl. 1), S78–S89. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2011.09.007
- Villalobos, M. E., Mizuno, A., Dahl, B. C., Kemmotsu, N., and Muller, R. A. (2005). Reduced functional connectivity between V1 and inferior frontal cortex associated with visuomotor performance in autism. *Neuroimage* 25, 916–925. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.12.022
- Wainer, A. L., and Ingersoll, B. R. (2013). Disseminating ASD interventions: a pilot study of a distance learning program for parents and professionals. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 43, 11–24. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1538-4
- Whittington, M. A., Traub, R. D., Faulkner, H. J., Stanford, I. M., and Jefferys, J. G. (1997). Recurrent excitatory postsynaptic potentials induced by synchronized fast cortical oscillations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 94, 12198–12203. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.94.22.12198
- Williams, J. H., Waiter, G. D., Gilchrist, A., Perrett, D. I., Murray, A. D., and Whiten, A. (2006). Neural mechanisms of imitation and 'mirror neuron' functioning in autistic spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia* 44, 610–621. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2005.06.010
- Williams, J. H., Whiten, A., Suddendorf, T., and Perrett, D. I. (2001). Imitation, mirror neurons and autism. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 25, 287–295. doi: 10. 1016/s0149-7634(01)00014-8
- Winkle, M. (2007). TAGteach as an Occupational Therapy Intervention Strategy. Available online at: http://www.tagteach.com/Resources/Documents/Melissa _Winkle_OT.pdf

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 23 February 2014; accepted: 06 July 2014; published online: 07 August 2014. Citation: Pineda JA, Friedrich EVC and LaMarca K (2014) Neurorehabilitation of social dysfunctions: a model-based neurofeedback approach for low and highfunctioning autism. Front. Neuroeng. 7:29. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00029 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Pineda, Friedrich and LaMarca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Brain–computer interface game applications for combined neurofeedback and biofeedback treatment for children on the autism spectrum

Elisabeth V. C. Friedrich¹*, Neil Suttie², Aparajithan Sivanathan³, Theodore Lim³, Sandy Louchart² and Jaime A. Pineda¹

¹ Department of Cognitive Science, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA

² School of Mathematical and Computer Sciences, Heriot-Watt University, Edinburgh, UK

³ School of Engineering and Physical Science, Heriot-Watt University, Edinburgh, UK

Edited by:

Disha Gupta, Burke-Cornell Medical Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Danny Eytan, Technion – Israel Institute of Technology, Israel Dean Krusienski, Old Dominion University, USA

*Correspondence:

Elisabeth V. C. Friedrich, Department of Cognitive Science, University of California, San Diego, 9500 Gilman Drive, La Jolla, CA 92093-0515, USA e-mail: efriedrich@ucsd.edu Individuals with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) show deficits in social and communicative skills, including imitation, empathy, and shared attention, as well as restricted interests and repetitive patterns of behaviors. Evidence for and against the idea that dysfunctions in the mirror neuron system are involved in imitation and could be one underlying cause for ASD is discussed in this review. Neurofeedback interventions have reduced symptoms in children with ASD by self-regulation of brain rhythms. However, cortical deficiencies are not the only cause of these symptoms. Peripheral physiological activity, such as the heart rate and its variability, is closely linked to neurophysiological signals and associated with social engagement. Therefore, a combined approach targeting the interplay between brain, body, and behavior could be more effective. Brain–computer interface applications for combined neurofeedback and biofeedback treatment for children with ASD are currently nonexistent. To facilitate their use, we have designed an innovative game that includes social interactions and provides neural- and body-based feedback that corresponds directly to the underlying significance of the trained signals as well as to the behavior that is reinforced.

Keywords: autism spectrum disorder (ASD), brain-computer interface (BCI), neurofeedback and biofeedback training, games, mirror neuron system, mu rhythm, heart rate variability, social engagement system

NEUROETIOLOGY OF AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER (ASD)

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is an increasingly prevalent condition in the U.S. with core deficits in the unique domain of human social behaviors (American Psychiatric Association, 2000; Hansen et al., 2008; Rice, 2011). Individuals with high functioning ASD show deficits primarily in social and communicative skills such as imitation, empathy, and shared attention, as well as restricted interests and repetitive patterns of behaviors. These deficits substantially impair satisfactory social interactions and prevent children from establishing adequate relations with their family or friends from their early years.

To date, no single explanation can account for the broad and varied profile of the deficits in ASD. Nonetheless, exploring the neuroetiology of this disorder is a focus of our research which was prompted by the discovery of mirror neurons. The discovery of these visuomotor cells in monkey prefrontal cortex (di Pellegrino et al., 1992) and the description of a similar network of areas in the human brain, or mirror neuron system (MNS, **Figure 1**; Rizzolatti and Craighero, 2004), has provided a testable neurobiological substrate for understanding many key concepts in human social and emotional cognition directly relevant to the behavioral and cognitive deficits observed in children with ASD (Williams et al., 2001). ASD is marked by impairments in social skills - from joint attention and the ability to comprehend actions, to learning through imitation to understanding the intentions of others (Carpenter et al., 1998; Baron-Cohen, 2009). An increasing amount of studies suggest that a dysfunction in the human MNS contributes to these kinds of social deficits (Nishitani et al., 2004; Oberman et al., 2005; Théoret et al., 2005; Dapretto et al., 2006; Hadjikhani et al., 2006; Bernier et al., 2007). Specifically, deficits are likely to arise from an inability to "form and coordinate social representations of self and others" "via amodal or cross-modal representation processes" (Rogers and Pennington, 1991), the type of function ascribed to mirror neurons. However, the theory of MNS is the object of critical debates (Enticott et al., 2013). An alternative explanation, for example, is that dyspraxia rather than the MNS could account for imitation deficits in children with ASD (Mostofsky et al., 2006; Stieglitz Ham et al., 2011). Moreover, questions have been raised as to whether the discovery of mirror neurons in monkeys can be translated to explaining human social behavior (Hickok, 2009; Turella et al., 2009).

From an anatomical perspective, an *underconnectivity* hypothesis has been proposed by Just et al. (2004), which posits that "autism is a cognitive and neurobiological disorder marked and caused by underfunctioning integrative circuitry that results in a deficit of integration of information at the neural and cognitive levels." Reduced connectivity, especially in ASD individuals, is consistent across studies using various cognitive, emotional, and social tasks (Villalobos et al., 2005; Welchew et al., 2005; Just and Varma, 2007) and in both default mode and task-related functional connectivity magnetic resonance imaging (fcMRI) studies. While a



general theory of disordered connectivity has emerged, the nature of the disorder is not yet clear. To bring some level of reconciliation along various observations, several investigators have proposed a compromise solution that focuses on both local overconnectivity and long range underconnectivity (Anderson et al., 2011). This is not inconsistent with the MNS hypothesis since over- and under

connectivity likely characterizes this specific network.

From electrophysiological studies of ASD, there is an equally emergent framework. Using phase coherence in multiple frequency bands as a measure of functional connectivity, evidence shows both global hypoconnectivity and local hyperconnectivity (Murias et al., 2007). Specifically, locally elevated coherence in the theta (3–6 Hz) frequency range in ASD subjects, particularly over left frontal and temporal regions, as well as globally lower coherence in the lower alpha range (8–10 Hz) within frontal regions was found (Murias et al., 2007). In contrast, decreased local and decreased, as well as increased, long range spectral coherences for the ASD-group in comparison to controls was reported recently (Duffy and Als, 2012). Furthermore, the coherence patterns in the ASD group were unusually stable across a wide spectral range, which was interpreted as "over-damped neural networks." Other studies have reported lower delta and theta coherences within as well as between hemispheres across the frontal region, with delta, theta, and alpha hypocoherences over temporal regions while in posterior regions, low delta, theta, and beta coherences were observed (Coben et al., 2008). Moreover, increased gamma activity over parietal cortex (Brown et al., 2005), decreased left hemispheric gamma power (Wilson et al., 2007) and increased connectivity of temporal lobes with other lobes in the gamma frequency band (Sheikhani et al., 2012) have been reported for individuals with autism. Based on the neuroanatomical, functional, and electrophysiological evidence, we hypothesize that a range of over- and underconnectivity in children with ASD, particularly in the MNS system, correlates with levels of performance in cognitive, emotional, and behavioral outcomes.

RATIONALE FOR BRAIN-COMPUTER INTERFACE (BCI) AND NEUROFEEDBACK TRAINING (NFT) FOR ASD

We have previously hypothesized that BCI-based neurofeedback using specific electroencephalographic (EEG) frequency bands should induce neuroplastic changes and lead to normalization of the MNS (Pineda et al., 2012). A BCI allows real-time information of brain activity to be fed back to a user by means of a computer in a closed loop (**Figure 2**) enabling control and natural operation of brain oscillations across cortical networks *in vivo* and in near real time (Nowlis and Kamiya, 1970; Wolpaw et al., 2002; Friedrich et al., 2009, 2013; Neuper et al., 2009; McFarland et al., 2010). The possibility of volitional control of these oscillations suggests – provided that they play a causal role in specific cognitive functions – that it is theoretically plausible that their modulation can have a functional impact.

The gold standard of neurofeedback training (NFT) is based on quantitative electroencephalography (QEEG). This approach is able to identify unique electrophysiological phenotypes (Coben et al., 2010), which makes the possibility of a QEEG-based NFT as a personalized therapeutic approach viable. That approach improves the likelihood that the intervention will be effective by first identifying activity at specific electrode sites that are outside the norm, i.e., comparing the data to already existing normative databases, and then targeting the sites of greatest difference for NFT (Cantor and Chabot, 2009; Coben and Myers, 2010; Thompson et al., 2010). Recent QEEG guided studies have reported behavioral improvements on a number of measures and it has been used to achieve behavioral and neuroregulatory improvements, primarily in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, but also in those with ASD (Coben and Myers, 2010; Thompson et al., 2010). More specifically, assessment guided NFT was used to reduce hyperconnectivity in posterior-frontal to anterior-temporal regions (Coben and Padolsky, 2007). Following NFT, parents reported symptom improvement in 89% of the experimental group, with very little change in the control group.

Improvement also occurred in the areas of attention, visual perceptual functioning, language, and executive functioning, with a 40% reduction in core ASD symptoms as assessed by the Autism Treatment Evaluation Checklist. There was also decreased hypercoherence in 76% of the experimental group as measured by a post-training QEEG. Kouijzer et al. (2009b) reported improved executive functions for attention control, cognitive flexibility, and planning as well as improved social behavior after a theta/betabased NFT training in children with ASD compared to a waiting list group. The linear decrease in theta power and the increase in low beta power were hypothesized to enhance activation of the anterior cingulate cortex, which has been found to show reduced connectivity in ASD individuals (Cherkassky et al., 2006). A follow-up after twelve months revealed maintenance of the described outcomes on both executive functioning and social behavior, suggesting that NFT treatment can have long-term effects (Kouijzer et al., 2009a). The examination of physiological and behavioral data from the children themselves as well as the use of a control group and the comparison between different NFT paradigms (i.e., increase/decrease of different EEG rhythms) or between different electrode sites (i.e., occipital versus central) is crucial as parents' evaluations could be biased.

In addition to the above discussed promising NFT paradigms, research in our laboratory focus on training children on the spectrum to modulate their mu rhythm. Pineda et al. (2008, 2014) reported improvements in symptoms of autism evaluated by the parents as well as normal mu suppression after a mu-based NFT in contrast to a control group. Several studies from different laboratories have shown that mu rhythm phenomenology (alpha range: 8–13 Hz; beta range: 15–25 Hz) is linked to mirror neuron activity in that both are sensitive to movement, as well as to motor, affective, and cognitive imagery (Hari et al., 1997; Klimesch et al., 1997; Pfurtscheller et al., 1997, 2000; Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2004; Oberman et al., 2005; Pineda et al., 2008; Keuken et al., 2011). Furthermore, it was reported that mu rhythms, like mirror neurons,



FIGURE 2 | Closed feedback loop of the Social Mirroring Game. The user's EEG and peripheral physiological measures are recorded (Thought Technology Ltd., Canada) and fed into the Social Mirroring Game which gives the user visual feedback. For positive feedback (i.e., indicated in green), the child's avatar must first approach the non-player character (NPC) and while facing him, the player has to show appropriate brain

and/or peripheral physiological activity. The rewarding feedback involves the child's avatar imitating the facial emotions of the NPC. The negative feedback (i.e., indicated in red) involves the child's avatar being not responsive to the NPC. By means of the feedback, the user can learn to change his/her brain activity voluntarily and thus can control the game.

are modulated by object-directed actions (Muthukumaraswamy and Johnson, 2004; Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2004) and that during self-initiated, observed, and even imagined movement, mirror neuron asynchrony results in mu rhythm suppression (Pineda et al., 2000; Pineda, 2005; Neuper et al., 2009). Recently, it was demonstrated that mu rhythm suppression to movement observation is dependent on whether someone wants to be socially involved with another person and on the kind of movement observed (i.e., kinematic or goal-relevant; Aragón et al., 2013).

Both, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and (EEG) techniques have demonstrated that mu rhythm suppression occurs in human MNS regions during tasks that activate this system, namely the inferior parietal lobe, dorsal premotor cortex, and primary somatosensory cortex (Arnstein et al., 2011). In individuals with autism, this mu rhythm suppression is not observed compared to typically developing children, supporting the role of an altered MNS (Oberman et al., 2005, 2008; Bernier et al., 2007; Oberman and Ramachandran, 2007). In contrast, Raymaekers et al. (2009) did not find a difference in mu suppression to self-executed or observed movement in autistic individuals in comparison to controls. Braadbaart et al. (2013), Arnstein et al. (2011) explained the reduced mu rhythm suppression in ASD as a more general deficit in visuomotor integration although they confirmed the relationship between mu rhythm suppression and the activation of mirror neuron areas described. In summary, although there is a lack of consensus, the majority of the literature provides enough evidence to speculate that training children to control mu rhythms may lead to functional improvements.

THE POLYVAGAL THEORY: A RATIONALE FOR COMBINING NFT AND BIOFEEDBACK FOR ASD

Cortical deficiencies might not be the only cause of ASD symptoms. Individuals with ASD show deficits in emotional responsiveness (Scambler et al., 2007). This phenomenon cannot be solely explained by specific cortical deficiencies but likely involves peripheral physiological reactions of the autonomous nervous system (Thompson and Thompson, 2009; Thompson et al., 2010). The Polyvagal Theory proposed by Porges (2003, 2007) links cortical and peripheral physiological components in the social engagement system, which is responsible for facial expression, head turning, vocalization, listening, and other socially relevant behaviors that are atypical in individuals with ASD (Figure 1). According to this theory, autism is associated with autonomic states that foster the misinterpretation of a neutral environment as being threatening, and consequently can change normal vagal activity and result in withdrawal from social interaction. Thus, individuals with ASD show deficits in cardiac vagal tone regulation and impaired heart rate reactivity to external stimuli (i.e., heart rate variability, HRV), which are linked to the social engagement system (Porges, 2003). Consistent with this, Thayer and Lane (2000) suggested a model of neurovisceral integration, which proposes that HRV is an index of individual differences in regulated emotional responding (Appelhans and Luecken, 2006). Moreover, recent publications argue that heart rate and its variability play an important role in emotion recognition (Quintana et al., 2012) as well as for BCI control (Kaufmann et al., 2012; Pfurtscheller et al., 2013). This suggests that training children on the spectrum to increase their vagal tone via biofeedback (Lehrer, 2007; Gevirtz, 2010, 2007) should lead to additional improvements in the social engagement system, including emotional responsiveness.

In contrast to vagal tone, which is an indicator of parasympathetic activity (Task, 1996), skin conductance is a reliable index for sympathetic arousal of the autonomous nervous system (Bach et al., 2010). While different patterns of skin conductance in individuals with ASD have been shown (Schoen et al., 2008), it is not yet clear what kind of differences occur in skin conductance and heart rate between individuals with ASD and controls (Levine et al., 2012; Mathersul et al., 2013). Therefore, more research including peripheral physiological parameters in individuals with ASD is crucial to develop a more comprehensive model of the disorder and thus produce better treatment approaches.

GAME APPLICATIONS TO COMBINE NFT AND BIOFEEDBACK INTRODUCING A NOVEL GAME PLATFORM FOR CHILDREN ON THE SPECTRUM

One treatment approach is to combine biofeedback of peripheral physiological reactions with neurofeedback of cortical electrophysiology and to do this in the context of play. Play is an ideal medium to engage children and help develop their motor skills, communication, problem solving and social skills (Oden and Asher, 1977; Hughes, 1998; MacDonald et al., 2013). There are many challenges in creating NFT and biofeedback games, not least the application must maintain player interest (Tan and Jansz, 2008) and secondly the limited genres available for ASD. The visualization of the feedback in NFT and biofeedback paradigms ranges from controlling a simple bar graph to more sophisticated visual renditions. However, the feedback typically is not related to the specific significance of the signals being trained or the anticipated behavioral changes. For example, the feedback might be the speed or response of a race car - indicating the level of control of the mu rhythm - while the anticipated outcome is that training the mu rhythm will lead to better imitation behavior. However, a specific feedback (i.e., showing the control of imitation behavior instead of a race car on the screen) for specific signals being trained (i.e., training the mu rhythm to improve imitation behavior) might be more effective in linking brain activation and anticipated behavior. Accordingly, training the EEG mu rhythm as well as training HRV should increase positive social behavior in children with ASD. Investigating this research question requires the development and implementation of a game platform that includes social interactions and specific feedback based on imitation behavior and emotional responsiveness. Therefore, we propose games such as the newly developed Social Mirroring Game (Figure 2), which requires children with ASD to modulate their brain activity (i.e., mu power) and/or peripheral physiological activation (e.g., increase in vagal tone) in gaming parts as well as in social situations between the child's avatar and his friend (i.e., a non-player character, NPC) in order to get rewarded. The rewarding feedback involves the child's avatar imitating the facial emotions of the NPC. The role-playing game mechanics allow the temporal dynamics of the player to be recorded to track behavior changes, accommodate game mechanic changes and to help direct the player.

For a game with the goal of improving social interactions, it is important to address the following questions: (1) is playing a social game without modulating physiological activity able to enhance appropriate social interactions? (2) is a single-person game rather antisocial than promoting social behavior? and (3) can the learned behavior be transferred from the gaming situations to the realworld?

First, it has been shown that role-play mechanism is a powerful tool towards assessing and intervening on social behaviors. Without actually manipulating brain or peripheral physiological activity, the Fearnot! social agent demonstrator (Aylett et al., 2006; Enz et al., 2008) was successful in proving that game-based platforms could have significant effect on a children population in domains related to social behavior (i.e., anti-bullying). Moreover, playing a cooperative computer game was shown to reinforce social interactions and appropriate social communicative behavior in children with ASD (Piper et al., 2006). MOSOCO (Escobedo et al., 2012) is a mobile augmented reality application based on the Social Compass curriculum (Tentori and Hayes, 2010) that facilitates practicing and learning social skills in children with ASD in social groups of neurotypical children. The results indicate that such assistive technologies with game-like interactions and roleplay where points and rewards are earned improve the learning experience.

Second, the Social Motivation Adaptive Reality Treatment Games (SMART-Games; Gotsis et al., 2010) address the issue of single-player versus multiplayer games by using an avatar that exhibits different moods as an interface to a computer game which can be played as single-player, virtual or co-located multiplayer. The ECHOES project (Bernardini et al., 2014, 2012) dispels the myth that single-person games are inherently antisocial as it increases social interactions in the real world for some children with ASD.

Third, the ECHOES project also illustrates how role-play mechanics transferred to a virtual agent can be used to increase learned social skills from the game to the real world for children with ASD. The ECHOES game world, however, has no capability to adapt as its behavioral agent does not take psychophysiological inputs from a player. It is likely that brain and peripheral physiological activity is different in the video-game scenario compared to face-to-face interaction with a peer in real-life and the generalization has yet to be shown. However, like Fearnot!, ECHOES demonstrated the benefits of a game-based intervention towards social understanding, mechanisms and behavioral regulation in social situations.

In summary, games such as the Social Mirror Game are moving in the right direction and are promising tools to examine and improve the effects of training physiological measurements during social and emotional imitation behavior and interactions.

CONCLUSION

This review highlights the importance of using BCI, NFT, and biofeedback to provide novel insights about the physiological correlates of ASD, as well as the need to design innovative treatment approaches for such individuals. To date, the complex mechanisms underlying autism are not entirely understood. We propose that combining NFT and biofeedback may prove to be more effective than traditional approaches and describe a new game interface designed specifically for this purpose, i.e., to link appropriate behavior, neurophysiological and peripheral physiological reactions in social situations. As the rewarding feedback corresponds directly to the underlying significance of the signals we train as well as to the behavior we aim to reinforce and through the reinforcement of all facets of social interactions, substantial improvements in behavior, cognition and emotion can be expected for children with ASD.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by a fellowship provided by the Max Kade Foundation to the Department of Cognitive Science, University of California San Diego, by grant funding from the ISNR Research Foundation, the European Community Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007 2013, nr. 258169) and the EPSRC/IMRC grant 113946. This paper only reflects the authors' views and funding agencies are not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained herein.

REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders DSM-IV-TR, 4th Edn. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association. doi: 10.1007/SpringerReference-69770
- Anderson, J. S., Nielsen, J. A., Froehlich, A. L., DuBray, M. B., Druzgal, T. J., Cariello, A. N., et al. (2011). Functional connectivity magnetic resonance imaging classification of autism. *Brain J. Neurol.* 134, 3742–54. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr263
- Appelhans, B. M., and Luecken, L. J. (2006). Heart rate variability as an index of regulated emotional responding. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 10, 229–240. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.10.3.229
- Aragón, O. R., Sharer, E. A., Bargh, J. A., and Pineda, J. A. (2013). Modulations of mirroring activity by desire for social connection and relevance of movement. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* doi: 10.1093/scan/nst172 [Epub ahead of print].
- Arnstein, D., Cui, F., Keysers, C., Maurits, N. M., and Gazzola, V. (2011). μsuppression during action observation and execution correlates with BOLD in dorsal premotor, inferior parietal, and SI cortices. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 14243–14249. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0963-11.2011
- Aylett, R., Louchart, S., Dias, J., Paiva, A., Vala, M., Woods, S., et al. (2006). Unscripted narrative for affectively driven characters. *IEEE Comput. Graph. Appl.* 26, 42–52. doi: 10.1109/MCG.2006.71
- Bach, D. R., Friston, K. J., and Dolan, R. J. (2010). Analytic measures for quantification of arousal from spontaneous skin conductance fluctuations. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 76, 52–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2010.01.011
- Baron-Cohen, S. (2009). Autism: the empathizing-systemizing (E-S) theory. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1156, 68–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04467.x
- Bernardini, S., Porayska-Pomsta, K., and Smith, T. J. (2014). ECHOES: an intelligent serious game for fostering social communication in children with autism. *Inform. Sci.* 264, 41–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ins.2013.10.027
- Bernardini, S., Porayska-Pomsta, K., Smith, T. J., and Avramides, K. (2012). "Building autonomous social partners for autistic children," in *Intelligent Virtual Agents*, eds Y. Nakano, M. Neff, A. Paiva, and M. Walker (Berlin-Heidelberg: Springer), 46–52. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-33197-8_5
- Bernier, R., Dawson, G., Webb, S., and Murias, M. (2007). EEG mu rhythm and imitation impairments in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Brain Cogn.* 64, 228–237. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2007.03.004
- Braadbaart, L., Williams, J. H. G., and Waiter, G. D. (2013). Do mirror neuron areas mediate mu rhythm suppression during imitation and action observation? *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 89, 99–105. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.05.019
- Brown, C., Gruber, T., Boucher, J., Rippon, G., and Brock, J. (2005). Gamma abnormalities during perception of illusory figures in autism. *Cortex* 41, 364–376. doi: 10.1016/S0010-9452(08)70273-9
- Cantor, D. S., and Chabot, R. (2009). QEEG Studies in the assessment and treatment of childhood disorders. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 40, 113–121. doi: 10.1177/155005940904000209

- Carpenter, M., Nagell, K., and Tomasello, M. (1998). Social cognition, joint attention, and communicative competence from 9 to 15 months of age. *Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev.* 4, 1–143.
- Cherkassky, V. L., Kana, R. K., Keller, T. A., and Just, M. A. (2006). Functional connectivity in a baseline resting-state network in autism. *Neuroreport* 17, 1687– 1690. doi: 10.1097/01.wnr.0000239956.45448.4c
- Coben, R., and Myers, T. E. (2010). The relative efficacy of connectivity guided and symptom based EEG biofeedback for autistic disorders. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 35, 13–23. doi: 10.1007/s10484-009-9102-5
- Coben, R., and Padolsky, I. (2007). Assessment-guided neurofeedback for autistic spectrum disorder. J. Neurother. 11, 5–23. doi: 10.1300/J184v11n01_02
- Coben, R., Clarke, A. R., Hudspeth, W., and Barry, R. J. (2008). EEG power and coherence in autistic spectrum disorder. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 119, 1002–1009. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.01.013
- Coben, R., Linden, M., and Myers, T. E. (2010). Neurofeedback for autistic spectrum disorder: a review of the literature. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 35, 83–105. doi: 10.1007/s10484-009-9117-y
- Dapretto, M., Davies, M. S., Pfeifer, J. H., Scott, A. A., Sigman, M., Bookheimer, S. Y., et al. (2006). Understanding emotions in others: mirror neuron dysfunction in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 28–30. doi: 10.1038/nn1611
- di Pellegrino, G., Fadiga, L., and Fogassi, L. (1992). Understanding motor events: a neurophysiological study. *Exp. Brain Res.* 91, 176–180. doi: 10.1007/BF00230027
- Duffy, F. H., and Als, H. (2012). A stable pattern of EEG spectral coherence distinguishes children with autism from neuro-typical controls - a large case control study. *BMC Med.* 10:64. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-64
- Enticott, P. G., Kennedy, H. A., Rinehart, N. J., Bradshaw, J. L., Tonge, B. J., Daskalakis, Z. J., et al. (2013). Interpersonal motor resonance in autism spectrum disorder: evidence against a global "mirror system" deficit. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:218. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00218
- Enz, S., Zoll, C., Vannini, N., Schneider, W., Hall, L., Paiva, A., et al. (2008). e – motional learning in primary schools: fearnot! an anti- bullying intervention based on virtual role-play with intelligent synthetic characters. *Electron. J. E Learn.* 6, 111–118.
- Escobedo, L., Nguyen, D. H., Boyd, L., Hirano, S. H., Rangel, A., García-rosas, D., et al. (2012). "MOSOCO: a mobile assistive tool to support children with autism practicing social skills in real-life situations," in *Proceedings of the 2012 ACM Annual Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Austin, 2589–2598. doi: 10.1145/2207676.2208649
- Friedrich, E. V. C., McFarland, D. J., Neuper, C., Vaughan, T. M., Brunner, P., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2009). A scanning protocol for a sensorimotor rhythm-based brain-computer interface. *Biol. Psychol.* 80, 169–75. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2008.08.004
- Friedrich, E. V. C., Neuper, C., and Scherer, R. (2013). Whatever works: a systematic user-centered training protocol to optimize brain-computer interfacing individually. *PLoS ONE* 8:e76214. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0076214
- Gevirtz, R. (2007). "Psychophysiological perspectives on stress-related and anxiety disorders," in *Principles and Practice of Stress Management*, eds P. M. Lehrer, R. L. Woolfolk, and W. E. Sime (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 209–226.
- Gevirtz, R. (2010). "Autonomic nervous system markers for psychophysiological, anxiety, and physical disorders," in *Integrative Neuroscience and Personalized Medicine*, eds E. Gordon and S. H. Koslow (New York, NY: Oxford), 164–180.
- Gotsis, M., Piggot, J., Hughes, D., and Stone, W. (2010). "SMART-games: a video game intervention for children with autism spectrum disorders," *Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children*, Barcelona, 194–197. doi: 10.1145/1810543.1810569
- Hadjikhani, N., Joseph, R. M., Snyder, J., and Tager-Flusberg, H. (2006). Anatomical differences in the mirror neuron system and social cognition network in autism. *Cereb. Cortex* 16, 1276–1282. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhj069
- Hansen, R., Ozonoff, S., Krakowiak, P., Angkustsiri, K., Jones, C., Deprey, L., et al. (2008). Regression in autism: prevalence and associated factors in the CHARGE Study. *Ambul. Pediatr.* 8, 25–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ambp.2007.08.006
- Hari, R., Salmelin, R., Mäkelä, J. P., Salenius, S., and Helle, M. (1997). Magnetoencephalographic cortical rhythms. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 26, 51–62. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8760(97)00755-1
- Hickok, G. (2009). Eight problems for the mirror neuron theory of action understanding in monkeys and humans. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21, 1229–1243. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21189

- Hughes, F. P. (1998). *Children, Play, and Development*, 3nd Edn. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Just, M. A., Cherkassky, V. L., Keller, T. A., and Minshew, N. J. (2004). Cortical activation and synchronization during sentence comprehension in high-functioning autism: evidence of underconnectivity. *Brain J. Neurol.* 127, 1811–1821. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh199
- Just, M. A., and Varma, S. (2007). The organization of thinking: what functional brain imaging reveals about the neuroarchitecture of complex cognition. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 153–191. doi: 10.3758/CABN.7.3.153
- Kaufmann, T., Vögele, C., Sütterlin, S., Lukito, S., and Kübler, A. (2012). Effects of resting heart rate variability on performance in the P300 brain-computer interface. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 83, 336–341. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.11.018
- Keuken, M. C., Hardie, A., Dorn, B. T., Dev, S., Paulus, M. P., Jonas, K. J., et al. (2011). The role of the left inferior frontal gyrus in social perception: an rTMS study. *Brain Res.* 1383, 196–205. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.01.073
- Klimesch, W., Doppelmayr, M., Pachinger, T., and Russegger, H. (1997). Eventrelated desynchronization in the alpha band and the processing of semantic information. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 6, 83–94. doi: 10.1016/S0926-6410(97)00018-9
- Kouijzer, M. E. J., de Moor, J. M. H., Gerrits, B. J. L., Buitelaar, J. K., and van Schie, H. T. (2009a). Long-term effects of neurofeedback treatment in autism. *Res. Autism Spectr. Disord.* 3, 496–501. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2008.10.003
- Kouijzer, M. E. J., de Moor, J. M. H., Gerrits, B. J. L., Congedo, M., and van Schie, H. T. (2009b). Neurofeedback improves executive functioning in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Res. Autism Spectr. Disord.* 3, 145–162. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2008.05.001
- Lehrer, M. P. (2007). "Biofeedback training to increase heart rate variability," in *Principles and Practice of Stress Management*, eds P. M. Lehrer, R. L. Woolfolk, and W. E. Sime (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 227–248.
- Levine, T. P., Sheinkopf, S. J., Pescosolido, M., Rodino, A., Elia, G., and Lester, B. (2012). Physiologic arousal to social stress in children with autism spectrum disorders: a pilot study. *Res. Autism Spectr. Disord.* 6, 177–183. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.04.003
- MacDonald, M., Lord, C., and Ulrich, D. A. (2013). The relationship of motor skills and social communicative skills in school-aged children with autism spectrum disorder. *Adapt. Phys. Activ. Q.* 30, 271–282.
- Mathersul, D., McDonald, S., and Rushby, J. A. (2013). Automatic facial responses to affective stimuli in high-functioning adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Physiol. Behav.* 109, 14–22. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.10.008
- McFarland, D. J., Sarnacki, W. A., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2010). Electroencephalographic (EEG) control of three-dimensional movement. J. Neural Eng. 7, 1–9. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/7/3/036007
- Mostofsky, S. H., Dubey, P., Jerath, V. K., Jansiewicz, E. M., Goldberg, M. C., and Denckla, M. B. (2006). Developmental dyspraxia is not limited to imitation in children with autism spectrum disorders. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 12, 314–326. doi: 10.1017/S1355617706060437
- Murias, M., Webb, S. J., Greenson, J., and Dawson, G. (2007). Resting state cortical connectivity reflected in EEG coherence in individuals with autism. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62, 270–273. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.11.012
- Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., and Johnson, B. W. (2004). Changes in rolandic mu rhythm during observation of a precision grip. *Psychophysiology* 41, 152–156. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-8986.2003.00129.x
- Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., Johnson, B. W., and McNair, N. A. (2004). Mu rhythm modulation during observation of an object-directed grasp. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 19, 195–201. doi: 10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2003.12.001
- Neuper, C., Scherer, R., Wriessnegger, S., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2009). Motor imagery and action observation: modulation of sensorimotor brain rhythms during mental control of a brain-computer interface. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 120, 239–247. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.11.015
- Nishitani, N., Avikainen, S., and Hari, R. (2004). Abnormal imitation-related cortical activation sequences in Asperger's syndrome. *Ann. Neurol.* 55, 558–562. doi: 10.1002/ana.20031
- Nowlis, D., and Kamiya, J. (1970). The control of electroencephalographic alpha rhythms through auditory feedback and the associated mental activity. *Psychophysiology* 6, 476–484. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1970.tb01756.x
- Oberman, L. M., and Ramachandran, V. S. (2007). The simulating social mind: the role of the mirror neuron system and simulation in the social and communicative deficits of autism spectrum disorders. *Psychol. Bull.* 133, 310–327. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.2.310

- Oberman, L. M., Hubbard, E. M., McCleery, J. P., Altschuler, E. L., Ramachandran, V. S., and Pineda, J. A. (2005). EEG evidence for mirror neuron dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 24, 190–198. doi: 10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2005.01.014
- Oberman, L. M., Ramachandran, V. S., and Pineda, J. A. (2008). Modulation of mu suppression in children with autism spectrum disorders in response to familiar or unfamiliar stimuli: the mirror neuron hypothesis. *Neuropsychologia* 46, 1558– 1565. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.01.010
- Oden, S., and Asher, S. (1977). Coaching children in social skills for friendship making. *Child Dev.* 48, 495–506. doi: 10.2307/1128645
- Pfurtscheller, G., Neuper, C., Andrew, C., and Edlinger, G. (1997). Foot and hand area mu rhythms. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 26, 121–135. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8760(97)00760-5
- Pfurtscheller, G., Neuper, C., and Krausz, G. (2000). Functional dissociation of lower and upper frequency mu rhythms in relation to voluntary limb movement. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 111, 1873–1879. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(00) 00428-4
- Pfurtscheller, G., Solis-Escalante, T., Barry, R. J., Klobassa, D. S., Neuper, C., and Müller-Putz, G. R. (2013). Brisk heart rate and EEG changes during execution and withholding of cue-paced foot motor imagery. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:379. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00379
- Pineda, J. A. (2005). The functional significance of mu rhythms: translating "seeing" and "hearing" into "doing". *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 50, 57–68. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2005.04.005
- Pineda, J. A. (2008). Sensorimotor cortex as a critical component of an "extended" mirror neuron system: does it solve the development, correspondence, and control problems in mirroring? *Behav. Brain Funct.* 4:47. doi: 10.1186/1744-9081-4-47
- Pineda, J. A., Allison, B. Z., and Vankov, A. (2000). The effects of self-movement, observation, and imagination on rhythms and readiness potentials. *IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng.* 8, 219–222. doi: 10.1109/86.847822
- Pineda, J. A., Brang, D., Hecht, E., Edwards, L., Carey, S., Bacon, M., et al. (2008). Positive behavioral and electrophysiological changes following neurofeedback training in children with autism. *Res. Autism Spectr. Disord.* 2, 557–581. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2007.12.003
- Pineda, J. A., Carrasco, K., Datko, M., Pillen, S., and Schalles, M. (2014). "Neurofeedback training produces normalization in behavioral and electrophysiological measures of high functioning autism," in *Mirror Neurons: Fundamental Discoveries, Theoretical Perspectives and Clinical Implications*, eds P. F. Ferrari and G. Rizzolatti (London: Royal Society Publishing).
- Pineda, J. A., Juavinett, A., and Datko, M. (2012). Self-regulation of brain oscillations as a treatment for aberrant brain connections in children with autism. *Med. Hypotheses* 79, 790–798. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2012. 08.031
- Piper, A. M., O'Brien, E., Morris, M. R., and Winograd, T. (2006). "SIDES: a cooperative tabletop computer game for social skills development," in *Proceedings* of the 2006 20th Anniversary Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative work, Alberta, 1–10. doi: 10.1145/1180875.1180877
- Porges, S. W. (2003). The Polyvagal Theory: phylogenetic contributions to social behavior. *Physiol. Behav.* 79, 503–513. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(03)00156-2
- Porges, S. W. (2007). The polyvagal perspective. *Biol. Psychol.* 74, 116–143. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2006.06.009
- Quintana, D. S., Guastella, A. J., Outhred, T., Hickie, I. B., and Kemp, A. H. (2012). Heart rate variability is associated with emotion recognition: direct evidence for a relationship between the autonomic nervous system and social cognition. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 86, 168–172. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2012.08.012
- Raymaekers, R., Wiersema, J. R., and Roeyers, H. (2009). EEG study of the mirror neuron system in children with high functioning autism. *Brain Res.* 1304, 113– 121. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.09.068
- Rice, C. E. (2011). The changing prevalence of the autism spectrum disorders. *Am. Fam. Physician* 83, 515–520.
- Rizzolatti, G., and Craighero, L. (2004). The mirror-neuron system. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 27, 169–192. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144230
- Rogers, S. J., and Pennington, B. F. (1991). A theoretical approach to the deficits in infantile autism. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 3, 137–162. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400000043
- Scambler, D. J., Hepburn, S., Rutherford, M. D., Wehner, E. A., and Rogers, S. J. (2007). Emotional responsivity in children with autism, children with other developmental disabilities, and children with typical development. J. Autism. Dev. Disord. 37, 553–563. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0186-y

- Schoen, S. A., Miller, L. J., Brett-Green, B., and Hepburn, S. L. (2008). Psychophysiology of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Res. Autism Spectr. Disord.* 2, 417–429. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2007.09.002
- Sheikhani, A., Behnam, H., Mohammadi, M. R., Noroozian, M., and Mohammadi, M. (2012). Detection of abnormalities for diagnosing of children with autism disorders using of quantitative electroencephalography analysis. J. Med. Syst. 36, 957–963. doi: 10.1007/s10916-010-9560-6
- Stieglitz Ham, H., Bartolo, A., Corley, M., Rajendran, G., Szabo, A., and Swanson, S. (2011). Exploring the relationship between gestural recognition and imitation: evidence of dyspraxia in autism spectrum disorders. *J. Autism. Dev. Disord.* 41, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1011-1
- Tan, E. S., and Jansz, J. (2008). "The game experience," in *Product Experience*, eds H. N. J. Schifferstein and P. Hekkert (Oxford: Elsevier Ltd), 531–556. doi: 10.1016/B978-008045089-6.50026-5
- Task, F. (1996). Guidelines heart rate variability. Eur. Heart J. 17, 354-381.
- Tentori, M., and Hayes, G. R. (2010). "Designing for interaction immediacy to enhance social skills of children with autism," in *Proceedings of the 12th ACM international conference on Ubiquitous computing - Ubicomp '10*, Copenhagen, 51. doi: 10.1145/1864349.1864359
- Thayer, J. F., and Lane, R. D. (2000). A model of neurovisceral integration in emotion regulation and dysregulation. *J. Affect. Disord.* 61, 201–216. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00338-4
- Théoret, H., Halligan, E., Kobayashi, M., Fregni, F., Tager-Flusberg, H., and Pascual-Leone, A. (2005). Impaired motor facilitation during action observation in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Curr. Biol.* 15, R84–R85. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.01.022
- Thompson, L., Thompson, M., and Reid, A. (2010). Functional neuroanatomy and the rationale for using EEG biofeedback for clients with Asperger's syndrome. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 35, 39–61. doi: 10.1007/s10484-009-9095-0
- Thompson, M., and Thompson, L. (2009). "Asperger's syndrome intervention: combining neurofeedback, biofeedback and metacognition," in *Introduction to Quantitative EEG and Neurofeedback*, 2nd Edn, eds T. H. Budzynski, H. K. Budzynski, J. R. Evans, and A. Abarbanel (Oxford: Elsevier Ltd), 365–415. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-374534-7.00015-0
- Turella, L., Pierno, A. C., Tubaldi, F., and Castiello, U. (2009). Mirror neurons in humans: consisting or confounding evidence? *Brain lang.* 108, 10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2007.11.002
- Villalobos, M. E., Mizuno, A., Dahl, B. C., Kemmotsu, N., and Müller, R.-A. (2005). Reduced functional connectivity between V1 and inferior frontal cortex associated with visuomotor performance in autism. *Neuroimage* 25, 916–925. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.12.022
- Welchew, D. E., Ashwin, C., Berkouk, K., Salvador, R., Suckling, J., Baron-Cohen, S., et al. (2005). Functional disconnectivity of the medial temporal lobe in Asperger's syndrome. *Biol. Psychiatry* 57, 991–998. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.01.028
- Williams, J. H. G., Whiten, A., Suddendorf, T., and Perrett, D. I. (2001). Imitation, mirror neurons and autism. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 25, 287–295. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(01)00014-8
- Wilson, T. W., Rojas, D. C., Reite, M. L., Teale, P. D., and Rogers, S. J. (2007). Children and adolescents with autism exhibit reduced MEG steady-state gamma responses. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62, 192–197. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.07.002
- Wolpaw, J. R., Birbaumer, N., McFarland, D. J., Pfurtscheller, G., and Vaughan, T. M. (2002). Brain-computer interfaces for communication and control. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 113, 767–791. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00057-3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 February 2014; accepted: 13 June 2014; published online: 03 July 2014. Citation: Friedrich EVC, Suttie N, Sivanathan A, Lim T, Louchart S and Pineda JA (2014) Brain–computer interface game applications for combined neurofeedback and biofeedback treatment for children on the autism spectrum. Front. Neuroeng. 7:21. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00021

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Friedrich, Suttie, Sivanathan, Lim, Louchart and Pineda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 24 September 2014 doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00038



Challenges in clinical applications of brain computer interfaces in individuals with spinal cord injury

Rüdiger Rupp*

Experimental Neurorehabilitation, Spinal Cord Injury Center, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany

Edited by:

Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of Glasgow, UK

Reviewed by:

Christoph Guger, G.Tec Medical Engineering GmbH, Austria Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of Glasgow, UK

*Correspondence:

Rüdiger Rupp, Experimental Neurorehabilitation, Spinal Cord Injury Center, Heidelberg University Hospital, Schlierbacher Landstrasse 200a, Heidelberg 69118, Germany e-mail: ruediger.rupp@med.uniheidelberg.de

Brain computer interfaces (BCIs) are devices that measure brain activities and translate them into control signals used for a variety of applications. Among them are systems for communication, environmental control, neuroprostheses, exoskeletons, or restorative therapies. Over the last years the technology of BCIs has reached a level of matureness allowing them to be used not only in research experiments supervised by scientists, but also in clinical routine with patients with neurological impairments supervised by clinical personnel or caregivers. However, clinicians and patients face many challenges in the application of BCIs. This particularly applies to high spinal cord injured patients, in whom artificial ventilation, autonomic dysfunctions, neuropathic pain, or the inability to achieve a sufficient level of control during a short-term training may limit the successful use of a BCI. Additionally, spasmolytic medication and the acute stress reaction with associated episodes of depression may have a negative influence on the modulation of brain waves and therefore the ability to concentrate over an extended period of time. Although BCIs seem to be a promising assistive technology for individuals with high spinal cord injury systematic investigations are highly needed to obtain realistic estimates of the percentage of users that for any reason may not be able to operate a BCI in a clinical setting.

Keywords: brain computer interface, spinal cord injury, complications, BCI performance, clinical application, neurorehabilitation

INTRODUCTION

In Europe, an estimated number of 330,000 people are living with the consequences of spinal cord injury (SCI), with 11,000 new injuries occurring per year (Ouzký, 2002; van den Berg et al., 2010). Numbers for the United States are in the same range (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2012). Despite marked regional differences across the globe, there has been a trend toward increasing prevalence rates of SCI over the past decades (Furlan et al., 2013). While the most frequent causes of SCI continue to be traffic, work-related and sporting accidents, in industrial countries there is an ongoing trend toward a higher proportion of non-traumatic lesions (Exner, 2004). As a consequence, the average age of persons at the time of injury is steadily increasing (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2012). Depending on its severity the SCI leads to restrictions up to the complete loss of motor, sensory and autonomic functions below the level of injury. Currently, \sim 55% of all individuals with an SCI are tetraplegic due to injuries of the cervical spinal cord with resulting life-long paralysis of the lower and upper extremities. The majority of tetraplegic patients ($\sim 28\%$) have a neurological level of lesion at C4 and C5 at the time of discharge from acute care to rehabilitation facilities (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2012). In lesions at the level of C5, finger function is typically impaired, while in most C4 lesions, hand function and elbow flexion are additionally limited. About 8% of the patients have a neurological level rostral to C4 resulting in the loss of motor functions of both upper extremities including shoulder, elbow, and hand movements. These individuals lose their independence and privacy almost completely, which results in a tremendous decrease in quality of life.

MEDICAL CONSEQUENCES OF SCI IN THE ACUTE PHASE

A SCI results in impairments of motor, sensory and autonomic functions below the lesion. The degree of initial impairment and the potential for neurological recovery is mainly determined by the severity and location of the lesion.

The first weeks after the injury patients are in the phase of the spinal shock, i.e., that no tendon tap reflexes and flaccid muscle tones are present. The spinal shock typically ends within the first 2 weeks after onset of SCI with reappearing tendon reflexes and muscle tone. After spinal shock spasms, i.e., involuntary muscle contractions that cannot be suppressed or controlled by the patient, as clinical signs of spasticity slowly show up (Hiersemenzel et al., 2000). Spasticity may result in abnormal joint positions and later in joint contractures in particular if motor neurons of antagonistic muscles have been damaged. An example is a fixed elbow joint in fully flexed position after a C4 lesion with a hyperactive biceps and a completely paralyzed triceps muscle.

A variety of autonomic dysfunctions develop after an SCI including paralysis of the bladder and bowel and orthostatic hypotension due to venous pooling of the blood in the paralyzed legs. In individuals with lesions at or above the level of the fourth thoracic spinal segment additional cardiovascular complications such as low systolic and diastolic blood pressure, bradycardia, and autonomic dysreflexia (AD) are present. After spinal shock ends

spastic activity may develop in the detrusor muscle restricting the bladder capacity to store urine and resulting in incontinence.

In very high cervical lesions above the level of C3 respiratory problems are present due to impaired voluntary control of the diaphragm. This applies in particular to patients in the acute phase, during which 6.5% of all patients are respirator dependent in the first weeks after injury for at least some hours a day (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2012).

Rehabilitation starts on the first day after the injury. After cervical SCI patients are in need of assistive technology for control of devices such as computers, wheelchairs or environmental control systems. The therapeutic regimes applied in this early phase of rehabilitation mainly focus on restoration of impaired motor functions by inducing spinal and supraspinal neuroplasticity.

PERSISTENT IMPAIRMENTS IN CHRONIC SCI

The highest degree of neurological recovery occurs within the first 3 months after injury, while functional recovery is delayed to up to 6-12 months (Curt et al., 2008). People with an initial sensorimotor complete [ASIA Impairment Scale A (Waring et al., 2010)] lesion have the lowest potential for substantial neurological and functional recovery, while initially motor incomplete patients have a high probability to regain a relevant ambulatory function. The bilateral loss of the grasp function in individuals suffering from a cervical SCI severely limits the affected individuals' ability to live independently and retain gainful employment post injury. Therefore, one of the main priorities of these patients is to improve a missing grasping and reaching function (Anderson, 2004; Snoek et al., 2004; Collinger et al., 2013). If there is sufficient voluntary control of muscles distal to the elbow, surgical procedures such as muscle and tendon transfers, tenodesis and arthrodeses, can be successfully applied for regaining a meaningful grasp function (Hentz and Leclercq, 2002; Keith and Peljovich, 2012). However, if no voluntary motor functions distal to the elbow joint are present or an individual is unwilling to undergo surgery with the associated extended post-surgical rehabilitation period, grasp neuroprostheses on the basis of functional electrical stimulation (FES) may represent a valid alternative for restoring upper extremity function (Rupp and Gerner, 2007). If motor impairments persist, they may lead to negative secondary complications that restrict the successful application of grasp neuroprosthesis. Immobility may lead to a reduction in the passive range of motion of affected joints, which may result in severe contractures with totally immobile joints due to calcified joint capsules. Adequate physical therapy may prevent some of these negative side effects on the musculoskeletal body structures. If no voluntary movements are preserved in the upper extremities no restorative approaches are currently available. To compensate for the loss of motor function and to allow individuals with severe disabilities to participate in society, assistive devices are used enabling environmental control and computer, internet, and social media access. The latter is extremely important for end users with severe motor impairments, because in the virtual world persons with handicaps are on the same level than non-impaired people. Examples for assistive devices used for this purpose are - depending on the residual capabilities of the end user - joysticks for the hand or the chin, suck-and-puff control, voice control, or eye-tracking systems. In very high lesioned patients and particularly those depending on artificial ventilation the input devices for setup of an electronic user interface are in general very limited and may not work with a sufficient level of performance over an extended period of time. Therefore, over the last decade BCIs have become an interesting option for end users who achieve only a moderate level of control with traditional input devices.

BRAIN COMPUTER INTERFACES

Brain computer interfaces (BCIs) are technical systems that provide a direct connection between the human brain and a computer (Wolpaw et al., 2002). These systems are able to detect thoughtmodulated changes in electrophysiological brain activity and transform the changes into control signals. A BCI system consists of four sequential components: (1) signal acquisition, (2) feature extraction, (3) feature translation, and (4) classification output, which interfaces to an output device. These components are controlled by an operating protocol that defines the onset and timing of operation, the details of signal processing, the nature of the device commands, and the oversight of performance (Shih et al., 2012).

TECHNOLOGY AND BRAIN SIGNALS OF BCI SYSTEMS FOR CLINICAL APPLICATIONS

Although, all implementations of BCIs build upon the same basic components, they differ substantially in regard to complexity of the technology for acquisition of brain signals, their basic mode of operation (cue-based, synchronous vs. asynchronous) and the underlying physiological mechanisms (Birbaumer et al., 2008; Riccio et al., 2012). For application in the clinical environment non-invasive, small scale systems represent the only realistic option. Most of the non-invasive BCI systems rely on brain signals that are recorded by electrodes on the scalp [electroencephalogram (EEG)]. Another option for practically usable BCIs are systems based on near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS; Strait and Scheutz, 2014).

Near-infrared spectroscopy uses the fact that the transmission and absorption of near-infrared light in human body tissues contains information about hemoglobin concentration changes. When a specific area of the brain is activated, the localized blood volume in this area changes rapidly. Optical imaging can measure the location and activity of specific regions of the brain by continuously monitoring blood hemoglobin levels through the determination of optical absorption coefficients.

In contrast to NIRS, EEG-based BCI systems can function in most environments with relatively inexpensive equipment and therefore offer the possibility of practical use in either the clinical setting or later in end users' homes. A variety of EEG signals have been used as measures of brain activity: event-related potentials (ERPs; Farwell and Donchin, 1988; Sellers and Donchin, 2006a; Nijboer et al., 2008), frequency oscillations particularly the EEG sensorimotor rhythms (SMRs; Pfurtscheller and Lopes da Silva, 1999; Wolpaw et al., 2000), slow cortical potentials (SCPs; Birbaumer et al., 1999; Neumann et al., 2003), and steadystate responses (SSRs; Cheng et al., 2002). EEG-based BCIs can be categorized into endogenous, asynchronous and exogenous, synchronous systems. Asynchronous BCIs depend on the users' ability to voluntary modulate their electrophysiological activity such as the EEG amplitude in a specific frequency band. In asynchronous BCIs the time point for changes of the control signals is not predefined by the system, but the user is free to initiate decisions at any time. These systems usually require a substantial amount of training. Examples for this class of BCIs are systems based on the detection of SMRs or SCPs. Synchronous BCIs depend on the electrophysiological activity evoked by external stimuli and do not require intensive training. The most common synchronous BCI is based on P300 ERPs. Although systems based on steady-state evoked potentials (SSEPs) such as steady-state visual evoked potentials (SSVEPs) or steady-state somatosensory evoked potentials (SSSEPs) combine components of asynchronous and synchronous approaches, the introduction of cues improves their accuracy. Depending on the brain signals used for operation BCIs greatly vary in regard to the minimal and typically used number of electrodes, training times, accuracies, and typical information transfer rates (for overview see Table 1; Birbaumer et al., 2003; Hinterberger et al., 2004; Guger et al., 2012a; Combaz et al., 2013).

BCIs based on slow cortical potentials

Slow cortical potentials are slow voltage changes generated on the cerebral cortex, with a duration varying between 300 ms and several seconds. Negative SCPs are typically associated with movement and other functions that imply cortical activity. It has been demonstrated that people are able to self-regulate these potentials and use these modulations for control of assistive devices like a spelling device (Rockstroh et al., 1984). By this, an alternative communication channel was provided to totally paralyzed patients. However, with SCP-based BCIs only a very low information transfer rate of typically less than one letter per 2 min can be achieved (Birbaumer et al., 1999). Additionally, a substantial amount of training, during which patients receive feedback about their EEG-activity, is necessary to achieve a sufficient level of control. Therefore, SCP-based BCIs do not represent the first choice for providing individuals with high SCI with a communication or control interface in the acute phase after the injury.

BCIs based on sensorimotor rhythms

Another type of EEG-based BCI exploits the modulation of SMRs. These rhythms are oscillations in the EEG occurring in the alpha (8–12 Hz) and beta (18–26 Hz) bands and can be recorded over the primary sensorimotor areas on the scalp. Their amplitude typically decreases during actual movement and similarly during mental rehearsal of movements [motor imagery (MI); Pfurtscheller and Lopes da Silva, 1999; Neuper et al., 2005]. Several studies have shown that people can learn to modulate the SMR amplitude by practicing MIs of simple movements, e.g., hand/foot movements (Kaiser et al., 2014; Toppi et al., 2014). This process occurs in a closed-loop, meaning that the system recognizes the SMR amplitude changes evoked by MI and these changes are instantaneously fed back to the users. This neurofeedback procedure and mutual human–machine adaptation enables BCI users to control their SMR activity and use these modulations to control output devices in an asynchronous manner (Pineda et al., 2003; Cincotti et al., 2008).

For a typical 2-class SMR-BCI different paradigms of MIs such as one hand vs. feet or left vs. right hand are used either in a switch based fashion by introduction of a threshold or in an analog manner by directly connecting the classifier output to the output device. An often underestimated problem in practical applications of BCIs and in particular of SMR-based BCIs is the detection of a non-intention condition, during which a user does not want to send any command (zero-class). This so called zero-class problem is often handled in brain-switch implementations by defining one MI class as the resting class or to use long MIs to pause or reactivate the system (Pfurtscheller et al., 2003; Rohm et al., 2013). However, this approach is not appropriate for all applications, which renders the zero-class problem as one of the major limiting factors for practical use of BCIs.

Motor imagery-brain computer interfaces offer further possibilities in the context of neurorehabilitation of spinal cord injured patients that go beyond the traditional use for control of assistive device. After a SCI substantial functional brain reorganization occurs that plays a critical role for functional recovery and may have pathological consequences (Nardone et al., 2013). The basis for a therapeutic use of BCIs is formed by the fact that the central nervous system shows a life-long ability for neural plasticity, which can be enhanced after a trauma or injury by task-specific training (Dietz and Fouad, 2014). The key elements for an effective neurorehabilitative training based on motor learning are voluntarily triggered movement intentions and a synchronized sensory and proprioceptive feedback of the limbs' motor actions. BCIs hold promise to enable the detection of

Table 1 | Types of EEG-based BCIs suitable for application in patients in the acute phase after SCI together with their main characteristics.

Parameter	Minimal (typical)	Training time	Population with 90–100 (below 80)	Typical rate of
BCI	number of electrodes		accuracy without training (%)	decisions/min
SMR (2-class)	4 (10) + 1 reference	weeks to months	6 (81)	4 Bits/min
SCP	1(1) + 2 reference	weeks to months	33 with accuracy above 70	<1 Bit/min
P300	3 (9) + 1 reference	minutes to <1 h	73 (11)	10 Bits/min
SSVEP	6 + 1 reference	minutes to <1 h	87 (4)	12 Bits/min

An overview of the most common practical types of BCIs together with their minimal number of electrodes, a qualitative estimation of typical training times and their typical accuracy and bit rate is provided. A common ground electrode, which is needed for all BCIs, is not explicitly mentioned.

intended movements, e.g., the hand, even in high spinal cord injured patients, making them an ideal tool for closed-loop neurorehabilitative therapies when used in combination with grasping and reaching neuroprosthesis (Jackson and Zimmermann, 2012; Rupp et al., 2013; Savic et al., 2014). Additionally, by practicing feedback-controlled MI of paralyzed limbs the integrity of cortical neuronal connections may be preserved or neurological recovery of motor function may be even enhanced (Kaiser et al., 2014).

BCIs based on event-related potentials

Event-related potential-based BCIs make use of the fact that specific neural activity is triggered by and involved in the processing of specific events. These systems are implemented with an oddball paradigm, wherein a rare target (oddball event) is presented within frequent non-target events. These BCIs usually exploit an endogenous ERP component, known as P300, as input signal. The P300 is a positive deflection in the EEG occurring 200-500 ms after the presentation of the rare visual, auditory or somatosensory stimulus and is a reliable, easy to detect ERP (Sutton et al., 1965). By focusing attention on the rare target, e.g., by keeping a mental count of its occurrence, the P300 amplitude can be increased and therefore its detection and classification improves (Kleih et al., 2011). In individuals with SCI eye-gaze is preserved and thus a visual rather than an auditory oddball paradigm is the preferred choice, because the information transfer rate and accuracy is substantially higher and perceived workload much lower in visual P300-based BCIs (Furdea et al., 2009; Halder et al., 2010; Kathner et al., 2013). The big advantage of P300 compared to SMR-based BCIs is that they can be operated with almost no setup time in 99% of the general population (Guger et al., 2009b). Although, P300-BCIs basically work without electrodes on the occipital cortex, their performance can be improved, if electrodes on the posterior head region are used (Krusienski et al., 2008). Special care must be taken that these electrodes do not cause any discomfort in acute patients with high SCI lying in bed and resting their heads on a pillow or using a head-rest.

BCIs based on steady-state evoked potentials

Steady-state evoked potentials are stable oscillations that can be elicited by rapid repetitive (usually > 6 Hz) visual, auditory, and somatosensory stimuli. The most common type of SSEP-based BCI are the SSVEP-based BCIs, where screen objects flickering at different frequencies are visually presented to subjects. Focusing their attention to the intended stimulus elicits enhanced SSVEP responses at the corresponding frequency, which can be detected, classified and translated into control commands (Vialatte et al., 2010). SSVEP-based BCIs have the advantages of a high information transfer rate, practically no training time, and they work in almost every user (Allison et al., 2010; Guger et al., 2012a). SSVEPs are recorded over occipital brain areas and the same caution has to be taken like in some P300-based systems to avoid any discomfort caused by electrodes on the back of the head.

A relatively new approach in BCI is the use of auditory steadystate responses (ASSR), where the user can modulate the ASSR by selective attention to a specific sound source such as tone burst trains with different beat frequencies on the left and right ear (Kim et al., 2011). The frequency of the tone, on which a user is putting attention to, can be registered in the EEG and further used to generate a switch signal. Nevertheless, BCIs based on visual evoked potentials are the preferred choice in individuals with SCI that have unimpaired visual function, because the information transfer rate of ASSR-based BCIs is tenfold lower than of SSVEP-based systems (Baek et al., 2013).

The limitations of the placement of electrodes in the posterior region of the skull may be overcome in BCIs based on SSSEPs (Muller-Putz et al., 2006), which record EEG activity over the sensorimotor cortex of the midbrain. In SSSEP-based BCIs tactile stimulators on both hands are used to induce "resonance"-like frequencies in the somatosensory cortex. Users can be trained to modulate these SSSEPs, thereby generating binary control signals. Although they represent an exciting alternative to traditional BCI approaches, SSSEP-based BCIs are in general not applicable in patients with high SCI due to the impairment of sensory functions present in all limbs.

HYBRID BCIs

A novel development in BCI research is the introduction of the hybrid BCI (hBCI) concept (Müller-Putz et al., 2011). A hBCI consists of a combination of several BCIs or a BCI with other input devices (Allison et al., 2012). These input devices may be based on the registration of biosignals other than brain signals, such as electromyographic activities. Using this approach, a user can generate a single command signal either by fusing different input signals or by simply selecting one of them (Müller-Putz et al., 2011). In the latter case, the input signals can be dynamically routed based on their reliability, i.e., continuously monitoring the quality, and the input channel with the most stable signal will then be selected (Kreilinger et al., 2011). In the case of signal fusion, each of the input signals contributes to the overall command signal with a dedicated weighting factor (Leeb et al., 2011). These factors are generally not static, but can be dynamically adjusted in accordance with their reliability, which is quantified by appropriate quality measures. The hBCI is fully compliant with the user-centered design concept (ISO, 2010). The key message of this approach is that the technology has to be adapted to the individual users' ability and needs and not vice versa. Combining BCIs with established user interfaces may allow more end users to control assistive technology or may simplify the use of existing devices. However, this extension of the target population comes with the drawback that longer preparation times are needed for setup of the additional components of the hBCI. From the users' perspective it is important to carefully evaluate the design of the hBCI's control scheme and not to cause additional mental workload. Control schemes based on a sequential control task of the different input signals are - at least at the beginning of the training - superior to those, for which a user must control different input signals simultaneously. With practice users might learn to perform multiple tasks, thereby making full use of the hBCI approach.

In any case, the hBCI concept helps to overcome limitations inherent to a singular BCI system, e.g., false-positive, unintended decisions or the zero-class problem. In fact the second input signal can be effectively used to indicate an "idling" state or to introduce a context-specific correction mechanism. An example for demonstration of the superiority of this approach is an hBCI-controlled telepresence robot, where the user navigates to the left and right by imagination of movements of the left and right hand and stops/starts the movements of the robot by an electromyographic switch activated by a short muscle twitch (Carlson et al., 2013). In an hBCI controlled communication application based on two BCIs (P300 and SSVEP) SSVEP activity is used to assess whether the subject is focused on a spelling task. If no SSVEP activity is found, then the system assumes that the user is not paying attention to the spelling system and does not output any characters (Panicker et al., 2011). Another example is an hBCI-controlled reaching and grasping neuroprosthesis, in which the hBCI consists of an SMR-BCI combined with an analog shoulder joystick (Rohm et al., 2013). The neuroprosthesis is activated/deactivated by a long MI detected by an SMR-BCI and the degree of hand closing/elbow flexion is controlled by shoulder movements. To prevent an unintended deactivation of the system several context-specific plausibility checks were implemented in the control concept, e.g., deactivation is not allowed, if the hand is closed or if the shoulder is moved. In another example of an hBCIcontrolled computer interface based on an SMR-BCI and a mouth mouse, a brain-switch simulating a double-click can only be generated while the mouse cursor is not moving (Faller et al., 2012). This comprehensive list of examples shows that the hBCI concept is a valuable extension of traditional BCI approaches and represents a big step forward toward the regular use of BCIs as assistive devices.

APPLICATION OF BCIs IN END USERS WITH MOTOR IMPAIRMENTS

Most of the results in BCI research have been obtained involving healthy subjects, in particular students working in research labs due to their easy availability and intrinsic motivation to participate in experiments designed and set up by their own (Moghimi et al., 2013). Only a low percentage (estimated <5%) of BCI studies involved end users with a real need for a BCI, most of them end users with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) in the socalled locked-in-state with no motor functions preserved except eye movements (Pasqualotto et al., 2012). All BCI research in end users with SCI was carried out so far with individuals in the chronic stage. This means, that they were participating in studies at the earliest 1 year after the onset of the injury in a stable neurological, psychological, and social state.

BCIs for communication

Nowadays, researchers mostly work with the P300 signal for communication purposes. Numerous clinical studies confirm the efficacy of the P300-BCI in paralyzed patients with four choice responses, e.g., "Yes/No/Pass/End" (Sellers and Donchin, 2006b) or "Up/Down/Left/Right" for cursor movement (Piccione et al., 2006; Silvoni et al., 2009). With P300-spellers words could be composed letter by letter, which are arranged in a matrix fashion in rows and columns. One letter is selected by implementation of an oddball paradigm, in which rows and columns are highlighted randomly while the user focuses on one specific letter (target letter) she or he wishes to spell and tries to ignore all other letters that are highlighted in other rows or columns (non-target letters). Each time the target letter is highlighted, a P300 signal occurs in the frontoparietal brain region. Each target letter can be identified by a classifier, which detects the occurrence a P300 signal every time the row and column of the intended letter is highlighted and selects the letter accordingly. In a recent study a new paradigm was recently introduced for enhancement of the P300 control (Kaufmann et al., 2013), in which a famous face – in this case the face of Albert Einstein is superimposed – on top of the matrix display. By the implementation of this paradigm persons formerly unable to control a traditional P300-based speller were enabled to successfully use this kind of communication interface.

An alternative to P300 based spellers are SMR-based spelling systems such as the Hex-o-Spell paradigm (Blankertz et al., 2006). In the Hex-o-Spell paradigm hexagons filled with groups of letters or a single letter are arranged in a circular fashion with a pointing arrow in the center of the circle. The circle can be rotated by one type of MI, e.g., right hand movements, and extended for selection with another MI, e.g., foot movements.

Although, the traditional matrix-based P300-based spellers are the most widespread type of BCIs used for communication purposes, alternative BCIs using different designs and signal modalities such as SSVEPs are developed to build a faster, more accurate, less mentally demanding, and more satisfying BCI (Combaz et al., 2013). Such systems are not only beneficial in end users in a locked-in state, but may also enable basic communication in individuals with very high SCI, who are ventilator dependent. However, this needs to be proven in future clinical studies.

BCIs for wheelchair and environmental control

Being mobile is beside communication and manipulation an essential need of motor impaired end users. Wheelchairs represent a very important assistive device to enable mobility in individuals with SCI. Persons with severe motor disabilities are dependant on electrical wheelchairs controlled by hand- or chinoperated manual joysticks. If not enough residual movements are present, eye-gaze or suck-and-puff control units may serve as a wheelchair user interface. Suck-and-puff control is mainly based on four types of commands. If air is blown into/sucks from the device with high pressure/vacuum, the controller interprets this as a forward/backward drive signal. If a low pressure or vacuum is applied, the wheelchair drives right or left. With this rather simple control scheme users are able to perform most navigation tasks with their wheelchair. Though the thresholds for low/high pressure are individually calibrated, the end user must be able to reliably generate two different levels of air pressure/vacuum over a sustained period of time to achieve a good level of control. Since these prerequisites are not present in all very high lesioned spinal cord injured people, BCIs may represent an alternative control option.

At the current state of the art all types of non-invasive BCIs are providing only a limited command rate and are insufficient for dexterous control of complex applications. Thus, before the successful application of control interfaces with low command rates – including BCIs – in mobility devices intelligent control

schemes have to be implemented. Ideally, the user only has to issue basic navigation commands such as left, right and forward, which are interpreted by the wheelchair controller integrating contextual information obtained from environmental sensors. Based on these interpretations the wheelchair would perform intelligent maneuvers including obstacle avoidance and guided turnings. In conclusion, in such a control scheme the responsibilities are shared between the user, who gives high-level commands, and the system, which executes low-level interactions with more or less degree of autonomy. With this so called shared control principle researchers have demonstrated the feasibility of mentally controlling complex mobility devices by non-invasive BCIs, despite its slow information transfer rate (Flemisch et al., 2003; Vanhooydonck et al., 2003; Carlson and Demiris, 2008).

Although asynchronous, spontaneous BCIs like SMR-based BCIs seem to be the most natural control option for wheelchairs, there are a few applications using synchronous BCIs (Iturrate et al., 2009; Rebsamen et al., 2010). Like in most communication applications these BCIs are based on the detection of the P300 potential evoked by concentrating on a flashing symbol in a matrix. For wheelchair control the system flashes a choice of predefined target destinations several times in a random order and finally the stimulus that elicits the largest P300 is selected as the target. Afterward the intelligent wheelchair drives to the selected target autonomously. Once there it stops and the subject can select another destination. The fact that the selection of a target takes \sim 10 s and that the user intent is only determined at predefined time points takes the usability of cue-based BCIs for control of mobility devices into question.

In BCI-controlled mobility devices developed in the framework of recent European projects MAIA and TOBI the users' mental intent was estimated asynchronously and the control system provided appropriate assistance for wheelchair navigation. With this approach the driving performance of the BCI controlled device greatly improved in terms of continuous human-machine interaction and enhanced practicability (Vanacker et al., 2007; Galán et al., 2008; Millán et al., 2009; Tonin et al., 2010). In the most recent approach of shared control the user asynchronously sends - with the help of a MI based BCI – high-level commands for turning left or right to reach the desired destination. Short-term lowlevel interaction for obstacle avoidance is done by the mobility device autonomously. In the applied shared control paradigm the wheelchair pro-actively slows down and turns for avoidance of obstacles as it approaches them. For provision of the latter functionality the wheelchair is equipped with proximity sensors and two webcams for obstacle detection (Borenstein and Koren, 1991; Carlson and Millán, 2013). Cheap webcams were used instead of an expensive laser range-finder to provide an affordable solution, in which the additional equipment for implementation of the shared control does not cost more than the wheelchair itself.

Although a lot of literature is available on the technical specifications of BCI-controlled wheelchairs, only a few studies involving end users are available (Nguyen et al., 2013) and even less involving end users in real need of a BCI.

In the early phase of rehabilitation patients with a cervical spinal injury may not be cardiovascular stable. Therefore, wheelchair

mobilization may be difficult and other ways to provide some form of independence and social inclusion need to be found. Access to computers in general and to the internet and social media in particular is an important goal for patients to communicate with their relatives and friends. For this purpose, P300-based BCIs may offer a quick way to setup an interface for assessing traditional social media like Twitter or moving avatars in virtual reality environments like Second Life (Fazel-Rezai et al., 2012). However, the preliminary results obtained in experiments with nonmotor impaired persons need to be confirmed in paralyzed end users.

Another important issue is to allow severely paralyzed patients to control their environment independently, to which BCIscontrolled environment control systems may contribute significantly. First results in end users with handicaps show that environmental control by an asynchronous P300 BCI is possible. However, system testing also revealed that the minimum number of stimulation sequences needed for correct classification had a higher intra-subject variability in end users with respect to what was previously observed in young, non-disabled controls (Aloise et al., 2011). Also special focus must be put on the design of the visual control interface to achieve high accuracy while keeping mental effort low (Carabalona et al., 2012). A major progress can be expected in respect to the availability of enhanced BCI-controlled computer and social media access and environmental control from the European projects BrainAble and BackHome.

BCIs for control of upper extremity neuroprosthesis

Today, the only possibility of restoring permanently restricted or lost functions to a certain extend in case of missing surgical options (Hentz and Leclercq, 2002) is the application of FES. Over the last 20 years FES systems with different level of complexity were developed and some of them introduced into the clinical environment (Popovic et al., 2002). These systems deliver short current impulses eliciting physiological action potentials on the efferent nerves, which cause contractions of the innervated, yet paralyzed muscles of the hand and the forearm (van den Honert and Mortimer, 1979). On this basis FES artificially compensates for the loss of voluntary muscle control.

When using the FES in a compensatory setup at a very early stage of primary rehabilitation the easiest way of improving a weak or lost grasp function is the application of multiple surface electrodes. With only seven surface electrodes placed on the forearm two grasp patterns, namely lateral grasp and palmar grasp, can be restored (Rupp et al., 2012). With the combination of surface electrodes and a finger synchronizing orthosis the difficulties with daily reproduction of movements and huge variations of grasp patterns depending on wrist rotation angle may be overcome (Leeb et al., 2010).

Through the last decade it has become obvious that the user interface of all current FES devices is not optimal in the sense of natural control, relying on either the movement or the underlying muscle activation from a non-paralyzed body part to control the coordinated electrical stimulation of muscles in the paralyzed limb (Kilgore et al., 2008; Moss et al., 2011). In the case of individuals with a high, complete SCI and the associated severe disabilities not enough residual functions are preserved for control. This has been a major limitation in the development of a reaching neuroprostheses for individuals with a loss not only of hand and finger but also of elbow and shoulder function.

Several BCI approaches mainly based on SSVEPs have been introduced as a substitute for traditional control interfaces for control of an abdominal FES system (Gollee et al., 2010), a wrist and hand orthosis (Ortner et al., 2011) or a hand and elbow prosthesis (Horki et al., 2010).

Apart from those simple approaches, BCIs have enormous implications providing natural control of a grasping and reaching neuroprosthesis control in particular in individuals with a high SCI by relying on volitional signals recorded from the brain directly involved in upper extremity movements.

In Pfurtscheller et al. (2003) a pioneering work showed for the first time that a MI-BCI control of a neuroprosthesis based on surface electrodes is feasible. In this single case study the restoration of a lateral grasp was achieved in a tetraplegic subject, who suffers from a chronic SCI with completely missing hand and finger function. The end user was able to move through a predefined sequence of grasp phases by imagination of foot movements detected by a brain-switch with 100% accuracy. He reached this performance level already prior to the experiment by some months of training with the MI-BCI (Pfurtscheller et al., 2003) and has maintained it for almost a decade by regular continuation of the training (Enzinger et al., 2008).

A second feasibility experiment has been performed, in which a short-term BCI-training has been applied in another individual with tetraplegia. This subject was using a Freehand system for several years. After 3 days of training the end user was able to control the grasp sequence of the implanted neuroprosthesis with a moderate, but sufficient performance (Müller-Putz et al., 2005).

In these first attempts the BCI was rather used as a substitute for the traditional neuroprosthesis control interface than as an extension. With the introduction of FES-hybrid orthoses it becomes more important to increase the number of independent control signals. With the recent implementation of the hBCI framework it became feasible to use a combination of input signals rather than BCI alone. In a first single case study a combination of a MI-BCI and an analog shoulder position sensor is proposed (Rohm et al., 2013). By upward/downward movements of the shoulder the user can control the degree of elbow flexion/extension or of hand opening/closing. The routing of the analog signal from the shoulder position sensor to the control of the elbow or the hand and the access to a pause state is determined by a digital signal provided by the MI-BCI. With a short imagination of a hand movement the user switches from hand to elbow control or vice versa. A longer activation leads to a pause state with stimulation turned off or reactivates the system from the pause state. With this setup a highly paralyzed end user, who had no preserved voluntary elbow, hand and finger movements, was able to perform several activities of daily living, among them eating a pretzel-stick, signing a document and eating an ice cone, which he was not able to perform without the neuroprosthesis.

CLINICAL APPLICATIONS OF BCIs

In the clinical setting the main focuses of BCIs in patients with an acute or subacute SCI in the first months after injury are (1) the compensation of a temporarily or permanently impaired motor function, preferably if simpler techniques do not allow for a sufficient control of assistive devices, and (2) the maintenance of cortical connectivity for avoidance of maladaptive plasticity with symptoms like neuropathic pain and enhancement of functional recovery by induction of beneficial neuroplasticity (Grosse-Wentrup et al., 2011). Almost all patients with substantial motor impairments are potential candidates for neurofeedback, i.e., receiving feedback on neural cortical states, and neurorehabilitative therapies, e.g., BCI-controlled FES (Birbaumer et al., 2009). Unfortunately, the empirical evidence for a positive impact of BCI technology for therapeutic purposes is scarce and clinical studies are urgently needed to provide evidence for their added value.

For compensation of motor impairments the preferred target population is the group of high lesioned, tetraplegic patients with severe motor impairments in particular of the upper extremities, who may be temporarily ventilator dependent and have limited ability to speak due to the use of a tracheal tube. Most of the BCI research related to communication and control in end users with disabilities has been carried out with individuals in the chronic stage meaning that most of the people returned to their homes, were in a stable neurological and psychological condition and their family members or caregivers were properly instructed to correctly setup and operate a BCI. In contrast to this the condition of the patients and the environment is very different in the clinical setting, which presumably affect the users' (end users and caregiver) priorities (Huggins et al., 2011).

The aim of the following chapter is to provide an overview of factors that may limit the successful implementation of BCIs for control of assistive devices or for neurorehabilitation in the clinical setting.

FACTORS LIMITING THE CLINICAL APPLICATION OF BCIs

A couple of aspects have prevented BCIs so far from being regularly used as a user interface for control of assistive devices or as an adjunct therapeutic tool in the clinical setting of the rehabilitation of acute spinal cord injured patients. These limiting factors are mainly related to three distinct domains: (1) Problems and limitations of the available technology for signal acquisition and processing, (2) user-specific factors such as medication or personal user characteristics, and (3) infrastructure and health-care related constraints (**Figure 1**).

HARDWARE AND TECHNOLOGY RELATED FACTORS

Today, commercial BCI systems are mainly based on gel electrodes placed inside an EEG cap. The correct montage of the cap and the electrode on the skull under the premise of a proper electrode contact are very time-consuming procedures taking in the case of eight electrodes an experienced therapist up to 15–20 min. With the use of more expensive active electrodes, which integrate the amplifier in the electrode, the montage time can be substantially reduced. However, if electrode gel is used, the hair of the end user needs to be washed afterward. This puts additional burden



BCI. The height of each barrier encodes its priority.

on the caregivers and the patient. Therefore, a substantial effort needs to be taken to improve the practical applicability of BCIs in clinical routine. This is related in particular to the availability of dry electrodes, which can be quickly mounted and adapted to the individual needs of a patient. Although the first technical implementations of dry or at least "one drop," gel-less electrodes were introduced recently, it needs to be shown that they achieve the same level of signal acquisition quality in particular in an electrically noisy environment and that they do not cause any discomfort to the user (Grozea et al., 2011; Zander et al., 2011; Guger et al., 2012b).

For most effective use of time and personal resources, the necessary action of the therapist should be limited to turning the system on and off. Efforts toward this goal have recently started by implementation of a "push-button" user interface without the need for technical experts to setup and calibrate the BCI system manually (Kaufmann et al., 2012). Further improvements in terms of a higher reliability can be expected from machine learning research in BCIs, as e.g., the transfer of classifiers between individuals bears the chance to circumvent the time-consuming calibration recordings for novel users (Fazli et al., 2009), and novel algorithmic counter-measures have recently been published to adaptively cope with the non-stationarity omnipresent in brain signals (Sannelli et al., 2011; Kindermans et al., 2012; Samek et al., 2012).

MEDICAL AND PERSONAL USER-RELATED FACTORS Personal factors

During the last decade in industrial countries the mean age at the onset of SCI increased significantly from 28.7 years between 1973–1979 to 42.6 years in 2010–2012 with an ongoing trend toward more patients above the age of 65 (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2012). There is some evidence that the spatiotemporal brain activation patterns alter during aging and that the aging process appears to more substantively alter thalamocortical

interactions leading to an increase in cortical inefficiency (Roland et al., 2011). Although, no studies exist that quantify the impact of these cortical changes on the BCI performance, it can be assumed that general cognitive problems of the older population such as attention and concentration deficits might negatively influence the ability to control or to learn how to operate a BCI.

Respiratory problems in high SCI

Particular in patients with high cervical lesions above C4 respiratory problems are present due to the dysfunctions of the voluntary innervation of the diaphragm and/or a thorax trauma. In the acute setting 6.5% of all patients are respirators dependent at least for some hours a day (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2012). 3.5% of the total population have permanent dysfunction of the respiratory function and need artificial ventilation (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2012). These patients are in a real need for a BCI, since other control options might not work satisfactorily. However, electrical artifacts generated by the artificial ventilator or muscular artifacts caused by shoulder elevation for voluntary ventilation support substantially decrease the quality of the EEG signals and might make a successful use of a BCI impossible.

Spasmolytic medication

After the period of a spinal shock spasticity evolves in the muscles in the areas of the body below the level of lesion. This inhibition of reflexes is not only apparent in skeletal muscles, but also in the detrusor muscle of the bladder resulting in episodes of incontinence. The standard medications for treatment of an overactive bladder in the first months after the SCI are anticholinergics that inhibit the receptors for acetylcholine and thereby reducing detrusor muscle tone. It has been shown that anticholinergic effects in the central nervous system can have negative influence on vigilance and concentration. While the intake of Oxybutynin leads to significant lower spectral power in all relevant frequency bands in the EEG, this effect can be avoided with Tolterodin, Trospiumchlorid, or Darifenacin (Pietzko et al., 1994; Todorova et al., 2001; Kay and Ebinger, 2008). Therefore, a careful selection of the anticholinergic medication for treatment of detrusor muscle overactivity is mandatory to prevent a detrimental effect on the performance of a BCI.

Beside anticholinergics also medication for treatment of spasticity of skeletal muscles such as baclofen, an agonist to GABA- β receptors, have an influence on the EEG spectral power distribution leading to an increase of slow brain waves (Seyfert and Straschill, 1982; Badr et al., 1983). Although systematic examinations on the influence of GABA agonists on the performance of BCI are missing, it can be assumed that the increase of slow waves and decrease of spectral components with higher frequencies will have a negative impact at least on SMR-based BCIs.

In the acute phase patients receive a high dose of medication for suppression of post-operative or trauma related nociceptive pain. A common adverse effect of this medication is its detrimental influence on attention, memory and concentration contributing to tiredness of end users. These effects alter significantly the performance of a BCI (Schreuder et al., 2013).

Autonomic dysreflexia

Autonomic dysreflexia is a potentially dangerous clinical syndrome that develops in individuals with SCI, resulting in acute, uncontrolled hypertension. Briefly, AD develops within the first 6 months after injury in individuals with a neurologic level at or above the sixth thoracic level (T6). AD prevalence rates vary, but the generally accepted rate is 48–90% of all individuals with injuries at T6 and above. Patients with a sensorimotor complete injury have a much higher incidence of AD (91% with complete injury vs. 27% with incomplete injury; Curt et al., 1997). The occurrence of AD increases as the patient evolves out of spinal shock. With the return of sacral reflexes, the possibility of AD increases (Schottler et al., 2009).

Autonomic dysreflexia is caused by the damage of sympathetic spinal fibers and the resulting imbalanced innervation of the autonomous nervous system, which may – if not recognized and treated correctly – lead to long-term complications such as seizures, retinal complications, pulmonary edema, myocardial infarction, or cerebral hemorrhage.

Episodes of AD can be triggered by any painful, irritating, or even strong stimulus below the level of the injury many (Krassioukov et al., 2009). Mainly bladder distension or irritations due to a blocked or kinked catheter or failure of a timely intermittent catheterization program are responsible for 75–85% of the cases (Lindan et al., 1980). AD may also be triggered by electrical stimulation of the lower extremity (Ashley et al., 1993), but has also been seen by the author in very high lesioned patients during the application of a grasp neuroprosthesis.

Although a BCI does not trigger AD, its operation may be negatively influenced by episodes of AD. Additionally, AD may prevent the successful use of a BCI-controlled neuroprosthesis either for therapeutic as well as for compensatory purposes.

Acute stress reaction and episodes of depression after SCI

It is a well-known fact that motivational and emotional states have an influence on the BCI performance of individuals with and without motor impairments independent of the type of BCI used (SMR or P300; Kleih et al., 2010; Nijboer et al., 2010; Hammer et al., 2012). Although, there is nothing predictable about the psychological sequelae after SCI and the response is highly individual and is mediated by both pre-morbid individual characteristics and external factors, several psychological effects occur that might heavily interfere with the successful application of a BCI (North, 1999).

The event of an SCI often occurs within minutes after a trauma or may evolve in non-traumatic causes like ischemia or infections over a few days. The affected persons are not able to slowly adapt to this novel situation, which normally results in an acute stress reaction. Generally speaking, an acute stress reaction is a transient condition that develops in response to a traumatic event. Symptoms occur within 1 month of the extreme stressor and resolves within a 4 week period. They may include a varying mixture of reduced levels of consciousness, withdrawal, anxiety symptoms, narrowing of attention, and disorientation. If the acute stress reaction persists longer than 4 weeks, an adjustment disorder may be present. Adjustment disorders may complicate the course of rehabilitation either by the decrease of compliance with the recommended medical regime resulting in an increased length of hospital stay. Common symptoms of an adjustment disorder include depressed mood, anxiety or worry, feeling unable to cope with life at present or plan ahead, stress-related physical symptoms such as headaches and interference with social functioning or performance of daily activities.

Although, results from systematic investigations on this issue are missing, an acute stress reaction negatively impacts the use of BCIs in patients during the very acute phase up to 4 weeks after the injury.

Additionally to the psychological complication mentioned so far, patients may experience episodes of depression already a few weeks after the injury. Depression is more common in the SCI population compared the general population. Estimated rates of depression among people with SCI range from 11 to 37% (Craig et al., 2014). Common emotional, behavioral, and physical symptoms of major depression are markedly depressed mood, loss of interest, reduced self-esteem and self- confidence, feelings of guilt and worthlessness, reduced energy leading to fatigue, diminished activity, and reduced concentration. All of those symptoms may result in an unwillingness to participate in any kind of rehabilitative training including BCI therapy. Patients suffering from a major depression refuse to be provided with assistive technology in general.

There is also evidence that the P300 amplitude is decreased in individuals with major depression (Diner et al., 1985), which might contribute to the inability to achieve a sufficient level of BCI performance. The inability of BCI control might in turn contribute to an increase in the symptoms of depression. To avoid this vicious circle a thorough neuropsychological assessment is needed in acute patients to identify any signs of major depression.

SMR-based BCIs and neuropathic pain

Pain is a major problem after SCI and most of the patients report to have pain. In the acute phase after an SCI it is mainly nociceptive pain due to trauma or spams (Finnerup, 2013). Usually within the first year after the injury neuropathic pain develops in about 40-50% of the patients and tends to become chronic (Siddall et al., 2003). Beside the general negative effects of pain on the quality of life of the affected persons, pain leads to deficits in concentration and attention - both having negative impact on the BCI performance. A recent study showed that the EEG activity of spinal cord injured patients with chronic neuropathic pain differs to that of spinal cord injured patients with no pain and also to that of able-bodied people (Vuckovic et al., 2014). Frequency-specific EEG signatures were identified that may be used to monitor the development of neuropathic pain. However, it is not clear if the evolvement of these EEG patterns have a detrimental effect on BCI control.

For operation of an SMR-based BCI users have to imagine movements from different, also paralyzed parts of the body. The influence of MI on neuropathic pain is still an issue of debate and it is not entirely clear, if MI training is lowering or increasing the perceived pain level. It was shown in patients with a chronic thoracic SCI that imagination of foot movements three times a day for a period of 7 days increases neuropathic pain (Gustin et al., 2008). In contrast to this, preliminary studies suggest that neurofeedback has the potential to help patients with otherwise refractory chronic pain (Jensen et al., 2013a). Recent findings indicate that certain EEG activity patterns may be associated with more pain or a vulnerability to experience chronic pain in persons with SCI. Research examining the extent to which changes in this EEG activity may result in pain relief is warranted (Jensen et al., 2013b).

In summary, the use of neurofeedback for prevention of chronic neuropathic pain is still controversial. Clinical studies are urgently needed to reveal if BCIs represent a promising tool to prevent the development of neuropathic pain in SCI.

Inability for BCI control

While BCIs based on the registration of P300 (Guger et al., 2009a) and SSVEPs (Guger et al., 2012a) can be operated by a vast majority of users, it is well-known that SMR-BCIs are not suitable for all users. In up to one third of the non-motor-impaired participants the BCI is unable to detect classifiable task related EEG patterns (Guger et al., 2003). Consequently, these subjects cannot quickly be provided with a BCI-controlled application or need at least a substantial amount of training for sufficient operation of a BCI. The causes for this inability for controlling a BCI (other synonyms are BCI-"inefficiency," BCI-aptitude) have not yet been satisfactorily described. The few studies that explicitly investigated the predictive value of user- and BCI-related factors on BCI performance have been performed with subjects without motor impairments (Kübler et al., 2004; Blankertz et al., 2010; Halder et al., 2011; Holz et al., 2011; Kaufmann et al., 2013). Thus, it is not known, in how far these results are representative also for people with motor impairments such as spinal cord injuries.

In a recent study, a three-class MI screening (left hand, right hand, feet) was performed with a group of 10 able-bodied and 16 tetra- and paraplegic people with a complete SCI with the objective of determining what differences were present between the user groups and how they would impact upon the ability of these user groups to interact with a BCI. Although, the patient group was very heterogeneous in terms of time after trauma and age it is seen that both the tetraplegic and paraplegic patients have some significant differences in event-related desynchronization strengths, exhibit significant increases in synchronization and reach significantly lower mean accuracies (66.1%) than the group of non-impaired subjects (85.1%; Müller-Putz et al., 2014).

In another study, authors compared the BCI performance of 15 end users with complete SCI, eight of them paraplegic and seven tetraplegic (Pfurtscheller et al., 2009). It was found that five of the paraplegic individuals had a mean accuracy above 70% but only one tetraplegic person achieved this performance level. The reason for this observation is still unclear. It can be speculated that the missing sensory loop restricts the vividness of the imagined movements and therefore the performance. This statement is supported by (Alkadhi et al., 2005), who showed the positive correlation of cortical activation and vividness of the imagined movement.

It is a well-accepted statement in the BCI community, that training is expected to improve the performance of SMR-BCIs. Data on the course and performance of long-term MI-BCI training in individuals with chronic high-level SCI is sparse. In one study, two C4, three C6 and four C7 end users were trained to operate an MI-BCI with the goal of controlling a robotic arm (Onose et al., 2012). The average performance of all subjects was quite moderate, determined as 70.5%. In three of the subjects the online performance was up to 20% worse (in a two-class task) than the offline performance. Unfortunately, the authors did not explicitly state how many offline runs were used for classifier training, so it is possible that their classifiers were trained too intensively on the same dataset. This may result in overfitting and therefore suggesting a far higher offline performance than actually achieved during online trials. Furthermore, online experiments are more demanding, which may also affect the performance. One of the study subjects fell asleep during the training, which indicates a high physical and mental workload during the operation of the BCI.

In the framework of a single case study, in which an individual with a lesion of the upper cervical spinal cord was provided with a BCI-controlled upper extremity neuroprosthesis, no training effects occurred over a training time of more than 6 months. Even after 415 MI-BCI runs, the end user's average performance did not show any trend toward improvement, but remained at about 70% with large day-to-day variances. This moderate average performance may be explained by the significant differences in movement-related ß-band modulations found in subjects with SCI as compared to non-injured individuals (Gourab and Schmit, 2010). In detail, a correlation seems to exist between decreased ERS amplitude and the severity of the impairment of the limb in which the movement was attempted. This supports the view that in high-level tetraplegic subjects, an extensive BCI training period does not necessarily lead to superior results. Although, this statement has to be validated in future studies with a larger population, it must be clearly communicated to patients with an acute SCI. It is entirely possible that only low to moderate performance will be achieved with the danger of causing additional sadness or depression and generating a higher stress level, because severely motor impaired persons may get the impression that in addition to their body even their brains do not work properly.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND HEALTH-CARE SYSTEM RELATED FACTORS

Beside BCI and user-related factors there are factors associated to the typical infrastructure in clinics and to the health-care system in general, which form major barriers for the successful integration of BCIs into clinical routine. Patients rehabilitated in industrial countries take part in normally two sessions of physio- and one session of occupational therapy of a length of 30 min each. With the currently available BCI technology a BCI session takes at least 1 hour to setup the BCI, perform a supervised training/operation and remove the gel from the hair of the patients. Additionally, a BCI needs to be set up and adapted to each individual user, which takes even more time in particular during the first sessions. This means that patients will at least miss two out of three daily sessions of conventional therapy, which is neither accepted by the clinical staff nor by the patients themselves. Therefore, BCIs are likely to be used as adjunct rehabilitative tools with the need for additional personnel or therapy slots. However, these BCI application sessions are not separately reimbursed by the health service or insurances and need to be covered by the budget of the clinics themselves.

The major problem in the field of BCIs is that randomized controlled trials providing clear evidence for their superiority compared to traditional approaches are missing completely (Kübler et al., 2013). In particular, the relationship between the investments in terms of personnel, time and money and the degree of improvement in patient outcomes needs to be determined. This information is mandatory to initiate a dialog with health service payers with the aim of reimbursement of BCI applications during the inpatient rehabilitation phase and later on in the chronic stage also at home.

At this point it must be emphasized that general recommendations on the integration of novel therapies such as the BCI into clinical routine cannot be made due to huge differences in the length of primary rehabilitation between health systems of different countries and in the modes of reimbursement in particular in different European countries.

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

In the context of rehabilitation of individuals with SCI in the acute and subacute stage non-invasive BCIs represent a valuable adjunct to traditional compensatory and restorative approaches in the clinical setting. The main focus of their application is the use as an additional or alternative channel for operation of assistive devices enabling communication and environmental control in patients with very high lesions of the spinal cord. For this application P300-based BCI systems are the first choice, because almost all persons are able to achieve a sufficient level of control with only a small amount of training. MI based BCIs providing a feedback on the modulation of SMRs of the primary motor cortex may evolve to an exciting adjunct to conventional neurorehabilitative therapies aiming at enhancement of motor function by guidance of neural plasticity. This approach is particularly promising, if combined with neuroprotheses of the upper extremity providing a strong proprioceptive feedback. However, clinical studies need to show that no detrimental effects like an increase of neuropathic pain occur during this type of training.

On a more general level, a couple of factors are limiting the successful use of BCIs, among them technology related, user specific and infrastructure dependent factors. The major limitations in the technological domain are the need for gel electrodes with their time-consuming and non-user friendly handling and the need for technical experts for setup and supervision of the BCI. Additionally, user related issues such as spasmolytic and other medication, acute stress syndromes, or episodes of depression may have a negative impact on the BCI performance with the risk of causing additional frustration and sadness. Limited personnel and time resources are a general problem for successful implementation of any kind of novel therapeutic approach in the clinical setting. These may be overcome by regular reimbursement of BCI therapies in the clinical setting. However, to achieve this large scale clinical trials need to be performed, which prove the efficacy and additional benefit of BCIs.

Studies involving individuals with isolated injuries of the spinal cord may provide preliminary information on the feasibility of BCI-based neurorehabilitative approaches in other neurological patient groups like stroke survivors or patients with traumatic brain injury. The challenges and general problems seen in studies with individuals with SCI in the clinical environment are likely to occur also in other patient groups and help to realistically estimate the number of potential end user of BCI technology.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to thank M. Schneiders for his contributions to the graphical design of the figure.

REFERENCES

- Alkadhi, H., Brugger, P., Boendermaker, S. H., Crelier, G., Curt, A., Hepp-Reymond, M. C., et al. (2005). What disconnection tells about motor imagery: evidence from paraplegic patients. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 131–140. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhh116
- Allison, B., Luth, T., Valbuena, D., Teymourian, A., Volosyak, I., and Gräser, A. (2010). BCI demographics: how many (and what kinds of) people can use an SSVEP BCI? *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 18, 107–116. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2009.2039495
- Allison, B. Z., Leeb, R., Brunner, C., Müller-Putz, G. R., Bauernfeind, G., Kelly, J. W., et al. (2012). Toward smarter BCIs: extending BCIs through hybridization and intelligent control. J. Neural Eng. 9:013001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/1/013001
- Aloise, F., Schettini, F., Arico, P., Salinari, S., Guger, C., Rinsma, J., et al. (2011). Asynchronous P300-based brain-computer interface to control a virtual environment: initial tests on end users. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 42, 219–224. doi: 10.1177/155005941104200406
- Anderson, K. D. (2004). Targeting recovery: priorities of the spinal cord-injured population. J. Neurotrauma 21, 1371–1383. doi: 10.1089/neu.2004.21.1371
- Ashley, E. A., Laskin, J. J., Olenik, L. M., Burnham, R., Steadward, R. D., Cumming, D. C., et al. (1993). Evidence of autonomic dysreflexia during functional electrical

stimulation in individuals with spinal cord injuries. *Paraplegia* 31, 593–605. doi: 10.1038/sc.1993.95

- Badr, G. G., Matousek, M., and Frederiksen, P. K. (1983). A quantitative EEG analysis of the effects of baclofen on man. *Neuropsychobiology* 10, 13–18. doi: 10.1159/000117978
- Baek, H. J., Kim, H. S., Heo, J., Lim, Y. G., and Park, K. S. (2013). Brain-computer interfaces using capacitive measurement of visual or auditory steady-state responses. J. Neural Eng. 10:024001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/10/2/024001
- Birbaumer, N., Ghanayim, N., Hinterberger, T., Iversen, I., Kotchoubey, B., Kübler, A., et al. (1999). A spelling device for the paralysed. *Nature* 398, 297–298. doi: 10.1038/18581
- Birbaumer, N., Hinterberger, T., Kübler, A., and Neumann, N. (2003). The thought-translation device (TTD): neurobehavioral mechanisms and clinical outcome. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 11, 120–123. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2003.814439
- Birbaumer, N., Murguialday, A. R., and Cohen, L. (2008). Braincomputer interface in paralysis. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 21, 634–638. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e328315ee2d
- Birbaumer, N., Ramos Murguialday, A., Weber, C., and Montoya, P. (2009). Neurofeedback and brain-computer interface clinical applications. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.* 86, 107–117. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7742(09)86008-X
- Blankertz, B., Dornhege, G., Krauledat, M., Müller, K. R., Kunzmann, V., Losch, F., et al. (2006). The berlin brain-computer interface: EEG-based communication without subject training. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 14, 147–152. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2006.875557
- Blankertz, B., Sannelli, C., Halder, S., Hammer, E. M., Kübler, A., Müller, K. R., et al. (2010). Neurophysiological predictor of SMR-based BCI performance. *Neuroimage* 51, 1303–1309. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.022
- Borenstein, J., and Koren, Y. (1991). The vector field histogram fast obstacle avoidance for mobile robots. *IEEE Trans. Robot. Autom.* 7, 278–288. doi: 10.1109/70.88137
- Carabalona, R., Grossi, F., Tessadri, A., Castiglioni, P., Caracciolo, A., and De Munari, I. (2012). Light on! Real world evaluation of a P300-based brain-computer interface (BCI) for environment control in a smart home. *Ergonomics* 55, 552–563. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2012.661083
- Carlson, T., and Demiris, Y. (2008). "Human-wheelchair collaboration through prediction of intention and adaptive assistance," in *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA)*, Pasadena, CA.
- Carlson, T., and Millán, J. D. R. (2013). Brain-controlled wheelchairs: a robotic architecture. *IEEE Robot. Autom. Mag.* 20, 65–73. doi: 10.1109/MRA.2012.2229936
- Carlson, T., Tonin, L., Perdikis, S., Leeb, R., and del R Millán, J. (2013). A hybrid BCI for enhanced control of a telepresence robot. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2013, 3097–3100. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2013.6610196
- Cheng, M., Gao, X., Gao, S., and Xu, D. (2002). Design and implementation of a brain-computer interface with high transfer rates. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 49, 1181–1186. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2002.803536
- Cincotti, F., Mattia, D., Aloise, F., Bufalari, S., Schalk, G., Oriolo, G., et al. (2008). Non-invasive brain-computer interface system: towards its application as assistive technology. *Brain Res. Bull.* 75, 796–803. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2008.01.007
- Collinger, J. L., Boninger, M. L., Bruns, T. M., Curley, K., Wang, W., and Weber, D. J. (2013). Functional priorities, assistive technology, and brain-computer interfaces after spinal cord injury. *J. Rehabil. Res. Dev.* 50, 145–160. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2011.11.0213
- Combaz, A., Chatelle, C., Robben, A., Vanhoof, G., Goeleven, A., Thijs, V., et al. (2013). A comparison of two spelling brain-computer interfaces based on visual P3 and SSVEP in Locked-In Syndrome. *PLoS ONE* 8:e73691. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073691
- Craig, A., Rodrigues, D., Tran, Y., Guest, R., Bartrop, R., and Middleton, J. (2014). Developing an algorithm capable of discriminating depressed mood in people with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 52, 413–416. doi: 10.1038/sc.2014.25
- Curt, A., Nitsche, B., Rodic, B., Schurch, B., and Dietz, V. (1997). Assessment of autonomic dysreflexia in patients with spinal cord injury. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 62, 473–477. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.62.5.473
- Curt, A., Van Hedel, H. J., Klaus, D., and Dietz, V. (2008). Recovery from a spinal cord injury: significance of compensation, neural plasticity, and repair. *J. Neurotrauma* 25, 677–685. doi: 10.1089/neu.2007.0468
- Dietz, V., and Fouad, K. (2014). Restoration of sensorimotor functions after spinal cord injury. *Brain* 137, 654–667. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt262

- Diner, B. C., Holcomb, P. J., and Dykman, R. A. (1985). P300 in major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* 15, 175–184. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(85)90074-5
- Enzinger, C., Ropele, S., Fazekas, F., Loitfelder, M., Gorani, F., Seifert, T., et al. (2008). Brain motor system function in a patient with complete spinal cord injury following extensive brain-computer interface training. *Exp. Brain Res.* 190, 215–223. doi: 10.1007/s00221-008-1465-y
- Exner, G. (2004). The working group "paraplegy" of the federation of commercial professional associations in Germany. Facts, figures and prognoses. *Trauma Berufskr.* 6, 147–151. doi: 10.1007/s10039-004-0877–876
- Faller, J., Torrellas, S., Miralles, F., Holzner, C., Kapeller, C., Guger, C., et al. (2012). Prototype of an auto-calibrating, context-aware, hybrid brain-computer interface. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2012, 1827–1830. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2012.6346306
- Farwell, L. A., and Donchin, E. (1988). Talking off the top of your head: toward a mental prosthesis utilizing event-related brain potentials. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 70, 510–523. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(88)90149-6
- Fazel-Rezai, R., Allison, B. Z., Guger, C., Sellers, E. W., Kleih, S. C., and Kübler, A. (2012). P300 brain computer interface: current challenges and emerging trends. *Front. Neuroeng.* 5:14. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2012.00014
- Fazli, S., Popescu, F., Danoczy, M., Blankertz, B., Müller, K. R., and Grozea, C. (2009). Subject-independent mental state classification in single trials. *Neural Netw.* 22, 1305–1312. doi: 10.1016/j.neunet.2009.06.003
- Finnerup, N. B. (2013). Pain in patients with spinal cord injury. Pain 1, S71–S76. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2012.12.007
- Flemisch, O., Adams, A., Conway, S. R., Goodrich, K. H., Palmer, M. T., and Schutte, P. C. (2003). *The H-Metaphor as a Guideline for Vehicle Automation and Interaction*. Hampton: NASA.
- Furdea, A., Halder, S., Krusienski, D. J., Bross, D., Nijboer, F., Birbaumer, N., et al. (2009). An auditory oddball (P300) spelling system for brain-computer interfaces. *Psychophysiology* 46, 617–625. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2008.00783.x
- Furlan, J. C., Sakakibara, B. M., Miller, W. C., and Krassioukov, A. V. (2013). Global incidence and prevalence of traumatic spinal cord injury. *Can. J. Neurol. Sci.* 40, 456–464.
- Galán, F., Nuttin, M., Lew, E., Ferrez, P. W., Vanacker, G., Philips, J., et al. (2008). A brain-actuated wheelchair: asynchronous and non-invasive Brain-computer interfaces for continuous control of robots. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 119, 2159–2169. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.06.001
- Gollee, H., Volosyak, I., Mclachlan, A. J., Hunt, K. J., and Gräser, A. (2010). An SSVEP-based brain-computer interface for the control of functional electrical stimulation. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 57, 1847–1855. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2010.2043432
- Gourab, K., and Schmit, B. D. (2010). Changes in movement-related beta-band EEG signals in human spinal cord injury. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 121, 2017–2023. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.05.012
- Grosse-Wentrup, M., Mattia, D., and Oweiss, K. (2011). Using brain-computer interfaces to induce neural plasticity and restore function. J. Neural Eng. 8:025004. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/2/025004
- Grozea, C., Voinescu, C. D., and Fazli, S. (2011). Bristle-sensors low-cost flexible passive dry EEG electrodes for neurofeedback and BCI applications. J. Neural Eng. 8:025008. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/2/025008
- Guger, C., Allison, B. Z., Grosswindhager, B., Pruckl, R., Hintermüller, C., Kapeller, C., et al. (2012a). How Many people could use an SSVEP BCI? *Front. Neurosci.* 6:169. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2012.00169
- Guger, C., Krausz, G., Allison, B. Z., and Edlinger, G. (2012b). Comparison of dry and gel based electrodes for p300 brain-computer interfaces. *Front. Neurosci.* 6:60. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2012.00060
- Guger, C., Daban, S., Sellers, E., Holzner, C., Krausz, G., Carabalona, R., et al. (2009a). How many people are able to control a P300-based brain-computer interface (BCI)? *Neurosci. Lett.* 462, 94–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.06.045
- Guger, C., Daban, S., Sellers, E., Holzner, C., Krausz, G., Carabalona, R., et al. (2009b). How many people are able to control a P300-based brain-computer interface (BCI)? *Neurosci. Lett.* 462, 94–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.06.045
- Guger, C., Edlinger, G., Harkam, W., Niedermayer, I., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2003). How many people are able to operate an EEG-based brain-computer interface (BCI)? *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 11, 145–147. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2003.814481
- Gustin, S. M., Wrigley, P. J., Gandevia, S. C., Middleton, J. W., Henderson, L. A., and Siddall, P. J. (2008). Movement imagery increases pain in people with neuropathic

pain following complete thoracic spinal cord injury. *Pain* 137, 237–244. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.08.032

- Halder, S., Agorastos, D., Veit, R., Hammer, E. M., Lee, S., Varkuti, B., et al. (2011). Neural mechanisms of brain-computer interface control. *Neuroimage* 55, 1779– 1790. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.01.021
- Halder, S., Rea, M., Andreoni, R., Nijboer, F., Hammer, E. M., Kleih, S. C., et al. (2010). An auditory oddball brain-computer interface for binary choices. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 121, 516–523. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2009.11.087
- Hammer, E. M., Halder, S., Blankertz, B., Sannelli, C., Dickhaus, T., Kleih, S., et al. (2012). Psychological predictors of SMR-BCI performance. *Biol. Psychol.* 89, 80–86. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.09.006
- Hentz, V. R., and Leclercq, C. (2002). Surgical Rehabilitation of the Upper Limb in Tetraplegia (London: W. B. Saunders).
- Hiersemenzel, L. P., Curt, A., and Dietz, V. (2000). From spinal shock to spasticity: neuronal adaptations to a spinal cord injury. *Neurology* 54, 1574–1582. doi: 10.1212/WNL.54.8.1574
- Hinterberger, T., Schmidt, S., Neumann, N., Mellinger, J., Blankertz, B., Curio, G., et al. (2004). Brain-computer communication and slow cortical potentials. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 51, 1011–1018. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2004.827067
- Holz, E. M., Kaufmann, T., Desideri, L., Malavasi, M., Hoogerwerf, E. J., and Kübler, A. (2011). User centred design in BCI development. *Biol. Med. Phys. Biomed. Eng.* 2013:22.
- Horki, P., Neuper, C., Pfurtscheller, G., and Müller-Putz, G. R. (2010). Asynchronous steady-state visual evoked potential based BCI control of a 2-DoF artificial upper limb. *Biomed. Tech.* 55, 367–374. doi: 10.1515/BMT.2010.044
- Huggins, J. E., Wren, P. A., and Gruis, K. L. (2011). What would braincomputer interface users want? Opinions and priorities of potential users with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler.* 12, 318–324. doi: 10.3109/17482968.2011.572978
- ISO. (2010). ISO 9241:2010 Ergonomics of Human-System Interaction Part 210: Human-Centred Design for Interactive Systems. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization.
- Iturrate, I., Antelis, J. M., Kübler, A., and Minguez, J. (2009). A noninvasive brain-actuated wheelchair based on a P300 neurophysiological protocol and automated navigation. *IEEE Trans. Robot.* 25, 614–627. doi: 10.1109/TRO.2009.20 20347
- Jackson, A., and Zimmermann, J. B. (2012). Neural interfaces for the brain and spinal cord – restoring motor function. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 8, 690–699. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2012.219
- Jensen, M. P., Gertz, K. J., Kupper, A. E., Braden, A. L., Howe, J. D., Hakimian, S., et al. (2013a). Steps toward developing an EEG biofeedback treatment for chronic pain. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 38, 101–108. doi: 10.1007/s10484-013-9 214-9
- Jensen, M. P., Sherlin, L. H., Gertz, K. J., Braden, A. L., Kupper, A. E., Gianas, A., et al. (2013b). Brain EEG activity correlates of chronic pain in persons with spinal cord injury: clinical implications. *Spinal Cord* 51, 55–58. doi: 10.1038/sc. 2012.84
- Kaiser, V., Bauernfeind, G., Kreilinger, A., Kaufmann, T., Kübler, A., Neuper, C., et al. (2014). Cortical effects of user training in a motor imagery based braincomputer interface measured by fNIRS and EEG. *Neuroimage* 1, 432–444. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.04.097
- Kathner, I., Ruf, C. A., Pasqualotto, E., Braun, C., Birbaumer, N., and Halder, S. (2013). A portable auditory P300 brain-computer interface with directional cues. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 124, 327–338. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2012.08.006
- Kaufmann, T., Schulz, S. M., Koblitz, A., Renner, G., Wessig, C., and Kübler, A. (2013). Face stimuli effectively prevent brain-computer interface inefficiency in patients with neurodegenerative disease. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 124, 893–900. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2012.11.006
- Kaufmann, T., Volker, S., Gunesch, L., and Kübler, A. (2012). Spelling is just a click away – a user-centered brain-computer interface including auto-calibration and predictive text entry. *Front. Neurosci.* 6:72. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2012. 00072
- Kay, G. G., and Ebinger, U. (2008). Preserving cognitive function for patients with overactive bladder: evidence for a differential effect with darifenacin. *Int. J. Clin. Pract.* 62, 1792–1800. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2008.01849.x
- Keith, M. W., and Peljovich, A. (2012). Surgical treatments to restore function control in spinal cord injury. *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 109, 167–179. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-52137-8.00010-3

- Kilgore, K. L., Hoyen, H. A., Bryden, A. M., Hart, R. L., Keith, M. W., and Peckham, P. H. (2008). An implanted upper-extremity neuroprosthesis using myoelectric control. J. Hand Surg. Am. 33, 539–550. doi: 10.1016/j.jhsa.2008.01.007
- Kim, D. W., Hwang, H. J., Lim, J. H., Lee, Y. H., Jung, K. Y., and Im, C. H. (2011). Classification of selective attention to auditory stimuli: toward vision-free brain-computer interfacing. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 197, 180–185. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011.02.007
- Kindermans, P. J., Verstraeten, D., and Schrauwen, B. (2012). A bayesian model for exploiting application constraints to enable unsupervised training of a P300based BCI. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33758. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033758
- Kleih, S. C., Kaufmann, T., Zickler, C., Halder, S., Leotta, F., Cincotti, F., et al. (2011). Out of the frying pan into the fire–the P300-based BCI faces real-world challenges. *Prog. Brain Res.* 194, 27–46. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-53815-4.00019-4
- Kleih, S. C., Nijboer, F., Halder, S., and Kübler, A. (2010). Motivation modulates the P300 amplitude during brain-computer interface use. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 121, 1023–1031. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.01.034
- Krassioukov, A., Warburton, D. E., Teasell, R., and Eng, J. J. (2009). A systematic review of the management of autonomic dysreflexia after spinal cord injury. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 90, 682–695. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.10.017
- Kreilinger, A., Kaiser, V., Breitwieser, C., Williamson, J., Neuper, C., and Müller-Putz, G. R. (2011). Switching between manual control and brain-computer interface using long term and short term quality measures. *Front. Neurosci.* 5:147. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2011.00147
- Krusienski, D. J., Sellers, E. W., Mcfarland, D. J., Vaughan, T. M., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2008). Toward enhanced P300 speller performance. J. Neurosci. Methods 167, 15–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2007.07.017
- Kübler, A., Mattia, D., Rupp, R., Tangermann, M. (2013). Facing the challenge: bringing brain-computer interfaces to end-users. *Artif. Intell. Med.* 59, 55–60. doi: 10.1016/j.artmed.2013.08.002
- Kübler, A., Neumann, N., Wilhelm, B., Hinterberger, T., and Birbaumer, N. (2004). Predictability of brain-computer communication. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 18, 121– 129. doi: 10.1027/0269-8803.18.23.121
- Leeb, R., Gubler, M., Tavella, M., Miller, H., and Del Millan, J. R. (2010). On the road to a neuroprosthetic hand: a novel hand grasp orthosis based on functional electrical stimulation. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2010, 146–149. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2010.5627412
- Leeb, R., Sagha, H., Chavarriaga, R., and Millán, J. D. R. (2011). A hybrid brain-computer interface based on the fusion of electroencephalographic and electromyographic activities. *J. Neural. Eng.* 8:025011. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/2/025011
- Lindan, R., Joiner, E., Freehafer, A. A., and Hazel, C. (1980). Incidence and clinical features of autonomic dysreflexia in patients with spinal cord injury. *Paraplegia* 18, 285–292. doi: 10.1038/sc.1980.51
- Millán, J. D. R., Galán, F., Vanhooydonck, D., Lew, E., Philips, J., and Nuttin, M. (2009). Asynchronous non-invasive brain-actuated control of an intelligent wheelchair. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2009, 3361–3364. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2009.5332828
- Moghimi, S., Kushki, A., Guerguerian, A. M., and Chau, T. (2013). A review of EEG-based brain-computer interfaces as access pathways for individuals with severe disabilities. *Assist. Technol.* 25, 99–110. doi: 10.1080/10400435.2012.7 23298
- Moss, C. W., Kilgore, K. L., and Peckham, P. H. (2011). A novel command signal for motor neuroprosthetic control. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 25, 847–854. doi: 10.1177/1545968311410067
- Müller-Putz, G. R., Breitwieser, C., Cincotti, F., Leeb, R., Schreuder, M., Leotta, F., et al. (2011). Tools for brain-computer interaction: a general concept for a hybrid BCI. *Front. Neuroinform.* 5:30. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2011.00030
- Müller-Putz, G. R., Daly, I., and Kaiser, V. (2014). Motor imagery-induced EEG patterns in individuals with spinal cord injury and their impact on brain-computer interface accuracy. *J. Neural Eng.* 11:035011. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/11/3/0 35011
- Muller-Putz, G. R., Scherer, R., Neuper, C., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2006). Steady-state somatosensory evoked potentials: suitable brain signals for braincomputer interfaces? *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 14, 30–37. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2005.863842
- Müller-Putz, G. R., Scherer, R., Pfurtscheller, G., and Rupp, R. (2005). EEG-based neuroprosthesis control: a step towards clinical practice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 382, 169– 174. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2005.03.021

- Nardone, R., Holler, Y., Brigo, F., Seidl, M., Christova, M., Bergmann, J., et al. (2013). Functional brain reorganization after spinal cord injury: systematic review of animal and human studies. *Brain Res.* 1504, 58–73. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.12.034
- National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center. (2012). *The 2012 Annual Statistical Report for the Model Spinal Cord Injury Care System*. National SCI Statistical Center. Available at: www.uab.edu/NSCISC [accessed August 7, 2014].
- Neumann, N., Kübler, A., Kaiser, J., Hinterberger, T., and Birbaumer, N. (2003). Conscious perception of brain states: mental strategies for braincomputer communication. *Neuropsychologia* 41, 1028–1036. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(02)00298-1
- Neuper, C., Scherer, R., Reiner, M., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2005). Imagery of motor actions: differential effects of kinesthetic and visual-motor mode of imagery in single-trial EEG. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 25, 668–677. doi: 10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2005.08.014
- Nguyen, J. S., Su, S. W., and Nguyen, H. T. (2013). Experimental study on a smart wheelchair system using a combination of stereoscopic and spherical vision. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2013, 4597–4600. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2013.6610571
- Nijboer, F., Birbaumer, N., and Kübler, A. (2010). The influence of psychological state and motivation on brain-computer interface performance in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis a longitudinal study. *Front. Neurosci.* 4:55. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2010.00055
- Nijboer, F., Sellers, E. W., Mellinger, J., Jordan, M. A., Matuz, T., Furdea, A., et al. (2008). A P300-based brain-computer interface for people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 119, 1909–1916. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.03.034
- North, N. T. (1999). The psychological effects of spinal cord injury: a review. Spinal Cord 37, 671–679. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3100913
- Onose, G., Grozea, C., Anghelescu, A., Daia, C., Sinescu, C. J., Ciurea, A. V., et al. (2012). On the feasibility of using motor imagery EEG-based brain-computer interface in chronic tetraplegics for assistive robotic arm control: a clinical test and long-term post-trial follow-up. *Spinal Cord* 50, 599–608. doi: 10.1038/sc.2012.14
- Ortner, R., Allison, B. Z., Korisek, G., Gaggl, H., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2011). An SSVEP BCI to control a hand orthosis for persons with tetraplegia. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 19, 1–5. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2010.2076364
- Ouzký, M. (2002). Towards Concerted Efforts for Treating and Curing Spinal Cord Injury, Report of the Social, Health and Family Affairs Committee of the Council of Europe, Doc. 9401. Available at: http://assembly.coe.int/ASP/Doc/XrefViewHTML.asp?FileID=9680&Language= en (accessed September 17, 2014).
- Panicker, R. C., Puthusserypady, S., and Sun, Y. (2011). An asynchronous P300 BCI with SSVEP-based control state detection. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 58, 1781–1788. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2011.2116018
- Pasqualotto, E., Federici, S., and Belardinelli, M. O. (2012). Toward functioning and usable brain-computer interfaces (BCIs): a literature review. *Disabil. Rehabil. Assist. Technol.* 7, 89–103. doi: 10.3109/17483107.2011.589486
- Pfurtscheller, G., Linortner, P., Winkler, R., Korisek, G., and Müller-Putz, G. (2009). Discrimination of motor imagery-induced EEG patterns in patients with complete spinal cord injury. *Comput. Intell. Neurosci.* 2009:104180. doi: 10.1155/2009/104180
- Pfurtscheller, G., and Lopes da Silva, F. H. (1999). Event-related EEG/MEG synchronization and desynchronization: basic principles. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 110, 1842–1857. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00141-8
- Pfurtscheller, G., Müller, G. R., Pfurtscheller, J., Gerner, H. J., and Rupp, R. (2003). "Thought' – control of functional electrical stimulation to restore hand grasp in a patient with tetraplegia. *Neurosci. Lett.* 351, 33–36. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(03)00947-9
- Piccione, F., Giorgi, F., Tonin, P., Priftis, K., Giove, S., Silvoni, S., et al. (2006). P300-based brain computer interface: reliability and performance in healthy and paralysed participants. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 117, 531–537. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.07.024
- Pietzko, A., Dimpfel, W., Schwantes, U., and Topfmeier, P. (1994). Influences of trospium chloride and oxybutynin on quantitative EEG in healthy volunteers. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 47, 337–343. doi: 10.1007/BF00191165
- Pineda, J. A., Silverman, D. S., Vankov, A., and Hestenes, J. (2003). Learning to control brain rhythms: making a brain-computer interface possible. *IEEE Trans*actions. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng. 11, 181–184. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2003.814445

- Popovic, M. R., Popovic, D. B., and Keller, T. (2002). Neuroprostheses for grasping. *Neurol. Res.* 24, 443–452. doi: 10.1179/016164102101200311
- Rebsamen, B., Guan, C., Zhang, H., Wang, C., Teo, C., Ang, M. H., et al. (2010). A brain controlled wheelchair to navigate in familiar environments. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 18, 590–598. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2010.20 49862
- Riccio, A., Mattia, D., Simione, L., Olivetti, M., and Cincotti, F. (2012). Eye-gaze independent EEG-based brain-computer interfaces for communication. J. Neural Eng. 9:045001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/4/045001
- Rockstroh, B., Birbaumer, N., Elbert, T., and Lutzenberger, W. (1984). Operant control of EEG and event-related and slow brain potentials. *Biofeedback Self Regul.* 9, 139–160. doi: 10.1007/BF00998830
- Rohm, M., Schneiders, M., Müller, C., Kreilinger, A., Kaiser, V., Müller-Putz, G. R., et al. (2013). Hybrid brain-computer interfaces and hybrid neuroprostheses for restoration of upper limb functions in individuals with high-level spinal cord injury. *Artif. Intell. Med.* 59, 133–142. doi: 10.1016/j.artmed.2013.07.004
- Roland, J., Miller, K., Freudenburg, Z., Sharma, M., Smyth, M., Gaona, C., et al. (2011). The effect of age on human motor electrocorticographic signals and implications for brain-computer interface applications. *J. Neural Eng.* 8:046013. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/4/046013
- Rupp, R., and Gerner, H. J. (2007). Neuroprosthetics of the upper extremity clinical application in spinal cord injury and challenges for the future. *Acta Neurochir. Suppl.* 97, 419–426. doi: 10.1007/978-3-211-33079-1_55
- Rupp, R., Kreilinger, A., Rohm, M., Kaiser, V., and Müller-Putz, G.R. (2012). Development of a non-invasive, multifunctional grasp neuroprosthesis and its evaluation in an individual with a high spinal cord injury. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2012, 1835–1838. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2012.6346308
- Rupp, R., Rohm, M., Schneiders, M., Weidner, N., Kaiser, V., Kreilinger, A., et al. (2013). Think2grasp – BCI-controlled neuroprosthesis for the upper extremity. *Biomed. Tech. (Berl.)* doi: 10.1515/bmt-2013-4440 [Epub ahead of print].
- Samek, W., Vidaurre, C., Muller, K. R., and Kawanabe, M. (2012). Stationary common spatial patterns for brain-computer interfacing. J. Neural Eng. 9:026013. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/2/026013
- Sannelli, C., Vidaurre, C., Müller, K. R., and Blankertz, B. (2011). CSP patches: an ensemble of optimized spatial filters. An evaluation study. *J. Neural Eng.* 8:025012. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/2/025012
- Savic, A. M., Malesevic, N. M., and Popovic, M. B. (2014). Feasibility of a hybrid brain-computer interface for advanced functional electrical therapy. *ScientificWorldJournal* 2014:797128. doi: 10.1155/2014/797128
- Schottler, J., Vogel, L., Chafetz, R., and Mulcahey, M. J. (2009). Patient and caregiver knowledge of autonomic dysreflexia among youth with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 47, 681–686. doi: 10.1038/sc.2009.12
- Schreuder, M., Riccio, A., Risetti, M., Dahne, S., Ramsay, A., Williamson, J., et al. (2013). User-centered design in brain-computer interfaces-a case study. *Artif. Intell. Med.* 59, 71–80. doi: 10.1016/j.artmed.2013.07.005
- Sellers, E. W., and Donchin, E. (2006a). A P300-based brain-computer interface: initial tests by ALS patients. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 117, 538–548. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.06.027
- Sellers, E. W., and Donchin, E. (2006b). A P300-based brain-computer interface: initial tests by ALS patients. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 117, 538–548. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.06.027
- Seyfert, S., and Straschill, M. (1982). [Electroencephalographic changes induced by baclofen]. EEG EMG Z. Elektroenzephalogr. Elektromyogr. Verwandte Geb. 13, 161–166.
- Shih, J. J., Krusienski, D. J., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2012). Brain-computer interfaces in medicine. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 87, 268–279. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2011.12.008
- Siddall, P. J., Mcclelland, J. M., Rutkowski, S. B., and Cousins, M. J. (2003). A longitudinal study of the prevalence and characteristics of pain in the first 5 years following spinal cord injury. *Pain* 103, 249–257. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(02)00452-9
- Silvoni, S., Volpato, C., Cavinato, M., Marchetti, M., Priftis, K., Merico, A., et al. (2009). P300-based brain-computer interface communication: evaluation and follow-up in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Front. Neurosci.* 3:60. doi: 10.3389/neuro.20.001.2009
- Snoek, G. J., Mj, I. J., Hermens, H. J., Maxwell, D., and Biering-Sorensen, F. (2004). Survey of the needs of patients with spinal cord injury: impact and priority for improvement in hand function in tetraplegics. *Spinal Cord* 42, 526–532. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3101638
- Strait, M., and Scheutz, M. (2014). What we can and cannot (yet) do with functional near infrared spectroscopy. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:117. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00117
- Sutton, S., Braren, M., Zubin, J., and John, E. R. (1965). Evoked-potential correlates of stimulus uncertainty. *Science* 150, 1187–1188. doi: 10.1126/science.150.3700.1187
- Todorova, A., Vonderheid-Guth, B., and Dimpfel, W. (2001). Effects of tolterodine, trospium chloride, and oxybutynin on the central nervous system. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 41, 636–644. doi: 10.1177/00912700122010528
- Tonin, L., Leeb, R., Tavella, M., Perdikis, S., and Millán, J. D. R. (2010). "The role of shared-control in BCI-based telepresence," in *Proceedings of 2010 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics*, Istanbul, 1462–1466. doi: 10.1109/ICSMC.2010.5642338
- Toppi, J., Risetti, M., Quitadamo, L. R., Petti, M., Bianchi, L., Salinari, S., et al. (2014). Investigating the effects of a sensorimotor rhythm-based BCI training on the cortical activity elicited by mental imagery. J. Neural Eng. 11:035010. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/11/3/035010
- van den Berg, M. E., Castellote, J. M., Mahillo-Fernandez, I., and De Pedro-Cuesta, J. (2010). Incidence of spinal cord injury worldwide: a systematic review. *Neuroepidemiology* 34, 184–192; discussion 192. doi: 10.1159/000279335
- van den Honert, C., and Mortimer, J. T. (1979). The response of the myelinated nerve fiber to short duration biphasic stimulating currents. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* 7, 117–125. doi: 10.1007/BF02363130
- Vanacker, G., Millán, J. D. R., Lew, E., Ferrez, P. W., Galán, F., Philips, J., et al. (2007). Context-based filtering for assisted brain-actuated wheelchair driving. *Comput. Intell. Neurosci.* 2007:25130. doi: 10.1155/2007/25130
- Vanhooydonck, D., Demeester, E., Nuttin, M., and Van Brussel, H. (2003). "Shared control for intelligent wheelchairs: an implicit estimation of the user intention," in *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop Advances in Service Robot (ASER* '03), Bardolino, 176–182.
- Vialatte, F. B., Maurice, M., Dauwels, J., and Cichocki, A. (2010). Steady-state visually evoked potentials: focus on essential paradigms and future perspectives. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 90, 418–438. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.11.005

- Vuckovic, A., Hasan, M. A., Fraser, M., Conway, B. A., Nasseroleslami, B., and Allan, D. B. (2014). Dynamic oscillatory signatures of central neuropathic pain in spinal cord injury. J. Pain 15, 645–655. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2014.02.005
- Waring, W. P. III, Biering-Sorensen, F., Burns, S., Donovan, W., Graves, D., Jha, A., et al. (2010).2009 review and revisions of the international standards for the neurological classification of spinal cord injury. J. Spinal Cord Med. 33, 346–352.
- Wolpaw, J. R., Birbaumer, N., Mcfarland, D. J., Pfurtscheller, G., and Vaughan, T. M. (2002). Brain-computer interfaces for communication and control. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 113, 767–791. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00057-3
- Wolpaw, J. R., Mcfarland, D. J., and Vaughan, T. M. (2000). Brain-computer interface research at the Wadsworth Center. *IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng.* 8, 222–226. doi: 10.1109/86.847823
- Zander, T. O., Lehne, M., Ihme, K., Jatzev, S., Correia, J., Kothe, C., et al. (2011). A dry EEG-system for scientific research and brain-computer interfaces. *Front. Neurosci.* 5:53. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2011.00053

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 July 2014; accepted: 08 September 2014; published online: 24 September 2014.

Citation: Rupp R (2014) Challenges in clinical applications of brain computer interfaces in individuals with spinal cord injury. Front. Neuroeng. 7:38. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00038

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Rupp. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Effectiveness of the P3-speller in brain–computer interfaces for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Mauro Marchetti¹ and Konstantinos Priftis^{1,2}*

¹ Department of General Psychology, University of Padova, Padova, Italy ² Laboratory of Neuropsychology, IRCCS San Camillo Hospital, Venice, Italy

Edited by:

Christoph Guger, Graz University of Technology, Austria

Reviewed by:

Damien Coyle, University of Ulster, UK

Giuseppe D'Avenio, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

*Correspondence:

Konstantinos Priftis, Department of General Psychology, University of Padova, Via Venezia 8, 35131 Padova, Italy

e-mail: konstantinos.priftis@unipd.it

A quarter of century ago, Farwell and Donchin (1988) described their mental prosthesis for "talking off the top of your head." This innovative communication system, later named P3-speller, has been the most investigated and tested brain-computer interface (BCI) system, to date. A main goal of the research on P3-spellers was the development of an effective assistive device for patients with severe motor diseases. Among these patients are those affected by amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). ALS patients have become a target population in P3-speller (and more generally in BCI) research. The P3-speller relies on the visual sensory modality, and it can be controlled by requiring users to actively move their eyes. Unfortunately, eye-movement control is usually not spared in the last stages of ALS, and, then, it is definitively lost in the case of complete paralysis. We reviewed the literature on ALS patients tested by means of P3-speller systems. Our aim was to investigate the evidence available to date of the P3-spellers effectiveness in ALS patients. To address this goal, a meta-analytic approach was adopted. The pooled classification accuracy performance, among retrieved studies, was about 74%. This estimation, however, was affected by significant heterogeneity and inconsistency among studies. This fact makes this percentage estimation (i.e., 74%) unreliable. Nowadays, the conclusion is that the initial hopes posed on P3-speller for ALS patients have not been met yet. In addition, no trials in which the P3-speller has been compared to current assistive technologies for communication (e.g., eye-trackers) are available. In conclusion, further studies are required to obtain a reliable index of P3-speller effectiveness in ALS. Furthermore, comparisons of P3-speller systems with the available assistive technologies are needed to assess the P3-speller usefulness with non-completely paralyzed ALS-patients.

Keywords: brain-computer interface, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, P3-speller, systematic review, meta-analysis

INTRODUCTION

Twenty-six years ago, Farwell and Donchin (1988) first described a spelling system that exploited event-related potentials (ERPs) for selecting alphanumeric stimuli on a screen, later called the P3-speller. Participants were shown a 6×6 matrix of symbols (i.e., letters and functions; **Figure 1**). The rows and the columns of the matrix were randomly flashed, and the participants were required to focus their visuospatial attention on a specific target symbol.

Farwell and Donchin (1988) reported that a rather distinct ERP (i.e., P3 component; for a review about P3, see Polich, 2007) was elicited by the flash occurring in the combination of columns and rows, in which the attended letter was positioned. Moreover, they investigated the possibility to detect the P3 associated with the target letter, by processing offline the ERPs (event-related potentials) through algorithms for signal detection. The first ERPbased brain–computer interface (BCI) was born. Following this seminal study, the P3-speller paradigm has become the most studied one, in the BCI domain (Cecotti, 2011). The success of the P3-speller is mainly due to three reasons. First, it relies on electroencephalography (EEG), which is a non-invasive and cheap technique that can be moved according to the patients' needs (e.g., it can be used at their bedside or it can be implemented on a wheelchair; Daly and Wolpaw, 2008). Second, the P3-speller is an ERP-based BCI, and, thus, it does not require a long training period with respect to BCIs guided by sensorimotor rhythms (SMRs) and slow-cortical potential (SCPs; Birbaumer, 2006). Third, the P3-speller paradigm permits users to select among several symbols/commands. For instance, Townsend et al. (2010) have proposed a 9×8 symbols' speller, whereas the SCP-and SMR-based BCIs provide users with fewer choices (the most common is a binary choice; Birbaumer, 2006).

The main goal in BCIs' research is to offer a new channel of communication and control, with particular regard to patients affected by severe motor diseases (Wolpaw et al., 2002). Because of the nature of the illness, ALS patients have been the main target population in BCI studies (for reviews, see Kübler and Birbaumer, 2008; Moghimi et al., 2013). Voluntary muscle control is progressively affected in ALS; thus, in the later stages of the disease the patients become totally paralyzed. The first cause of death in ALS



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of a P3-speller BCI. Letters and numbers are displayed in a $N \times N$ matrix (6 × 6 resulting in 36 symbols in the present example). Columns and rows are randomly flashed for a short time (i.e., the third row from the top in this matrix). Users have to focus their spatial attention on the target stimulus (e.g., letters) that they want to select. When the selection is correct, a larger P300 is elicited when the columns and the row containing the to-be-selected target stimulus are flashed. Usually, the classified stimuli are displayed on the top of the matrix.

is respiratory failure (Radunovic et al., 2013). Survival can be prolonged in those of the patients who decide to have respiratory support (i.e., tracheotomy or long-term mechanical ventilation) and the feeding tube (Dreyer et al., 2013). ALS evolves toward the locked-in syndrome (LIS), a condition in which patients remain conscious but they lose their ability to voluntary control most of their muscles (Smith and Delargy, 2005). For instance, ALS-LIS patients may become unable to express their opinions and decisions on important questions regarding their clinical treatment, or their living and biological wills. Hence, effective BCIs could have an enormous impact on the life of ALS-LIS patients, by permitting them to communicate and interact with their environment. Prior to entering the LIS condition, however, ALS patients are still able to communicate, by exploiting their residual motor abilities. Eyemovements are usually one of the last voluntary movements in ALS patients before they reach the complete LIS condition (i.e., CLIS), in which no voluntary muscle control is retained (Murguialday et al., 2011). The reliable control of a muscle (e.g., eye-muscle control) is generally used as a channel for interaction between the patients and their environments. Communication, however, is usually limited to binary yes/no answers to respond to caregivers' and clinicians' questions, whereas the P3-speller offers a higher number of possible choices to ALS patients (i.e., $N \times N$ choices). Then, when reliable control is reached, users do not depend on other people's questions for communicating, but they can spontaneously "speak out" words or sentences. For these reasons, several researchers have proposed the P3-speller as a potential solution for communication problems of ALS patients (Münßinger et al., 2010; Townsend et al., 2010; Manyakov et al., 2011; Li et al., 2011). Unfortunately, the P3-speller is useless for ALS-CLIS patients, because their visual modality is completely impaired (i.e., paralysis of the eyes, dryness of the cornea; Murguialday et al., 2011). Indeed, other sensory modalities must be exploited, with ALS-CLIS patients, in order to develop effective BCIs (e.g., the acoustic modality; Sellers and Donchin, 2006; Kübler et al., 2009). A further limit of the P3-speller is that it requires users to focus their gaze on the to-be-selected target stimulus (e.g., letters, numbers, etc.). In fact, two independent studies on healthy participants have shown that the P3-speller performance relies on the possibility of the users to move their eyes for focusing on the target stimulus (Brunner et al., 2010; Treder and Blankertz, 2010). This represents a further problem with ALS patients, because several oculomotor dysfunctions accompany the progression of the illness (e.g., ophthalmoplegia, defective pursuit eye-movements, saccadic movements' impairment, nystagmus; for a comprehensive review, see Sharma et al., 2011). As a consequence, the P3-speller may be useful only for those ALS-LIS patients who retain sufficient eye-muscle control, and who cannot control communicative prostheses that require limb movements. After focusing on the patients who are in this latter condition, however, there is one main point to be considered. When eye-muscle control in an ALS-LIS patient is sufficient for controlling a P3-speller, it can be reasonably hypothesized that the same patient could control an eye-tracker for augmentative and alternative communication (AAC; Beukelman et al., 2011). Eve-trackers do not need time for electrodes montage and require short calibration time, even with infants (Gredebäck et al., 2009). Furthermore, eye-trackers have accurate, fast and reliable classification performances (Holmqvist et al., 2011), and can be satisfactorily used for hours by ALS patients (e.g., for 300 min; Spataro et al., 2013). Unfortunately, no direct comparison between P3-spellers and eye-tracking spelling systems is available in the literature, to date.

In a recent editorial in which the new horizons of BCI were discussed, Sellers (2013) explicitly formulated the following question: "*Can people with somewhat compromised visual ability benefit from a visual BCI*?" With the present meta-analysis, we aimed to partially address this question (i.e., P3-speller is only one of the available visual BCIs), by focusing on the effectiveness of P3-speller BCIs in ALS patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

SEARCH STRATEGIES AND SELECTION CRITERIA

In June 2013 we performed a search on the Pubmed database. We searched the terms "P3-/P300-speller," or "brain-computer interface(s)," or "BCI," or "brain-machines interface(s)," or "BMI," or "man-machines interface(s)," or "direct brain interface(s)," or "mental prosthesis/-es" in combination with each of the following terms: "amyotrophic lateral sclerosis," or "ALS," or "motor neuron disease," or "MND." We searched the reference list of retrieved papers to identify additional relevant articles. Only studies in English were considered for the present systematic review. Original studies reporting P3-speller tests with ALS patients were selected. The choice of a performance's measure that permits a clear and direct comparison across BCIs is a question of theoretical debate in the literature (Dal Seno et al., 2010; Yuan et al., 2013). Thus, for the meta-analysis we avoided the use of information transfer rate (ITR), which is often misreported in literature (Yuan et al., 2013). We identified, instead, the classification accuracy (CA) as our target measure. CA is defined by the percentage of correct target selection with the P3-speller. CA is a common index of performance reported among BCI studies, and offers a clear idea about BCI systems' effectiveness in target classification. On the contrary, CA does not give any information about the system speed for selecting commands. ALS patients, however, have declared the need of a BCI with CA above 90%, as their priority, followed by the communication speed issue (Huggins et al., 2011). In fact, a fast but unreliable BCI would be useless for paralyzed patients who cannot communicate through other AAC systems.

ENDPOINTS AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

For the meta-analysis, we extracted from each study: the CA and its relative measure of variability around the mean (e.g., standard deviation, standard error of the mean, etc.), the year of publication, the chance level (CL = 100/N of matrix symbols) of CA associated to each P3-speller, and the sample size. Each time an ALS patient was tested with more than one P3-speller paradigm, only the best CA was chosen. The CA, defined as the percentage of correct target selection, was used as endpoint for addressing the question of P3-spellers' effectiveness in ALS. The reported measures of variability around the averaged CA of each study (i.e., standard error and standard deviation) were used to compute the 95% confidence intervals around the effect size measure (i.e., the row CA). Because there was a wide variability of experimental designs and of goals among the retrieved studies, there might have been different effect sizes underlying the studies in our meta-analysis. Thus, we calculated the pooled CA by using a random-effects model, assuming that the effect sizes of the studies that actually were performed represented a random sample of the potential real ones (Borenstein et al., 2009; Cumming, 2012). Heterogeneity and inconsistency in the results of the selected studies were assessed by means of Cochran's Q and I^2 tests, respectively (Higgins et al., 2003). To address the possible publication bias (e.g., the fact that studies with non-significant results are less likely to be published), we computed the Kendall's tau rank correlation with continuity correction and the Egger's regression tests (Rothstein et al., 2005). Analyses were performed using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis (v. 2.2.064) and the "metafor" package (Viechtbauer, 2010) of the R statistic software (v. 3.0.1).

RESULTS

The systematic search resulted in 454 non-duplicated records. Of these, 440 articles were excluded because P3-spellers were not tested with ALS patients. Four studies described only single cases of ALS patients (Escolano et al., 2010; Sellers et al., 2010; Aloise et al., 2011; Manyakov et al., 2011), and, thus, they could not be included in the meta-analysis. The averaged CA of the four single cases tested with P3-spellers was 71.82%. Finally, ten eligible studies were identified and were entered in the random-effects model analysis (**Figure 2**).

The estimated CA of these pooled studies was 73.72% (95% CI, 62.55 to 84.89). The estimation of this result, however, is limited by the significant heterogeneity and inconsistency among the considered studies (Q = 399.41, p < 0.001; $I^2 = 95.71$). Then,

a meta-regression on all eligible studies was performed, in which the publication's year was used as moderator. The CA did not significantly increase as a function of time (i.e., publication year; B = 6.67, C.I. 95%: -18.8 to 32.13; $Q_{\text{model}} = 0.26$, p = 0.61). The funnel plot for publication bias resulted symmetrical to visual inspection (**Figure 3**). The statistical analyses performed for testing the publication bias were both non-significant [Egger's test, t(8) = 0.822, p(2-tailed) = 0.43; Kendall's $\tau = -0.35$, p(2-tailed) = 0.15].

DISCUSSION

In the present meta-analysis we investigated the available evidence of the effective use of P3-speller BCIs with ALS patients. The pooled CA of P3-speller with ALS patients was about 74%. This estimated result was affected, however, by huge inconsistency among the analyzed studies. This significant heterogeneity is probably due to differences in study designs (e.g., differences in: sample sizes, number of sessions, classification methods, etc.). Hence, the observed wide variability limits the possibility of safely considering the overall estimation.

Even by assuming that the estimation of the present metaanalysis is correct, some further considerations are necessary. It is clear that a 74% level of CA is far above the chance level (usually lower than 3% with P3-spellers). But, at the same time, 74% is considerably lower than the 90% CA desired by ALS patients (Huggins et al., 2011). Whether a 74% level of CA could be sufficient for everyday use of the P3-speller, remains an empirical question. Of course a 74% level of CA might be considered as satisfactory for patients with no other means of communication. Note, however, that if ALS patients have no other means of communication, they would be probably unable to perform the eye-movements required for controlling the P3-speller.

In most of the studies included in the present meta-analysis, there was a limited number of experimental sessions (e.g., one or few days of testing), which took place often in non-ecological settings (i.e., not at patients' home, which is the last goal for an assistive technology; Kleih et al., 2011). There is only one peer-reviewed report, in which an ALS-LIS patient reached satisfactory long-term control of a P3-speller (for more than 2 years, and at home), with an accuracy above 80% (Sellers et al., 2010). It could be pointed out that the overall CA computed in the present meta-analysis is biased, and the computation could have underestimated the real performance of ALS patients using the P3-speller. Nonetheless, both the tests that we performed on the publication bias were not significant. It is true that the publication bias tests may be underpowered, as a consequence of the small number of studies retrieved for the analysis. But if a publication bias is present, it is more probable that studies that failed to find successful performance were not published, than vice versa. Cases of unsuccessful P3-speller use would have resulted only in a lower CA estimation.

The usefulness of P3-spellers with ALS patients has to be discussed under the light of a further consideration. The performance estimated in the meta-analysis was obtained from samples of ALS patients with sufficiently spared oculomotor functions; otherwise

Studies	N° Pz.	N° Symbols	Chance Level (%)	CA (%) [± C.I. 95%]	
		,			CA (/0) [± CT 95/0]
Kübler and Birbaumer (2008)	2	36	2.8	⊢ ∎1	68.50 [57.72 , 79.28
Nijboer et al. (2008)	7	36	2.8		69.42 [53.91 , 84.93
Townsend et al. (2010)	3	72	1.4	⊢■ −1	84.00 [76.86 , 91.14
Münßinger et al. (2010)	3	48	2.1 ⊦		74.60 [37.61 , 111.59
Mugler et al. (2010)	3	64	1.6		72.10 [69.12 , 75.08
Pires et al. (2011)	2	36	2.8	⊢ ∎-1	96.88 [90.75 , 103.00
Mak et al. (2012)	20	36	2.8		76.10 [56.47 , 95.73
Nam et al. (2012)	3	49	2 🖷		36.00 [32.27 , 39.73
Pires et al. (2012)	7	28	3.6	· · · · ·	84.38 [68.68 , 100.07
Blain-Moraes et al. (2013)	11	36	2.8	⊢ ∎1	78.20 [68.79 , 87.61
				Ra	ndom Effect Model Estimate
					73.72 [62.55, 84.89

FIGURE 2 | Forest plot of P3-speller accuracy in ALS. The percentage of classification accuracy (CA %) and associated confidence intervals (CIs) are reported for each study. L, lower limit of the confidence interval; U, upper limit of the confidence interval; N° pz, number of



meaningful control of a P3-speller is not possible (Brunner et al., 2010; Treder and Blankertz, 2010). When eye-movement control is spared, a word processor could be controlled even by means of eye-trackers. Pannasch et al. (2008) have described four ALS-LIS patients performing an eye-tracker copy-spelling task, with the possibility of correcting misspelled letters. ALS-LIS patients accomplished the task with 100% accuracy in each tested session, with an average speed of 17 selections per minute. The eye-tracker technique does not require montage of sensors on the user, and patients included in each study; N° symbols, number of symbols displayed in the matrices presented in each study; chance level, the percentage of symbols, in each study, that could have been correctly selected by chance

it requires only few minutes of calibration for being ready-to-use. Moreover, Spataro et al. (2013) have described a group of 30 ALS patients who satisfactorily used an eye-tracker device for about six hours per day, mainly for communicating with their caregivers. Before thinking to move the P3-speller from the labs to ALS patients' houses, one should consider whether P3-spellers offer any advantage to ALS patients with respect, for example, to the advantages of eye-trackers. To our knowledge, however, there are no peer-reviewed studies in which the ALS patients' performance, in using a P3-speller versus an eye-tracker, has been directly compared.

The findings of the present meta-analysis do not bring clear evidence of P3-speller usefulness with ALS patients. New studies, with larger samples of ALS participants -for increasing power-, with better specified inclusion/exclusion criteria, with detailed assessment of residual eye-movement control, and with clearly and comprehensively reported descriptive statistics are required in order to reach a reliable estimation of P3-speller effectiveness. We would like to underline that our findings are limited to the P3-speller interface, and cannot be in any way generalized to other BCI systems. The eye-movement problem related to the P3-speller is nowadays well known (Brunner et al., 2010; Treder and Blankertz, 2010). Some alternative visual BCIs guided by evoked potentials, and relying on covert spatial attention orienting (i.e., no eye-movement required), have been tested with ALS patients (Lim et al., 2013; Marchetti et al., 2013). Nonetheless, when the visual modality is no more exploitable for ALS-patients, the chances of communication by means of a BCI are entrusted on other sensory modalities (e.g., acoustic or tactile) or on EEG signals other than ERPs (for a review on eye-gaze independent EEG-based BCIs, see Riccio et al., 2012). Despite the huge interest

that the P3-speller has received, and on the basis of the evidence from the present meta-analysis, the early hypothesized goal of translating P3-spellers into a mental prosthesis for everyday use (Farwell and Donchin, 1988), for ALS patients, has not been met yet.

REFERENCES

- Aloise, F., Schettini, F., Aricò, P., Salinari, S., Guger, C., Rinsma, J., et al. (2011). Asynchronous P300-based brain-computer interface to control a virtual environment: initial tests on end users. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 42, 219–224. doi: 10.1177/155005941104200406
- Beukelman, D., Fager, S., and Nordness, A. (2011). Communication support for people with ALS. *Neurol. Res.* 2011:714693. doi: 10.1155/2011/714693
- Birbaumer, N. (2006). Breaking the silence: brain-computer interfaces (BCI) for communication and motor control. *Psychophysiology* 43, 517–532. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2006.00456.x
- Blain-Moraes, S., Mashour, G. A., Lee, H., Huggins, J. E., and Lee, U. (2013). Altered cortical communication in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurosci. Lett.* 543, 172–176. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.03.028
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P. T., and Rothstein, H. T. (2009). Introduction to Meta-Analysis. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Brunner, P., Joshi, S., Briskin, S., Wolpaw, J. R., Bischof, H., and Schalk, G. (2010). Does the "P300" speller depend on eye gaze? *J. Neural Eng.* 7:056013. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/7/5/056013.
- Cecotti, H. (2011). Spelling with non-invasive Brain-Computer Interfaces – Current and future trends. J. Physiol. Paris 105, 106–114. doi: 10.1016/j.jphysparis.2011.08.003
- Cumming, G. (2012). The New Statistics Effect Sizes, Confidence Intervals, and Meta-Analysis. New York: Routledge.
- Dal Seno, B., Matteucci, M., and Mainardi, L. T. (2010). The utility metric: a novel method to assess the overall performance of discrete braincomputer interfaces. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 18, 20–28. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2009.2032642
- Daly, J. J., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2008). Brain–computer interfaces in neurological rehabilitation. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 1032–1043. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70223-0
- Dreyer, P., Lorenzen, C. K., Schou, L., and Felding, M. (2013). Survival in ALS with home mechanical ventilation non-invasively and invasively: a 15-year cohort study in west Denmark. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Frontotemporal Degener.* 15, 62–67. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2013.837929
- Escolano, C., Ramos Murguialday, A., Matuz, T., Birbaumer, N., and Minguez, J. (2010). A telepresence robotic system operated with a P300-based braincomputer interface: initial tests with ALS patients. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2010, 4476–4480. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2010.5626045
- Farwell, L. A., and Donchin, E. (1988). Talking off the top of your head: toward a mental prosthesis utilizing event-related brain potentials. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 70, 510–523. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(88) 90149-6
- Gredebäck, G., Johnson, S., and von Hofsten, C. (2009). Eye tracking in infancy research. *Dev. Neuropsychol.* 35, 1–19. doi: 10.1080/87565640903325758
- Higgins, J. P., Thompson, S. G., Deeks, J. J., and Altman, D. G. (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 327, 557–560. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557
- Holmqvist, K., Nyström, M., Andersson, R., Dewhurst, R., Jarodzka, H., and Van de Weijer, J. (2011). *Eye Tracking: A Comprehensive Guide to Methods and Measures*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Huggins, J. E., Wren, P. A., and Gruis, K. L. (2011). What would braincomputer interface users want? Opinions and priorities of potential users with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler.* 12, 318–324. doi: 10.3109/17482968.2011.572978
- Kleih, S. C., Kaufmann, T., Zickler, C., Halder, S., Leotta, F., Cincotti, F., et al. (2011). Out of the frying pan into the fire-the P300-based BCI faces realworld challenges. *Prog. Brain Res.* 194, 27–46. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-53815-4. 00019-4
- Kübler, A., and Birbaumer, N. (2008). Brain-computer interfaces and communication in paralysis: extinction of goal directed thinking in completely paralysed patients? *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 119, 2658–2666. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008. 06.019

- Kübler, A., Furdea, A., Halder, S., Hammer, E. M., Nijboer, F., and Kotchoubey, B. (2009). A brain-computer interface controlled auditory event-related potential (P300) spelling system for locked-in patients. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1157, 90–100. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2008.04122.x
- Lim, J. H., Hwang, H. J., Han, C. H., Jung, K. Y., and Im, C. H. (2013). Classification of binary intentions for individuals with impaired oculomotor function: "eyesclosed" SSVEP-based brain-computer interface (BCI). J. Neural Eng. 10:026021. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/10/2/026021
- Li, Y., Nam, C. S., Shadden, B., and Johnson, S. (2011). A P300-based brain-computer interface (BCI): effects of interface type and screen size. *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Int.* 27, 52–68. doi: 10.1080/10447318.2011.535753
- Mak, J. N., McFarland, D. J., Vaughan, T. M., McCane, L. M., Tsui, P. Z., Zeitlin, D. J., et al. (2012). EEG correlates of P300-based brain-computer interface (BCI) performance in people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neural Eng.* 9:026014. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/2/026014
- Manyakov, N. V., Chumerin, N., Combaz, A., and Van Hulle, M. M. (2011). Comparison of classification methods for P300 brain-computer interface on disabled subjects. *Comput. Intell. Neurosci.* 2011:519868. doi: 10.1155/2011/ 519868
- Marchetti, M., Piccione, F., Silvoni, S., Gamberini, L., and Priftis, K. (2013). Covert visuospatial attention orienting in a brain-computer interface for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. *Neurorehab. Neural Repair* 27, 430–438. doi: 10.1177/1545968312471903
- Moghimi, S., Kushki, A., Marie Guerguerian, A., and Chau, T. (2013). A review of EEG-based brain-computer interfaces as access pathways for individuals with severe disabilities. *Assist. Technol.* 25, 99–110. doi: 10.1080/10400435.2012.723298
- Münßinger, J. I., Halder, S., Kleih, S. C., Furdea, A., Raco, V., Hösle, A., et al. (2010). Brain painting: first evaluation of a new brain-computer interface application with ALS-patients and healthy volunteers. *Front. Neurosci.* 4:182. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2010.00182
- Mugler, E. M., Ruf, C. A., Halder, S., Bensch, M., and Kubler, A. (2010). Design and implementation of a P300-based brain-computer interface for controlling an internet browser. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 18, 599–609. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2010.2068059
- Murguialday, A. R., Hill, J., Bensch, M., Martens, S., Halder, S., Nijboer, F., et al. (2011). Transition from the locked in to the completely lockedin state: a physiological analysis. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 122, 925–933. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.08.019
- Nam, C. S., Woo, J., and Bahn, S. (2012). Severe motor disability affects functional cortical integration in the context of brain-computer interface (BCI) use. *Ergonomics* 55, 581–591. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2011.647095
- Nijboer, F., Sellers, E. W., Mellinger, J., Jordan, M. A., Matuz, T., Furdea, A., et al. (2008). A P300-based brain-computer interface for people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 119, 1909–1916. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.03.034
- Pannasch, S., Helmert, J. R., Malischke, S., Storch, A., and Velichkovsky, B. M. (2008). Eye typing in application: a comparison of two systems with ALS patients. *J. Eye Mov. Res.* 2, 1–8.
- Pires, G., Nunes, U., and Castelo-Branco, M. (2011). Statistical spatial filtering for a P300-based BCI: tests in able-bodied, and patients with cerebral palsy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 195, 270–281. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2010.11.016
- Pires, G., Nunes, U., and Castelo-Branco, M. (2012). Comparison of a rowcolumn speller vs. a novel lateral single-character speller: assessment of BCI for severe motor disabled patients. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 123, 1168–1181. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2011.10.040
- Polich, J. (2007). Updating P300: an integrative theory of P3a and P3b. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 118, 2128–2148. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2007. 04.019
- Radunovic, A., Annane, D., Rafiq, M. K., and Mustfa, N. (2013). Mechanical ventilation for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 3:CD004427. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD0044 27.pub3
- Riccio, A., Mattia, D., Simione, L., Olivetti, M., and Cincotti, F. (2012). Eye-gaze independent EEG-based brain-computer interfaces for communication. J. Neural Eng. 9:045001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/4/ 045001

- Rothstein, H. R., Sutton, A. J., and Borenstein, M. (2005). Publication Bias in Meta-Analysis. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. doi: 10.1002/0470870168
- Sellers, E. W., and Donchin, E. (2006). A P300-based brain-computer interface: initial tests by ALS patients. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 117, 538–548. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.06.027
- Sellers, E. W., Vaughan, T. M., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2010). A brain-computer interface for long-term independent home use. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scier.* 11, 449–455. doi: 10.3109/17482961003777470
- Sellers, E. W. (2013). New horizons in brain-computer interface research. Clin. Neurophysiol. 124, 2–4. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2012.07.012
- Sharma, R., Hicks, S., Berna, C. M., and Kennard, C. (2011). Oculomotor dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Arch. Neurol. 68, 857–861. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.130
- Smith, E., and Delargy, M. (2005). Locked-in syndrome. BMJ 330, 406–409. doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7488.406
- Spataro, R., Ciriacono, M., Manno, C., and La Bella, V. (2013). The eye-tracking computer device for communication in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* doi: 10.1111/ane.12214 [Epub ahead of print].
- Townsend, G., Lapallo, B. K., Boulay, C. B., Krusienski, D. J., Frye, G. E., Hauser, C. K., et al. (2010). A novel P300-based brain-computer interface stimulus presentation paradigm: moving beyond rows and columns. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 121, 1109–1120. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.01.030
- Treder, M. S., and Blankertz, B. (2010). (C)overt attention and visual speller design in an ERP-based brain-computer interface. *Behav. Brain Funct.* 6:28. doi: 10.1186/1744-9081-6-28

- Viechtbauer, W. (2010). Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. J. Stat. Softw. 36, 1–48.
- Wolpaw, J. R., Birbaumer, N., Mcfarland, D. J., Pfurtscheller, G., and Vaughan, T. M. (2002). Brain-computer interfaces for communication and control. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 113, 767–791. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00057-3
- Yuan, P., Gao, X., Allison, B., Wang, Y., Bin, G., and Gao, S. (2013). A study of the existing problems of estimating the information transfer rate in online brain-computer interfaces. *J. Neural Eng.* 10:026014. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/10/2/026014

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 February 2014; accepted: 17 April 2014; published online: 01 May 2014. Citation: Marchetti M and Priftis K (2014) Effectiveness of the P3-speller in braincomputer interfaces for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front. Neuroeng, 7:12. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00012 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Marchetti and Priffis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Brain-computer interface-based robotic end effector system for wrist and hand rehabilitation: results of a three-armed randomized controlled trial for chronic stroke

Kai Keng Ang¹*, Cuntai Guan¹, Kok Soon Phua¹, Chuanchu Wang¹, Longjiang Zhou¹, Ka Yin Tang¹, Gopal J. Ephraim Joseph², Christopher Wee Keong Kuah² and Karen Sui Geok Chua²

¹ Institute for Infocomm Research, Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR), Singapore ² Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore

Edited by:

Christoph Guger, Guger Technologies OEG, Austria

Reviewed by:

Robert Leeb, Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland Surjo R. Soekadar, University Hospital of Tübingen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Kai Keng Ang, Institute for Infocomm Research, Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR), 1 Fusionopolis Way, #21-01, Connexis (South Tower), Singapore 138632, Singapore e-mail: kkang@i2r.a-star.edu.sg

The objective of this study was to investigate the efficacy of an Electroencephalography (EEG)-based Motor Imagery (MI) Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) coupled with a Haptic Knob (HK) robot for arm rehabilitation in stroke patients. In this three-arm, single-blind, randomized controlled trial; 21 chronic hemiplegic stroke patients (Fugl-Meyer Motor Assessment (FMMA) score 10-50), recruited after pre-screening for MI BCI ability, were randomly allocated to BCI-HK, HK or Standard Arm Therapy (SAT) groups. All groups received 18 sessions of intervention over 6 weeks, 3 sessions per week, 90 min per session. The BCI-HK group received 1 h of BCI coupled with HK intervention, and the HK aroup received 1 h of HK intervention per session. Both BCI-HK and HK groups received 120 trials of robot-assisted hand grasping and knob manipulation followed by 30 min of therapist-assisted arm mobilization. The SAT group received 1.5 h of therapist-assisted arm mobilization and forearm pronation-supination movements incorporating wrist control and grasp-release functions. In all, 14 males, 7 females, mean age 54.2 years, mean stroke duration 385.1 days, with baseline FMMA score 27.0 were recruited. The primary outcome measure was upper extremity FMMA scores measured mid-intervention at week 3, end-intervention at week 6, and follow-up at weeks 12 and 24. Seven, 8 and 7 subjects underwent BCI-HK, HK and SAT interventions respectively. FMMA score improved in all groups, but no intergroup differences were found at any time points. Significantly larger motor gains were observed in the BCI-HK group compared to the SAT group at weeks 3, 12, and 24, but motor gains in the HK group did not differ from the SAT group at any time point. In conclusion, BCI-HK is effective, safe, and may have the potential for enhancing motor recovery in chronic stroke when combined with therapist-assisted arm mobilization.

Keywords: electroencephalography, motor imagery, brain-computer interface, stroke rehabilitation, robotic

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is the third leading cause of severe disabilities worldwide (Hankey, 2013). Despite multimodality rehabilitation efforts, 40% of stroke survivors live with various disabilities. Of these, the lack of functional arm, wrist, or hand recovery contributed to significant losses in independence vocation and quality of life. Task specific technique such as constrained-induced movement therapy (CIMT) is highly effective in reducing learned non-use and improving arm and hand function with enduring gains in chronic stroke. However, only \sim 20 to 25% of stroke patients meet minimum criteria for CIMT (Fritz et al., 2005). Since physical practice (PP) of the stroke-impaired extremity is often difficult or not possible using CIMT; motor imagery (MI), the mental practice of movements without physical execution, represents an alternate rehabilitation approach (Sharma et al., 2009). Although MI in chronic stroke is promising, integrating MI in rehabilitation had yielded inconclusive clinical outcome (Braun et al., 2006; Ietswaart et al., 2011; Malouin et al., 2013).

One of the key issues for integrating MI in rehabilitation is that while PP is observable, MI is a concealed mental process. Nevertheless, brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) (Wolpaw et al., 2002) that acquire, analyze and translate brain signals into control commands of output devices (Shih et al., 2012) can be used to detect event-related desynchronization or synchronization (ERD/ERS) (Pfurtscheller and Lopes Da Silva, 1999) when MI is performed. In this way, stroke patients who suffer from severe limb weakness but who are still able to imagine movements of the paretic hand can receive BCI contingent feedback upon detection of MI-related brain signals (Birbaumer et al., 2008; Buch et al., 2008; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013). By re-establishing contingency between cortical activity related to MI and feedback, BCI might strengthen the sensorimotor loop and foster neuroplasticity that facilitates motor recovery (Dobkin, 2007; Dimyan and Cohen, 2011). A recent clinical study had shown that Electroencephalography (EEG)-based MI-BCI can be used to detect cortical activity related to MI in a majority of stroke patients (Ang et al., 2011). Hence the use of EEG-based MI-BCI presents a prospective approach for detecting MI for stroke rehabilitation.

There were many studies that reported the use of BCI for stroke rehabilitation (Ang and Guan, 2013). Recent trials that reported clinical efficacy included: Mihara et al. (2013) reported a randomized control trial (RCT) performed on 10 stroke patients who received near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS)-based MI-BCI with visual feedback vs. 10 stroke patients who received NIRSbased MI-BCI with irrelevant feedback. The results showed that the patients who received MI-BCI visual feedback attained significantly greater motor improvements measured using Fugl-Meyer motor assessment (FMMA) (Fugl-Meyer et al., 1975) compared to the sham group. The FMMA is a well-designed, feasible, and efficient clinical examination method that has been widely used in the stroke population for measuring sensorimotor stroke recovery (Gladstone et al., 2002). The motor score ranges from 0 for hemiplegia to a maximum of 100 points for normal motor performance, divided into 66 points for the upper extremity and 34 points for the lower extremity. Ramos-Murguialday et al. (2013) reported a RCT on 16 chronic stroke patients who received MI-BCI with hand and arm orthoses feedback vs. 14 chronic stroke patients who received random orthoses feedback not linked to BCI. Both groups received physiotherapy, and the results showed that the patients who received BCI orthoses feedback attained significantly greater motor improvement in FMMA score. Recently, Ang et al. (2014) reported a RCT on 11 chronic stroke patients who received MI-BCI with MIT MANUS shoulder-elbow robotic feedback vs. 15 chronic stroke patients who received intense movement exercises using the MIT MANUS robot. The results showed the patients who received MI-BCI intervention attained an average of FMMA gains of 4.5, and the patients who received intense robot-assisted movement therapy attained an average of FMMA gains of 6.3. However, no significant differences between the two groups were found.

In a systematic review, Nilsen et al. (2010) attested that MI added to PP was an effective intervention for stroke. However, existing RCTs have demonstrated motor improvements in chronic stroke patients who received MI-BCI intervention, but there is still scanty clinical efficacy to indicate the benefits of performing MI compared to PP or standard arm therapy (SAT) in stroke rehabilitation (Ietswaart et al., 2011). Hence we sought to investigate the clinical benefits of concomitant MI, PP interventions for stroke rehabilitation by integrating MI and PP using an EEG-based MI-BCI coupled with a haptic knob (HK) robot (Lambercy et al., 2007, 2011). We then investigated the hypothesis that this integration could facilitate the beneficial effects of therapist-assisted arm mobilization for stroke patients compared to robot-assisted PP and SAT in current rehabilitation program.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethics Committee approval was obtained from the Institution's Domain Specific Review Board, National Healthcare Group, Singapore. The trial was registered in ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT01287975). Informed consent was obtained prior to study enrollment.

STUDY DESIGN

The randomized controlled trial was conducted over ~ 2.5 year period from 1 January 2011 to 31 June 2013 at an outpatient rehabilitation facility, involving subjects who had completed inpatient rehabilitation at the Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore. **Figure 1** shows a flow chart of the trial (refer Supplementary Material for CONSORT checklist).

Inclusion criteria included first-ever clinical stroke confirmed on neuroimaging, ages 21–80 years of age, duration >4 months post stroke, moderate to severe impairment of upper extremity function assessed by FMMA (Fugl-Meyer et al., 1975) score 10–50; motor power assessed by Medical Research Council (MRC) (Compston, 2010) grades >2/5 in shoulder abductors, and >2/5 in the elbow flexors, and 1–3 in wrist dorsiflexors and finger flexors and ability to understand simple instructions.

Subjects were excluded if they had medical instability such as unresolved sepsis; postural hypotension; end stage renal failure terminal illness; severe aphasia, inattention; hemi spatial neglect; severe visual impairment; epilepsy; severe depression; psychiatric disorder; recurrent stroke; skull defects compromising EEG cap fit; severe spasticity assessed [modified Ashworth scale (MAS) (Bohannon and Smith, 1987) >2 in any shoulder, elbow or wrist/finger muscles]; pain assessed by visual analog scale (VAS) (Price et al., 1999) >4/10; fixed joint contractures; skin conditions such as infections or eczema which could be worsened by robotic exoskeletal or EEG cap contact.

EEG DATA ACQUISITION

In this study, EEG data from 27 channels were collected using the Nuamps EEG acquisition hardware¹ with unipolar Ag/AgCl electrodes channels, digitally sampled at 250 Hz with a resolution of 22 bits for voltage ranges of ± 130 mV. EEG recordings from all channels were bandpass filtered from 0.05 to 40 Hz by the acquisition hardware.

HAPTIC KNOB ROBOT

The haptic knob (HK) robot is a two-degree-of-freedom robotic hand interface for hand grasping and knob manipulation PP (Lambercy et al., 2007, 2011). The hand interface was designed using two parallelogram structures that supported an exchangeable handle in order to adapt to various hand sizes, finger orientations, and subjects with right or left stroke-impaired hand. The HK robot-assisted hand grasping PP involved finger flexion and extension exercises performed using the linear degree-of-freedom (DOF) of the HK, while the rotational DOF was held in a static position. The HK robot-assisted knob manipulation PP involved wrist pronation or supination, and hand coordination exercises performed using the rotational DOF of the HK, while the linear DOF was held in a static position.

During training with the HK, subjects were seated comfortably in a padded, height adjustable chair with 2-point chest strapping without arm rests to reduce compensatory trunk movements. For

¹Neuroscan Nuamps EEG Amplifier. Compumedics USA, Compumedics Neuroscan and Compumedics DWL, 6605 West W.T. Harris Blvd, Suite F, Charlotte, NC 28269, USA.

each subject, the stroke-impaired forearm was placed on a padded support and the subject was instructed to grasp the end effector of the HK. The height of the chair was adjusted until a comfortable level, the subject's shoulder abducted at about 40° and the elbow flexed at about 90°. The digits of the subject stroke-impaired hand were then strapped to the HK's end effector with Velcro bands to prevent them from slipping.

Instructions and feedbacks were provided on a computer screen for the progress of the HK robot-assisted PP in a form of a picture manipulation task using a solid frame to represent the current position, and a dotted frame to represent the target position. For the HK robot-assisted hand grasping PP, an outward-pointing arrow was shown to instruct the subject to perform hand opening (**Figure 2A**). Once the target outer limit was reached, an inwardpointing arrow was shown to instruct the subject to perform hand closing (**Figure 2B**). This open-and-close action formed a single trial. Subsequently, a different picture was used for the next trial. For the HK robot-assisted knob manipulation PP, a right-curved arrow was shown to instruct the subject to perform a clockwise wrist rotation (**Figure 2C**). Once the target limit is reached, a left-curved arrow was shown to instruct the subject to perform counter-clockwise wrist rotation (**Figure 2D**). This wrist pronation-and- supination action formed a single trial. Similarly, a different picture was used for the next trial. For both the hand





grasping and knob manipulation PP, HK robot-assisted movement was initiated if no movement from the subject was detected after an interval of 2 s.

EEG-BASED MI-BCI SCREENING

A study on 99 healthy subjects had shown that \sim 7% of the subjects achieved below 60% classification accuracies (Guger et al., 2003). Subsequently, a study on 54 stroke patients had shown that \sim 13% of the patients achieved classification accuracies below chance level (Ang et al., 2011). Hence there is a small minority of subjects who cannot operate EEG-based MI-BCI. Thus, in this study, eligible subjects were first screened for their ability to operate EEG-based MI-BCI.

The screening session comprised 4 runs of EEG data collection. The first 2 runs collected EEG from subjects who performed kinesthetic MI (Stinear et al., 2006) of the stroke-impaired hand while strapped to the HK, and idle condition. The subjects were seated comfortably and instructed to imagine moving their stroke-impaired hand in an open-and-close action, and voluntary movements were restrained by static resistance from the HK robot. Subjects were also instructed to minimize voluntary head and body movements. Electromyography (EMG) were recorded from the stroke-impaired hand to check for attempted movements while performing motor imagery (Figure 3). In the subsequent 2 runs, the subjects were instructed to relax while passive movement (PM) of the stroke-impaired hand was performed using the HK robot for the hand grasping action. The entire screening session consisted of 4 runs of 80 trials each for a total of 320 trials, and an inter-run break of at least 2 min was provided. Each run comprised 40 trials of MI or PM, and 40 trials of idle condition. Figure 4A shows the timing for a single-trial from the screening section. Each trial lasted \sim 12 s and each run lasted ~8 min. The screening session lasted ~1 h inclusive of EEG setup time. The EEG from the first 2 runs were used to compute the 10×10-fold cross-validation accuracy of classifying MI of the



FIGURE 3 | Setup of BCI-HK and HK intervention for stroke rehabilitation at a local hospital. The setup comprised Electroencephalography (EEG) cap, Electromyography (EMG) electrodes, EEG amplifier, and Haptic Knob (HK) robot.

stroke-impaired hand vs. the idle condition using the filter bank common spatial pattern (FBCSP) algorithm (Ang et al., 2012).

RANDOMIZATION AND BLINDING

Subjects who passed BCI screening were randomly assigned to receive either one of 3 interventions:

- BCI-HK which concomitantly comprised EEG-based MI-BCI coupled with HK robot-assisted PP therapy (60 min) followed by therapist-assisted arm mobilization (30 min).
- (2) HK which comprised HK robot-assisted PP therapy (60 min) followed by therapist-assisted arm mobilization (30 min).
- (3) SAT which comprised distal arm training of forearm pronation-supination movements incorporating wrist control and grasp-release of various objects (60 min) and overall therapist-assisted arm mobilization (30 min) conducted by a trained occupational therapist.

The randomization block size was 3 and the allocation sequence was 1:1:1 generated using STATA software version 10.2 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA). Enrollment and assignment of participants was provided by KSGC. As subject blinding was not feasible, all outcome assessments for this study were performed by occupational therapist DXD who was blinded to allocation. There were no protocol deviations.

All groups received 18 sessions of supervised interventions for a total of 27 h over 6 weeks, 3 times per week, 90 min per session, by occupational therapist GJEJ and engineer KSP. This included 15 min for set up and breaks for short rests. Adverse events via questionnaire were monitored after each intervention session. Discontinuation criteria included new neurological or serious adverse events; increase in arm pain or spasticity of greater than 30% from baseline; or severe fatigue resulted from the interventions.

BCI-HK intervention

The BCI-HK intervention consisted of a calibration session and 18 therapy sessions of MI-BCI coupled with HK robot-assisted PP therapy. **Figure 3** shows the setup for the BCI-HK intervention.

The calibration session comprised 4 runs of EEG data collection that was similar to the screening session whereby subjects performed MI in the first 2 runs and PM in the subsequent 2 runs. The EEG from the first 2 runs were used to compute a subjectspecific calibration model using the FBCSP algorithm (Ang et al., 2012) to classify MI vs. the idle condition in the subsequent therapy sessions. The EEG data collected from performing PM were not analyzed in this study.

Each therapy session comprised 4 runs of 30 concomitant MI and PP trials each, for a total of 120 trials. An inter-run break of 3–5 min was provided after each run. Allowable pain-free ranges of motion for the hand grasping and knob manipulation PP were first individually pre-determined by GJEJ. This HK calibration involved calibrating six positions: closing, opening, and static position for hand grasping; clockwise, counter clockwise and static position for knob manipulation. For the first 2 runs, the subjects are instructed to perform kinesthetic MI of the



stroke-impaired hand for the hand grasping action. Subjects were also instructed to minimize voluntary head and body movements. EMG from the stroke-impaired hand was checked to ensure that there was no attempted movement during MI. If MI-related brain signals was successfully detected by the FBCSP algorithm (Ang et al., 2012) using the subject-specific calibration model, then the HK robot-assisted hand grasping PP would be initiated. For the subsequent 2 runs, the subjects are instructed to perform kinesthetic MI of the stroke-impaired hand for the knob manipulation action. If MI was successfully detected, then the HK robot-assisted knob manipulation PP would be initiated. If MI was not detected in 2 consecutive trials, then the HK robot-assisted PP would be automatically initiated. Figure 4B shows the timing for a singletrial from the therapy session. Each trial lasted \sim 17 to 23 s and each run lasted \sim 12 min. Each therapy session lasted \sim 1.5 h inclusive of breaks and setup time.

HK intervention

The HK intervention comprised 18 therapy sessions of HK robotassisted hand grasping, and knob manipulation PP. **Figure 3** shows the setup for the HK intervention, which is the same as the BCI-HK intervention. EEG data was also collected for the HK intervention but was not analyzed in this report.

Each therapy session comprised 4 runs of 30 PP trials each for a total of 120 trials. An inter-run break of 3–5 min was provided after each run. Similar to the BCI-HK intervention, allowable pain-free ranges of motion were pre-determined, and HK calibration was performed by GJEJ prior to the start of the therapy session. For the first 2 runs, the subjects performed HK robotassisted hand grasping PP. For the subsequent 2 runs, the subjects performed HK robot-assisted knob manipulation PP. If no movements from the subject were detected, the HK would initiate fully assisted PP after 2 s. Each trial lasted ~9 to 15 s and each run lasted ~8 min. Each therapy session lasted ~ 1 h inclusive of breaks and setup time.

SAT intervention

The SAT intervention comprised 18 therapist-assisted sessions. Each session comprised 60 min of repetitive task training

(Langhorne et al., 2011) focusing on forearm pronationsupination movements incorporating wrist control and grasp-release of various objects.

Therapist-assisted arm mobilization

All 3 groups received 30 min of therapist-assisted arm mobilization following the principles of the professionally recognized Neuro-developmental Treatment Approach for stroke rehabilitation (Howle, 2002), which included tone management and facilitation toward normal arm movement patterns via various closed-chain functional reach activities.

SAMPLE SIZE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The sample size was estimated with an assumption of a 4 point gains in total FMMA score for the BCI-HK and HK groups compared to the SAT group, and a standard deviation of 6.3 points based on the gains of the robot-assisted intervention in the previous study (Ang et al., 2014). The expected number in each group was found to be 20 subjects to achieve statistical power of 80%. Sample size calculation was performed in MATLAB.

STATISTICAL METHODS

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to examine the demographic and baseline group differences. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used to examine the group differences at each measurement point between the three groups after adjusting for baseline differences. Two-sided *t*-tests were performed to analyze for significant difference at each measurement point from baseline in each group. One-sided *t*-tests were then performed to analyze if the BCI-HK and HK interventions were better than the SAT intervention. Data analysis was performed using MATLAB and the level of significance was set at 5%.

OUTCOMES

The primary outcome was the total FMMA score (range, 0–66) for the stroke-impaired upper extremity. Outcomes were measured at 5 time points during the study: at baseline (week 0), at midintervention (week 3), at completion of intervention (week 6), 6 weeks follow-up (week 12), and 18 weeks follow-up (week 24). There were no protocol deviations.

RESULTS

PATIENT ENROLLMENT

Thirty-four subjects were found eligible and subsequently screened for their ability to use EEG-based MI BCI. The EEG data collected from the screening session showed 5 subjects achieved accuracies that were lower than chance level (57.5%) and were thus excluded. The chance level performance was computed based on 95% confidence estimate of the accuracy using the inverse of binomial cumulative distribution. Seven subjects declined further participation in the trial. The remaining 22 subjects gave consent and were randomized into 3 intervention groups as follows: BCI-HK (7 subjects), HK (8 subjects) and SAT (7 subjects) respectively. Twenty-one subjects completed the study and follow-up with 1 drop out (4.6%) (**Figure 1**). The study terminated in June 2013 due to funding cessation, thus not all 60 intended subjects could be recruited.

Table 1 shows the demographic of the 21 subjects who completed the study by intervention. Altogether, there were 14 men and 7 women [mean age 54.2 years (30–79)], mean stroke duration, 385.1 days (191–651). BCI-HK group had more subcortical strokes, shorter time after the stroke, and higher FMMA score at week 0. SAT group had higher proportion of cerebral infarctions compared to hemorrhagic strokes. There were no significant baseline differences in all 3 groups in terms of stroke type [$F_{(2, 18)} = 0.90$, p = 0.42], stroke nature [$F_{(2, 18)} = 0.53$, p = 0.60], duration since stroke [$F_{(2, 18)} = 3.41$, p = 0.06], FMMA at week 0 [$F_{(2, 18)} = 0.83$, p = 0.45], and other demographic.

Table 1 Demographics and baseline characteristics of subjects by	
intervention.	

			Intervention	
Variable	Total	BCI-HK	НК	SAT
N	21	6	8	7
Age (years)	54.2 ± 12.4	54.0 ± 8.9	51.1 ± 6.3	58.0 ± 19.3
GENDER N(%	5)			
Male	14 (66.7%)	4 (66.7%)	6 (75.0%)	4 (57.1%)
Female	7 (33.3%)	2 (33.3%)	2 (25.0%)	3 (42.9%)
DOMINANT H	IAND AFFECT	ED N(%)		
Yes	11 (52.4%)	2 (33.3%)	5 (62.5%)	4 (57.1%)
No	10 (47.6%)	4 (66.7%)	3 (37.5%)	3 (42.9%)
STROKE TYPE	E N (%)			
Infarction	11 (52.4%)	2 (33.3%)	4 (50.0%)	5 (71.4%)
Hemorrhage	10 (47.6%)	4 (66.7%)	4 (50.0%)	2 (28.6%)
STROKE NAT	URE <i>N</i> (%)			
Cortical	6 (28.6%)	1 (16.7%)	2 (25.0%)	3 (42.9%)
Subcortical	15 (71.4%)	5 (83.3%)	6 (75.0%)	4 (57.1%)
Duration since stroke (days)	385.1 ± 131.8	285.7 ± 64.0	398.2 ± 150.9	455.4 ± 109.6
FMMA (Week 0)	27.0 ± 13.8	33.0 ± 16.2	25.5 ± 11.5	23.4 ± 14.5

FMMA, Fugl-Meyer Motor Assessment.

EEG SPATIAL PATTERNS AND FEATURES

The EEG from the calibration sessions of patients in the BCI-HK group were used to compute a subject-specific calibration model using the FBCSP algorithm (Ang et al., 2012). Figure 5A shows the EEG spatial patterns from patient A006 who performed MI of right stroke-impaired hand vs. the idle condition. The patterns for detecting MI-related brain signals of right hand showed a weak contra-lateral negative region on the left hemisphere and a relatively stronger ipsi-lateral positive region on the right hemisphere around the motor cortex area. The patterns from these two regions corresponded to ERD and ERS respectively for performing right hand motor imagery (Blankertz et al., 2008). Figure 5B shows the EEG spatial patterns from patient A031 who performed MI of left hand vs. the idle condition. Similarly, the patterns for detecting MI-related brain signals of left hand showed a weak contra-lateral negative region on the right hemisphere and a relatively stronger ipsi-lateral positive region on the left hemisphere around the motor cortex



FIGURE 5 | EEG Spatial patterns and frequency bands used to classify motor imagery of stroke-impaired hand vs. idle condition. (A) Spatial patterns of patient A006 with right stroke-impaired hand; (B) spatial pattern of patient A031 with left stroke-impaired hand; (C) frequency bands used for patients A006 and A031. Blue and red colors in the spatial patterns correspond to negative (ERD) and positive (ERS) values respectively.

area. The patterns from these two regions corresponded to ERD and ERS respectively for performing left hand MI (Blankertz et al., 2008). The weaker stroke-affected contra-lateral regions compared to unaffected ipsi-lateral regions may be due to the relatively lower baseline ERD in stroke patients compared to healthy subjects reported in the study by Kasashima et al. (2012). For both patients, the EEG spatial patterns for the idle condition were not coherent since this condition was not controlled. **Figure 5C** shows the frequency bands selected by the FBCSP algorithm for both patients.

EFFICACY MEASUREMENTS

At week 6, upon completion of interventions, all groups demonstrated significant FMMA score gains compared to baseline FMMA score at week 0: BCI-HK group $[(M = 7.2, SD = 2.3), t_{(5)} = 7.58, p = 0.001]$, HK group $[(M = 7.3, SD = 4.7), t_{(7)} = 4.35, p = 0.003]$, and SAT group $[(M = 4.9, SD = 4.1), t_{(6)} = 3.10, p = 0.021]$. At weeks 12 and 24, significant FMMA score gains compared to baseline FMMA score at week 0 were sustained for BCI-HK group $[(M = 8.2, SD = 2.9), t_{(5)} = 6.83, p = 0.001;$ and $(M = 9.7, SD = 2.9), t_{(5)} = 8.04, p = 0.001]$ and HK group $[(M = 6.5, SD = 4.4), t_{(7)} = 4.14, p = 0.004;$ and $(M = 8.3, SD = 5.0), t_{(7)} = 4.66, p = 0.002]$; but not for SAT group $[(M = 3.6, SD = 5.5), t_{(6)} = 1.71, p = 0.14;$ and $(M = 3.6, SD = 5.9), t_{(6)} = 1.60, p = 0.16]$ (**Table 2**).

No significant intergroup differences were observed at any time point during the study among all the 3 groups after adjusting for baseline FMMA score at week 0: week 3 $[F_{(2, 17)} = 1.51, p = 0.250]$, week 6 $[F_{(2, 17)} = 0.66, p = 0.531]$, week 12 $[F_{(2, 17)} = 1.12, p = 0.349]$, and week 24 $[F_{(2, 17)} = 2.39, p = 0.122]$. Significant greater upper extremity FMMA score gains were observed in the BCI-HK group compared to the SAT group at week 3 $[t_{(11)} = 2.14, p = 0.028]$, week 12 $[t_{(11)} = 1.82, p = 0.048]$, and week 24 $[t_{(11)} = 2.28, p = 0.022]$; but not at week 6, $[t_{(11)} = 1.21, p = 0.13]$ (**Figure 6**). However, no significant greater FMMA score gains were observed in the HK group compared to the SAT group at any time point: week 3 $[t_{(13)} = 1.27, p = 0.114]$, week 6 $[t_{(13)} = 1.04, p = 0.159]$, week 12 $[t_{(13)} = 1.14, p = 0.138]$, and week 24 $[t_{(13)} = 1.66, p = 0.060]$ (**Figure 6**).

ADVERSE EVENTS

There were no reported serious adverse events, deaths, or significant increases in shoulder or hand pain for any of the 3 intervention groups at any time during the study duration. One subject (4.6%) from the BCI-HK group dropped out in the 5th week of intervention due to a transient mild seizure occurring several hours after the intervention.

DISCUSSION

This is the first RCT that compared 3 arms of MI-BCI, robotassisted PP and SAT. Difficulties were encountered in recruiting patients for this study due to the strict inclusion and exclusion criteria. In addition, some patients who were clinically eligible did not pass the BCI screening or voluntarily declined to participate due to the length of the study.

The results on the discriminative spatial patterns and frequency band used to classify MI of stroke-impaired hand vs. the



FIGURE 6 | FMMA improvements for BCI-HK, HK and SAT interventions relative to week 0.

Table 2	Efficacy measures by	FMMA scores for each	intervention group (N	= 6 for BCI-HK, n =	= 8 for HK, and <i>N</i> =	= 7 for SAT).
---------	----------------------	----------------------	-----------------------	---------------------	----------------------------	---------------

Outcome	Group	Baseline	Improvements relative to week 0				
		Week 0	Week 3	Week 6	Week 12	Week 24	
Proximal (0~42)	BCI-HK	24.2 ± 7.5	3.3±4.2	3.8±2.7	5.0 ± 2.4	5.5±2.1	
	НК	19.5 ± 7.7	2.3 ± 2.7	4.4 ± 2.7	4.0 ± 3.5	5.8 ± 2.9	
	SAT	18.1 ± 10.4	1.1 ± 2.2	3.0±2.7	2.6 ± 4.4	3.3 ± 4.0	
Distal (0~24)	BCI-HK	8.8±9.2	2.5 ± 2.4	3.3±2.3	3.2±2.7	4.2±3.1	
	НК	6.0 ± 4.7	1.6 ± 2.5	2.9 ± 3.0	2.5 ± 2.6	2.5 ± 3.0	
	SAT	5.3 ± 4.7	0.4 ± 1.1	1.9 ± 1.9	1.0 ± 1.3	0.3 ± 2.1	
Upper Extremity (0~66)	BCI-HK	33.0 ± 16.2	5.8±4.7	7.2±2.3	8.2±2.9	9.7±2.9	
	НК	25.5 ± 11.5	3.9 ± 4.3	7.3 ± 4.7	6.5 ± 4.4	8.3 ± 5.0	
	SAT	23.4 ± 14.5	1.6 ± 2.2	4.9 ± 4.1	3.6 ± 5.5	3.6 ± 5.9	

idle condition in the BCI-HK group differed from patient-topatient, demonstrating the necessity to perform subject-specific calibration. The amount of movement repetitions were standardized between the BCI-HK and HK group. However, the number of arm repetitions were not measured in the SAT group, but the duration of training was similar with respect to the other 2 groups. The results showed significant efficacy in reducing both proximal and distal motor impairment, low dropout rate and safety. The results also showed the importance of distal training of the arm for proximal improvement, which is consistent with the study by Lambercy et al. (2011) on 15 chronic patients using the HK robot.

Compared to other chronic stroke patients in robot-assisted PP for proximal and distal (Lo et al., 2010; Lambercy et al., 2011), the FMMA score gains from the BCI-HK and HK groups were higher (\sim 7 at week 6 vs. \sim 3 to 4). Possible reasons included a relatively younger stroke study cohort (mean age 54 years) and larger proportion of cerebral hemorrhages (\sim 50%) compared to the Caucasian populations who typically have a higher proportion of infarctions.

FMMA score gains at week 6 for all 3 groups were sustained till week 24. Further gains of 2.5 and 1.0 were observed in the BCI-HK and HK groups, and a loss of 1.3 in the SAT group was observed at week 24 relative to week 6. This may be due to the reduction in motor impairment that facilitated further home-based PP.

A significant greater FMMA score gains were observed in the BCI-HK compared to the SAT group. This may be due to the performance of MI in the BCI-HK group that facilitated neuroplasticity, which was suggested from the functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) study on resting state changes in functional connectivity on patients who underwent BCI with robot-assisted rehabilitation after stroke by Varkuti et al. (2013). A greater FMMA score gains were also observed in the HK group compared to the SAT group, but the gains were not significant. This may be due to the highly repetitive and thus higher intensity of PP in the robot-assisted HK group compared to the therapist-assisted SAT group, but lacked the additional positive effects of MI in the BCI-HK group. Similar benefits of MI were seen in another study that investigated chronic stroke patients who received MI-BCI with hand and arm orthoses feedback vs. those who received random orthoses feedback not linked to BCI (Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013), suggesting a possible role for BCI in rehabilitation for stroke.

STUDY LIMITATIONS

The major limitations of our study were its small sample size and under-powering. This was likely due to the strict criteria required for BCI-related training in terms of cognitive and attention requirements. Due to the small sample size, our results need to be interpreted with caution. Due to a younger and larger proporation of hemorrhagic strokes, which may be expected from a predominantly Chinese population (85.7%), results from our study may lack the ability for generalization as to how the general stroke population will respond to BCI-related rehabilitation. As the number of repetitions was not monitored for the SAT group, there was a lack of standardization on the number of PP trials for this group. In addition, the motor improvements measured by FMMA are limited by a ceiling effect and focused more on proximal arm (Gladstone et al., 2002), thus such gains may not directly translate to changes in activities of daily living.

CONCLUSIONS

There was significant higher motor gain up to 6 months for subjects in the BCI-HK intervention compared with SAT. This adds support to the potential of BCI-HK coupled with rehabilitation therapy as an adjunctive rehabilitation tool for wrist and hand rehabilitation after chronic stroke. Overall side effects were minimal and interventions were well-tolerated. Additional research and larger studies are needed to study neuroplasticityrelated changes from the use of BCI in stroke rehabilitation, and to enhance the portability and usability of BCI interfaces.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the study participants and their caregivers for their participation in this trial. We acknowledge Mr. Donald Xu Dong, Senior Occupational Therapist, who performed the independent clinical outcome assessments. We also acknowledge the financial support from the Science and Engineering Research Council of the Agency for Science, Technology and Research, Singapore (Grant number: 092 148 0066)

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fneng.2014. 00030/abstract

REFERENCES

- Ang, K. K., Chin, Z. Y., Wang, C., Guan, C., and Zhang, H. (2012). Filter bank common spatial pattern algorithm on BCI competition IV datasets 2a and 2b. *Front. Neurosci.* 6:39. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2012.00039
- Ang, K. K., Chua, K. S. G., Phua, K. S., Wang, C., Chin, Z. Y., Kuah, C. W. K., et al. (2014). A randomized controlled trial of EEG-based motor imagery braincomputer interface robotic rehabilitation for stroke. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* doi: 10.1177/1550059414522229. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ang, K. K., and Guan, C. (2013). Brain-computer interface in stroke rehabilitation. J. Comput. Sci. Eng. 7, 139–146. doi: 10.5626/JCSE.2013.7.2.139
- Ang, K. K., Guan, C., Chua, K. S. G., Ang, B. T., Kuah, C. W. K., Wang, C., et al. (2011). A large clinical study on the ability of stroke patients to use EEG-based motor imagery brain-computer interface. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 42, 253–258. doi: 10.1177/155005941104200411
- Birbaumer, N., Murguialday, A. R., and Cohen, L. (2008). Braincomputer interface in paralysis. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 21, 634–638. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e328315ee2d
- Blankertz, B., Tomioka, R., Lemm, S., Kawanabe, M., and Muller, K.-R. (2008). Optimizing spatial filters for robust EEG single-trial analysis. *IEEE Signal Process Mag*, 25, 41–56. doi: 10.1109/MSP.2008.4408441
- Bohannon, R. W., and Smith, M. B. (1987). Interrater reliability of a modified ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. *Phys. Ther.* 67, 206–207.
- Braun, S. M., Beurskens, A. J., Borm, P. J., Schack, T., and Wade, D. T. (2006). The effects of mental practice in stroke rehabilitation: a systematic review. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 87, 842–852. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2006. 02.034
- Buch, E., Weber, C., Cohen, L. G., Braun, C., Dimyan, M. A., Ard, T., et al. (2008). Think to move: a neuromagnetic brain-computer interface (BCI) system for chronic stroke. *Stroke* 39, 910–917. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107. 505313
- Compston, A. (2010). Aids to the Investigation of Peripheral Nerve Injuries. Medical Research Council: Nerve Injuries Research Committee. His Majesty's Stationery Office: 1942; pp. 48 (iii) and 74 figures and 7 diagrams; with Aids to

the Examination of the Peripheral Nervous System. By Michael O'Brien for the Guarantors of Brain. Saunders Elsevier: 2010; pp. [8] 64 and 94 Figures. *Brain* 133, 2838–2844. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq270

- Dimyan, M. A., and Cohen, L. G. (2011). Neuroplasticity in the context of motor rehabilitation after stroke. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 7, 76–85. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol. 2010.200
- Dobkin, B. H. (2007). Brain-computer interface technology as a tool to augment plasticity and outcomes for neurological rehabilitation. *J. Physiol.* 579, 637–642. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.123067
- Fritz, S. L., Light, K. E., Patterson, T. S., Behrman, A. L., and Davis, S. B. (2005). Active finger extension predicts outcomes after constraint-induced movement therapy for individuals with hemiparesis after stroke. *Stroke* 36, 1172–1177. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000165922.96430.d0
- Fugl-Meyer, A. R., Jääskö, L., Leyman, I., Olsson, S., and Steglind, S. (1975). The post-stroke hemiplegic patient. 1. a method for evaluation of physical performance. *Scand. J. Rehabil. Med.* 7, 13–31.
- Gladstone, D. J., Danells, C. J., and Black, S. E. (2002). The fugl-meyer assessment of motor recovery after stroke: a critical review of its measurement properties. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 16, 232–240. doi: 10.1177/154596802401105171
- Guger, C., Edlinger, G., Harkam, W., Niedermayer, I., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2003). How many people are able to operate an EEG-based brain-computer interface (BCI)? *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 11, 145–147. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2003.814481
- Hankey, G. J. (2013). The global and regional burden of stroke. *Lancet Glob. Health* 1, e239–e240. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(13)70095-0
- Howle, J. M. (2002). Neuro-developmental Treatment Approach: Theoretical Foundations & Principles. Laguna Beach, CA: NDTA.
- Ietswaart, M., Johnston, M., Dijkerman, H. C., Joice, S., Scott, C. L., Macwalter, R. S., et al. (2011). Mental practice with motor imagery in stroke recovery: randomized controlled trial of efficacy. *Brain* 134, 1373–1386. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr077
- Kasashima, Y., Fujiwara, T., Matsushika, Y., Tsuji, T., Hase, K., Ushiyama, J., et al. (2012). Modulation of event-related desynchronization during motor imagery with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) in patients with chronic hemiparetic stroke. *Exp. Brain Res.* 221, 263–268. doi: 10.1007/s00221-012-3166-9
- Lambercy, O., Dovat, L., Gassert, R., Burdet, E., Chee Leong, T., and Milner, T. (2007). A haptic knob for rehabilitation of hand function. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 15, 356–366. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2007.903913
- Lambercy, O., Dovat, L., Yun, H., Wee, S. K., Kuah, C., Chua, K., et al. (2011). Effects of a robot-assisted training of grasp and pronation/supination in chronic stroke: a pilot study. J. Neuroeng. Rehabil. 8:63. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-8-63
- Langhorne, P., Bernhardt, J., and Kwakkel, G. (2011). Stroke rehabilitation. *Lancet* 377, 1693–1702. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60325-5
- Lo, A. C., Guarino, P. D., Richards, L. G., Haselkorn, J. K., Wittenberg, G. F., Federman, D. G., et al. (2010). Robot-assisted therapy for long-term upper-limb impairment after stroke. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362, 1772–1783. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0911341
- Malouin, F., Jackson, P. L., and Richards, C. L. (2013). Towards the integration of mental practice in rehabilitation programs. A critical review. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:576 doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00576

- Mihara, M., Hattori, N., Hatakenaka, M., Yagura, H., Kawano, T., Hino, T., et al. (2013). Near-infrared spectroscopy-mediated neurofeedback enhances efficacy of motor imagery-based training in poststroke victims: a pilot study. *Stroke* 44, 1091–1098. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.674507
- Nilsen, D. M., Gillen, G., and Gordon, A. M. (2010). Use of mental practice to improve upper-limb recovery after stroke: a systematic review. Am. J. Occup. Ther. 64, 695–708. doi: 10.5014/ajot.2010.09034
- Pfurtscheller, G., and Lopes Da Silva, F. H. (1999). Event-related EEG/MEG synchronization and desynchronization: basic principles. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 110, 1842–1857. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00141-8
- Price, C. I. M., Curless, R. H., and Rodgers, H. (1999). Can stroke patients use visual analogue scales? *Stroke* 30, 1357–1361. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30.7.1357
- Ramos-Murguialday, A., Broetz, D., Rea, M., Läer, L., Yilmaz, Ö., Brasil, F. L., et al. (2013). Brain-machine interface in chronic stroke rehabilitation: a controlled study. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 100–108. doi: 10.1002/ana.23879
- Sharma, N., Simmons, L. H., Jones, P. S., Day, D. J., Carpenter, T. A., Pomeroy, V. M., et al. (2009). Motor imagery after subcortical stroke: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Stroke* 40, 1315–1324. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.525766
- Shih, J. J., Krusienski, D. J., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2012). Brain-computer interfaces in medicine. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 87, 268–279. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2011.12.008
- Stinear, C., Byblow, W., Steyvers, M., Levin, O., and Swinnen, S. (2006). Kinesthetic, but not visual, motor imagery modulates corticomotor excitability. *Exp. Brain Res.* 168, 157–164. doi: 10.1007/s00221-005-0078-y
- Varkuti, B., Guan, C., Pan, Y., Phua, K. S., Ang, K. K., Kuah, C. W. K., et al. (2013). Resting state changes in functional connectivity correlate with movement recovery for BCI and robot-assisted upper-extremity training after stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 27, 53–62. doi: 10.1177/1545968312 445910
- Wolpaw, J. R., Birbaumer, N., Mcfarland, D. J., Pfurtscheller, G., and Vaughan, T. M. (2002). Brain-computer interfaces for communication and control. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 113, 767–791. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00057-3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 April 2014; accepted: 08 July 2014; published online: 29 July 2014.

Citation: Ang KK, Guan C, Phua KS, Wang C, Zhou L, Tang KY, Ephraim Joseph GJ, Kuah CWK and Chua KSG (2014) Brain-computer interface-based robotic end effector system for wrist and hand rehabilitation: results of a three-armed randomized controlled trial for chronic stroke. Front. Neuroeng. 7:30. doi: 10.3389/fneng. 2014.00030

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Ang, Guan, Phua, Wang, Zhou, Tang, Ephraim Joseph, Kuah and Chua. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Brain-computer interface with somatosensory feedback improves functional recovery from severe hemiplegia due to chronic stroke

Takashi Ono¹, Keiichiro Shindo², Kimiko Kawashima¹, Naoki Ota¹, Mari Ito², Tetsuo Ota³, Masahiko Mukaino³, Toshiyuki Fujiwara², Akio Kimura², Meigen Liu² and Junichi Ushiba¹*

¹ Department of Biosciences and Informatics, School of Fundamental Science and Technology, Graduate School of Keio University, Kanagawa, Japan

² Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Keio University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

³ Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Asahikawa Medical University Hospital, Asahikawa, Japan

Edited by:

Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of Glasgow, UK

Reviewed by:

Christoph Guger, University of Technology Graz, Austria Damien Coyle, University of Ulster, UK

*Correspondence:

Junichi Ushiba, Department of Biosciences and Informatics, Faculty of Science and Technology, Keio University, Kanagawa, Japan e-mail: ushiba@bio.keio.ac.jp

Recent studies have shown that scalp electroencephalogram (EEG) based brain-computer interface (BCI) has a great potential for motor rehabilitation in stroke patients with severe hemiplegia. However, key elements in BCI architecture for functional recovery has yet to be clear. We in this study focused on the type of feedback to the patients, which is given contingently to their motor-related EEG in a BCI context. The efficacy of visual and somatosensory feedbacks was compared by a two-group study with the chronic stroke patients who are suffering with severe motor hemiplegia. Twelve patients were asked an attempt of finger opening in the affected side repeatedly, and the event-related desynchronization (ERD) in EEG of alpha and beta rhythms was monitored over bilateral parietal regions. Six patients were received a simple visual feedback in which the hand open/grasp picture on screen was animated at eye level, following significant ERD. Six patients were received a somatosensory feedback in which the motor-driven orthosis was triggered to extend the paralyzed fingers from 90 to 50°. All the participants received 1-h BCI treatment with 12-20 training days. After the training period, while no changes in clinical scores and electromyographic (EMG) activity were observed in visual feedback group after training, voluntary EMG activity was newly observed in the affected finger extensors in four cases and the clinical score of upper limb function in the affected side was also improved in three participants in somatosensory feedback group. Although the present study was conducted with a limited number of patients, these results imply that BCI training with somatosensory feedback could be more effective for rehabilitation than with visual feedback. This pilot trial positively encouraged further clinical BCI research using a controlled design.

Keywords: brain-computer interface rehabilitation, motor imagery, somatosensory feedback, visual feedback

INTRODUCTION

Stroke leads to a rapid loss of brain function through a disturbance in the blood supply to the brain and usually causes hemiparesis. Data from an earlier study suggest that practicing or observing movements that are highly similar to normal movements helps to improve motor functions (Ertelt et al., 2007; Garrison et al., 2010; Arya et al., 2011). Experience-based plasticity mechanisms, that involve the relative re-weighing of synaptic inputs, are constantly shaping network organization and are more likely driven by the formation and elimination of dendritic spines (Johnston, 2004; Carmichael, 2006; Murphy and Corbett, 2009). Some animal studies suggest that such plasticity occurs at both the peri-lesion and remote areas (Nudo, 2006). The results of several randomized, controlled, trials have indicated that the intensive practice of important motor tasks, while constraining the non-paretic limb, can substantially improve upper limb function in individuals whose movements have been mildly impaired

by stroke (Grotta et al., 2004; Mark et al., 2006; Taub et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2010). In the case of moderate impairment, assisted voluntary movement with functional electrical stimulation through surface electrodes is effective in improving finger and wrist motor functions (Peckham et al., 1980; Kimberley et al., 2004).

Recently, electroencephalogram (EEG)-based brain-computer interface (BCI) has been regarded as a new rehabilitation technique for patients with severe impairment after stroke, who cannot use the other above-mentioned rehabilitation strategies owing to a lack of volitional muscle activity (Buch et al., 2008; Daly et al., 2009). Motor imagery is often used in EEGbased BCI, because it is defined as the mental rehearsal of a motor act without overt movement (Alkadhi et al., 2005). BCI estimates the patients' motor imagery from the amplitude of the arc-shaped waveform on an EEG, or a magnetoencephalogram recorded over the primary sensorimotor cortex (SM1) and translates it into feedback (e.g., visual guidance, electrical stimulation of muscles, or motor-driven orthosis). Imagery, or an actual hand movement, activates the SM1 and rhythmic activity in the alpha and beta band over the hand region results in amplitude attenuation or event-related desynchronization (ERD). This enables movement observation or provides afferent feedback in the BCI, and such feedback is believed to help direct brain reorganization, resulting in some functional recovery from stroke hemiplegia (Daly and Wolpaw, 2008). The prolonged use of this BCI training induces plastic changes in the brain activity of patients with stroke (Rozelle and Budzynski, 1995; Buch et al., 2008) and clinical improvement of upper limb function (Prasad et al., 2009; Caria et al., 2011; Shindo et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013; Mukaino et al., 2014)

However, specifications of the BCI paradigm that are needed for functional recovery are as yet unknown. As Daly and Wolpaw speculated, neural plasticity will be guided in different ways depending on the feedback modality. Visual feedback of ongoing SM1 excitability trains patients to produce normal SM1 activity, whereas robotic assistance of paretic movement following SM1 excitation will produce sensory input that induces neural plasticity to restore more normal motor control. To date, different types of feedback have been separately tested in some research groups. Thus, the validation of feedback type and protocol standardization in a BCI rehabilitation context will be beneficial for further research development.

In this paper we compared two different types of feedback (i.e., visual feedback and sensory feedback with robotic movement assistance) contingent to motor-related EEG in stroke patients with chronic hemiplegia with a view toward functional recovery, using the Stroke Impairment Assessment Set (SIAS) which is a known standard scoring test, consisting of 22 subcategories, and has high reliability. BCI settings, except feedback and the task design, were shared between the two paradigms in order to minimize the potential influences of factors such as training intensity, duration, and adaptation to the EEG classification rules. Since such an experiment was first designed as a pilot trial, the experiments were conducted as a group comparison study to minimize participants' burden from an ethical point of view. We note here that data in this BCI paradigm (sensory feedback) was previously reported elsewhere as a preliminary case series study (Shindo et al., 2011). On the other hand, the goal of our study was to compare two different types of feedback. Thus, the same data was used for another research purpose in this article.

METHODS

PARTICIPANTS

The study group consisted of 12 participants who had had a stroke (three with right and nine with left hemiplegia) and met the following inclusion criteria: (1) the first episode was a subcortical stroke; (2) they had severe upper limb paralysis and a score ≤ 2 for finger movement on SIAS (see Appendix) (Chino et al., 1994), indicating very clumsy finger movement and absence of isolated individual finger movement; (3) they had no cognitive impairment; and (4) their chronic stroke injury occurred more than 13 weeks prior to the study to ensure that further neurological and clinical recovery were less likely (Nakayama et al., 1994; Jørgensen

et al., 1995; Duncan et al., 2000). Detailed clinical information of the 12 participants is shown in **Table 1**. Twelve participants had little or no detectable surface electromyogram (EMG) activity from the affected extensor digitorum communis (EDC) when they attempted to extend their fingers. All participants provided written informed consent prior to participating in the study.

EXPERIMENTAL PARADIGM

The experimental protocol was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration and was approved by the ethical committee of Keio University. The experiment consisted of BCI training and brain activity assessment using EEG. The BCI training protocol was similar to that reported previously (Neuper et al., 2009). Participants were seated in a comfortable chair with their arms supported and relaxed on the armrests in pronation. A 15.4-inch computer monitor was placed about 60 cm in front of their eyes. EEG signals were recorded using 10 Ag/AgCl disc electrodes ($\varphi = 10 \text{ mm}$) placed on both hemispheres (Figure 1A). The reference electrode was placed at the left auricle. The signals were amplified (g.USBamp; Guger Technologies, Graz, Austria) and digitized (sampling frequency, 256 Hz). The surface EMG was recorded bilaterally from the EDC muscles (high-pass filter 5 Hz; sampling rate 256 Hz). Impedance of EMG electrodes was kept under 10 kOhm.

EEG signals were processed using MATLAB (MathWorks Inc., USA). Firstly, all bipolar combinations were calculated from five electrodes over each hemisphere. Secondly, all EEG trials were visually controlled for artifacts and contaminated trials were discarded (Neuper et al., 2009). EEG spectra were estimated by fast Fourier transformation, using 1-s window lengths, 90% overlap, and a Hanning window. Feedback was generated on the ERD value calculated for predefined participant-specific frequency

Table 1 | Patient characteristic and clinical evaluation.

Participant	Age	Lesion	TFO (month)	SIAS	Feedback
1	41	Right putamen	4	1a	Visual
2	84	Right caudate nucleus	4	1b	Visual
3	63	Right corona radiate	7	1c	Visual
4	52	Middle cerebral artery area	31	1a	Visual
5	49	Right putamen	13	1a	Visual
3	65	Right putamen	10	0	Visual
7	47	Right thalamus	23	1a	Somatosensory
3	65	Right corona radiate	155	1a	Somatosensory
Э	65	Right corona radiate	25	1a	Somatosensory
10	60	Right internal capsule	51	1a	Somatosensory
11	54	Left putamen	23	1a	Somatosensory
12	46	Left putamen	24	1b	Somatosensory

TFO, time from onset.



bands (Pfurtscheller et al., 1997) using the following equation:

$$ERD(f, t) = \frac{R(f) - A(f, t)}{R(f)} \times 100$$

where A(f,t) is the power spectrum of the EEG at frequency f at time t, with reference to the onset of the motor task (see *BCI training* below), and R(f) is the power spectrum of a 1-s epoch of the reference period (2-3 s) in each trial. By using this definition, ERD was expressed as a positive number. The time-frequency map of each bipolar signal was calculated from a 1-s EEG window after every 125 ms. This time-frequency data was used to select the most reactive frequency band and a bipolar montage. If an ERD was not observed at the beginning of BCI training, we used EEG power at a base frequency (9–12 Hz) with a bipolar montage of C3a-C3, which was the best electrode scheme in general (Neuper et al., 2006). A three-factor [time (pre-, post-training), side (damaged, undamaged hemisphere), feedback type (visual, somatosensory)] analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the ERD.

BCI TRAINING SESSION

In this study, there were two feedback groups. Six participants performed BCI training with visual feedback and six participants performed BCI training with somatosensory feedback.

Visual feedback

The trial was initiated upon presentation of the word "Relax" on a monitor, and a countdown was presented at the bottom of the monitor to prepare participants to attempt extension of an affected finger. The word and countdown disappeared 5 s later. Six

participants received a visual feedback stimulus from the EEG in the form of a picture of the affected hand on the monitor. The ERD value in response to the resulting action of the feedback was determined before training as follows: firstly, participants generally achieved an increase in sensorimotor rhythm during voluntary relaxation and an ERD while imagining maximal finger extension on the paralyzed side. Pictures of the hand with varying degrees of hand movement were then mapped according to ERD magnitude. We prepared 20 pictures depicting different hand positions, ranging from a full-hand grasp to a fully open hand. A hand opening in the picture was associated with increasing ERD (Figure 1B). Pictures of a hand closing were associated with decreasing ERD because the participants' hands were normally positioned in a more grip-like posture during the passive state, caused by spasticity. The ERD was divided into 20 parts from 0 to 80%, and each part was assigned 1 hand picture. The hand picture on the screen then remained stable, and the participants were asked to relax for 5 s. This 15-s trial was repeated for approximately 1 h, and a total of 100 trials were performed. This training was conducted on 5 weekdays for 1 month. The experiment was discontinued for the day if the participant complained of exhaustion. Because some participants complained of exhaustion during multiple sessions, the training time was shortened; however, these participants were asked to perform at least 60 trials on that day.

Sensory feedback

The participants had to imagine the paretic hand opening or at rest for 5 s according to the task cue. The height of the cursor reflected the accumulated value of the output of classification of ERD performed every 30 ms since the beginning of the task. Thus, the cursor fluctuated around the baseline if diminution of ERD was not clearly seen. The cursor went down if the diminution of ERD was continuously observed. The gain of cursor movement was within approximately one-tenth of the vertical range of the monitor during the resting phase in the calibration experiment. From the 4th training day, when the cursor reached the lower half on the right edge of the monitor, the motor-driven orthosis was triggered to extend the paralyzed fingers from 90 to 50° (**Figure 1C**). Each training run consisted of 10 trials, with 5 trials per class, presented in randomized order. Ten training runs were recorded per day, with a total of 100 trials.

Outcome assessment

Surface EMG activities of the affected EDC muscle and ERD were compared between the first and last training days. The task was slightly modified from the BCI training paradigm in order to easily perform paretic finger movements. The cursor moved from the left to right over a period of 8 s on the monitor, and the task cue was presented 5 s after the cursor had appeared. Participants were instructed to perform "unaffected hand opening" or "affected hand opening" voluntarily for 3 s. This training run consisted of 10 trials with 5 trials per class, alternately.

In assessing improvement of finger movement impairment, SIAS was used at pre- and post-BCI training. It consists of a scale from 0 to 5, with 0 indicating complete paralysis and 5 no paresis (see Appendix).

RESULTS

NEUROPHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES

ERD in most participants was detected over both the damaged and undamaged hemispheres, in alpha and/or beta frequency bands throughout the experiment. **Figure 2** showed the ERD value before/after trainings in both hemispheres. Statistical evaluation of ERD values revealed significant enhancement over both damaged and undamaged hemispheres after BCI training in participants in both feedback categories (ERD values were shown in **Table 2**). Three-Way ANOVA showed no significant differences of side and feedback type, but it became significantly greater over both hemispheres (p < 0.05). **Figure 3** shows BCI performance. BCI performance increased in both feedback groups, while there was no significant difference between feedback groups (p < 0.05; Two-Way ANOVA).

Figure 4 showed EMG activities of affected EDC before/after trainings. Four participants in the somatosensory feedback group, who had little or no muscle activity before training, showed EMG activity voluntarily, while no participants in the visual feedback group improved their EMG activity. These results indicated that participants in the sensory feedback group improved in finger function and/or voluntary EMG activity. Note here that the visual feedback group did not show any improvement even when they received a longer training period.

CLINICAL BEHAVIORAL CHANGES

Figure 5 showed scores of SIAS finger function test. While no participants in the visual feedback group showed improvement in their finger function, three participants in the sensory feedback group showed improvement in finger function. All participants felt that they could relax more easily, although no participants in the visual feedback group improved on any scores. In addition, participants in the somatosensory feedback group indicated that they became more aware of the use of their paretic upper extremity in daily activities.

DISCUSSION

These results show that EEG-based BCI training with visual or sensory feedback enhanced ERD following attempted motor activity, but only sensory feedback improved motor function. Though only a limited number of patients participated in the current study, the results of this preliminary study suggest that a randomized controlled trial to complement these results be completed in the future.

ERD AND FINGER FUNCTION

Participants in this study learned to increase ERD after training. In addition, BCI performance also increased in both groups. These results follow those of previous studies (Pfurtscheller and Neuper, 2001; Buch et al., 2008; Hwang et al., 2009; Broetz et al., 2010; Hashimoto et al., 2010; Shindo et al., 2011; Cincotti et al., 2012; Mukaino et al., 2014). However, in the visual feedback group, no functional improvement was seen in any participants. From these results, we can say that ERD may not be a direct correlate of functional recovery in finger movement. ERD likely reflects desynchronized neural assembly as a result of the interaction between the thalamic nuclei and cortical areas, that are controlled by the interplay among thalamic relay cells and reticulo-thalamic pathway cells (Steriade and Llinás, 1988; Lopes da Silva, 1991). Desynchronization that is not directly related to motor output is potentially learned by visual feedback BCL

ERD may reflect SM1 excitability during the relevant motor task (Takemi et al., 2013), thus a proper sensory feedback which engages the participant in the task may facilitate motor reorganization. Moreover, since the nature of neural activity is non-linear, a supplemental neural excitation factor, i.e., timing-dependent cortical excitation by contingent somatosensory feedback to the motor cortex, may promote further excitation of the SM1, resulting in functional recovery. These possibilities could explain why only sensory feedback BCI had a tendency to promote functional recovery in stroke hemiplegia.

Table 2 | ERD values of each hemisphere (mean \pm SD %).

	Vis	ual	Somato	sensory
	Before	After	Before	After
Undamaged	12.1 ± 8.3	20.0 ± 9.2	15.9 ± 9.7	22.2 ± 11.1
Damaged	13.6 ± 10.4	27.9 ± 5.0	14.1 ± 9.0	26.3 ± 16.9





FIGURE 3 | BCI performance accuracy. White bars represent ERD values before training and black bars represent the ERD values after training. Numbers on x axis represent participant numbers.



FIGURE 4 | Comparison of EMG activity before and after BCI. The horizontal bars represent the period during which participants opened their paralyzed hands. The data from participant 7 to participant 12 are from Shindo et al. (2011). Permission from Foundation for Rehabilitation Information.

TRAINING INTERVAL

Due to a limitation in hospital regulations, visual feedback training was done on 5 weekdays for 1 month and somatosensory



feedback training was done once or twice a week for a period of 4–7 months. Of course, the training schedule should be the same between groups, however the results and remarks remain valid, since even intensive (everyday) and longer (1 month) training with visual feedback BCI did not show functional recovery. This suggests that sensory feedback following a motor attempt may be essential for reorganization of motor function. Intensive bod-ily sensation of the paralyzed limb may also be helpful to regain body awareness (or ownership), which is needed for motor planning. Such a compound effect may make sensory feedback more advantageous that visual feedback BCI

CONCLUSION

We performed ERD-regulated motor imagery training in a BCI framework in stroke patients who have chronic, severe, hemiplegia, and observed ERD enhancement. Sensory feedback rather than visual feedback of ERD tended to restore paretic finger movement. These results reveal the importance of peripheral bodily sensation contingent to voluntary excitation of the cortical motor system, which is a key in promoting behavioral improvement. This is a serial case study with clinical limitations. Although the small number of participants, differences in training intervals and duration since stroke are limiting factors, these results provide interesting, positive, data which indicate that a further, large-scale, clinical trial be undertaken, which we expect would support these preliminary insights.

FUNDING SOURCES

This study was partially supported by the Strategic Research Program for Brain Sciences (SRPBS) of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology, Japan.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study resulted from "Brain Machine Interface Development" under the Strategic Research Program for Brain Sciences by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology of Japan.

REFERENCES

- Alkadhi, H., Brugger, P., Boendermaker, S. H., Crelier, G., Curt, A., Hepp-Reymond, M.-C., et al. (2005). What disconnection tells about motor imagery: evidence from paraplegic patients. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 131–140. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhh116
- Arya, K. N., Pandian, S., Verma, R., and Garg, R. K. (2011). Movement therapy induced neural reorganization and motor recovery in stroke: a review. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 15, 528–537. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2011.01.023
- Broetz, D., Braun, C., Weber, C., Soekadar, S. R., Caria, A., and Birbaumer, N. (2010). Combination of brain-computer interface training and goal-directed physical therapy in chronic stroke: a case report. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 24, 674–679. doi: 10.1177/1545968310368683
- Buch, E., Weber, C., Cohen, L. G., Braun, C., Dimyan, M. A., Ard, T., et al. (2008). Think to move: a neuromagnetic brain-computer interface (BCI) system for chronic stroke. *Stroke* 39, 910–917. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.505313
- Caria, A., Weber, C., Brötz, D., Ramos, A., Ticini, L. F., Gharabaghi, A., et al. (2011). Chronic stroke recovery after combined BCI training and physiotherapy: a case report. *Psychophysiology* 48, 578–582. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01117.x
- Carmichael, S. T. (2006). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of neural repair after stroke: making waves. Ann. Neurol. 59, 735–742. doi: 10.1002/ana.20845
- Chino, N., Sonoda, S., Domen, K., Saitoh, E., and Kimura, A. (1994). Stroke Impairment Assessment Set (SIAS). A new evaluation instrument for stroke patients. *Jpn. J. Rehabil. Med.* 31, 119–125. doi: 10.2490/jjrm1963.31.119
- Cincotti, F., Pichiorri, F., Aricò, P., Aloise, F., Leotta, F., de Vico Fallani, F., et al. (2012). EEG-based brain-computer interface to support post-stroke motor rehabilitation of the upper limb. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2012, 4112–4115. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2012.6346871
- Daly, J. J., Cheng, R., Rogers, J., Litinas, K., Hrovat, K., and Dohring, M. (2009). Feasibility of a new application of noninvasive brain computer interface (BCI): a case study of training for recovery of volitional motor control after stroke. *J. Neurol. Phys. Ther.* 33, 203–211. doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e3181c1fc0b
- Daly, J. J., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2008). Brain-computer interfaces in neurological rehabilitation. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 1032–1043. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70223-0
- Duncan, P. W., Lai, S. M., and Keighley, J. (2000). Defining post-stroke recovery: implications for design and interpretation of drug trials. *Neuropharmacology* 39, 835–841. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(00)00003-4
- Ertelt, D., Small, S., Solodkin, A., Dettmers, C., McNamara, A., Binkofski, F., et al. (2007). Action observation has a positive impact on rehabilitation of motor deficits after stroke. *Neuroimage* 36(Suppl. 2), T164–T173. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.043
- Garrison, K. A., Winstein, C. J., and Aziz-Zadeh, L. (2010). The mirror neuron system: a neural substrate for methods in stroke rehabilitation. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 24, 404–412. doi: 10.1177/1545968309354536
- Grotta, J. C., Noser, E. A., Ro, T., Boake, C., Levin, H., Aronowski, J., et al. (2004). Constraint-induced movement therapy. *Stroke J. Cereb. Circ.* 35, 2699–2701. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000143320.64953.c4
- Hashimoto, Y., Ushiba, J., Kimura, A., Liu, M., and Tomita, Y. (2010). Change in brain activity through virtual reality-based brain-machine communication in a chronic tetraplegic subject with muscular dystrophy. *BMC Neurosci.* 11:117. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-11-117

- Hwang, H.-J., Kwon, K., and Im, C.-H. (2009). Neurofeedback-based motor imagery training for brain-computer interface (BCI). J. Neurosci. Methods 179, 150–156. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.01.015
- Johnston, M. V. (2004). Clinical disorders of brain plasticity. *Brain Dev.* 26, 73–80. doi: 10.1016/S0387-7604(03)00102-5
- Jørgensen, H. S., Nakayama, H., Raaschou, H. O., Vive-Larsen, J., Støier, M., and Olsen, T. S. (1995). Outcome and time course of recovery in stroke. Part II: time course of recovery. The Copenhagen Stroke Study. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 76, 406–412.
- Kimberley, T. J., Lewis, S. M., Auerbach, E. J., Dorsey, L. L., Lojovich, J. M., and Carey, J. R. (2004). Electrical stimulation driving functional improvements and cortical changes in subjects with stroke. *Exp. Brain Res.* 154, 450–460. doi: 10.1007/s00221-003-1695-y
- Lin, K.-C., Chung, H.-Y., Wu, C.-Y., Liu, H.-L., Hsieh, Y.-W., Chen, I.-H., et al. (2010). Constraint-induced therapy versus control intervention in patients with stroke: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 89, 177–185. doi: 10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181cf1c78
- Lopes da Silva, F. (1991). Neural mechanisms underlying brain waves: from neural membranes to networks. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 79, 81–93.
- Mark, V. W., Taub, E., and Morris, D. M. (2006). Neuroplasticity and constraintinduced movement therapy. *Eur. Medicophys.* 42, 269–284.
- Mukaino, M., Ono, T., Shindo, K., Fujiwara, T., Ota, T., Kimura, A., et al. (2014). Efficacy of brain-computer interface-driven neuromuscular electrical stimulation for chronic paresis after stroke. J. Rehabil. Med. 46, 378–382. doi: 10.2340/ 16501977-1785
- Murphy, T. H., and Corbett, D. (2009). Plasticity during stroke recovery: from synapse to behaviour. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 861–872. doi: 10.1038/nrn2735
- Nakayama, H., Jørgensen, H. S., Raaschou, H. O., and Olsen, T. S. (1994). Recovery of upper extremity function in stroke patients: the Copenhagen Stroke Study. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 75, 394–398.
- Neuper, C., Scherer, R., Wriessnegger, S., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2009). Motor imagery and action observation: modulation of sensorimotor brain rhythms during mental control of a brain-computer interface. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 120, 239–247. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.11.015
- Neuper, C., Wörtz, M., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2006). ERD/ERS patterns reflecting sensorimotor activation and deactivation. *Prog. Brain Res.* 159, 211–222. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06)59014-4
- Nudo, R. J. (2006). Mechanisms for recovery of motor function following cortical damage. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 16, 638–644. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2006.10.004
- Peckham, P. H., Mortimer, J. T., and Marsolais, E. B. (1980). Controlled prehension and release in the C5 quadriplegic elicited by functional electrical stimulation of the paralyzed forearm musculature. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* 8, 369–388.
- Pfurtscheller, G., and Neuper, C. (2001). Motor imagery and direct brain-computer communication. *Proc. IEEE* 89, 1123–1134. doi: 10.1109/5.939829
- Pfurtscheller, G., Neuper, C., Flotzinger, D., and Pregenzer, M. (1997). EEGbased discrimination between imagination of right and left hand movement. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 103, 642–651.
- Prasad, G., Herman, P., Coyle, D., McDonough, S., and Crosbie, J. (2009). "Using motor imagery based brain-computer interface for post-stroke rehabilitation," in 4th International IEEE/EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering, 2009. NER'09 (Antalya), 258–262.
- Ramos-Murguialday, A., Broetz, D., Rea, M., Läer, L., Yilmaz, O., Brasil, F. L., et al. (2013). Brain-machine-interface in chronic stroke rehabilitation: a controlled study. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 100–108. doi: 10.1002/ana.23879
- Rozelle, G. R., and Budzynski, T. H. (1995). Neurotherapy for stroke rehabilitation: a single case study. *Biofeedback Self-Regul.* 20, 211–228.
- Shindo, K., Kawashima, K., Ushiba, J., Ota, N., Ito, M., Ota, T., et al. (2011). Effects of neurofeedback training with an electroencephalogram-based braincomputer interface for hand paralysis in patients with chronic stroke: a preliminary case series study. J. Rehabil. Med. 43, 951–957. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0859
- Steriade, M., and Llinás, R. R. (1988). The functional states of the thalamus and the associated neuronal interplay. *Physiol. Rev.* 68, 649–742.
- Takemi, M., Masakado, Y., Liu, M., and Ushiba, J. (2013). Event-related desynchronization reflects down-regulation of intracortical inhibition in human primary motor cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 110, 1158–1166. doi: 10.1152/jn. 01092.2012
- Taub, E., Uswatte, G., King, D. K., Morris, D., Crago, J. E., and Chatterjee, A. (2006). A placebo-controlled trial of constraint-induced movement therapy for upper extremity after stroke. *Stroke* 37, 1045–1049. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000206463.66461.97

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 06 March 2014; accepted: 12 June 2014; published online: 07 July 2014. Citation: Ono T, Shindo K, Kawashima K, Ota N, Ito M, Ota T, Mukaino M, Fujiwara T, Kimura A, Liu M and Ushiba J (2014) Brain-computer interface with somatosensory feedback improves functional recovery from severe hemiplegia due to chronic stroke. Front. Neuroeng. 7:19. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00019 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Ono, Shindo, Kawashima, Ota, Ito, Ota, Mukaino, Fujiwara, Kimura, Liu and Ushiba. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX

STROKE IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT SET (SIAS)

Motor Function (Finger)

Finger test: Individual finger movements are tested. The patient flexes each digit from the thumb to the little finger, in that order, and then extends them from the little finger to the thumb.

- 0: No voluntary finger movement
- 1a: Minimal voluntary movement or mass flexion
- 1b: Mass extension
- 1c: Minimal individual movement
- 2: Individual movement of each finger is possible, but flexion or extension is not complete
- 3: Individual movement of each finger is possible with adequate flexion and extension of the digits; however, the patient carries out the task with severe or moderate clumsiness
- 4: The patient carries out the task with mild clumsiness
- 5: The patient carries out the task as smoothly as for the unaffected side



Case report: post-stroke interventional BCI rehabilitation in an individual with preexisting sensorineural disability

Brittany M. Young^{1,2,3}, Zack Nigogosyan¹, Veena A. Nair¹, Léo M. Walton⁴, Jie Song^{1,4}, Mitchell E. Tyler⁴, Dorothy F. Edwards⁵, Kristin Caldera⁶, Justin A. Sattin⁷, Justin C. Williams^{2,4,8} and Vivek Prabhakaran^{1,2,3,7,9}*

¹ Department of Radiology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

² Neuroscience Training Program, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

³ Medical Scientist Training Program, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁴ Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁵ Departments of Kinesiology and Medicine, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁶ Department of Orthopedics and Rehabilitation, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁷ Department of Neurology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁸ Department of Neurosurgery, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁹ Departments of Psychology and Psychiatry, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

Edited by:

Jaime A. Pineda, University of California, San Diego, USA

Reviewed by:

Marco Bove, Université degli Studi di Genova, Italy Damien Coyle, University of Ulster, UK

*Correspondence:

Vivek Prabhakaran, Department of Radiology, University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics, 600 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53792-3252, USA

e-mail: vprabhakaran@uwhealth.org

Therapies involving new technologies such as brain-computer interfaces (BCI) are being studied to determine their potential for interventional rehabilitation after acute events such as stroke produce lasting impairments. While studies have examined the use of BCI devices by individuals with disabilities, many such devices are intended to address a specific limitation and have been studied when this limitation or disability is present in isolation. Little is known about the therapeutic potential of these devices for individuals with multiple disabilities with an acquired impairment overlaid on a secondary long-standing disability. We describe a case in which a male patient with congenital deafness suffered a right pontine ischemic stroke, resulting in persistent weakness of his left hand and arm. This patient volunteer completed four baseline assessments beginning at 4 months after stroke onset and subsequently underwent 6 weeks of interventional rehabilitation therapy using a closed-loop neurofeedback BCI device with visual, functional electrical stimulation, and tongue stimulation feedback modalities. Additional assessments were conducted at the midpoint of therapy, upon completion of therapy, and 1 month after completing all BCI therapy. Anatomical and functional MRI scans were obtained at each assessment, along with behavioral measures including the Stroke Impact Scale (SIS) and the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT). Clinically significant improvements in behavioral measures were noted over the course of BCI therapy, with more than 10 point gains in both the ARAT scores and scores for the SIS hand function domain. Neuroimaging during finger tapping of the impaired hand also showed changes in brain activation patterns associated with BCI therapy. This case study demonstrates the potential for individuals who have preexisting disability or possible atypical brain organization to learn to use a BCI system that may confer some rehabilitative benefit.

Keywords: stroke rehabilitation, brain-computer interface, case study, disability, BCI therapy, UE motor rehabilitation, BCI-FES-TDU

INTRODUCTION

Each year approximately 795,000 individuals experience a new stroke in the United States alone (Go et al., 2014), with up to 50% of stroke survivors suffering from some form of persistent neurological impairment (Kelly-Hayes et al., 2003). Brain-computer interface (BCI) technology is being incorporated into an emerging class of devices designed to facilitate the rehabilitation of individuals with persistent motor impairments after stroke (Buch et al., 2008; Daly et al., 2009; Broetz et al., 2010; Prasad et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Shindo et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; Takahashi et al., 2012). These BCI systems detect the user's neural signals.

translate these signals into action, and provide real time feedback using various feedback modalities, including visual displays (Prasad et al., 2010), robot-assisted movement (Buch et al., 2008; Broetz et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013; Varkuti et al., 2013), functional electrical stimulation (FES) (Daly et al., 2009; Takahashi et al., 2012), and tongue stimulation (TDU) (Wilson et al., 2012).

Currently, research into the feasibility and efficacy of such BCI devices for applications in stroke rehabilitation focuses largely on individuals whose neurological impairments have been acquired as a direct result of their stroke event. However, there is some precedent in the feasibility of individuals with disabilities from other etiologies successfully learning to use machine interfaces (Sampaio et al., 2001; Bach-Y-Rita, 2004) and BCI devices. For example, it has been shown that blind individuals can learn to use BCI systems through the use of electrotactile feedback, performing comparably to sighted individuals using visual feedback (Wilson et al., 2012). BCI systems may also be implemented as a means of replacement or augmentative function for individuals who have locked-in syndrome (Kaufmann et al., 2013; Oken et al., 2013; Lugo et al., 2014). However, less is known about the behavioral and neuroimaging changes that may be induced by such BCI systems when used for rehabilitation in individuals with neurological impairments and disabilities prior to stroke.

Approximately 30% of non-institutionalized individuals in the United States over the age of 65 report having a visual, hearing, or cognitive disability (Institute, 2013). Furthermore, 6–13% of individuals in this same age group suffer a stroke each year (Go et al., 2014), resulting in a need for rehabilitative therapies that can be made available to stroke survivors who may have a history of disability prior to stroke. We report the use of a BCI system with coordinated visual, FES, and TDU feedback modalities designed to improve the rehabilitation of upper extremity motor impairment by a subacute stroke subject with a preexisting sensorineural disability (congenital deafness) and a history of depression prior to stroke.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

CASE DESCRIPTION AND PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT

The participant was a 48-year old male stroke patient whose pre-stroke medical history was significant for deafness due to congenital rubella infection, along with depression and diabetes mellitus. Prior to stroke, the participant had been left-handed with a score of -78 on the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and communicated in ASL using both hands with his left hand as the dominant signing hand. He suffered an ischemic stroke in the right pons (Figure 1), which resulted in persistent left-sided hemiparesis. The participant began assessments in this study approximately 4 months after stroke onset. At the time of study enrollment, the participant's medications included sertraline 50 mg daily and metformin 1000 mg daily, which were sufficient to keep his depression and diabetes respectively under control throughout the study period. Other medications included aspirin 325 mg daily, simvastatin 20 mg daily, and Lisinopril 5 mg daily. The subject also received botulinum toxin injections just prior to the beginning of study participation as well as during study participation (Figure 2) and took oral baclofen 10 mg three times daily to reduce spasticity. At the time of the study, the participant was able to read and understand written English, although his ability to write with his non-dominant right hand was slow and clumsy. This research was approved by the local Institutional Review Board. The participant provided written informed consent.

THERAPY AND ASSESSMENT SCHEDULE

Neuroimaging and behavioral measures were assessed at three time points prior to the administration of any BCI therapy during a pre-therapy observational period. BCI therapy consisted of



13 2-h interventional therapy sessions using the BCI-FES-TDU system over the course of 6 weeks with no more than three interventional therapy sessions per week.

Behavioral and neuroimaging assessments were then repeated immediately prior to the beginning of BCI therapy, mid-therapy after 3 weeks of intervention sessions, upon the completion of all therapy sessions, and 1 month after the conclusion of all therapy sessions. The subject also received 1–2 h per week of additional occupational therapy and physical therapy during part of the study period administered independently from therapy sessions using the BCI-FES-TDU system. An assessment and treatment timeline for this patient is summarized in **Figure 2**.

BEHAVIORAL OUTCOME MEASURES

radiological conventions.

Both objective and subjective behavioral measures were assessed at each assessment time point. Objective measures included the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) (Carroll, 1965; Lyle, 1981; Lang et al., 2006) and grip strength averaged over three attempts as measured by dynamometry. Subjective measures included transformed scores for each subdomain of the Stroke Impact Scale Version 3.0 (SIS) (Duncan et al., 1999; Carod-Artal et al., 2008), the Motor Activity Log (MAL) (Uswatte et al., 2005, 2006), the Wong-Baker pain scale (Garra et al., 2013), and the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff, 1977; Eaton et al., 2004; Carleton et al., 2013). The Modified Ashworth Scale (Bohannon and Smith, 1987) was also used to measure spasticity in the wrist and fingers of the impaired left side at each assessment.

MRI ACQUISITION AND PROCESSING

All MR images were acquired on a 3 Tesla GE MR750 scanner equipped with high-speed gradients (Sigma GE Healthcare, Milwaukee Wisconsin) using an 8-channel head coil. Padding was used to minimize head movement. Functional scans were run using a T2*-weighted gradient-echo echo planar imaging (EPI) pulse sequence sensitive to BOLD contrast. Technical parameters used to acquire EPI scans were: field of view 224 mm, matrix 64×64 , TR 2600 ms, TE 22 ms, flip angle 60° , and 40 axial plane slices of 3.5 mm thickness with 3.5 mm spacing between slices. During each fMRI scan, 70 sequential whole-brain acquisitions were recorded. During EPI scans, the subject was cued to alternate between finger tapping with the left hand and rest



in blocks of 20 s. In order to cue the participant to alternate between these 20 s blocks, a member of the research team tapped the subject lightly on the arm at the beginning of each 20 s block. This type of cueing was chosen because the participant's vision, while corrected to normal outside of the scanner with glasses, could not be sufficiently corrected within the scanner to allow the participant to read cues projected on a screen. Due to insufficient grip strength and impaired motor control, the subject was unable to use a button box during finger tapping. Instead, the researcher in the scan room who cued the subject also observed the subject's hand to ensure that visible attempted finger tapping or rest occurred as appropriate during each block. Up to three T1-weighted high-resolution anatomical images were also obtained during each scanning session using a BRAVO FSPGR pulse sequence. Technical parameters used to acquire anatomical scans were: field of view 256 mm, matrix 256×256 , TR 8.16 ms, TE 3.18 ms, flip angle 12°, and 156 axial plane slices of 1 mm thickness with 1 mm spacing between slices.

All pre- and post-processing of MRI data was performed using the AFNI software package (Cox, 1996). The first four volumes of each functional sequence were discarded to allow for signal stabilization. EPI data sets were motion corrected and then spatially smoothed at 6 mm with a full width at half maximum Gaussian kernel. Each voxel timeseries was scaled to a mean of 100, and AFNI's 3dDeconvolve was then used to perform a voxel-wise regression analysis with six motion parameters regressed out. This analysis yielded a voxel-wise t-statistic. EPI data sets were visually inspected for alignment with anatomical T1 datasets, with the best available dataset for each scan session used for alignment. All scan sessions had at least one anatomical T1 dataset with adequate alignment upon visual inspection. Activation maps were then transformed into Talairach space and 3dcalc used to create difference maps across the pre-therapy control and BCI therapy periods. These difference maps were then cluster corrected for multiple comparisons with a minimum cluster size 229 voxels, as calculated using AFNI's 3dClustSim, and thresholded at t = 2.674 (p < 0.01).

INTERVENTIONAL THERAPY DESCRIPTION

Brain activity was recorded using a 16-channel EEG cap (g.GAMMA cap, Cortech Solutions) and amplifier (Guger Technologies) and processed using BCI2000 software (Schalk et al., 2004) version 2 with in-house modifications to allow for administration of additional tongue stimulation (TDU 01.30,

Wicab Inc.) and functional electrical stimulation (LG-7500, LGMedSupply; Arduino 1.0.4).

At the start of each interventional therapy session, the participant was asked to rank how motivated he was to continue participating in this study on a scale of 1–10, with 1 being not motivated and 10 being extremely motivated.

Each session of interventional therapy using the braincomputer interface device then consisted of three stages. The participant first performed open-loop attempted movement of each hand with no performance feedback alternating with periods of rest. Each of these conditions (i.e., attempted movement of the right (or left) hand, or rest) was prompted at least 10 times for 4 s per prompt. The movements used during attempted movement were repeated opening and closing of each hand, which the subject was able to perform although movements using his impaired left hand were noticeably slower and more limited (see **Video S1**).

Attempted movements were used during both the open-loop screening and subsequent closed-loop feedback tasks in order to allow for the mental processes trained during BCI therapy to be as similar as possible to those needed when attempting functional movements beyond the laboratory environment. Motor imagery is a popular means of controlling BCI devices and is found more commonly in the BCI literature than attempted movement. However, this is due largely to the history of the field and is less reflective of an inherent limitation of BCI devices. Many BCI systems were designed with an augmentative purpose in mind, intended to allow for communication in individuals with permanent or progressive motor impairments (Wolpaw et al., 2000). Early BCI systems were also developed using individuals free of motor impairments (Leuthardt et al., 2004) or in individuals whose motor impairments were not targeted by the paradigms used (Wolpaw and McFarland, 2004). In such studies, motor imagery represented a means of establishing control of a device independent of the need for actual movements that a later user with motor impairments relevant to the trained task may not be able to perform. The largely augmentative aims of many BCI devices and the testing of early BCI systems on individuals who were not necessarily affected by the motor impairments that these systems were designed to address contributed to the preferential use of motor imagery as a way to control BCI devices by allowing for early machines to be adapted for the benefit of the largest number of potential users where large variations may exist in the degree of individual motor impairment.

Motor imagery continues to be a good option for the control of a BCI device and has been incorporated into a number of rehabilitative (Buch et al., 2008; Daly et al., 2009; Broetz et al., 2010; Prasad et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Shindo et al., 2011; Varkuti et al., 2013) and augmentative (Kubler et al., 2005) systems. However, while the goals and populations studied during the development of early BCI devices helped to establish motor imagery as a standard method of control, this precedent does not preclude the use of other mental tasks as potential options for the control of BCI devices (Felton et al., 2007). Furthermore, while the original definition of BCI devices emphasized that these devices could be controlled using motor imagery and mental tasks that do not require the production of actual movement, these definitions did not exclude the possibility that mental tasks accompanied by actual movements could be used for BCI control (Wolpaw et al., 2000). Some newer BCI devices have also begun incorporating attempted movement into their protocols, particularly when the system is intended to serve a rehabilitative purpose (Daly et al., 2009; Prasad et al., 2010; Takahashi et al., 2012; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013; Mukaino et al., 2014).

The goal for therapy with the BCI system used in this study was purely rehabilitative rather than augmentative, with stimulus from the BCI device functioning as both a feedback modality as well as a form of assistive support for the production of actual movements in order help to strengthen or reestablish a lost functional capacity. Therefore, actual movements were used to identify appropriate control signals for neural feedback, and the subject was taught to use attempted movements of each hand to control the BCI device. This approach maximizes the similarities between mental tasks trained during BCI therapy and those produced when attempting functional movement in the real world, so that gains made with the device might persist beyond the therapy period. While the device used in this study is controlled by attempted movement rather than imagined movement, we believe that it may still be classified as a BCI system because it allows for neural activity patterns to be detected and translated into a computer-generated feedback response in real time.

Data from open-loop trials was analyzed offline to determine appropriate EEG-based control features for subsequent closedloop tasks. This initial calibration task and its application to control feedback during later stages of the therapy session is based on previously described processes (Wilson et al., 2009). In summary, the BCI2000 Offline Analysis tool was used to determine the channels for in which the largest r-squared values were found within the frequency ranges for the Mu and Beta rhythms for each condition of attempted movement using either the right or left hand. These channels and the specific frequency bins for which the largest r-squared values were identified were then used as control signals for the closed-loop neurofeedback task. For this participant, control signals were based on the desynchronization of Mu and Beta rhythms detected over the sensorimotor cortex by electrodes placed on the scalp in positions C3, CP3, Cz, C4, and CP4 using the international 10–20 system.

The next stage of the intervention involved a closed-loop condition in which the participant was presented with real time visual feedback to allow him to learn how to modulate cortical activity. Visual feedback was presented in the context of a game in which a target would appear on the left or right side of the screen and the participant was instructed to move a cursor from the center of the screen to the target using attempted hand movement. In this closed-loop condition, attempted movement consisted of either repeated opening and closing of each hand similar to that used for open-loop screening or repeated wrist extension. These actions were used because the participant expressed the desire to improve his ability to open his hand and extend his wrist over other types of movements. The feedback component of this visual display was the lateral movement of the cursor toward or away from the on-screen target, which was controlled in real time by the participant's EEG signals. Attempted hand movements were used to control cursor movement during all trials in this stage as well as in all trials of all subsequent stages. Cortical activity related to attempted movement of the right (left) hand as detected by EEG was translated into rightward (leftward) movement of the on-screen cursor. Each run consisted of 8-12 trials, with each trial randomly presenting one of four possible targets. The participant was given the goal of completing at least 10 runs for this stage as well as during the final stage.

The third stage of the intervention session was similar to the second, using the same game play paradigm with the incorporation of additional feedback in the form of TS and FES to muscles of the impaired left arm to assist with the impaired attempted movement. FES electrodes were applied over the extensor carpi radialus brevis and extensor digitorum muscles in the left forearm to assist with wrist and finger extension. These muscles were chosen for stimulation after the participant reported having more baseline volitional control over active flexion of his wrist and fingers than over wrist and finger extension. TS feedback paralleled visual feedback and provided continuous electrotactile stimulation of the tongue during each trial. Furthermore, TS has been shown to provide sufficient feedback to enable a subject to use a similar BCI device with TS alone in the absence of visual or other tactile feedback (Wilson et al., 2012) and has also been implicated in priming neuromodulation (Wildenberg et al., 2010). TS with this device was organized in a grid that delivers electrical stimulus representing the positions of the onscreen cursor and target onto the tongue. FES was triggered when cortical activity related to attempted movement of the impaired limb was detected by EEG and the participant had been cued to attempt movement of the impaired hand (i.e., when the target was on the left). Thus, since both cursor movement and FES were controlled by the same set of EEG signals, FES was only applied when the cursor moved correctly toward the target on the impaired left side of the body. This triggering of the FES was significant in that it ensured that only consistent, desired patterns of brain activity associated with attempted movement of the impaired left hand were rewarded with feedback from the FES device.

The participant was offered the opportunity to take a short rest break after each stage of the therapy session and was also allowed to take additional short breaks upon request. A picture of game play using all feedback modalities with the BCI-FES-TDU device is provided in **Figure 3**.

RESULTS

CHARACTERIZATION OF BASELINE IMPAIRMENTS

At 4 months after stroke before the administration of any therapy using the brain-computer interface system, the participant had left-sided hemiparesis, which manifested as gait disturbances (the participant walked with assistance of a four-pronged cane) as well as spasticity and weakness in the left shoulder, wrist, elbow, and fingers. At 4 months post-stroke, he signed using his right hand as the dominant hand with little to no use of his left hand while signing, whereas he had been strongly left-handed and used his left hand as his dominant signing hand prior to stroke. A baseline ARAT assessment of each upper extremity revealed a perfect score of 57 with no deficits in the unimpaired right hand in contrast to significant deficits and a total score of 26 for the impaired left hand. The breakdown of these scores by each subdomain of the ARAT is presented in Table 1. As can be seen in Table 1, the most severely impaired aspects of the participant's upper extremity motor deficit were in the domains of grip and pinch. A baseline measurement of grip strength showed that the subject was unable to produce any measureable grip strength on a standard dynamometer, which is consistent with the significant deficits evidenced in the subject's Grip subscore from the ARAT of his left upper extremity administered on the same day.



FIGURE 3 | Study participant using the BCI-FES-TDU system.

Table 1 | Scores for each subdomain of the ARAT administered at the participant's first visit baseline assessment for the impaired and unimpaired upper extremities.

ARAT subdomain	Score for	Score for		
	impaired left UE	unimpaired right UE		
Grasp	17	18		
Grip	4	12		
Pinch	2	18		
Gross Movement	3	9		

ARAT, Action Research Arm Test; UE, Upper Extremity.

PARTICIPANT COMPLIANCE AND CLINICAL OBSERVATIONS

The participant used the closed-loop neurofeedback BCI device successfully and tolerated the entire course of therapy and assessments without problems, ranking his motivation to continue participating in the study at a 7 or 8 out of 10 throughout the 6 weeks of therapy and answering "No" when asked at the end of all BCI therapy if he had experienced any side effects. It was also noted that, while all ASL communication observed prior to BCI therapy administration used only the participant's right hand, by the end of the BCI therapy period he had begun using his impaired left hand in a limited fashion to assist in the formation of two-handed signs.

BCI RESULTS

The participant was able to learn to use the BCI device, performing with accuracy consistently greater than chance over the course of the therapy period. Cumulative performance accuracy calculated using all completed non-adaptive runs over subsequent sessions is shown in **Figure 4**. An analysis of trials by target location also showed that the subject achieved over 70% accuracy when presented with left-sided targets and over 60% accuracy when presented with right-sided targets when averaged over all sessions.

Although 70% accuracy is sometimes viewed in more traditional studies as a minimum criteria for establishing control of a BCI system, this convention was initially established in the context of a Language Support Program where an accuracy of 70% or more was needed in order to make communication possible (Kubler et al., 2001, 2005). In contrast, the BCI system used in this study was not designed as an augmentative communication system and therefore may not require such a high degree of overall performance accuracy in order to establish BCI control. Furthermore, as game play parameters were dynamically adjusted to make the game more difficult as the participant achieved 70% accuracy at a given level or difficulty, his overall accuracy was



FIGURE 4 | Cumulative performance accuracy in targets attained by run for all completed non-adaptive runs of BCI cursor task game play grouped by session. The red line in is drawn at 0.5, which represents the level at which half of targets presented within a run would be attained by chance. Error bars represent the standard error. not necessarily expected to be at or above 70%. A binomial also showed the participant's performance accuracy during non-adaptive runs to be significantly better than chance (p < 0.0001), indicating that cursor movement was indeed non-random and controlled to some degree by the participant.

BEHAVIORAL MEASURES

The participant showed improvement in both ARAT performance using his impaired left hand and in grip strength of his impaired hand with the administration of BCI therapy. These improvements in ARAT performance with BCI therapy administration were greater than improvements observed during the pre-therapy assessments. Specifically, ARAT scores using the impaired left hand varied from 26 to 32 during the pre-therapy observation period and increased from a score of 27 just before BCI therapy to 40 upon the completion of all therapy and 43 1 month after the cessation of BCI therapy. Similarly, no improvements were appreciated in grip strength measurements until after the completion of BCI therapy, registering an average of 4.33 pounds after the completion of all BCI therapy and 13 pounds 1 month later. The participant's performance on the ARAT and his average measured grip strength using his impaired left hand evaluated at each assessment are summarized in Figure 5.

The subjective behavioral measures evaluated at each assessment are shown in **Figure 6**, demonstrating scores for each subdomain of the SIS, and in **Figure 7**, showing results for the each component of the MAL. Subdomain scores for the SIS remained steady or improved over the course of the study period. Some of the greatest gains were observed in the SIS subdomains for hand function and participation, which demonstrated greater gains during and after the period of BCI therapy administration than during initial pre-therapy observation period.

Scores for both the Amount of Use and Quality of Movement aspects of the MAL increased from first measurement during the observational assessment period to the measurement assessed immediately before the beginning of BCI therapy administration. These scores then both continued to increase during the period of BCI therapy administration, peaking at the assessment immediately after the end of BCI therapy. Scores in each of these domains did demonstrate some decline when reassessed 1 month later relative to the assessment immediately after BCI therapy, but even



with this observed decline remained higher than scores for all pre-therapy assessments.

Scores on the CES were consistently below 16 points throughout the study period, which is considered to be the threshold for depression using this screening tool (Radloff, 1977; Eaton et al., 2004). Pain scores also decreased during the study period, reaching zero (i.e., no pain) by the pre-therapy assessment and remaining at this level throughout the remainder of the study.

Modified Ashworth Scale scores for spasticity during extension of the wrist and fingers were 0 at all time points. Modified Ashworth Scale scores for wrist flexion and finger flexion are shown in **Figure 8**. Scores were 0 or 1 for wrist flexion throughout the study period and varied from 0 to 2 for finger flexion over the course of study participation.

fMRI RESULTS

Changes were noted in brain activation elicited during finger tapping of the impaired left hand with the administration of BCI therapy. These changes differed from changes observed when no BCI therapy was given. Specifically, a comparison of baseline activation with activation 6 weeks later during a period in which no BCI therapy was administered showed areas of decreased activation throughout the right hemisphere and right cerebellum. In contrast, a comparison of brain activation during the same inscanner task before and after the period during which BCI therapy



FIGURE 6 | Transformed scores for each of the subdomains on the Stroke Impact Scale (SIS). ADL, Activities of Daily Living.



was being administered showed increases in activation throughout the left hemisphere and left cerebellum. These changes are demonstrated in **Figure 9**. Cluster sizes, direction of activation change, and the Talairach coordinates and location for the focus of each significant cluster are provided in **Tables 2**, **3**.

DISCUSSION AND CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

The results of this study show that it is possible for a stroke survivor with preexisting neurological impairments, in this case sensorineural deafness, to effectively use a BCI device during interventional rehabilitation therapy. The participant's ability to use the BCI device without issue is supported by his consistent



performance above chance (**Figure 4**) along with his self report indicating that he experienced no side effects during the therapy period. Furthermore, the participant achieved gains in both objective and subjective behavioral measures during the time period concurrent with the administration of BCI therapy that were greater than any gains observed during the pre-therapy observation period during which no BCI therapy was administered. These functional gains were accompanied by changes in brain activation observed during attempted finger tapping of the impaired hand, which were again observed with the administration of BCI therapy but not during the pre-therapy observation period.

To our knowledge, this is the first reported case of a deaf individual learning to use a BCI device for the purpose of motor rehabilitation. There have been a number of studies examining the feasibility of adapting BCI devices for use by individuals with visual impairments (Guo et al., 2010; Wilson et al., 2012; Lim et al., 2013; McCreadie et al., 2013) and numerous studies on the ability of individuals with conditions such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis to control BCI devices (Kubler et al., 2005; Bai et al., 2010). However, in the majority of such cases the use of the BCI device is intended to augment or replace an impaired function in an otherwise neurotypical individual rather than to rehabilitate a superimposed neurological impairment. This case study is limited in its ability to generalize the results observed here to other individuals with similar impairments, as it only documents the outcomes achieved by a single participant. However, the fact that this participant was able to learn to use the BCI system and demonstrate gains in behavioral measures shows that



FIGURE 9 | Subtraction maps demonstrating differences in brain activation during finger tapping of the impaired hand. Maps compare activation patterns at week 6 of observational control (assessment 3) minus initial baseline activation (assessment 1) (**A**) and changes observed comparing activation post-therapy (assessment 6) minus pre-therapy (assessment 4) (**B**).

Cluster	x	Ŷ	Ζ	Region of cluster focus	Size (voxels)	Increase or decrease in activation
1	-49.5	22.5	41.5	Right postcentral gyrus	10,662	Decrease
2	49.5	64.5	2.5	Left inferior temporal gyrus	789	Decrease
3	31.5	31.5	50.5	Left postcentral gyrus	476	Increase
4	46.5	31.5	14.5	Left superior temporal gyrus	378	Increase
5	46.5	40.5	-45.5	Left cerebellum	369	Increase
6	43.5	-19.5	20.5	Left middle frontal gyrus	259	Increase

Table 2 | Changes in brain activation during finger tapping of the impaired left hand from assessment 1 to assessment 3 during which no BCI therapy was administered.

Coordinates provided are in Talairach space.

Table 3 | Changes in brain activation during finger tapping of the impaired left hand from assessment 4 to assessment 6 during which BCI therapy was administered.

Cluster	X	Ŷ	Ζ	Region of cluster focus	Size (voxels)	Increase or decrease in activation
1	49.5	7.5	35.5	Left precentral gyrus	6582	Increase
2	-22.5	52.5	56.5	Right superior parietal lobule	2342	Decrease
3	46.5	-43.5	11.5	Left middle frontal gyrus	1093	Decrease
4	-34.5	-34.5	-3.5	Right middle frontal gyrus	923	Increase
5	-43.5	-37.5	-12.5	Right middle frontal gyrus	230	Decrease

Coordinates provided are in Talairach space.

it is clearly possible for at least some individuals with preexisting disabilities or with atypical neurological characteristics prior to stroke to learn to control such devices and to potentially benefit from rehabilitative applications of these of therapies. This result is also consistent with prior work showing that no greater mental workload is incurred by individuals with physical disabilities when using BCI devices compared to healthy neurotypical control subjects performing the same tasks (Felton et al., 2012).

These results are promising both for the field of BCI technologies in stroke rehabilitation as well as for individuals with preexisting disabilities or neurological conditions that may benefit from them. It has been suggested that the minimal clinically important difference in ARAT improvement can range from as few as 6 points for chronic stroke patients (Van Der Lee et al., 2001) to 12 points for acute to subacute stroke patients with impairments of their dominant hand (Lang et al., 2008), and the participant's improvement in ARAT during the period in which BCI therapy was administered exceeded even a 12 point gain. In this case, these improvements in motor function also had a noticeable impact on the participant's ability to communicate, which may be reflected indirectly by his gains in SIS participation and more directly by the clinical observation that when communicating in the presence of the researchers the participant began using his impaired left hand to form ASL signs only after he began receiving BCI therapy.

The subject made notable gains in other measures assessed as well, showing concrete improvements in grip strength upon completion of BCI therapy as well as greater improvements in some subdomains of the SIS during the period during and after BCI therapy than during the pre-therapy observation period. Similarly, scores in each domain of the MAL increased during both the per-therapy observation period as well as during the period of BCI therapy administration, with the most dramatic increase being observed immediately surrounding the period of BCI therapy. However, the decline in scores for this measure at the final assessment in the absence of similar declines in the objective measures and in SIS scores may also reflect larger amounts of variability in MAL scores after the intervention, as the MAL has been shown to be most stable when assessing chronic stroke patients not undergoing an intervention (Van Der Lee et al., 2004), unlike the participant in this study. The improvements in MAL scores may also be reflecting, in part, improvements associated with the outside therapies administered or with study participation and interaction with study personnel, which were at a minimum during the 1 month period between the cessation of BCI therapy and the final assessment.

One major limitation of this study is the inability to clearly separate the effects of the interventional BCI therapy from effects of the additional occupational therapy, physical therapy, and botulinum toxin treatments that the participant received during the study period. Therefore, it is necessary to acknowledge that some or all of the functional gains described above may be attributed to spontaneous recovery, to the standard (i.e., non-BCI) therapies that the participant received during the study period, or to some combination thereof. However, although it is possible that none of the improvements described in this study were induced or facilitated by the BCI therapy, it seems unlikely that BCI therapy made no contribution to the gains observed specifically during the period during which BCI therapy was administered.

It is similarly not possible to determine what relative contributions various components of the BCI therapy, such as the neurofeedback training, the repeated attempted movement, or the FES, may have had to the recovery observed. However, the participant's BCI performance results suggest that he remained engaged in the neurofeedback task throughout the study period, so the gains documented during the therapy period do appear concurrent with regular neurofeedback training. While this study is unable to differentiate among the rehabilitative effects of interventional BCI therapy components and the effects of outside therapies and spontaneous recovery, it does serve as a demonstration for the potential of BCI therapy to serve as a component of an individualized rehabilitative regimen that may on the whole lead to gains in post-stroke motor recovery for individuals with preexisting disabilities.

It is also worth noting that the subject actually received more physical and occupational therapy during the observational control period of the study than during the period when BCI therapy was being administered and no outside therapies during the final weeks of BCI therapy and post-BCI therapy follow-up. Thus, the improved gains observed during and after BCI therapy occurred during a time period when additional therapies were either reduced or stopped altogether.

With regard to botulinum treatments, some studies have found botulinum toxin to improve upper extremity use and reduce disability in patients with upper extremity spasticity following stroke (Brashear et al., 2002; Pandyan et al., 2002; Rousseaux et al., 2002), but improvements in such studies are often highly variable. Some such gains are based on subjective self-report alone (Brashear et al., 2002), while others document improvements in objective measures of hand function in fewer than half the individuals receiving botulinum toxin treatment (Pandyan et al., 2002). One systematic review of neuromuscular blockade in upper extremity spasticity found that while tone may improve with botulinum toxin treatment, no clear functional improvements could not be convincingly demonstrated in the literature (Van Kuijk et al., 2002). Furthermore, it is important to note that by chance the participant's botulinum toxin schedule was similar between the pre-therapy and BCI therapy periods in that botulinum toxin was administered within 13 days of each baseline assessment (i.e., the first pre-therapy observational assessment and the assessment just before the initiation of BCI therapy). However, the most significant functional gains observed were seen only with BCI therapy administration during a time when spasticity measures either increased or remained similar to pre-therapy levels (Figure 7). Together, the similarity in botulinum toxin schedules and the absence of significant reductions in measured spasticity between the observational and BCI therapy periods suggest that the improvements documented with BCI therapy are unlikely to be attributable to the patient's botulinum toxin therapy.

While there is no way to definitively establish the cause of the increase in finger flexor spasticity observed near the end of the therapy period, one possible explanation for this finding is that finger flexors may have been strengthened during therapy when faced with increased resistance posed by the FES of the antagonizing extensor muscles. With the subject attempting repeated opening and closing of the hand and stimulus applied only to the extensor digitorum, repeated attempts to activate finger flexors during or just after extensor stimulation may have resulted in increases in strength and tone of the finger flexors. This increase in strength or tone of finger flexor muscles may also have contributed to the observed increases in the participant's ability to generate measurable grip strength near the end of the therapy period.

While most stroke survivors with motor impairments experience some functional recovery in the acute and subacute stroke periods either spontaneously or with traditional rehabilitative therapies, many reach a functional plateau within the first 6 months to 1 year after stroke and are left with motor impairments that can persist years. It has been suggested that the potential for further recovery remains in stroke survivors who have reached such a plateau and that newer therapies may facilitate this recovery where traditional therapies have ceased to produce measurable gains (Cramer, 2010). BCI therapy is one class of these newer therapies thought to help harness this potential for additional recovery. EEG-based BCI devices, such as the one employed in this study, detect the user's neural activity in the form of EEG signals and use these signals to provide real time feedback. These BCI systems have been coupled with various feedback modalities, including visual (Prasad et al., 2010), robotics (Buch et al., 2008; Broetz et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013; Varkuti et al., 2013), FES (Daly et al., 2009; Takahashi et al., 2012), and TDU (Wilson et al., 2012) by which the user can learn to modulate their brain activity.

In the context of motor rehabilitation therapy, this type of feedback is thought to strengthen central-peripheral connections and promote neuroplastic change by rewarding the production of consistent patterns of brain activation in conjunction with the subject's intent to move. Early studies of stroke survivors using such devices for rehabilitation have been promising, demonstrating functional gains (Buch et al., 2008; Daly et al., 2009; Broetz et al., 2010; Prasad et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Shindo et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; Takahashi et al., 2012) as well as concurrent changes in brain activity and organization (Caria et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013; Varkuti et al., 2013). In this study, the changes in brain activation accompanying the participant's functional gains suggest that the same types of brain-behavior relationships documented in stroke survivors who receive BCI therapy may also play a role in motor recovery in stroke survivors with preexisting neurological conditions unrelated to their stroke.

With regard to the increased contralesional activity observed upon completion of the BCI therapy period (Figure 9B), this may be indicative of greater recruitment and coordination of contralesional brain areas during attempted finger tapping of the impaired left hand. While some studies examining changes in brain activation with BCI therapy found shifts in activity of the motor and premotor cortices toward the ipsilesional hemisphere to accompany motor gains (Caria et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013), others examining the role of the contralesional hemisphere in post-stroke recovery have shown that brain activation in the contralesional hemisphere and its functional connectivity to that of the ipsilesional hemisphere may contribute significantly to motor performance after stroke (Lotze et al., 2006; Carter et al., 2010). There have also been studies of other functional domains, such as language, where a compensatory shift in activation toward the intact hemisphere has been documented in

response to infarction and hypoperfusion (Prabhakaran et al., 2007). As these changes were observed over the same time period in which significant functional motor gains were achieved, it is possible that this pattern may reflect neuroplastic processes related to the participant's motor recovery.

While the increased contralesional activity observed after BCI therapy cannot be directly attributed to the BCI therapy, it can be distinguished from brain changes observed with repeated scanning before and after the observational control period. The increased activity in the contralesional hemisphere with BCI therapy is noticeably different from the general decrease in ipsilesional activity observed over the course of the observational control period (Figure 9A). These different patterns of change suggest that the increases observed during the BCI therapy period are less likely to be due to a practice effect associated with repeated scans or due to effects associated with the outside physical therapy, occupational therapy, or botox treatments the participant received during both phases of the study period. Unfortunately, as this study documents such changes in only a single subject, it cannot be determined if the pattern of increased contralteral activations observed after BCI therapy is due to the nature of the BCI device used, some neurological characteristic of this subject that may or may not generalize to other individuals with preexisting sensorineural disabilities, or some interaction of the two. Future studies are needed to clarify whether the use of BCI devices is accompanied by differential changes in neural activity in individuals recovering from stroke and to determine what quantitative relationships may exist between such changes and increases in motor function.

The relationship between what parameters are implemented during BCI therapy and how these parameters may affect functional outcomes is another area in need of further investigation. In particular, overall BCI performance accuracy in this study was consistently above chance but not significantly greater than 70%, which is a commonly used threshold for establishing adequate control of a BCI system. Although this 70% was used as a threshold for increasing task difficulty, future participants may benefit from additional training either before additional modes of feedback are applied or before game play parameters are adjusted to make the task more difficult. The optimal balance between what performance accuracy should be demonstrated as an indication of adequate feedback vs. what level of difficulty should be implemented to minimize subject fatigue and/or boredom remains to be determined. Future studies are needed to better characterize this trade off in individuals with and without preexisting disabilities.

It will be necessary in the future to continue studying subpopulations of stroke survivors in order to better understand what, if any, differences there may be in the potential benefits of BCI therapy for those with preexisting disabilities or neurological conditions compared to the benefits that such therapies may offer individuals who were neurotypical prior to stroke. With nearly 10% of adults in the United States suffering from mood disorders such as depression (Kessler et al., 2005) and approximately 30% of adults in the United States aged 65 and older reporting a visual, hearing, or cognitive disability (Institute, 2013), it is important to ensure that advances in stroke rehabilitation can be made available to stroke survivors with preexisting disabilities or neurological conditions. This case study shows that a limitation such as deafness or a preexisting diagnosis such as depression may not be sufficient grounds upon which to deny such therapies to stroke survivors in need of rehabilitation, and further research will be needed to increase the availability of such therapies to stroke survivors with persistent motor impairments both in the presence or absence of preexisting neurological conditions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Brittany M. Young assisted in subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Zack Nigogosyan assisted with data collection and writing. Veena A. Nair assisted with subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Léo M. Walton assisted with data collection and writing. Jie Song assisted with subject recruitment and data collection. Mitchell E. Tyler provided TDU hardware and expertise. Dorothy F. Edwards assisted with study design and data analysis. Kristin Caldera assisted with subject recruitment. Justin A. Sattin assisted with study design. Justin C. Williams is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the technical and engineering aspects of the work. Vivek Prabhakaran is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the neuroimaging and neuroscience aspects of this work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank our anonymous stroke survivor for his participation in our study as well as his family for their support. We would like to thank Jenny Swartz for her assistance in study coordination. We would also like to thank our MRI technicians Sara John and Jenelle Fuller. Thanks to Cong Han Lim for technical assistance. This work was supported by NIH grants RC1MH090912-01, T32GM008692, UL1TR000427, K23NS086852, T32EB011434, R01EB000856-06, and R01EB009103-01 and by the DARPA RCI Program (MTO) N66001-12-C-4025 and HIST Program (MTO) N66001-11-1-4013. Additional funding was also provided through a Coulter Translational Research Award, an American Heart Association Post-doctoral Fellow Research Award, the American Heart Association Grant 1T32EB011434-01A1, the Foundation of ASNR, UW Milwaukee-Madison Intercampus Grants, the UW Graduate School, and by Shapiro Foundation Grants.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fneng.2014. 00018/abstract

Video S1 | Video of the participant's attempted hand movements during the open-loop screening task showing attempted repeated hand opening and closing for each hand as well as rest on the first day of interventional BCI therapy. Words in the bottom left corner of the screen correspond to the stimuli shown to the participant over the course of the video period. Stimuli were presented in random order. Video was taken with the camera positioned above the table facing the participant such that the participant's left hand is shown on the right side of the screen.

REFERENCES

- Bach-Y-Rita, P. (2004). Tactile sensory substitution studies. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1013, 83–91. doi: 10.1196/annals.1305.006
- Bai, O., Lin, P., Huang, D., Fei, D. Y., and Floeter, M. K. (2010). Towards a userfriendly brain-computer interface: initial tests in ALS and PLS patients. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 121, 1293–1303. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.02.157
- Bohannon, R. W., and Smith, M. B. (1987). Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. *Phys. Ther.* 67, 206–207.
- Brashear, A., Gordon, M. F., Elovic, E., Kassicieh, V. D., Marciniak, C., Do, M., et al. (2002). Intramuscular injection of botulinum toxin for the treatment of wrist and finger spasticity after a stroke. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 347, 395–400. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa011892
- Broetz, D., Braun, C., Weber, C., Soekadar, S. R., Caria, A., and Birbaumer, N. (2010). Combination of brain-computer interface training and goal-directed physical therapy in chronic stroke: a case report. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 24, 674–679. doi: 10.1177/1545968310368683
- Buch, E., Weber, C., Cohen, L. G., Braun, C., Dimyan, M. A., Ard, T., et al. (2008). Think to move: a neuromagnetic brain-computer interface (BCI) system for chronic stroke. *Stroke* 39, 910–917. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.505313
- Caria, A., Weber, C., Brotz, D., Ramos, A., Ticini, L. F., Gharabaghi, A., et al. (2011). Chronic stroke recovery after combined BCI training and physiotherapy: a case report. *Psychophysiology* 48, 578–582. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010. 01117.x
- Carleton, R. N., Thibodeau, M. A., Teale, M. J., Welch, P. G., Abrams, M. P., Robinson, T., et al. (2013). The center for epidemiologic studies depression scale: a review with a theoretical and empirical examination of item content and factor structure. *PLoS ONE* 8:e58067. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058067
- Carod-Artal, F. J., Coral, L. F., Trizotto, D. S., and Moreira, C. M. (2008). The stroke impact scale 3.0: evaluation of acceptability, reliability, and validity of the Brazilian version. *Stroke* 39, 2477–2484. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107. 513671
- Carroll, D. (1965). A quantitative test of upper extremity function. J. Chronic Dis. 18, 479–491. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(65)90030-5
- Carter, A. R., Astafiev, S. V., Lang, C. E., Connor, L. T., Rengachary, J., Strube, M. J., et al. (2010). Resting interhemispheric functional magnetic resonance imaging connectivity predicts performance after stroke. *Ann. Neurol.* 67, 365–375. doi: 10.1002/ana.21905
- Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Comput. Biomed. Res.* 29, 162–173. doi: 10.1006/cbmr.1996.0014
- Cramer, S. C. (2010). Brain repair after stroke. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 1827–1829. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1003399
- Daly, J. J., Cheng, R., Rogers, J., Litinas, K., Hrovat, K., and Dohring, M. (2009).
 Feasibility of a new application of noninvasive Brain Computer Interface (BCI):
 a case study of training for recovery of volitional motor control after stroke.
 J. Neurol. Phys. Ther. 33, 203–211. doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e3181c1fc0b
- Duncan, P. W., Wallace, D., Lai, S. M., Johnson, D., Embretson, S., and Laster, L. J. (1999). The stroke impact scale version 2.0. Evaluation of reliability, validity, and sensitivity to change. *Stroke* 30, 2131–2140. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30. 10.2131
- Eaton, W. W., Smith, C., Ybarra, M., Muntaner, C., and Tien, A. (2004). "Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: Review and Revision (CESD and CESD-R)," in *The Use of Psychological Testing for Treatment Planning and Outcomes Assessment:* Vol. 3. Instruments for Adults, 3rd Edn., ed M. E. Maruish (Mahwah, NJ: Routledge), 363–377.
- Felton, E. A., Williams, J. C., Vanderheiden, G. C., and Radwin, R. G. (2012). Mental workload during brain-computer interface training. *Ergonomics* 55, 526–537. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2012.662526
- Felton, E. A., Wilson, J. A., Williams, J. C., and Garell, P. C. (2007). Electrocorticographically controlled brain-computer interfaces using motor and sensory imagery in patients with temporary subdural electrode implants. Report of four cases. J. Neurosurg. 106, 495–500. doi: 10.3171/jns.2007.106.3.495
- Garra, G., Singer, A. J., Domingo, A., and Thode, H. C. Jr. (2013). The Wong-Baker pain FACES scale measures pain, not fear. *Pediatr. Emerg. Care* 29, 17–20. doi: 10.1097/PEC.0b013e31827b2299
- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Blaha, M. J., et al. (2014). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2014 update: a report from

the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 362, e28–e292. doi: 10.1161/01.cir. 0000441139.02102.80

- Guo, J., Gao, S., and Hong, B. (2010). An auditory brain-computer interface using active mental response. *IEEE Trans. Neural. Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 18, 230–235. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2010.2047604
- Institute, E. A. D. (2013). Disability Statistics [Online]. Cornell University. Available online at: http://www.disabilitystatistics.org/reports/acs.cfm? statistic=1 [Accessed January 21, 2014].
- Kaufmann, T., Holz, E. M., and Kubler, A. (2013). Comparison of tactile, auditory, and visual modality for brain-computer interface use: a case study with a patient in the locked-in state. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:129. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00129
- Kelly-Hayes, M., Beiser, A., Kase, C. S., Scaramucci, A., D'agostino, R. B., and Wolf, P. A. (2003). The influence of gender and age on disability following ischemic stroke: the Framingham study. *J. Stroke. Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 12, 119–126. doi: 10.1016/S1052-3057(03)00042-9
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., Merikangas, K. R., and Walters, E. E. (2005). Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62, 617–627. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.617
- Kubler, A., Neumann, N., Kaiser, J., Kotchoubey, B., Hinterberger, T., and Birbaumer, N. P. (2001). Brain-computer communication: self-regulation of slow cortical potentials for verbal communication. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 82, 1533–1539. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2001.26621
- Kubler, A., Nijboer, F., Mellinger, J., Vaughan, T. M., Pawelzik, H., Schalk, G., et al. (2005). Patients with ALS can use sensorimotor rhythms to operate a brain-computer interface. *Neurology* 64, 1775–1777. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000158616.43002.6D
- Lang, C. E., Edwards, D. F., Birkenmeier, R. L., and Dromerick, A. W. (2008). Estimating minimal clinically important differences of upper-extremity measures early after stroke. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 89, 1693–1700. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.02.022
- Lang, C. E., Wagner, J. M., Dromerick, A. W., and Edwards, D. F. (2006). Measurement of upper-extremity function early after stroke: properties of the action research arm test. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 87, 1605–1610. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2006.09.003
- Leuthardt, E. C., Schalk, G., Wolpaw, J. R., Ojemann, J. G., and Moran, D. W. (2004). A brain-computer interface using electrocorticographic signals in humans. J. Neural Eng. 1, 63–71. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/1/2/001
- Lim, J. H., Hwang, H. J., Han, C. H., Jung, K. Y., and Im, C. H. (2013). Classification of binary intentions for individuals with impaired oculomotor function: 'eyesclosed' SSVEP-based brain-computer interface (BCI). *J. Neural Eng.* 10:026021. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/10/2/026021
- Liu, M., Fujiwara, T., Shindo, K., Kasashima, Y., Otaka, Y., Tsuji, T., et al. (2012). Newer challenges to restore hemiparetic upper extremity after stroke: HANDS therapy and BMI neurorehabilitation. *Hong Kong Physiother. J.* 30, 83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.hkpj.2012.05.001
- Lotze, M., Markert, J., Sauseng, P., Hoppe, J., Plewnia, C., and Gerloff, C. (2006). The role of multiple contralesional motor areas for complex hand movements after internal capsular lesion. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 6096–6102. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4564-05.2006
- Lugo, Z. R., Rodriguez, J., Lechner, A., Ortner, R., Gantner, I. S., Laureys, S., et al. (2014). A vibrotactile p300-based brain-computer interface for consciousness detection and communication. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 45, 14–21. doi: 10.1177/1550059413505533
- Lyle, R. C. (1981). A performance test for assessment of upper limb function in physical rehabilitation treatment and research. *Int. J. Rehabil. Res.* 4, 483–492. doi: 10.1097/00004356-198112000-00001
- McCreadie, K. A., Coyle, D. H., and Prasad, G. (2013). Sensorimotor learning with stereo auditory feedback for a brain-computer interface. *Med. Biol. Eng. Comput.* 51, 285–293. doi: 10.1007/s11517-012-0992-7
- Mukaino, M., Ono, T., Shindo, K., Fujiwara, T., Ota, T., Kimura, A., et al. (2014). Efficacy of brain-computer interface-driven neuromuscular electrical stimulation for chronic paresis after stroke. J. Rehabil. Med. 46, 378–382. doi: 10.2340/16501977-1785
- Oken, B. S., Orhan, U., Roark, B., Erdogmus, D., Fowler, A., Mooney, A., et al. (2013). Brain-computer interface with language model-electroencephalography fusion for locked-in syndrome. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 28, 387–394. doi: 10.1177/1545968313516867

- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia* 9, 97–113. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- Pandyan, A. D., Vuadens, P., Van Wijck, F. M., Stark, S., Johnson, G. R., and Barnes, M. P. (2002). Are we underestimating the clinical efficacy of botulinum toxin (type A)? Quantifying changes in spasticity, strength and upper limb function after injections of Botox to the elbow flexors in a unilateral stroke population. *Clin. Rehabil.* 16, 654–660. doi: 10.1191/0269215502cr5360a
- Prabhakaran, V., Raman, S. P., Grunwald, M. R., Mahadevia, A., Hussain, N., Lu, H., et al. (2007). Neural substrates of word generation during stroke recovery: the influence of cortical hypoperfusion. *Behav. Neurol.* 18, 45–52. doi: 10.1155/2007/430402
- Prasad, G., Herman, P., Coyle, D., McDonough, S., and Crosbie, J. (2010). Applying a brain-computer interface to support motor imagery practice in people with stroke for upper limb recovery: a feasibility study. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 7:60. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-7-60
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Measur.* 1, 385–401. doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306
- Ramos-Murguialday, A., Broetz, D., Rea, M., Laer, L., Yilmaz, O., Brasil, F. L., et al. (2013). Brain-machine interface in chronic stroke rehabilitation: a controlled study. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 100–108. doi: 10.1002/ana.23879
- Rousseaux, M., Kozlowski, O., and Froger, J. (2002). Efficacy of botulinum toxin A in upper limb function of hemiplegic patients. J. Neurol. 249, 76–84. doi: 10.1007/PL00007851
- Sampaio, E., Maris, S., and Bach-Y-Rita, P. (2001). Brain plasticity: 'visual' acuity of blind persons via the tongue. *Brain Res.* 908, 204–207. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(01)02667-1
- Schalk, G., McFarland, D. J., Hinterberger, T., Birbaumer, N., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2004). BCI2000: a general-purpose brain-computer interface (BCI) system. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 51, 1034–1043. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2004. 827072
- Shindo, K., Kawashima, K., Ushiba, J., Ota, N., Ito, M., Ota, T., et al. (2011). Effects of neurofeedback training with an electroencephalogram-based braincomputer interface for hand paralysis in patients with chronic stroke: a preliminary case series study. J. Rehabil. Med. 43, 951–957. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0859
- Takahashi, M., Takeda, K., Otaka, Y., Osu, R., Hanakawa, T., Gouko, M., et al. (2012). Event related desynchronization-modulated functional electrical stimulation system for stroke rehabilitation: a feasibility study. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 9:56. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-56
- Uswatte, G., Taub, E., Morris, D., Light, K., and Thompson, P. A. (2006). The Motor Activity Log-28: assessing daily use of the hemiparetic arm after stroke. *Neurology* 67, 1189–1194. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000238164.90657.c2
- Uswatte, G., Taub, E., Morris, D., Vignolo, M., and McCulloch, K. (2005). Reliability and validity of the upper-extremity Motor Activity Log-14 for measuring real-world arm use. *Stroke* 36, 2493–2496. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000185928.90848.2e
- Van Der Lee, J. H., Beckerman, H., Knol, D. L., De Vet, H. C., and Bouter, L. M. (2004). Clinimetric properties of the motor activity log for the assessment of arm use in hemiparetic patients. *Stroke* 35, 1410–1414. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000126900.24964.7e

- Van Der Lee, J. H., Beckerman, H., Lankhorst, G. J., and Bouter, L. M. (2001). The responsiveness of the Action Research Arm test and the Fugl-Meyer Assessment scale in chronic stroke patients. J. Rehabil. Med. 33, 110–113. doi: 10.1080/165019701750165916
- Van Kuijk, A. A., Geurts, A. C., Bevaart, B. J., and Van Limbeek, J. (2002). Treatment of upper extremity spasticity in stroke patients by focal neuronal or neuromuscular blockade: a systematic review of the literature. *J. Rehabil. Med.* 34, 51–61. doi: 10.1080/165019702753557836
- Varkuti, B., Guan, C., Pan, Y., Phua, K. S., Ang, K. K., Kuah, C. W., et al. (2013). Resting state changes in functional connectivity correlate with movement recovery for BCI and robot-assisted upper-extremity training after stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 27, 53–62. doi: 10.1177/1545968312445910
- Wildenberg, J. C., Tyler, M. E., Danilov, Y. P., Kaczmarek, K. A., and Meyerand, M. E. (2010). Sustained cortical and subcortical neuromodulation induced by electrical tongue stimulation. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 4, 199–211. doi: 10.1007/s11682-010-9099-7
- Wilson, J. A., Schalk, G., Walton, L. M., and Williams, J. C. (2009). Using an EEGbased brain-computer interface for virtual cursor movement with BCI2000. *J. Vis. Exp.* 1:e1319. doi: 10.3791/1319
- Wilson, J. A., Walton, L. M., Tyler, M., and Williams, J. (2012). Lingual electrotactile stimulation as an alternative sensory feedback pathway for braincomputer interface applications. J. Neural Eng. 9:045007. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/4/045007
- Wolpaw, J. R., Birbaumer, N., Heetderks, W. J., McFarland, D. J., Peckham, P. H., Schalk, G., et al. (2000). Brain-computer interface technology: a review of the first international meeting. *IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng.* 8, 164–173. doi: 10.1109/TRE.2000.847807
- Wolpaw, J. R., and McFarland, D. J. (2004). Control of a two-dimensional movement signal by a noninvasive brain-computer interface in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 101, 17849–17854. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0403504101

Conflict of Interest Statement: There is one patent pending on the closed-loop neurofeedback BCI-FES-TDU device, filed jointly by the two senior PI's, Justin C. Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran, who oversaw this work (patent application no. 12/715,090). Otherwise, this research was conducted without significant commercial or financial relationships.

Received: 07 March 2014; accepted: 03 June 2014; published online: 24 June 2014. Citation: Young BM, Nigogosyan Z, Nair VA, Walton LM, Song J, Tyler ME, Edwards DF, Caldera K, Sattin JA, Williams JC and Prabhakaran V (2014) Case report: post-stroke interventional BCI rehabilitation in an individual with preexisting sensorineural disability. Front. Neuroeng. 7:18. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00018 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Young, Nigogosyan, Nair, Walton, Song, Tyler, Edwards, Caldera, Sattin, Williams and Prabhakaran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


Characterizing relationships of DTI, fMRI, and motor recovery in stroke rehabilitation utilizing brain-computer interface technology

Jie Song^{1,2}*, Brittany M. Young^{1,3,4}, Zack Nigogosyan¹, Leo M. Walton^{2,4}, Veena A. Nair¹, Scott W. Grogan¹, Mitchell E. Tyler^{2,5}, Dorothy Farrar-Edwards^{6,7,8}, Kristin E. Caldera⁵, Justin A. Sattin⁸, Justin C. Williams^{2,4,9} and Vivek Prabhakaran^{1,3,4,8,10,11}*

- ³ Medical Scientist Training Program, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁴ Neuroscience Training Program, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁵ Departments of Orthopedics and Rehabilitation, University of Wisconsin - Madison, Madison, WI, USA

- ⁶ Department of Kinesiology, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁷ Department of Medicine, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁸ Department of Neurology, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁹ Department of Neurosurgery, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA

¹⁰ Department of Psychiatry, University of Wisconsin - Madison, Madison, WI, USA

¹¹ Department of Psychology, University of Wisconsin - Madison, Madison, WI, USA

Edited by:

Jaime A. Pineda, University of California, San Diego, USA

Reviewed by:

Christoph Guger, Guger Technologies OEG, Austria Lei Ding, University of Oklahoma, USA

*Correspondence:

Jie Song, Wisconsin Institutes for Medical Research, 1111 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53705, USA e-mail: jsong46@wisc.edu; Vivek Prabhakaran, Department of Radiology, 600 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53711, USA e-mail: vprabhakaran@uwhealth.org The relationship of the structural integrity of white matter tracts and cortical activity to motor functional outcomes in stroke patients is of particular interest in understanding mechanisms of brain structural and functional changes while recovering from stroke. This study aims to probe these underlying mechanisms using diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and fMRI measures. We examined the structural integrity of the posterior limb of the internal capsule (PLIC) using DTI and corticomotor activity using motor-task fMRI in stroke patients who completed up to 15 sessions of rehabilitation therapy using Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) technology. We hypothesized that (1) the structural integrity of PLIC and corticomotor activity are affected by stroke; (2) changes in structural integrity and corticomotor activity following BCI intervention are related to motor recovery; (3) there is a potential relationship between structural integrity and corticomotor activity. We found that (1) the ipsilesional PLIC showed significantly decreased fractional anisotropy (FA) values when compared to the contralesional PLIC; (2) lower ipsilesional PLIC-FA values were significantly associated with worse motor outcomes (i.e., ipsilesional PLIC-FA and motor outcomes were positively correlated.); (3) lower ipsilesional PLIC-FA values were significantly associated with greater ipsilesional corticomotor activity during impaired-finger-tapping-task fMRI (i.e., ipsilesional PLIC-FA and ipsilesional corticomotor activity were negatively correlated), with an overall bilateral pattern of corticomotor activity observed; and (4) baseline FA values predicted motor recovery assessed after BCI intervention. These findings suggest that (1) greater vs. lesser microstructural integrity of the ipsilesional PLIC may contribute toward better vs. poor motor recovery respectively in the stroke-affected limb and demand lesser vs. greater cortical activity respectively from the ipsilesional motor cortex; and that (2) PLIC-FA is a promising biomarker in tracking and predicting motor functional recovery in stroke patients receiving BCI intervention.

Keywords: DTI, FA, fMRI, motor recovery, stroke rehabilitation, BCI

INTRODUCTION

Studies have suggested that motor recovery after stroke is related to the structural remodeling of white matter tracts (Liu et al., 2008; Schaechter et al., 2009) and the reorganization of cortical activity (Dijkhuizen et al., 2001; Jaillard et al., 2005; Grefkes et al., 2008) in the ipsilesional and contralesional hemispheres. Little is known, however, about the relationship between the white matter structural integrity and functional cortical activity of the sensorimotor region and how these two factors interact with motor recovery in stroke patients. Therefore, a multimodal assessment of structure-function relationships may provide insights for examining factors influencing stroke recovery. Noninvasive brain imaging methods have been widely applied for understanding brain recovery following stroke. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI)

¹ Department of Radiology, University of Wisconsin - Madison, Madison, WI, USA

² Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Wisconsin - Madison, Madison, WI, USA

is one of these imaging methods, which allows for quantitative evaluations of the structural integrity of white matter tracts after a stroke (Werring et al., 2000; Stinear et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2009). DTI-derived measures have been shown as potential biomarkers used for tracking motor impairment (Schaechter et al., 2009; Lindenberg et al., 2010; Sterr et al., 2010; Yeo et al., 2010; Borich et al., 2012; Chen and Schlaug, 2013) and motor recovery (Liang et al., 2009) after stroke. DTI has also been investigated for its prognostic potential, with DTI measures assessed during the acute and sub-acute stages of stroke shown to predict motor impairments observed 1-7 months later (Cho et al., 2007; Koyama et al., 2012, 2013a,b; Groisser et al., 2014). A recent study shows evidence that DTI measures may be used as potentially predictive of individual recovery in stroke patients receiving newer neurorehabilitative therapies, such as transcranial direct current stimulation (Lindenberg et al., 2012). Besides DTI, fMRI is another non-invasive neuroimaging technique that has been used to gain better understanding of the processes of brain functional reorganization accompanying motor recovery after stroke (Calautti and Baron, 2003; Riecker et al., 2010; Garrison et al., 2013; Havsteen et al., 2013; Favre et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2014). Measures derived from fMRI have also been shown as potential biomarkers to track recovery, with correlations between functional changes and fMRI measures demonstrated with treatments such as Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) therapy (Mukaino et al., 2014), constrain-induced movement therapy (Murayama et al., 2011; Kononen et al., 2012) and motor imagery therapy (Sun et al., 2013).

Fewer studies have taken a multimodal approach to characterize brain recovery after stroke by combining information from both DTI and fMRI measures, with a few attempts existing only as case studies (Jang et al., 2005; Caria et al., 2011). One recent study found that DTI-derived measures correlated more strongly with clinical outcomes than measures derived from fMRI (Qiu et al., 2011) and another study reported both DTI and fMRI derived measures correlated with motor outcomes (Chen and Schlaug, 2013). Correlations have also been identified between DTI and fMRI measures, with greater damage to white matter tracts showing an association with increased bilateral recruitment of motor areas and poorer motor performance in stroke patients (Wang et al., 2012), although there is also evidence that such correlations may be modulated after the functional electrical stimulation (FES) training (Wei et al., 2013).

In this study, one main goal is to investigate the relationship between DTI and fMRI measures and further investigate the relative contribution of each to the tracking and predicting of motor functional recovery in a group of stroke patients with persistent upper extremity impairment receiving BCI therapy. In the majority of stroke patients, the upper extremity is more severely involved than the lower limb, as most strokes occur in the territory of the middle cerebral artery (Shelton and Reding, 2001). Stroke that affects the posterior limb of the internal capsule (PLIC) has been reported to be significantly associated with poor recovery of isolated upper-limb movements (Shelton and Reding, 2001) and overall motor outcomes (Puig et al., 2011). Given the significance of PLIC involved in motor recovery, one specific aim of this study is to evaluate the stroke-induced changes in structural integrity of the PLIC using DTI fractional anisotropy (FA) and to investigate if these changes are related to motor recovery. Corticomotor activation is a fMRI way to examine the "integrity" of corticomotor functions. In this study corticomotor activity is evaluated using motor-task fMRI and quantified by counts of statistically significantly active voxels within the ipsile-sional and contralesional motor cortices. Another specific aim of this study is to evaluate the changes are related to motor recovery. Combining both DTI and fMRI analysis, we examine the potential relationship between structural integrity of PLIC and functional integrity of motor cortex, and examine how this relationship interact with motor recovery in patients receiving BCI intervention.

MATERIALS AND METHODS STUDY DESIGN

A permuted-block design accounting for gender, stroke chronicity and severity of motor impairment was used to randomize patients to either a BCI intervention group or a crossover control group. Neuroimaging data and motor outcome assessments were acquired at four time points: before the start of intervention (i.e., pre-intervention), at the midpoint of intervention (i.e., mid-intervention), upon completion of intervention phase (i.e., immediately post-intervention), and 1 month following the last session of BCI intervention (i.e., 1-month-post-intervention). Patients in the BCI intervention group began to receive BCI intervention soon after recruitment. Patients in the control group first received three additional neuroimaging scans and motor outcome assessments during the control phase in which no BCI intervention was administered. These three additional assessments were acquired at intervals analogous to those administered during the BCI intervention phase. Upon completion the final-control neuroimaging and motor outcome assessment, these patients were crossed over to complete the BCI intervention phase. Table 1 illustrates the time frame of the study design. All current findings are based on neuroimaging and motor outcome measurements acquired from 9 patients during the BCI intervention phase.

PATIENT CHARACTERISTICS

Sixteen patients with persistent upper extremity motor impairment resulting from first-ever ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke were contacted regarding study participation in an on-going study investigating effects of EEG-BCI driven FES therapy of the impaired hand in stroke patients. This report is based on 9 patients who have completed the study (6 M, mean age of 61.9 years, chronicity of stroke range 2–23 months).

The inclusion criteria were: (1) ages 18 years and above; (2) no known neurologic, psychiatric or developmental disability; (3) persistent upper-extremity motor impairment resulting from ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke. The exclusion criteria were: (1) contraindications for MRI; (2) allergy to electrode gel, surgical tape and metals that would be used in BCI intervention; (3) under treatment for infectious disease or having apparent oral lesions or inflammation. This study was approved by the University of Wisconsin-Madison's Health Sciences Institutional Review Board.

Table 1 | Study design.



Table 2 | Patient profiles (age, gender, time since stroke, baseline NIHSS, baseline NIHSS-motor arm and stroke location).

Subject ID	Age	Gender	Months since stroke	Baseline NIHSS	NIHSS-motor arm	Stroke location
CI001	52	М	15	8	4	Left MCA
CI002	62	F	16	8	4	Left precentral gyrus
CI003	68	Μ	3	0	0	Left frontal lobe
CI004	66	М	23	6	1	Left MCA
CI005	73	F	2	0	0	Left MCA
CT001	75	F	23	7	3	Right putamen
CT002	55	М	17	0	0	Left basal ganglia
CT003	49	М	6	3	1	Right pons
CT004	57	М	13	2	1	Left MCA
$Mean \pm SD$	61.89 ± 9.25	3F/6M	13.11 ± 7.90	3.78 ± 3.49	1.56 ± 1.67	3 sub-cortical

MCA, Middle Cerebral Artery.

All patients provided written informed consent. Patient profiles are shown in **Table 2**.

BCI INTERVENTION PROCEDURES

All patients were administered up to 15 two-hour sessions of interventional BCI therapy (13.11 \pm 2.20 sessions). Figure S1 illustrates a conceptual schematic of the system. A detailed description of the procedures followed during each session is provided in the Supplementary Material. These sessions took place over a period of up to 6 weeks with two to three intervention sessions per week.

MOTOR FUNCTIONAL OUTCOME MEASURES

All patients were assessed for clinical stroke severity in addition to neurologic examination at four time points throughout the intervention (**Table 1**). The neurologic deficit was evaluated on the basis of the severity of motor paresis using the National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) (Brott et al., 1989). All patients' motor function of the impaired arm was assessed using a neuropsychological battery which included objective measures such as the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) (Carroll, 1965; Lang et al., 2006) and subjective measures such as the Stroke Impact Scale-Hand function domain (Duncan et al., 1999). The ARAT is a standardized measure of upper-limb functioning assessing grip, grasp, pinch and gross motor performance. Total ARAT scores ranged from 0 to 57. The Stroke Impact Scale (SIS) hand function subscale (SIS-Hand) was used to assess self-reported satisfaction with hand use and to evaluate the relationship between SIS-Hand scores and neuroimaging measures. Raw scores of SIS-Hand assessment were transformed using the following algorithm (Sullivan, 1995): Transformed scale = $100 \times [(actual raw score - lowest possible raw score)/possible raw score]. The transformed scale of SIS-Hand score ranged from 0 to 100. All clinical assessments of the stroke-affected limb for each patient at each time point are shown in Table S3.$

NEUROIMAGING DATA

Neuroimaging data acquisition and processing are described in detail in the Supplementary Material. FA values were computed for the ipsilesional and contralesional PLIC. In addition, asymmetry indices between the ipsilesional and contralesional PLIC-FA (aFA) were calculated as $aFA = (FA_{contra} - FA_{ipsi})/(FA_{contra} + FA_{ipsi})$ (Stinear et al., 2007; Schaechter et al., 2009; Lindenberg et al., 2010). This yields a value of aFA ranging from -1.0 to +1.0

with positive values indicating reduced FA in the ipsilesional PLIC, a value of 0 indicating symmetrical FA measurements from the two hemispheric PLIC, and a negative value indicating reduced FA in the contralesional PLIC.

All patients performed a block-design sequential finger tapping task during fMRI scans that consisted of alternating 20-s blocks of tapping vs. rest. Patients were cued to rest or to tap the fingers of one hand sequentially on a button box, using either visual or tactile (for visually impaired patients) cues. All patients underwent two fMRI scans using this paradigm –once when tapping with the impaired hand (passive tapping if unable to generate sufficient tapping independently) and again when tapping with the unimpaired hand. Patients were instructed to hold their heads still throughout the scans, and sufficient padding was provided to discourage head movement.

In the passive motor tasks, patients were assisted by the investigator in finger movements (flexion-extension) to complete the finger tapping tasks according to the experimental paradigm design.

MOTOR-TASK GENERATED ACTIVE VOXELS

A previously published mask of the cortical components of the motor network was used to identify statistically significantly active voxels in the motor cortex during finger tapping. This mask consisted of the cortical components of a previously identified motor network derived from an independent component analysis (ICA) of whole-brain resting-state fMRI (rs-fMRI) scans (Shirer et al., 2012). These independent components were visually selected based on previous reports and then thresholded independently and arbitrarily to generate distinct moderately sized ROIs in the cortex and subcortical gray matter (voxels = 25) (Shirer et al., 2012). It is worth noting that although rs-fMRI investigates synchronous activations between brain regions occurring in the absence of a task or stimulus, these synchronous activations have been observed in somatosensory, visual, attention and other higher-order brain areas and have shown close correspondence between the independent analyses of resting and activation brain dynamics (Biswal et al., 1995; Smith et al., 2009). In our study, only the cortical components from the motor network for each hemisphere were used for evaluation of corticomotor activity. Once fMRI data was processed (see Supplementary Material), this motor cortical mask was resampled into subject space and then applied to the functional data to identify those statistically significantly active voxels within the motor cortex using a threshold of $t = 4 \ (p < 0.0001).$

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Considering the relatively small sample size (n = 9), we used non-parametric statistical tests for the analyses. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare ipsilesional and contralesional PLIC FA values and to compare corticomotor fMRI activity between the two motor cortices. The Spearman rank correlation test was used for analyses of neuroimaging and motor outcome measurements. To take advantage of a longitudinal, repeatedmeasurement design of this study, we used generalized estimating equations (GEE) for regression analyses. GEE analyses use the generalized linear model to estimate more efficient and unbiased regression parameters relative to ordinary least squares regression (Ballinger, 2004). Most importantly, the GEE analyses take into account the dependency of repeated measurements from the same patient in the regression analysis. In addition, ANOVAs were used to examine how factors of time (pre-, mid-, immediately post-, and 1-month-post), PLIC (contralesional vs. ipsilesional side) and interaction between time and PLIC affecting DTI and fMRI measures. All statistical analyses were performed using RStudio (version 0.97.318). A p value less than or equal to 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

PATIENT CHARACTERISTICS AND CLINICAL MEASURES

Patient characteristics are summarized in **Table 2**. Average age was 61.89 years (SD = 9.25 years); average time from stroke onset was 13.11 months (SD = 7.90 months). There were no significant differences in terms of left or right hemisphere stroke (p = 0.14), cortical or non-cortical stroke (p = 0.36), or gender (p = 0.36). Standard clinical MRI was used to assess damage to PLIC by the neuroradiologist Dr. Prabhakaran. Six of the nine patients showed damage to PLIC due to stroke. Patient CT004 with a left middle cerebral artery (MCA) territory infarct showed minimal damage to PLIC. Patients CI003 with a small left frontal lobe infarct and CT003 with a right pontine infarct did not show damage to PLIC.

Clinical motor outcome measures are summarized in Table S3. The ARAT scores varied from zero, indicating no ability to perform, to a maximum of 57, indicating unimpaired performance. The SIS measure of hand function varied widely, with a value of zero indicating a patient reporting no ability to use the impaired hand, and higher positive values indicating decreasing levels of difficulty using the impaired hand in daily activities such as carrying heavy objects, turning a doorknob, opening a can or jar, tying a shoe lace and picking up a dime.

RELATIONSHIP OF PLIC-DTI MEASURES AND MOTOR OUTCOMES

An ANOVA was computed to examine the main effects of time and PLIC (contralesional vs. ipsilesional side) as well as time × PLIC interaction (**Figure 1A**). Only PLIC factor was significant (p = 5.56e-07), and this was further validated with a Wilcoxon signed-rank test. Ipsilesional PLIC FA values were significantly lower when compared to the contralesional side (Wilcoxon signed-rank test: p < 0.05) except at time point 3 (immediately post-intervention) with a *p*-value equal to 0.055 trending toward significance (**Figure 1B**).

To assess the relationship between PLIC-FA values and motor outcome measures, a Spearman rank correlation test was first performed on the longitudinal data acquired from all patients and from all time points. The results suggested that higher ARAT scores and higher SIS-Hand scores were significantly correlated with higher FA values in ipsilesional PLIC (**Figure 2**). PLIC FA asymmetry (aFA) was negatively correlated with ARAT and SIS-Hand scores (**Figure 2**). A secondary statistical analysis, the GEE analysis, was further computed to control for the dependence of repeated measurements from each patient across time (**Table 3**). This analysis confirmed that the relationship observed between PLIC-FA and motor outcomes remained statistically significant. In addition, stroke severity as assessed by the NIHSS



FIGURE 1 | FA values compared between the ipsilesional and contralesional sides of the PLIC. (A) PLIC-FA changes across time compared between two hemispheres using ANOVA tests. Contra, contralesional PLIC; Ipsi, ipsilesional PLIC. (B) Boxplots showed significantly lower FA in ipsilesional PLIC when compared to

contralesional PLIC (Time of pre-, mid-, post-, and 1-month-post intervention are indicated as time-point 1, 2, 3, and 4, respectively). White boxes represent the contralesional side and gray boxes represent the ipsilesional side of PLIC. (Wilcoxon signed-rank tests; all *p*-values are listed).





correlated with SIS-hand function. **(B)** Ipsilesional PLIC-FA was positively correlated with ARAT. **(C)** PLIC-aFA was negatively correlated with SIS-hand function. **(D)** PLIC-aFA was negatively correlated with ARAT.

(A) SPEARMAN RANK CORRELATION TESTS ON NEUROIMAGING AND MOTOR OUTCOME MEASURES								
Motor outcomes	Spearman rank correlation test	FA	aFA	Voxel counts				
SIS-Hand	correlation coefficient	0.795	-0.640	-0.463				
	<i>p</i> -value	2.566e-07	0.0002	0.012				
ARAT	correlation coefficient	0.768	-0.628	-0.414				
	<i>p</i> -value	1.135e-06	0.0003	0.026				
(B) GEE REGRESSION A	NALYSES BETWEEN NEUROIMAGING AND MC	TOR OUTCOME MEASU	RES					
Motor outcomes	GEE	FA	aFA	Voxel counts				
SIS-Hand	Regression coefficient	229.89	-138.47	-0.01				
	<i>p</i> -value	1e-06	6.86e-10	0.55				
ARAT	Regression coefficient	127.93	-116.50	-0.03				
	<i>p</i> -value	0.001	6.68e-09	0.27				

Table 3 | Correlation analyses of DTI, fMRI and motor recovery measures.

was significantly and negatively correlated with ipsilesional PLIC-FA values (**Figure 3**; GEE regression coefficient = -33.57, *p*-value = 3.69e-04).

PREDICTION OF MOTOR FUNCTION RECOVERY WITH BASELINE NEUROIMAGING MEASURES

The linear regression analyses using a least-square fitting method revealed that baseline ipsilesional PLIC-FA correlated with the post-intervention ARAT and SIS-Hand scores (**Figure 4**; r-squared values > 0.7). Ipsilesional PLIC FA values measured at pre-intervention (baseline) were significantly and positively correlated with motor outcome scores measured immediately post- and 1-month-post intervention (*p*-value = 0.05). The same approach was applied to fMRI voxel counts, which did not reveal a predictive relationship with this fMRI measure on motor recovery.

RELATIONSHIP OF CORTICOMOTOR ACTIVITY AND MOTOR OUTCOMES

For the impaired finger tapping task, counts of active voxels were not significantly different between the two motor cortices (Wilcoxon signed-rank test: p = 0.28) (Figure 5A). Note, passive motor-task fMRI data was collected for patients CI001, CI002, CI004, CT001, and CT003 who were unable to perform motor tasks during fMRI scans. For the unimpaired finger tapping task, active voxel counts were significantly greater within contralesional motor cortex compared with the ipsilesional side (Wilcoxon signed-rank test: p = 0.038) (Figure 5B). An ANOVA was computed to examine the effects of time and PLIC (contralesional vs ipsilesional side) and the time \times lesion interaction for both fMRI measures from impaired and unimpaired finger tapping. The results revealed no significant changes in corticomotor activity due to any of these factors (Figures 5C,D). However, the influence of PLIC trended toward significance (p = 0.064) for the unimpaired finger tapping task.

Given the changes observed in corticomotor activity across time for impaired finger tapping compared to unimpaired finger tapping, another ANOVA was computed to test the effects of time (pre-, mid-, immediately post- and 1-monthpost), PLIC (contralesional vs. ipsilesional), hand-impairment (impaired vs. unimpaired), and interaction between time and



FIGURE 3 | Correlation analyses on stroke severity (NIHSS scores) and structural integrity of PLIC (FA values). The Spearman rank correlation test ($\rho = -0.695$; *p*-value = 2.892e-05) and GEE regression analysis (GEE *p*-value = 3.691e-04) showed significant relationships between PLIC-FA values and patients' clinical severity assessments (NIHSS scores).

hand-impairment. We found that both the effect of hand-impairment and interaction between time and hand-impairment were significant (p-value = 0.005 and 0.015 respectively).

The Spearman rank correlation tests also demonstrated that fMRI measures (i.e., active voxel counts in ipsilesional motor cortex generated from impaired finger tapping task) were associated with motor outcomes. This negative association between motor outcomes and fMRI measurements may suggest that better motor outcomes after BCI-intervention are associated with a smaller number of active voxels within the ipsilesional motor cortex (Figure S2). However, this relationship was no longer significant after GEE regression analyses accounted for the dependence of repeated measurements from each patient (**Table 3**).









RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DTI AND fMRI MEASUREMENTS

The corticospinal pathway from the primary motor cortex through the PLIC approaches the midline of lower medulla oblongata and crosses to the contralateral side at the pyramidal decussation (Vulliemoz et al., 2005). A small percentage of fibers (10–25%), however, remain ipsilateral (Davidoff, 1990). A schematic illustration of the PLIC and motor cortex is shown in **Figure 6**. Taking this fact into account, we examined the

DTI-fMRI relationship within each hemisphere for both impaired and unimpaired finger tapping tasks. The Spearman rank correlation test followed by GEE was used for correlation analyses.

For the impaired finger tapping, crossing fibers form the majority of ipsilesional PLIC, and may be affected by the small percentage of PLIC fibers on the contralesional side (Vulliemoz et al., 2005). We found that ipsilesional PLIC-FA negatively correlated with active voxel counts within the ipsilesional motor



cortex (**Figure 7**). We did not, however, observe a significant relationship between contralesional PLIC-FA and voxel counts within the contralesional motor cortex. A similar approach was applied for measurements from unimpaired finger tapping. No significant relationship was found between PLIC-FA and voxel counts within ipsilesional or contralesional hemisphere during unimpaired finger tapping.

DISCUSSION

Much of the focus of fMRI in stroke studies has been on whether its application provides a better understanding of brain functional reorganization accompanying motor recovery after stroke (Riecker et al., 2010; Garrison et al., 2013; Havsteen et al., 2013; Heiss and Kidwell, 2014). In a recent study, fMRI-derived measures have been correlated with movement recovery achieved with robot-assisted BCI therapy (Varkuti et al., 2013), while another study found that fMRI measures do not contribute significantly to the prediction of motor recovery (Zarahn et al., 2011). Another non-invasive MRI-based technique, DTI, has been widely used to evaluate the integrity of the white matter tracts after stroke. DTI-derived measures have been shown to be potential biomarkers for tracking motor impairment (Lindenberg et al., 2010; Chen and Schlaug, 2013) and motor recovery (Liang et al., 2009) after stroke. This study investigated the relationship between white matter integrity evaluated by DTI FA at the PLIC and corticomotor activity measured by motor-task fMRI, and further examined if these imaging measurements correlate with motor functional recovery in stroke patients receiving a BCI-facilitated intervention. Although our findings are preliminary and based on a moderate-size dataset, we observed consistent and robust results which are discussed here.

STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY OF THE PLIC VS. MOTOR RECOVERY

Previous human and animal studies have characterized changes in FA in the corticospinal system due to stroke (Liu et al., 2007; Kusano et al., 2009; Schaechter et al., 2009; Lindenberg et al., 2012). In our study, DTI analyses on 9 stroke patients with varying lesion locations and size of infarct affected the corticospinal system and yielded consistent observations, specifically, decreased FA in the ipsilesional PLIC compared to the contralesional side. This has been suggested as a characteristic of chronic white matter "Wallerian" degeneration (Yu et al., 2009; Lindenberg et al., 2012) and is thought to arise from the loss of tissue structural integrity (Liu et al., 2007).

In the current study, we found that higher ARAT and SIS-Hand scores were significantly correlated with higher FA values measured within ipsilesional PLIC after accounting for repeated measurements (**Table 3**). To account for potential changes in contralesional PLIC, FA asymmetry between the ipsilesional and contralesional sides were calculated (Stinear et al., 2007; Lindenberg et al., 2010) and then correlated with motor outcome measurements. The relationship between FA asymmetry and motor outcomes was significant even when accounting for repeated measurements. Lower or near zero aFA values indicate better preserved integrity of the ipsilesional PLIC and were correlated with better motor outcomes. Given our observation



that the ipsilesional PLIC had decreased FA compared with the contralesional side, these findings suggest that the more the ipsilesional PLIC-FA resembled the contralesional PLIC, the greater the potential for functional recovery in stroke-affected limb.

PREDICTIVE VALUE OF THE PLIC-FA IN MOTOR RECOVERY

One novel finding of this study is the predictive value of PLIC-FA in predicting recovery of motor function. Baseline FA values were significantly correlated with motor outcomes measured after intervention both immediately post-intervention and 1-month-post intervention (**Figure 4**). This suggests PLIC-FA may be useful as a novel biomarker to predict upper-limb motor functional recovery of stroke patients receiving BCI interventions.

CORTICOMOTOR ACTIVITY

For impaired finger tapping, we observed a bilateral pattern of corticomotor activity (**Figure 5A**), while unimpaired finger tapping produced significantly more lateralized activity within the contralesional motor cortex in comparison to ipsilesional motor cortex (**Figure 5B**). When comparing corticomotor activity for impaired and unimpaired finger tapping, we observed a significant difference due to the factor of hand-impairment (ANOVA test, *p*-value = 0.005). Furthermore, the pattern of changes in voxel counts (i.e., interaction between factors of time and hand-impairment) was also significant between the two tapping conditions (ANOVA test, *p*-value = 0.015). These findings may suggest that a potential bilateral pattern of corticomotor activity evolved during motor recovery in these stroke patients receiving BCI intervention.

CORTICOMOTOR ACTIVITY VS. STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY OF THE PLIC

Our results are that greater stroke severity is significantly correlated with compromised PLIC in the ipsilesional hemisphere (Figure 3). Furthermore, the ipsilesional PLIC-FA values are negatively correlated with ipsilesional corticomotor activity during impaired finger tapping (Figure 7). Thus, a greater burden of cortical activation is placed on the ipsilesional motor cortex for impaired finger tapping in patients with greater stroke severity with an overall bilateral pattern of motor cortical involvement. The BCI intervention may contribute to the increased utilization of ipsilesional and contralesional motor cortex with more bilateral activity seen during impaired finger tapping, rather than the lateralized activity seen normally during unimpaired finger tapping (Figures 2A,B). These factors may ultimately place demands on both ipsilesional and contralesional motor cortices during stroke recovery. This is novel in comparison to previous studies that suggest successful therapeutic intervention produces restoration of motor function mediated by re-lateralization of motor cortical activation (Ward et al., 2003a,b; Saur et al., 2006; Schlaug et al., 2008).

LIMITATIONS

The small sample size (n = 9) and the heterogeneity of stroke patients (**Table 2**) were the primary limitations of this study. Four of the 9 patients exhibited no or little improvement in functional recovery as assessed by clinical behavioral performance. Those patients were severely impaired and minimally able to perform the designed intervention tasks, resulting in a floor effect in some outcome measurements. While changes in fMRI and DTI measurements were observed across time, an ANOVA did not show these changes to be significant, which may also be due to small sample size and high between-patient variance. It is also worth noting that our current findings are preliminary and are based on a moderate-size dataset.

Another limitation of our study is the combined analysis of passive and active finger tapping tasks performed by these patients. Passive vs. active tasks may have different effects on corticomotor activity which was further described and discussed in Supplementary Material.

Current DTI techniques remain limited in their ability to untangle the mix of PLIC fibers from the ipsilateral and contralateral hemispheres as they descend along the corticospinal pathway. Although we used task fMRI with each hand to investigate the structure-function relationship of the PLIC and the motor cortex, the current study design does not allow us to separate the mixture of white matter tracts from ipsilateral and contralateral corticospinal pathways within the PLIC which constrains our current findings. Future studies may therefore need to be done utilizing high resolution DTI and tractography techniques to further investigate the relationship between structural and functional changes in stroke patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Jie Song assisted with subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Brittany M. Young assisted with subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Zack Nigogosyan assisted in data collection and data analysis. Leo M. Walton assisted with data collection. Veena A. Nair assisted with subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Scott W. Grogan assisted with data collection and data analysis. Mitchell E. Tyler provided TDU hardware and expertise. Dorothy Farrar-Edwards assisted with study design and outcome measure selection and interpretation. Kristin E. Caldera assisted with subject recruitment. Justin A. Sattin assisted with study design and subject recruitment. Justin C. Williams is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the technical and engineering aspects of the work. Vivek Prabhakaran is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the neuroimaging aspects of this work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all patients and their families for their participation. Thanks also to study coordinator Jennifer Swartz and the MRI technicians at the Wisconsin Institutes for Medical Research. The authors also thank Wolfgang Gaggl for his generous advice in DTI analyses and interpretation, Alejandro Munoz Del Rio for his generous advice in statistical analyses, Hui-Chun (Ruby) Chen and colleagues in Occupational Therapy, Svyatoslav Vergun, Ricardo Pizarro, and Christian La for their assistance with the intervention. Portions of this work were previously presented in poster or e-poster form at the SFN Annual Meeting 2012, the International Stroke Conference 2013, the ISMRM Annual Meeting 2013, and as a platform talk at the RSNA Annual Meeting 2013. This work was supported by NIH grants RC1MH090912-01, K23NS086852, T32GM008692, UL1TR000427, and T32EB011434, by a Coulter Translational Research Award, an American Heart Association Postdoctoral Fellow Research Award, UW Milwaukee-Madison Intercampus Grants, by funding from the UW Graduate School, and by Grants from the Shapiro Foundation and Foundation of ASNR award.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fneng.2014. 00031/abstract

REFERENCES

- Ballinger, G. A. (2004). Using generalized estimating equations for longitudinal data analysis. Organ. Res. Methods 7, 127–150. doi: 10.1177/1094428104263672
- Biswal, B., Yetkin, F. Z., Haughton, V. M., and Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 34, 537–541. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Borich, M. R., Mang, C., and Boyd, L. A. (2012). Both projection and commissural pathways are disrupted in individuals with chronic stroke: investigating microstructural white matter correlates of motor recovery. *BMC Neurosci.* 13:107. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-13-107
- Brott, T., Adams, H. P. Jr., Olinger, C. P., Marler, J. R., Barsan, W. G., Biller, J., et al. (1989). Measurements of acute cerebral infarction: a clinical examination scale. *Stroke* 20, 864–870. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.20.7.864
- Calautti, C., and Baron, J. C. (2003). Functional neuroimaging studies of motor recovery after stroke in adults: a review. *Stroke* 34, 1553–1566. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000071761.36075.A6
- Caria, A., Weber, C., Brotz, D., Ramos, A., Ticini, L. F., Gharabaghi, A., et al. (2011). Chronic stroke recovery after combined BCI training and physiotherapy: a case report. *Psychophysiology* 48. 578–582. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010. 01117.x
- Carroll, D. (1965). A quantitative test of upper extremity function. J. Chronic. Dis. 18, 479–491. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(65)90030-5

- Chen, J. L., and Schlaug, G. (2013). Resting state interhemispheric motor connectivity and white matter integrity correlate with motor impairment in chronic stroke. *Front. Neurol.* 4:178. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2013.00178
- Cho, S. H., Kim, D. G., Kim, D. S., Kim, Y. H., Lee, C. H., and Jang, S. H. (2007). Motor outcome according to the integrity of the corticospinal tract determined by diffusion tensor tractography in the early stage of corona radiata infarct. *Neurosci. Lett.* 426, 123–127. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.08.049
- Davidoff, R. A. (1990). The pyramidal tract. *Neurology* 40, 332–339. doi: 10.1212/WNL.40.2.332
- Dijkhuizen, R. M., Ren, J. M., Mandeville, J. B., Wu, O. N., Ozdag, F. M., Moskowitz, M. A., et al. (2001). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of reorganization in rat brain after stroke. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 12766–12771. doi: 10.1073/pnas.231235598
- Duncan, P. W., Wallace, D., Lai, S. M., Johnson, D., Embretson, S., and Laster, L. J. (1999). The stroke impact scale version 2.0. evaluation of reliability, validity, and sensitivity to change. *Stroke* 30, 2131–2340. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30.10.2131
- Favre, I., Zeffiro, T. A., Detante, O., Krainik, A., Hommel, M., and Jaillard, A. (2014). Upper limb recovery after stroke is associated with ipsilesional primary motor cortical activity: a meta-analysis. *Stroke* 45, 1077–1083. doi: 10.1161/ STROKEAHA.113.003168
- Garrison, K. A., Aziz-Zadeh, L., Wong, S. W., Liew, S. L., and Winstein, C. J. (2013). Modulating the motor system by action observation after stroke. *Stroke* 44, 2247–2253. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001105
- Grefkes, C., Nowak, D. A., Eickhoff, S. B., Dafotakis, M., Kust, J., Karbe, H., et al. (2008). Cortical connectivity after subcortical stroke assessed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Ann. Neurol.* 63, 236–246. doi: 10.1002/Ana.21228
- Groisser, B. N., Copen, W. A., Singhal, A. B., Hirai, K. K., and Schaechter, J. D. (2014). Corticospinal tract diffusion abnormalities early after stroke predict motor outcome. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair.* doi: 10.1177/1545968314521896. [Epub ahead of print].
- Havsteen, I., Madsen, K. H., Christensen, H., Christensen, A., and Siebner, H. R. (2013). Diagnostic approach to functional recovery: functional magnetic resonance imaging after stroke. *Front. Neurol. Neurosci.* 32, 9–25. doi: 10.1159/000346408
- Heiss, W. D., and Kidwell, C. S. (2014). Imaging for prediction of functional outcome and assessment of recovery in ischemic stroke. *Stroke* 45, 1195–1201. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003611
- Jaillard, A., Martin, C. D., Garambois, K., Lebas, J. F., and Hommel, M. (2005). Vicarious function within the human primary motor cortex? *Brain* 128, 1122–1138. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh456
- Jang, S. H., You, S. H., Kwon, Y. H., Hallett, M., Lee, M. Y., and Ahn, S. H. (2005). Cortical reorganization associated lower extremity motor recovery as evidenced by functional MRI and diffusion tensor tractography in a stroke patient. *Restor. Neurol. Neurosci.* 23, 325–329.
- Kononen, M., Tarkka, I. M., Niskanen, E., Pihlajamaki, M., Mervaala, E., Pitkanen, K., et al. (2012). Functional MRI and motor behavioral changes obtained with constraint-induced movement therapy in chronic stroke. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 19, 578–586. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03572.x
- Koyama, T., Marumoto, K., Miyake, H., and Domen, K. (2013a). Relationship between diffusion tensor fractional anisotropy and motor outcome in patients with hemiparesis after corona radiata infarct. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 22, 1355–1360. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2013.02.017
- Koyama, T., Marumoto, K., Miyake, H., Ohmura, T., and Domen, K. (2013b). Relationship between diffusion-tensor fractional anisotropy and long-term outcome in patients with hemiparesis after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurorehabilitation* 32, 87–94. doi: 10.3233/Nre-130825
- Koyama, T., Tsuji, M., Miyake, H., Ohmura, T., and Domen, K. (2012). Motor outcome for patients with acute intracerebral hemorrhage predicted using diffusion tensor imaging: an application of ordinal logistic modeling. *J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 21, 704–711. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2011. 03.004
- Kusano, Y., Seguchi, T., Horiuchi, T., Kakizawa, Y., Kobayashi, T., Tanaka, Y., et al. (2009). Prediction of functional outcome in acute cerebral hemorrhage using diffusion tensor imaging at 3t: a prospective study. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 30, 1561–1565. doi: 10.3174/Ajnr.A1639
- Lang, C. E., Wagner, J. M., Dromerick, A. W., and Edwards, D. F. (2006). Measurement of upper-extremity function early after stroke: properties of the action research arm test. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 87, 1605–1610. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2006.09.003

- Liang, Z., Zeng, J., Zhang, C., Liu, S., Ling, X., Wang, F., et al. (2009). Progression of pathological changes in the middle cerebellar peduncle by diffusion tensor imaging correlates with lesser motor gains after pontine infarction. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 23, 692–698. doi: 10.1177/1545968308331142
- Lindenberg, R., Renga, V., Zhu, L. L., Betzler, F., Alsop, D., and Schlaug, G. (2010). Structural integrity of corticospinal motor fibers predicts motor impairment in chronic stroke. *Neurology* 74, 280–287. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ccc6d9
- Lindenberg, R., Zhu, L. L., Ruber, T., and Schlaug, G. (2012). Predicting functional motor potential in chronic stroke patients using diffusion tensor imaging. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 33, 1040–1051. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21266
- Liu, Y. R., D'Arceuil, H. E., Westmoreland, S., He, J. L., Duggan, M., Gonzalez, R. G., et al. (2007). Serial diffusion tensor MRI after transient and permanent cerebral ischemia in nonhuman primates. *Stroke* 38, 138–145. doi: 10.1161/01.Str.0000252127.07428.9c
- Liu, Z. W., Li, Y., Zhang, X. G., Savant-Bhonsale, S., and Chopp, M. (2008). Contralesional axonal remodeling of the corticospinal system in adult rats after stroke and bone marrow stromal cell treatment. *Stroke* 39, 2571–2577. doi: 10.1161/Strokeaha.107.511659
- Mukaino, M., Ono, T., Shindo, K., Fujiwara, T., Ota, T., Kimura, A., et al. (2014). Efficacy of brain-computer interface-driven neuromuscular electrical stimulation for chronic paresis after stroke. J. Rehabil. Med. 46, 378–382. doi: 10.2340/16501977-1785
- Murayama, T., Numata, K., Kawakami, T., Tosaka, T., Oga, M., Oka, N., et al. (2011). Changes in the brain activation balance in motor-related areas after constraint-induced movement therapy; a longitudinal fMRI study. *Brain Inj.* 25, 1047–1057. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2011.607785
- Puig, J., Pedraza, S., Blasco, G., Daunis-i-Estadella, J., Prados, F., Remollo, S., et al. (2011). Acute damage to the posterior limb of the internal capsule on diffusion tensor tractography as an early imaging predictor of motor outcome after stroke. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 32, 857–863. doi: 10.3174/Ajnr.A2400
- Qiu, M. G., Darling, W. G., Morecraft, R. J., Ni, C. C., Rajendra, J., and Butler, A. J. (2011). White matter integrity is a stronger predictor of motor function than bold response in patients with stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 25, 275–284. doi: 10.1177/1545968310389183
- Riecker, A., Groschel, K., Ackermann, H., Schnaudigel, S., Kassubek, J., and Kastrup, A. (2010). The role of the unaffected hemisphere in motor recovery after stroke. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 31, 1017–1029. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20914
- Saur, D., Lange, R., Baumgaertner, A., Schraknepper, V., Willmes, K., Rijntjes, M., et al. (2006). Dynamics of language reorganization after stroke. *Brain* 129(Pt 6), 1371–1384. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl090
- Schaechter, J. D., Fricker, Z. P., Perdue, K. L., Helmer, K. G., Vangel, M. G., Greve, D. N., et al. (2009). Microstructural status of ipsilesional and contralesional corticospinal tract correlates with motor skill in chronic stroke patients. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 30, 3461–3474. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20770
- Schlaug, G., Renga, V., and Nair, D. (2008). Transcranial direct current stimulation in stroke recovery. Arch. Neurol. 65, 1571–1576. doi: 10.1001/archneur.65.12.1571
- Shelton, F. N., and Reding, M. J. (2001). Effect of lesion location on upper limb motor recovery after stroke. *Stroke* 32, 107–112. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.32.1.107
- Shirer, W. R., Ryali, S., Rykhlevskaia, E., Menon, V., and Greicius, M. D. (2012). Decoding subject-driven cognitive states with whole-brain connectivity patterns. *Cereb. Cortex* 22, 158–165. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr099
- Smith, S. M., Fox, P. T., Miller, K. L., Glahn, D. C., Fox, P. M., Beckmann, C. E., et al. (2009). Correspondence of the brain's functional architecture during activation and rest. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 13040–13045. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0905267106
- Sterr, A., Shen, S., Szameitat, A. J., and Herron, K. A. (2010). The role of corticospinal tract damage in chronic motor recovery and neurorehabilitation:a pilot study. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 24, 413–419. doi: 10.1177/1545968309 348310
- Stinear, C. M., Barber, P. A., Smale, P. R., Coxon, J. P., Fleming, M. K., and Byblow, W. D. (2007). Functional potential in chronic stroke patients depends on corticospinal tract integrity. *Brain* 130(Pt 1), 170–180. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl333
- Sullivan, M. (1995). Measuring functioning and well-being the medical outcomes study approach - stewart, Al, Ware, Je. Psycho-Oncol. 4, 163–165. doi: 10.1002/pon.2960040213

- Sun, L. M., Yin, D. Z., Zhu, Y. L., Fan, M. X., Zang, L. L., Hu, Y., et al. (2013). Cortical reorganization after motor imagery training in chronic stroke patients with severe motor impairment: a longitudinal fMRI study. *Neuroradiology* 55, 913–925. doi: 10.1007/s00234-013-1188-z
- Varkuti, B., Guan, C., Pan, Y. Z., Phua, K. S., Ang, K. K., Sitaram, C. W. K., et al. (2013). Resting state changes in functional connectivity correlate with movement recovery for bci and robot-assisted upper-extremity training after stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 27, 53–62. doi: 10.1177/1545968312445910
- Vulliemoz, S., Raineteau, O., and Jabaudon, D. (2005). Reaching beyond the midline: why are human brains cross wired? *Lancet Neurol.* 4, 87–99. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(05)00990-7
- Wang, L. E., Tittgemeyer, M., Imperati, D., Diekhoff, S., Ameli, M., Fink, G. R., et al. (2012). Degeneration of corpus callosum and recovery of motor function after stroke: a multimodal magnetic resonance imaging study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 33, 2941–2956. doi: 10.1002/Hbm.21417
- Ward, N. S., Brown, M. M., Thompson, A. J., and Frackowiak, R. S. (2003a). Neural correlates of motor recovery after stroke: a longitudinal fMRI study. *Brain* 126(Pt 11), 2476–2496. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg245
- Ward, N. S., Brown, M. M., Thompson, A. J., and Frackowiak, R. S. (2003b). Neural correlates of outcome after stroke: a cross-sectional fMRI study. *Brain* 126(Pt 6), 1430–1448. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg145
- Wei, W. J., Bai, L. J., Wang, J., Dai, R. W., Tong, R. K. Y., Zhang, Y. M., et al. (2013). A longitudinal study of hand motor recovery after sub-acute stroke: a study combined fMRI with diffusion tensor imaging. *PLoS ONE* 8:154. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064154
- Werring, D. J., Toosy, A. T., Clark, C. A., Parker, G. J. M., Barker, G. J., Miller, D. H., et al. (2000). Diffusion tensor imaging can detect and quantify corticospinal tract degeneration after stroke. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 69, 269–272. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.69.2.269
- Yeo, S. S., Choi, B. Y., Chang, C. H., and Jang, S. H. (2010). Transpontine connection fibers between corticospinal tracts in hemiparetic patients with intracerebral hemorrhage. *Eur. Neurol.* 63, 154–158. doi: 10.1159/000281900
- Yu, C., Zhu, C., Zhang, Y., Chen, H., Qin, W., Wang, M., et al. (2009). A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study on wallerian degeneration of corticospinal tract after motor pathway stroke. *Neuroimage* 47, 451–458. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.04.066
- Zarahn, E., Alon, L., Ryan, S. L., Lazar, R. M., Vry, M. S., Weiller, C., et al. (2011). Prediction of motor recovery using initial impairment and fMRI 48 h poststroke. *Cereb. Cortex* 21, 2712–2721. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr047
- Zhang, J., Meng, L., Qin, W., Liu, N., Shi, F. D., and Yu, C. (2014). Structural damage and functional reorganization in ipsilesional m1 in well-recovered patients with subcortical stroke. *Stroke* 45, 788–793. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113. 003425

Conflict of Interest Statement: There is one patent pending on the closed-loop neurofeedback device used for the BCI-facilitated intervention administered in this study (Pending U.S. Patent Application No. 12/715,090). This patent was filed jointly by the two lead investigators Justin C. Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran. The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 16 April 2014; accepted: 08 July 2014; published online: 29 July 2014. Citation: Song J, Young BM, Nigogosyan Z, Walton LM, Nair VA, Grogan SW, Tyler ME, Farrar-Edwards D, Caldera KE, Sattin JA, Williams JC and Prabhakaran V (2014) Characterizing relationships of DTI, fMRI, and motor recovery in stroke rehabilitation utilizing brain-computer interface technology. Front. Neuroeng. 7:31. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00031

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Song, Young, Nigogosyan, Walton, Nair, Grogan, Tyler, Farrar-Edwards, Caldera, Sattin, Williams and Prabhakaran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Changes in functional brain organization and behavioral correlations after rehabilitative therapy using a brain-computer interface

Brittany M. Young^{1,2,3}, Zack Nigogosyan¹, Léo M. Walton^{3,4}, Jie Song^{1,4}, Veena A. Nair¹, Scott W. Grogan¹, Mitchell E. Tyler⁴, Dorothy F. Edwards⁵, Kristin Caldera⁶, Justin A. Sattin⁷, Justin C. Williams^{3,4} and Vivek Prabhakaran^{1,2,3,7}*

¹ Department of Radiology, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, USA

- ² Medical Scientist Training Program, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ³ Neuroscience Training Program, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁴ Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁵ Departments of Kinesiology and Medicine, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁶ Department of Orthopedics and Rehabilitation, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, USA

⁷ Department of Neurology, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, USA

Edited by:

Jaime A. Pineda, University of California, San Diego, USA

Reviewed by:

Hun-Kuk Park, Kyung Hee University, Korea (South) Paul F. M. J. Verschure, Center for Neuro-Robotics and Autonomous Systems, Spain

*Correspondence:

Vivek Prabhakaran, Department of Radiology, University of Wisconsin Hospital & Clinics, 600 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53792, USA e-mail: vprabhakaran@uwhealth.org This study aims to examine the changes in task-related brain activity induced by rehabilitative therapy using brain-computer interface (BCI) technologies and whether these changes are relevant to functional gains achieved through the use of these therapies. Stroke patients with persistent upper-extremity motor deficits received interventional rehabilitation therapy using a closed-loop neurofeedback BCI device (n = 8) or no therapy (n = 6). Behavioral assessments using the Stroke Impact Scale, the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT), and the Nine-Hole Peg Test (9-HPT) as well as task-based fMRI scans were conducted before, during, after, and 1 month after therapy administration or at analogous intervals in the absence of therapy. Laterality Index (LI) values during finger tapping of each hand were calculated for each time point and assessed for correlation with behavioral outcomes. Brain activity during finger tapping of each hand shifted over the course of BCI therapy, but not in the absence of therapy, to greater involvement of the non-lesioned hemisphere (and lesser involvement of the stroke-lesioned hemisphere) as measured by LI. Moreover, changes from baseline LI values during finger tapping of the impaired hand were correlated with gains in both objective and subjective behavioral measures. These findings suggest that the administration of interventional BCI therapy can induce differential changes in brain activity patterns between the lesioned and non-lesioned hemispheres and that these brain changes are associated with changes in specific motor functions.

Keywords: brain-computer interface, stroke rehabilitation, laterality index, LI, BCI therapy, UE motor recovery, fMRI

INTRODUCTION

Stroke remains a growing source of disability, with nearly 800,000 individuals in the United States alone experiencing a stroke each year and a projected increase of 22% in stroke prevalence by 2030 (Go et al., 2013). Despite increases in stroke incidence, stroke deaths have declined in recent years (Go et al., 2013), such that the majority of stroke patients survive their initial stroke event. Individuals in this growing population of stroke survivors are often left with persistent functional deficits. One common deficit is the acquisition of a lasting motor impairment, with up to 50% of stroke survivors suffering from some degree of hemiparesis and 26% needing assistance with activities of daily living (ADLs) 6 months post-stroke (Kelly-Hayes et al., 2003).

It has long been known that most patients experience some amount of spontaneous functional recovery shortly after stroke, with additional improvements that may be gained through the use of rehabilitative therapies in the months following the stroke event. Current guidelines note that there exists a lack of evidence to guide the optimal selection of a particular type, intensity, and amount of rehabilitative motor therapy for stroke survivors (Miller et al., 2010), and many stroke patients reach a functional plateau before complete recovery is achieved despite the use of currently available standard rehabilitative therapies. However, studies have suggested that clinically relevant plasticity and recovery potential still persist even after this plateau has been reached and that it may be possible to harness this reserve of recovery potential through the use of alternative, non-traditional therapies (Cramer, 2010) that incorporate components such as virtual reality (Orihuela-Espina et al., 2013), robot-assisted movement therapy (Lo et al., 2010; Pinter et al., 2013), and constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT) (Johansen-Berg et al., 2002a; Moss and Nicholas, 2006; Gauthier et al., 2008; Wolf et al., 2008, 2010; Dromerick et al., 2009; Volpe et al., 2009; Lang et al., 2013).

Another of these alternative non-traditional therapies that shows promise in stimulating additional recovery in stroke patients incorporates devices that use an emerging type of technology called brain-computer interface (BCI). EEG-based BCI is a developing technology that detects neural activity and can use these signals as a means of providing real-time feedback by which users may learn to modulate their brain activity. It has been shown that people with disabilities have no greater mental workload compared to healthy controls when using BCI devices (Felton et al., 2012), making the potential for BCI therapy in stroke patients with persistent motor disabilities both appropriate and accessible. Currently, BCI technology is being incorporated into a new class of devices intended to facilitate motor recovery in stroke patients, and early studies are beginning to show potential functional benefits associated with the use of these devices (Buch et al., 2008; Daly et al., 2009; Broetz et al., 2010; Prasad et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Shindo et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; Takahashi et al., 2012). One of the motivations behind this emerging trend is the idea that BCI technology may provide a means of promoting neuroplastic change, harnessing the recovery potential that remains once patients have reached a functional plateau with standard therapies.

There is reason to believe that therapy using BCI devices may produce changes in brain activation patterns concurrent with observed behavioral changes. Such changes have been observed using other interventional rehabilitative approaches in stroke patients (Carey et al., 2002; Gauthier et al., 2008; Richards et al., 2008), and changes in brain activity patterns after stroke have also been associated with functional gains in stroke patients who experience spontaneous recovery (Ward et al., 2003). Since BCI therapies provide real-time feedback to the user, effectively rewarding the consistent production of some patterns of brain activity relative to others in the context of an intended task, there may be observable changes in the brain activation patterns produced when attempting tasks similar to those trained with BCI therapy. While this theoretical knowledge supports the possibility of inducing changes in brain activation through BCI therapy, little is yet known about the specific patterns of brain change induced in stroke patients by therapies that incorporate BCI devices.

Brain changes can be measured by laterality index (LI)– a means of quantifying the degree to which a particular task or function is lateralized between the two hemispheres of the brain. LI can be used as a measure of functional brain organization (Kundu et al., 2013) and has been used to examine functional brain reorganization in stroke patients with motor deficits using other therapy modalities. For example, LI calculations have shown repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation therapy to produce increased laterality toward the lesioned hemisphere in those with bilateral LI at baseline (Yamada et al., 2013). Improved function has also been observed with increases in laterality toward the lesioned hemisphere after mirror therapy (Bhasin et al., 2012) or CIMT (Johansen-Berg et al., 2002a), and recruitment of contralesional motor areas has been associated with better functional improvements after gesture therapy (Orihuela-Espina et al., 2013). Still other studies of neuroimaging after rehabilitative motor therapy using such approaches have shown functional gains in the absence of detectable differences in LI after constraint-induced movement (Kononen et al., 2012) or robot-assisted (Pinter et al., 2013) therapies. Whether these conflicting patterns of change across studies represent underlying differences in the populations studied, differential effects to various interventional therapy modalities producing the functional gains, or other confounding effects remains a question that has yet to be definitively answered.

Studies that have examined changes in brain activity after BCI combined with other therapies in these patients have found brain-behavior correlations in the context of functional connectivity and its relationship to the rate at which individuals achieved gains in motor function using a BCI-robotics treatment protocol (Varkuti et al., 2013) as well as in the association between LI changes and motor function improvements using a BCI-physiotherapy treatment protocol (Caria et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013). However, such BCI studies and analyses to date remain few and limited in the context of combined therapies. The aim of the present study was to investigate the effect of interventional therapy using a closed-loop neurofeedback BCI device intended to improve motor function in stroke patients on task-derived patterns of brain activation and to assess whether any observable changes in these activation patterns correlated to changes in behavioral outcomes. We examined subjective and objective measures of motor function and obtained fMRI scans of brain activation patterns during a finger tapping task at four different time points with and without the administration of BCI therapy. We hypothesized that changes in brain activation during tapping would be observable with the administration of BCI therapy. We also examined the relationship between changes in LI with gains in motor function, hypothesizing that changes observed in LI would correlate with changes in motor function.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

RECRUITMENT METHODS AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA

Patients with persistent upper extremity motor impairment resulting from first-ever ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke were contacted regarding study participation after being identified as appropriate for participation in the study by one or more physicians responsible for their care at the University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics. Exclusion criteria included concurrent diagnoses of neurodegenerative disorders (e.g., dementia), other neurological or psychiatric disorders (e.g., epilepsy, schizophrenia, substance abuse), or cognitive deficits that would preclude the ability to provide informed consent. Subjects were also excluded if they had any allergies to electrode gel, surgical tape, or metals, had undergone treatment for recent infectious diseases, had apparent lesions or inflammation of the oral mucosa, were pregnant or likely to become pregnant during the course of the study, or had any contraindications to MRI.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All subjects provided written informed consent. This study, including all measures assessed and therapies administered, was

approved by the Health Sciences Institutional Review Board of the University of Wisconsin–Madison.

RANDOMIZATION AND STUDY PARADIGM

A permuted-block design accounting for gender, stroke chronicity, and severity of motor impairment was used to randomize subjects to either a BCI therapy group or a crossover control group. Subjects assigned to the BCI therapy group began participation in the BCI therapy phase of the study and received interventional rehabilitation therapy using the BCI system with functional assessment and MRI scanning at four time points: before the start of BCI therapy, at the midpoint of BCI therapy, upon completion of all BCI therapy, and 1 month following the last BCI therapy session. Subjects assigned to the crossover control group first received three additional functional assessments and MRI scans during the control phase of the study in which no BCI therapy was administered, with assessments spaced at intervals analogous to those administered during the BCI therapy phase of the study. Upon completion of the control phase of the study, subjects in the crossover control group crossed over to complete the BCI therapy phase of the study. This study paradigm is summarized in Figure 1.

FUNCTIONAL ASSESSMENTS

Subjects' motor function of the impaired arm was assessed using a neuropsychological battery which included both subjective and objective measures. These measures included the Stroke Impact Scale 3.0 (SIS), which is a self-report measure used to assess the ability of a stroke survivor to perform in the domains of strength, hand function, activities of daily living, mobility, communication, emotion, memory and thinking, and participation (Duncan et al., 1999; Carod-Artal et al., 2008). For this study, scores from the Hand Function domain of the SIS were of particular interest, as the BCI therapy administered is designed to promote motor rehabilitation of the upper extremity. Also assessed were subject performance on the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT), which is a standardized series of scored movements designed to evaluate upper extremity motor function in the domains of grip, grasp, strength, and gross movement (Carroll, 1965; Lang et al., 2006), and the Nine-Hole Peg Test (9-HPT), which is a timed task in which the subject attempts to first place then remove each of 9 pegs from a pegboard using only one hand (Beebe and Lang, 2009). In keeping with standard scoring practices, raw scores for

the hand function domain of the SIS were transformed to adjust for the lowest possible raw score and the possible raw score range. Scores for the ARAT were reported as the total points scored when using the impaired hand, and scores for 9-HPT were taken as an average of two timed trials using the impaired hand. At each of the visits for neuropsychological evaluation, anatomical and functional MRI scans were also obtained for each subject.

INTERVENTION

All subjects were administered at least 9 and up to 15 two-hour sessions of interventional BCI therapy using SmartFES, a closed-loop neurofeedback device incorporating multi-modal feedback triggered by EEG. This multi-modal feedback included visual feedback, functional electrical stimulation (FES), and tongue stimulation (TS). A diagram of the device and the sequential stages of each interventional therapy session are provided in **Figure 2**. A detailed description of the procedures followed during each session is provided in the supplementary methods. These sessions took place over a period of up to 6 weeks with two to three therapy sessions per week.

fMRI PARADIGM

Subjects performed a block-design sequential finger tapping task during fMRI scans that consisted of alternating 20-s blocks of tapping vs. rest. Subjects were cued to rest or to tap the fingers of one hand sequentially on a button box, using either visual or tactile (for visually impaired subjects) cues.

Subjects were asked to undergo two fMRI scans using this paradigm—once when tapping with the impaired hand (passive tapping if unable to generate sufficient tappings independently) and again when tapping with the unimpaired hand. Subjects were instructed to hold their heads still throughout the scans, and sufficient padding was provided to discourage head movement.

IMAGE ACQUISITION AND PROCESSING

MRI data was collected on one of two 3 Tesla GE MR750 scanners equipped with high-speed gradients (Sigma GE Healthcare, Milwaukee Wisconsin) using an 8-channel head coil. Padding around the subjects' heads was used to help minimize movements during scans. Functional scans were run using a T2*-weighted gradient-echo echo planar imaging (EPI) pulse sequence sensitive to BOLD contrast. Technical parameters used to acquire these EPI scans are as follows: field of view 224 mm, matrix





 64×64 , TR 2600 ms, TE 22 ms, flip angle 60°, and 40 axial plane slices of 3.5 mm thickness with 3.5 mm spacing between slices. During each fMRI scan, 70 sequential whole-brain acquisitions were recorded. These scanning parameters allowed for complete mapping of the cortex. A T1-weighted high-resolution anatomical image was also obtained for each subject using a BRAVO FSPGR pulse sequence during each MRI scanning session. Technical parameters used to acquire these scans are: field of view 256 mm, matrix 256 × 256, TR 8.16 ms, TE 3.18 ms, flip angle 12°, and 156 axial plane slices of 1 mm thickness with 1 mm spacing between slices.

All pre- and post-processing of MRI data was performed using the AFNI software package (Cox, 1996). The first four volumes of each functional sequence were discarded to allow for signal stabilization. EPI data sets were motion corrected and then spatially smoothed at 6 mm with a full width at half maximum Gaussian kernel. Each voxel timeseries was scaled to a mean of 100, and AFNI's 3dDeconvolve was then used to perform a voxelwise regression analysis with six motion parameters regressed out. This analysis yielded a voxel-wise t-statistic which was then thresholded based on subsequent analysis as described below. EPI data sets were visually inspected for alignment with anatomical T1 datasets. For cases in which alignment was not acceptable, align_epi_anat.py was used to alight the anatomical T1 scan to the EPI data set in AFNI.

GROUP-LEVEL ACTIVATION ANALYSES

EPI datasets were transformed to $3 \times 3 \times 3$ mm resolution into Talairach space (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988), and AFNI's 3dttest++ was used to generate maps of average group-level

activation for each time point. Group-level activation maps were clustered after using AFNI's 3dClustSim to calculate a minimum cluster size of 300 contiguous voxels needed for cluster-based correction for multiple comparisons ($p \le 0.05$).

For the subjects who had suffered a right-sided stroke with leftsided motor impairment, statistical maps of voxel-wise t-statistics were mirrored about the midline to produce scans demonstrating a stroke lesion in the left brain. These mirrored scans were then used in subsequent group analyses, such that as a group the stroke lesion is evidenced in the left hemisphere and the resulting motor impairment was in the right upper extremity. This process made the assumption that activity in the motor network is symmetric and that these mirrored scans would be otherwise comparable to scans from the subjects with left-sided strokes similar to other studies (Johansen-Berg et al., 2002a; Ward et al., 2003; Darling et al., 2007; Carter et al., 2010a; Confalonieri et al., 2012; Lotze et al., 2012; Stagg et al., 2012).

LI CALCULATIONS AND ANALYSIS

Masks of significant clusters were made for each individual subject performing each task at each timepoint using these minimum clustersize values (range 163–310 contiguous voxels). These masks of significant clusters were created in subject space using the original subject-space voxel-wise maps of t-statistics and also in Talairach space using voxel-wise maps of t-statistics that had been transformed into Talairach space for each scan.

Three sets of ROI masks were created to examine the lateralization of motor function in these subjects to examine changes in laterality not only throughout the brain but also within smaller regions of the brain most relevant to motor function. The first was

a pair of masks designed to capture activity throughout the whole brain (Whole Brain mask). This set was hand drawn in Talairach space to ensure complete coverage of the entire brain and then applied to the Talairached masks of significant clusters of activation for each subject. The second pair of masks (Motor Network mask) was constructed using spheres of radius 6 mm based on regions previously identified as parts of the motor network using an independent component analysis of whole-brain resting state fMRI scans (Shirer et al., 2012). The third pair of masks (Motor Cortex mask) consisted of only the cortical components from the Motor Network mask for each hemisphere. These latter two masks were resampled into subject space and then applied to the masks of significant clusters of activation for each subject. It is worth noting that because the motor network masks were originally based empirically on whole-brain resting state fMRI scans, these masks included areas of both primary and secondary areas of motor cortex and were not completely symmetric in shape. The cerebellum components of each half of the whole-brain and motor network masks were associated with cortical and subcortical structures on the opposite side of the brain because in a normal brain coordinated movement of a given hand is mediated by the contralateral brain hemisphere in conjunction with the ipsilateral cerebellum relative to the hand. A summary of the components of each mask is presented in Table S3.

LI was calculated for each fMRI scan using each of these three sets of masks at each of two thresholds to give a quantitative measure of finger tapping lateralization. The formula $(V_I-V_C)/(V_I+V_C)$ was used to calculate each LI value, where V_I is the number of voxels in the ipsilesional hemisphere mask that show significant activation at a preset statistical threshold and V_C is the number of voxels in the contralesional hemisphere mask. Using this system, LI values above 0.2 are considered to represent ipsilesionally lateralized activity, those below -0.2 represent contralesionally lateralized activity, and those between -0.2 and 0.2 correspond to bilateral activity (Springer et al., 1999). Since LI values may change slightly when evaluated at different thresholds of significance (Pillai and Zaca, 2011), each mask was applied at the thresholds of t = 2.003 and t = 4 (which correspond to p < 0.05 and p < 0.0001 respectively) in order to evaluate potential trends at both a minimally stringent and a very stringent level of significance.

For subjects who had suffered a right-sided stroke with leftsided motor impairment, ROI masks were applied to individual masks of significant clusters without mirroring about the midline. LI analysis was performed using the formulas detailed above, with higher LI values corresponding to increasingly ipsilesional lateralization of finger tapping function. This process again made the assumption that activity in the motor network is symmetric.

A linear mixed-effects model was used to analyze raw LI values for each mask-threshold combination within data sets from the BCI therapy and control phases to assess for changes at each time point relative to baseline.

LI-BEHAVIORAL CORRELATION ANALYSIS

At the individual level, values for change from baseline LI during finger tapping of the impaired hand were calculated at each time point. Values for change from baseline ARAT, baseline normalized SIS Hand Function domain, and baseline 9-HPT scores were also calculated at each time point for each subject able to complete each respective assessment. Data from subjects who exhibited floor or ceiling effects on a particular measure were not included in the LI-behavioral correlation analysis for that measure. Floor effects were noted when a subject was consistently unable to perform all tasks necessary to complete the assessment at all time points or when the minimum possible score was achieved for the assessment at each of the four time points within a given phase of the study. Ceiling effects were noted when a subject scored the maximum possible points at each of the four time points. Thus, instances of floor and ceiling effects captured zero functional change in the subject using a particular assessment over time. These changes in functional measures were then assessed for correlations with changes in LI using a Spearman's rank correlation analysis, making the assumption of independence among data points. However, because these data were collected using a repeated measures experimental design, some data points are not truly independent of one another. Therefore, relationships found to be statistically significant using the Spearman's rank correlation analysis were then re-analyzed using generalized estimating equations in order to further examine and validate the conclusions of the initial correlation model. Generalized estimating equations provide a method for examining the relationship between two variables that, unlike Spearman correlation analysis, does account for the repeated measures aspect of the data collected but also require the assumption that independent and dependent variables be named explicitly in the model design. All statistical analyses were performed in R statistical software version 3.0.1, which is freely downloadable at http://www.r-project.org/.

RESULTS

PARTICIPANT CHARACTERISTICS

At the time of this analysis, 11 subjects meeting inclusion and exclusion criteria had begun participation in this ongoing study. Among these participants, five were randomized to the BCI therapy group and had completed the BCI therapy phase, three had been assigned to the crossover control group and had completed both control and intervention phases, and data from three additional subjects that had been randomized to the crossover control group was available from the control phase of the study but not from the BCI therapy phase. Therefore, data used in this study represents information obtained from 11 individual subjects with control phase data available for six subjects and BCI therapy phase data available for eight subjects.

Participant characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**. Data from the experimental BCI therapy group comprised data from the BCI therapy phase of the experiment from subjects 1 to 8, while control group data comprised data from the control phase of the experiment from subjects 6 to 11. Among subjects who received BCI therapy, average age was 63 years (SD = 9.5 years), and average time from stroke onset was 13.13 months (SD =8.44 months). More subjects had right-sided impairments than left-sided impairments, but this difference was not significant (p = 0.14). More subjects also had cortical strokes than noncortical strokes, and more subjects were male than female; these differences were not significant (p = 0.36 for both comparisons).

Subject ID	Sex (M/F)	Age (years)	Handedness	Stroke location	Impaired hand	NIHSS (score)	Level of impairment	Time from stroke (months)
1	М	52	R	L MCA	R	8	Severe	15
2	F	61	R	L frontal lobe	R	8	Severe	16
3	Μ	68	R	L centrum semiovale	R	0	Mild	3
4	Μ	66	R	L MCA	R	6	Severe	23
5	F	73	R	L MCA	R	0	Mild	2
6	F	75	R	R putamen	L	7	Severe	23
7	Μ	61	R	L basal ganglia	R	0	Mild	17
8	Μ	48	L	R pons	L	3	Moderate	6
9	Μ	56	R	L MCA	R	2	Moderate	11
10	Μ	48	R	R medulla	L	6	Severe	5
11	Μ	51	R	R MCA	L	4	Severe	16

Table 1 | Participant Characteristics.

L, left; R, right; MCA, Middle cerebral artery.

Among subjects from whom data was collected during from the control phase, average age was 56.5 years (SD = 10.34years), and average time from stroke was 13 months (SD = 6.96months). More subjects who completed the control phase of the experiment had left-sided impairments than right-sided impairments, and more had non-cortical stroke than cortical strokes, but these differences were not significant (p = 0.688 for both). Similar to subjects who received BCI therapy, more subjects were male than female, but this difference was not significant (p = 0.22). In both groups, more subjects were right-handed than lefthanded, but this difference was again not significant (p = 0.14 for BCI therapy recipients; p = 0.22 among control phase subjects).

SUBJECT RETENTION AND COMPLIANCE

Of the subjects enrolled, there were no drop outs due to subject desire to cease participation in the study or from any reported unpleasant experiences with the assessments or therapies administered. One participant, Subject 7, was not assessed or scanned at the final time point 1 month after the cessation of all BCI therapy due to scheduling conflicts between subject availability and scanner availability that prevented him from participating during the appropriate time window.

FUNCTIONAL ACTIVATION MAPS

Group-level activation maps during finger tapping of the unimpaired hand (**Figure 3**) showed changes in overall activation patterns, with baseline bilateral activation progressing to largely contralesionally lateralized activation over the course of therapy. These changes appear to have persisted to some degree 1 month after the cessation of BCI therapy. When considering grouplevel activation patterns observed during finger tapping of the impaired hand (**Figure 4**), a progression from more ipsilesional activity at baseline to bilateral activation was observed over the course of therapy. These changes again persisted 1 month after the cessation of BCI therapy. No such trends in group-level activation during finger tapping were noted over the course of the control phase of the experiment among subjects who completed the control phase of therapy.



FIGURE 3 | Group level activation maps for finger tapping of the unimpaired hand during the BCI therapy phase of the experiment. Panels demonstrate activation assessed (A) pre-therapy, (B) mid-therapy, (C) upon completion of therapy, and (D) 1 month after the cessation of all therapy, and show the development of a lateralized, focal pattern of activation with the administration of therapy. Maps are displayed according to radiological conventions, such that the right side of the image corresponds to the left hemisphere of the brain.

GROUP-LEVEL LI MEASURES

Averaged LI values calculated using each set of ROI masks at each threshold during finger tapping of the unimpaired hand and during finger tapping of the impaired hand showed overall



FIGURE 4 | Group level activation maps for finger tapping of the impaired hand during the BCI therapy phase of the experiment. Panels demonstrate activations assessed (A) pre-therapy, (B) mid-therapy, (C) upon completion of therapy, and (D) 1 month after the cessation of all therapy, and show the development of a bilateral pattern of activation with increased recruitment of contralesional areas with the administration of therapy. Maps are displayed according to radiological conventions, such that the right side of the image corresponds to the left hemisphere of the brain.

decreases in LI associated with administration of BCI therapy (Figure 5). This decrease resulted in an average shift from ipsilesionally lateralized activity at baseline to bilateral activity at all subsequent time points in 4 of 6 mask-threshold combinations during tapping of the impaired hand and a shift from average bilateral activity at baseline to contralaterally lateralized activity in all mask-threshold combinations mid-therapy that persisted after therapy in 5 of 6 mask-threshold combinations during tapping of the unimpaired hand. Analysis of these trends using linear mixed effects modeling revealed these LI decreases to be significantly different from baseline when using the Motor Network and Motor Cortex masks for LI calculations during unimpaired tapping and when using the Whole Brain mask to calculate LI during impaired tapping, as demonstrated by the black stars and plus symbols in Figure 5. These trends in LI changes with BCI therapy persisted even when only subjects in the chronic (at least 6 months from stroke onset) stage of stroke were analyzed (blue symbols in Figure 5). A similar analysis of LI values from the control phase of the experiment showed no similar trends and no significant changes from baseline at any time point for any of the six mask-threshold combinations.

FUNCTIONAL ASSESSMENT SCORES

Behavioral results for each subject at each time point are provided in the Tables S1, S2. Floor effects were observed during both the control (Subject 6 ARAT and 9-HPT, Subject 10 SIS Hand Function and 9-HPT, Subjects 8 and 11 9-HPT) and BCI therapy phases (Subject 1 SIS Hand Function and 9-HPT, Subject 2 all assessments, Subjects 4, 6, and 8 9-HPT) of the experiment. Subjects 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 11 were unable to complete the 9-HPT task throughout the entire experiment and were therefore considered to be exhibiting a floor effect for this measure. These subjects were not included in subsequent analyses using data from the 9-HPT task. Ceiling effects were observed only during the BCI therapy phase of the experiment (Subject 3 ARAT). At the group level, the Sign test for paired samples was used to compare scores from each of the three behavioral measures mid-therapy, post-therapy, and 1 month after the end of therapy with baseline scores from the BCI therapy phase of the experiment and to compare scores from each assessment during the control phase with baseline control phase values. Changes in these scores were not significantly different from baseline at any time point, even when data from subjects exhibiting floor and ceiling effects were excluded from the comparison.

LI-BEHAVIORAL CORRELATION ANALYSES

A summary of the relationships observed between individual changes in LI and individual changes in behavioral measures during the BCI therapy phase of the experiment is provided in **Table 2**. Of the LI-behavioral relationships from the BCI therapy phase identified as significant at the $p \le 0.05$ level with the Spearman's approach, two remained significant when re-analyzed with GEE (p < 0.001 for both). Among LI-behavioral relationships examined from data obtained during the control phase of the experiment, only the relationship between changes in LI using the Whole Brain mask set at threshold t = 4 and changes in ARAT scores was found to be significant using Spearman's rank correlation analysis (p = 0.039), although this relationship did not survive when re-analyzed using GEE (p = 0.647).

The correlations found to be significant using Spearman's rank correlation analysis that remained significant upon secondary analysis using generalized estimating equations are shown in **Figure 6**.

It is also notable that the calculated estimates for Spearman's rho (Table 2) are consistent in sign among correlation analyses performed for the same functional measure (i.e., changes in ARAT and SIS Hand Function scores were all estimated to be negatively correlated with changes in LI, while changes in 9-HPT times were all estimated to be positively correlated with changes in LI). Furthermore, while the direction of the correlations is switched for the 9-HPT measure relative to the other two measures, it is important to interpret this difference while keeping in mind the scoring methods for each. In particular, ARAT and SIS Hand Function are scored positively, with improvements in performance reflected in higher scores, while the 9-HPT scores are reported as the time needed to complete the task in seconds, with improvements in (i.e., faster) performance reflected in lower times. Thus, all estimated Spearman correlations using data from the BCI therapy phase of the experiment were actually consistent



Table 2 Correlation analyses between LI changes and functional
changes during the BCI therapy phase of the study.

Functional measure	Mask set	Threshold (t)	Spearman′s rho	<i>p</i> -value
ARAT	Whole brain	2.003	-0.5751	*0.025
ARAT	Whole brain	4.000	-0.3773	0.166
ARAT	Motor network	2.003	-0.315	0.253
ARAT	Motor network	4.000	-0.3556	0.193
ARAT	Motor cortex	2.003	-0.4945	+0.061
ARAT	Motor cortex	4.000	-0.6031	*0.017
SISHF	Whole brain	2.003	-0.3203	0.226
SISHF	Whole brain	4.000	-0.5634	[#] *0.023
SISHF	Motor network	2.003	-0.2734	0.305
SISHF	Motor network	4.000	-0.3967	0.143
SISHF	Motor cortex	2.003	-0.2493	0.352
SISHF	Motor cortex	4.000	-0.3333	0.225
9-HPT	Whole brain	2.003	0.4444	0.171
9-HPT	Whole brain	4.000	0.3241	0.331
9-HPT	Motor network	2.003	0.2315	0.493
9-HPT	Motor network	4.000	0.205	0.57
9-HPT	Motor cortex	2.003	0.6296	[#] *0.038
9-HPT	Motor cortex	4.000	0.1429	0.694

*Significant at p < 0.05; ⁺trend toward significance at 0.05 ; [#]also significant with generalized estimating equations approach.

with an association between decreases in LI and gains in behavioral measures. In contrast, this consistency was not noted in correlation analyses examining potential relationships between changes in LI values and changes in functional measures assessed during the control phase of the experiment.

DISCUSSION

The findings in this preliminary report on the neuroplastic effects of BCI therapy when applied to stroke rehabilitation show changes in task-related brain activation induced by interventional rehabilitative therapy using a closed-loop neurofeedback BCI device. Specifically, group-level changes in the patterns of brain activation associated with finger tapping of each hand were observed with the administration of BCI therapy, with tapping of the impaired hand producing a more bilateral activity pattern post-therapy and with tapping of the unimpaired hand eliciting more lateralized activity involving the hemisphere contralateral to the unimpaired hand (**Figures 3–4**).

These patterns of change noted in our activation maps were further quantified using LI analyses, which demonstrated shifts in activity with BCI therapy from the ipsilesional hemisphere to greater involvement of the contralesional hemisphere (i.e., to bilateral activity) during tapping of the impaired hand and increased lateralization of activity to the hemisphere contralateral to the unaffected hand (i.e., the contralesional hemisphere) during tapping of the unimpaired hand. These LI changes were observed using multiple sets of brain masks at multiple thresholds and generally persisted even when the two subacute stroke subjects in the sample were removed from the analysis (**Figure 5**). The persistence of these findings among chronic stroke subjects





argues against this effect arising from a spontaneous recovery process, as chronic stroke is considered to be a time when little or no spontaneous recovery is expected (Nakayama et al., 1994). Furthermore, no such trends or changes in LI were observed in a similar series of scans obtained during a control period in which no BCI therapy was given. That the subanalysis of chronic stroke patients showed LI changes with BCI therapy further supports the hypothesis that these changes were effected, at least in part, by the BCI therapy in that the absence of such effects in the control data set cannot be attributed to the fact that two fewer subjects were assessed during the control phase compared to the full group who received BCI therapy (n = 8) as the two groups (chronic stroke patients who received BCI therapy and subjects who completed the control phase of the experiment) were of equal size (n = 6). Therefore, if the lack of results in the control group were due merely to a power issue, no such results should be present in the subanalysis using only the six chronic stroke subjects who received BCI therapy. These preliminary differences suggest that such changes in LI may be induced by administration of the BCI therapy used in this study. The persistence of these LI changes up to 1 month after the conclusion of BCI therapy further suggests the possibility for lasting effects to be achieved with the use of this rehabilitative approach.

Taken together, the changes observed in brain activation patterns and LI values during tapping of the impaired and

unimpaired hands associated with the administration of BCI therapy suggest that there may exist differential patterns of response to the same treatment with interventional BCI therapy between the impaired and unimpaired sides of the motor system. These differential responses may be characterized both in the direction of LI change (increasingly lateralized in the case of unimpaired movement vs. increasingly bilateral in the case of impaired movement) as well as in the time course or dose-response of each, with more time or therapy needed before a significant reorganization effect can be observed in LI during an impaired task relative to that needed to observe a significant reduction in LI during an unimpaired task. This difference in brain organization after stroke and re-organization in response to BCI therapy between the ipsilesional and contralesional hemispheres highlights the importance of examining neural responses to treatments such as BCI therapy in stroke survivors even after these systems have been validated in other populations, as it calls into question the degree to which patterns of brain reorganization demonstrated in early studies using healthy normal subjects or limited to stroke subjects with intact cortical functioning (Caria et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013) can be generalized to stroke patients and other populations with significant cortical pathologies.

Changes in LI observed during and after the administration of BCI therapy also correlated to changes in behavior observed during the same time period when using some of the maskthreshold combinations. Of the four correlations found to be significant using Spearman's rank-correlation analysis on this data from the BCI therapy phase of the experiment, two remained significant when reanalyzed using a generalized estimating equations approach. The relationship suggested by both significant and non-significant estimated Spearman's coefficients was also consistent across all mask-threshold combinations, with more bilateral LI values correlating to greater functional gains during tapping of the impaired hand across all three behavioral assessments. In contrast, similar correlation analyses performed on data from the control phase of the experiment found only one significant correlation using Spearman's rank-correlation analysis which did not survive when reanalyzed using generalized estimating equations, and the same consistency among the direction of LI change association with improvements in behavioral measures was not observed. The finding of only some mask-threshold combinations and not others giving rise to significant relationships with the behavioral assessments may be due to limitations of the small sample size used, rendering the current preliminary analysis underpowered to detect more subtle relationships between LI changes and functional gains. It is also possible that some mask/threshold combinations are better suited to capturing brain-behavior relationships depending on the behavioral assessment used.

While overall changes in behavioral outcomes during the period of BCI therapy administration were not found to be statistically significant at the group level, the correlations revealed by analyses of individual LI and functional changes suggest the presence of or potential for some degree of sub-clinical functional improvement not well-captured by the assessments used. Indeed, the presence of such correlations between gains in 9-HPT performance and LI changes with BCI therapy further demonstrates the importance of capturing small subclinical gains in function. As only the three least impaired subjects in the group studied who received BCI therapy were able to complete this assessment, changes in 9-HPT performance and LI may show neurological changes that correlate with functional improvement during and after BCI therapy administration and allow us to begin characterizing this relationship present even in highly functioning stroke survivors. It may also be worth noting that while the ARAT and 9-HPT are objective measures of motor function, scores for SIS Hand Function constitute a more subjective measure reliant on self-report. Thus, these changes in brain activity being detected by fMRI may be effecting change both in a subjective measure of how well the subjects believe they are performing, as well as in objective measures of the amount of ability that they are able to demonstrate using standardized motor function tests.

When considering previous work examining correlations between changes in LI and behavioral measures after BCI therapy, one study by Ramos-Murguialday and colleagues found that BCI therapy induced changes in LI of activity in the motor and premotor cortices during attempted movement of the paretic hand, shifting LI toward the ipsilesional hemisphere and correlating the magnitude of these individual shifts with post-therapy motor performance. A similar finding was documented in a case study of a thalamic stroke survivor, in which treatment with BCI therapy was associated with both functional gains and a shift from bilateral brain activation to lateralized activation in the ipsilesional hemisphere (Caria et al., 2011). While the pattern of functional brain reorganization with BCI therapy for stroke rehabilitation documented in these studies appears to describe an LI-behavior correlation opposite that in our findings, it is important to note that these findings by Ramos-Murguialday and Caria were specific to subjects who had suffered subcortical strokes. Thus, these associations may not be generalizable to patients who have suffered cortical damage, as was true of the majority of subjects in the present study. In fact, the pattern of increasingly lateralized LI induced by BCI therapy observed by the Ramos-Murguialday study is similar in pattern and direction to that observed in the unlesioned hemisphere of our subjects during tapping of the unimpaired hand. Our study builds on findings from a feasibility study which indicated that the activity in the brain hemisphere ipsilateral to the affected hand (i.e., the contralesional hemisphere) can be used as control signals for a BCI system designed to respond to movement intention (Bundy et al., 2012) along with the knowledge that in some patients infarction and hypoperfusion may shift areas of activation toward the intact hemisphere in other domains such as language (Prabhakaran et al., 2007). Together, these findings suggest that increased laterality toward the contralateral hemisphere during attempted hand movement may be a typical pattern of response to this type of BCI training in unlesioned cortex.

In designing interventional BCI systems for rehabilitation therapy, such as that used in the present study and in studies referenced previously, there remains a fair amount of uncertainty regarding what patterns of brain reorganization after stroke are optimal in allowing for rehabilitation after stroke and what differences there may be in such patterns among various subpopulations of stroke survivors. Two of the most prevalent competing theories take different stances regarding whether recruitment or activation of motor areas in the contralesional hemisphere during the chronic stage of stroke is beneficial or detrimental to functional recovery. Each of these views has influenced the development of therapeutic approaches intended to facilitate better rehabilitative outcomes for patients in the subacute and chronic stages of stroke who have reached a functional plateau with traditional standard therapies alone.

Some of these new approaches promote the activation of ipsior peri-lesional cortex with or without additionally discouraging activation of contralesional motor areas, effectively encouraging the re-lateralization of functional motor activity to the lesioned hemisphere. These methods stem from observations in studies of spontaneous recovery suggesting that the best recovery outcomes are accompanied by an eventual return to pre-stroke lateralization for these functions. This pattern has been documented in both motor (Turton et al., 1996; Traversa et al., 1997, 1998; Marshall et al., 2000; Calautti et al., 2001; Johansen-Berg et al., 2002b; Richards et al., 2008; Dimvan and Cohen, 2011) and language (Saur et al., 2006; Saur and Hartwigsen, 2012) domains in chronic stroke patients. Additional evidence to support this approach comes from studies of functionally associated neuroplastic change to targeted rehabilitation interventions, which have been shown to correlate with neural plastic changes in the lesioned hemisphere. A systematic review and meta-analysis by Richards and colleagues in 2008 of movement-dependent approaches in stroke recovery including CIMT, task practice, virtual reality training, and bilateral movements also supported this model of ipsilesional lateralization coinciding with better recovery in the sub-acute and chronic phases of stroke (Richards et al., 2008).

In contrast, other approaches have been developed that aim to promote the development of new or secondary pathways in the functional organization of the brain, recruiting areas of the contralesional brain to assist in the motor control of the impaired hand. This theory is based on the fact that 8-10% of corticospinal tract fibers project ipsilaterally in humans and other primates (Galea and Darian-Smith, 1994; Hoyer and Celnik, 2011) with the hypothesis that in some stroke patients, the lesioned hemisphere ceases to inhibit these ipsilateral motor projections which can then be used for control of the impaired arm (Stoeckel and Binkofski, 2010). There is some empirical evidence strengthening the case for attempting to maximize ipsilateral control of a paretic limb, with stroke survivors showing reductions in recovered motor performance after TMS of the contralesional hemisphere (Lotze et al., 2006) and one small study of showing contralesional activation increased with CIMT (Kopp et al., 1999). Motor performance has also been found to correlate more strongly with interhemispheric than ipsilesional functional connectivity following stroke (Carter et al., 2010a). Such studies support the idea that stroke recovery relies at least in part on the functional coordination and activation of the contralesional brain. It has been shown that motor performance in the chronic stage of stroke can be related in particular to the degree of corticospinal tract damage sustained by stroke patients (Stinear et al., 2007), suggesting that this tract plays an integral part in motor recovery. For those who are severely impaired due to a greater burden of irreversible corticospinal tract damage, the recruitment of additional cortical areas may be necessary (Newton et al., 2006; Jayaram and Stinear, 2008), including alternate contralesional pathways, for maximal recovery of motor control. Even with the inclusion of mildly impaired stroke patients, the results of the current study appear to support the participation of the unlesioned hemisphere in the neural reorganization after stroke, which may facilitate recovery of function.

It has been shown that cortical activity in both humans and non-human primates reliably encodes a representation of ipsilateral arm movement (Ganguly et al., 2009) and that differential cortical patterns can be reliably detected within a single hemisphere to differentiate movements of the ipsilateral and contralateral hands (Wisneski et al., 2008). Building on this work, new BCI devices have been developed that can be controlled using only ipsilateral neural signals (Bundy et al., 2012). These devices are being studied primarily in severely impaired subjects most likely to benefit from therapies using this type of approach, as individuals in this stroke population are those most likely to experience a motor recovery process that relies more heavily on new or accessory pathways after significant damage to the ipsilesional corticospinal tract (Bundy et al., 2012). It is important to note that the targeting of these new BCI devices promoting ipsilateral control of the impaired arm to severely impaired stroke survivors, while theoretically motivated, does not necessarily mean that others with less severe impairments could not also benefit from such therapies. Currently, there remains insufficient evidence to determine definitively which of these newer therapies are best suited to stroke survivors with different levels of impairment.

It is also important to remember that the conclusions regarding optimal patterns of functional brain reorganization from the study of one therapy modality may not be generalizable to other therapy modalities such as BCI. For example, two studies following similar populations of chronic stroke patients (all but one with subcortical lesions) found motor function gains to be associated with increased ipsilesional activation laterality or with increased contralesional recruitment during motor tasks of the affected hand after using BCI and gesture therapy respectively (Orihuela-Espina et al., 2013; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013). With this in mind, it may not be necessary to identify an optimal pattern of change common across therapy modalities as long as respective approaches are able to induce neuroplastic change and maximize functional recovery in chronic stroke patients. Understanding these patterns of neuroplastic change might then serve simply to allow for optimization within the application of a particular modality.

Although our study had a small and somewhat heterogenous sample of stroke survivors both in terms of motor impairment (mild to severe) and chronicity of stroke (subacute to chronic), BCI induced consistent brain changes along with significant brain-behavioral associative changes in these patients over time that were not observed during a control period in which no BCI therapy was administered. Changes in neural activation patterns were observed with BCI therapy in both primary and secondary motor areas in this population of stroke patients, and these activation patterns were then quantified in LI calculations using masks that included regions of both primary and secondary motor areas. It is promising that these findings persisted across multiple mask sets at multiple thresholds, some of which were found to have significant correlations to changes in behavioral measures when using both correlation and GEE models. Although the findings in this study are based on a small group of subjects, a subanalysis of only the chronic stroke patients who received BCI therapy showed consistent effects, supporting the hypothesis that administration of this BCI therapy helped to produce the effects observed. The lack of changes in the control group also argues against attributing the effects observed to spontaneous recovery, as the control group was similar to the group that received BCI therapy in numerous measures such as age, sex, handedness, and chronicity of stroke (**Table 1**).

Even though these preliminary analyses were potentially underpowered for the detection of smaller changes in LI earlier in the therapy time course and for the more consistent detection of significant relationships between LI change and behavioral gains, future studies incorporating a larger sample of stroke patients will be able to better characterize these patterns of LI change with BCI therapy and to detect more subtle relationships that these LI changes may have with concurrent behavioral gains. Larger sample sizes will also allow for the investigation of potential cross over effects into domains not directly targeted by the BCI device, such as strength, participation, and activities of daily living, as such effects are expected to be more subtle than those observed in the targeted domain of upper extremity motor function. The use of additional assessments such as the Fugl-Meyer and Chedoke Arm and Hand Inventory may also allow for the detection of more subtle changes in functional capability that may accompany this type of therapy such that floor effects and ceiling effects might be a smaller limitation of future studies. Similarly, future studies on the effects of BCI therapy for stroke rehabilitation will be needed not only to characterize more subtle patterns of neuroplastic change that may result from this type of treatment but also to determine the optimal mask and threshold parameters that might allow LI to be used as an imaging biomarker to assess and track recovery in individuals receiving this type of therapy.

The findings of this study may provide further insight into what theoretical approaches might be optimal in designing future neurofeedback devices and paradigms for motor recovery after stroke, particularly with regard to which patterns of brain activity might be actively rewarded or discouraged by future systems in order to elicit the greatest possible recovery in these patients. In determining whether increased ipsilesional lateralization vs. increased bilateral recruitment is optimal for motor recovery, a review by Dimyan and Cohen documented the former pattern as associated with spontaneous recovery while a small number of interventional and disruptive studies supported the latter in the development of novel interventions to promote neural reorganization in poststroke rehabilitation (Dimyan and Cohen, 2011). This is consistent with the possibility that there exist multiple patterns of neural reorganization that facilitate better recovery after stroke and that such patterns may be modulated with the administration of interventional therapy using newer technologies that are different from those evidenced during spontaneous recovery.

In exploring optimal device design, it may be more important with developing BCI therapies than with the development of other therapy modalities to determine what pattern of neural activity corresponds to the greatest behavioral gains because the BCI system can be programmed to preferentially reward predefined neural signatures. If such patterns for maximal rehabilitation are discovered, it is not difficult to envision the development and clinical use of customized BCI therapy interventions based on the functional and neurological profile of an individual patient, a form of what have been previously termed as "prescriptive" interventions (Carter et al., 2010b).

As the field of interventional rehabilitative therapy using BCI continues to develop, there remains a need for larger studies incorporating an element of randomized control to better understand and characterize the effects being elicited by the BCI therapy itself and also to identify subpopulations of stroke survivors with differential responses to this type of therapy. Ideally, such studies will also incorporate a wide range of behavioral assessments, neuroimaging measures, and connectivity analyses to capture and provide a comprehensive understanding of the various brain and behavior changes induced by BCI therapy and the relations between them.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Brittany M. Young assisted in subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Zack Nigogosyan assisted with data collection, data analysis, and writing. Léo M. Walton assisted with data collection and writing. Jie Song assisted with subject recruitment and data collection. Veena A. Nair assisted with subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Scott W. Grogan assisted with data collection. Mitchell E. Tyler provided TDU hardware and expertise. Dorothy F. Edwards assisted with study design and outcome measure selection and interpretation. Kristin Caldera assisted with subject referral and recruitment. Justin A. Sattin assisted with study design and subject recruitment. Justin C. Williams is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the technical and engineering aspects of the work. Vivek Prabhakaran is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the neuroimaging aspects of this work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all of our subjects and their families for making their participation in the study possible. We would also like to thank our study coordinators Jenny Swartz, Amanda Kolterman, and Tally Mitchell and our MR technologists Sara John and Jenelle Fuller. We would like to thank Hui-Chun (Ruby) Chen and colleagues in Occupational Therapy for their assistance with behavioral testing and FES electrode placement. This work was supported by NIH grants RC1MH090912-01, T32GM008692, UL1TR000427, and T32EB011434. Additional funding was also provided through a Coulter Translational Research Award, an American Heart Association Postdoctoral Fellow Research Award, UW Milwaukee-Madison Intercampus Grants, the UW Graduate School, and by Shapiro Foundation Grants. Portions of this work were previously presented in poster or e-poster form at the SFN Annual Meeting 2012, the International Stroke Conference 2013, the ISMRM Annual Meeting 2013, and as a platform talk at the RSNA Annual Meeting 2013.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fneng.2014. 00026/abstract

Table S1 | Functional outcomes as assessed by SIS Hand Function, Action Research Arm Test, and Nine-Hole Peg Test during the BCI Therapy phase of the experiment. Subjects who were unsuccessful at completing the 9-HPT within 5 min were noted as unable to perform this assessment. Subject numbers in this table match those in **Table 1**, which provides participant characteristics. SIS, Stroke Impact Scale; ARAT, Action Research Arm Test; 9-HPT, Nine-Hole Peg Test.

Table S2 | Functional outcomes as assessed by SIS Hand Function, Action Research Arm Test, and Nine-Hole Peg Test among Subjects completing assessments during the control phase of the experiment. Subjects who were unsuccessful at completing the 9-HPT within 5 min were noted as unable to perform this assessment. Subject numbers in this table match those in **Table 1**, which provides participant characteristics. SIS, Stroke Impact Scale; ARAT, Action Research Arm Test; 9-HPT, Nine-Hole Peg Test.

Table S3 | Components of masks used for Ll calculations. Mask regions with "motor and premotor cortex" included components of the precentral, postcentral, middle frontal, medial frontal, and superior frontal gyri. Ll, Laterality Index.

REFERENCES

- Beebe, J. A., and Lang, C. E. (2009). Relationships and responsiveness of six upper extremity function tests during the first six months of recovery after stroke. *J. Neurol. Phys. Ther.* 33, 96–103. doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e3181a33638
- Bhasin, A., Padma Srivastava, M. V., Kumaran, S. S., Bhatia, R., and Mohanty, S. (2012). Neural interface of mirror therapy in chronic stroke patients: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neurol. India* 60, 570–576. doi: 10.4103/0028-3886.105188
- Broetz, D., Braun, C., Weber, C., Soekadar, S. R., Caria, A., and Birbaumer, N. (2010). Combination of brain-computer interface training and goal-directed physical therapy in chronic stroke: a case report. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 24, 674–679. doi: 10.1177/1545968310368683
- Buch, E., Weber, C., Cohen, L. G., Braun, C., Dimyan, M. A., Ard, T., et al. (2008). Think to move: a neuromagnetic brain-computer interface (BCI) system for chronic stroke. *Stroke* 39, 910–917. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.505313
- Bundy, D. T., Wronkiewicz, M., Sharma, M., Moran, D. W., Corbetta, M., and Leuthardt, E. C. (2012). Using ipsilateral motor signals in the unaffected cerebral hemisphere as a signal platform for brain-computer interfaces in hemiplegic stroke survivors. J. Neural Eng. 9, 036011. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/3/036011
- Calautti, C., Leroy, F., Guincestre, J. Y., Marie, R. M., and Baron, J. C. (2001). Sequential activation brain mapping after subcortical stroke: changes in hemispheric balance and recovery. *Neuroreport* 12, 3883–3886. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200112210-00005
- Carey, J. R., Kimberley, T. J., Lewis, S. M., Auerbach, E. J., Dorsey, L., Rundquist, P., et al. (2002). Analysis of fMRI and finger tracking training in subjects with chronic stroke. *Brain* 125, 773–788. doi: 10.1093/brain/awf091

Caria, A., Weber, C., Brotz, D., Ramos, A., Ticini, L. F., Gharabaghi, A., et al. (2011). Chronic stroke recovery after combined BCI training and physiotherapy: a case report. *Psychophysiology* 48, 578–582. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01117.x

Carod-Artal, F. J., Coral, L. F., Trizotto, D. S., and Moreira, C. M. (2008). The stroke impact scale 3.0: evaluation of acceptability, reliability, and validity of the Brazilian version. *Stroke* 39, 2477–2484. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107. 513671

- Carroll, D. (1965). A quantitative test of upper extremity function. J. Chronic Dis. 18, 479–491. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(65)90030-5
- Carter, A. R., Astafiev, S. V., Lang, C. E., Connor, L. T., Rengachary, J., Strube, M. J., et al. (2010a). Resting interhemispheric functional magnetic resonance imaging connectivity predicts performance after stroke. *Ann. Neurol.* 67, 365–375. doi: 10.1002/ana.21905

- Carter, A. R., Connor, L. T., and Dromerick, A. W. (2010b). Rehabilitation after stroke: current state of the science. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 10, 158–166. doi: 10.1007/s11910-010-0091-9
- Confalonieri, L., Pagnoni, G., Barsalou, L. W., Rajendra, J., Eickhoff, S. B., and Butler, A. J. (2012). Brain activation in primary motor and somatosensory cortices during motor imagery correlates with motor imagery ability in stroke patients. *ISRN Neurol.* 2012, 613595. doi: 10.5402/2012/613595
- Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Comput. Biomed. Res.* 29, 162–173. doi: 10.1006/cbmr.1996.0014
- Cramer, S. C. (2010). Brain repair after stroke. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 1827–1829. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1003399
- Daly, J. J., Cheng, R., Rogers, J., Litinas, K., Hrovat, K., and Dohring, M. (2009). Feasibility of a new application of noninvasive Brain Computer Interface (BCI): a case study of training for recovery of volitional motor control after stroke. *J. Neurol. Phys. Ther.* 33, 203–211. doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e3181c1fc0b
- Darling, W. G., Seitz, R. J., Peltier, S., Tellmann, L., and Butler, A. J. (2007). Visual cortex activation in kinesthetic guidance of reaching. *Exp. Brain Res.* 179, 607–619. doi: 10.1007/s00221-006-0815-x
- Dimyan, M. A., and Cohen, L. G. (2011). Neuroplasticity in the context of motor rehabilitation after stroke. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7, 76–85. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2010.200
- Dromerick, A. W., Lang, C. E., Birkenmeier, R. L., Wagner, J. M., Miller, J. P., Videen, T. O., et al. (2009). Very Early Constraint-Induced Movement during Stroke Rehabilitation (VECTORS): a single-center RCT. *Neurology* 73, 195–201. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ab2b27
- Duncan, P. W., Wallace, D., Lai, S. M., Johnson, D., Embretson, S., and Laster, L. J. (1999). The stroke impact scale version 2.0. Evaluation of reliability, validity, and sensitivity to change. *Stroke* 30, 2131–2140. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30. 10.2131
- Felton, E. A., Williams, J. C., Vanderheiden, G. C., and Radwin, R. G. (2012). Mental workload during brain-computer interface training. *Ergonomics* 55, 526–537. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2012.662526
- Galea, M. P., and Darian-Smith, I. (1994). Multiple corticospinal neuron populations in the macaque monkey are specified by their unique cortical origins, spinal terminations, and connections. *Cereb. Cortex* 4, 166–194. doi: 10.1093/cercor/4.2.166
- Ganguly, K., Secundo, L., Ranade, G., Orsborn, A., Chang, E. F., Dimitrov, D. F., et al. (2009). Cortical representation of ipsilateral arm movements in monkey and man. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 12948–12956. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2471-09.2009
- Gauthier, L. V., Taub, E., Perkins, C., Ortmann, M., Mark, V. W., and Uswatte, G. (2008). Remodeling the brain: plastic structural brain changes produced by different. *Stroke* 39, 1520–1525. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.502229
- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Borden, W. B., et al. (2013). Heart disease and stroke statistics–2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 127, e6–e245. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e318282ab8f
- Hoyer, E. H., and Celnik, P. A. (2011). Understanding and enhancing motor recovery after stroke using transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Restor. Neurol. Neurosci.* 29, 395–409. doi: 10.3233/RNN-2011-0611
- Jayaram, G., and Stinear, J. W. (2008). Contralesional paired associative stimulation increases paretic lower limb motor excitability post-stroke. *Exp. Brain Res.* 185, 563–570. doi: 10.1007/s00221-007-1183-x
- Johansen-Berg, H., Dawes, H., Guy, C., Smith, S. M., Wade, D. T., and Matthews, P. M. (2002a). Correlation between motor improvements and altered fMRI activity after. *Brain* 125, 2731–2742. doi: 10.1093/brain/awf282
- Johansen-Berg, H., Rushworth, M. F., Bogdanovic, M. D., Kischka, U., Wimalaratna, S., and Matthews, P. M. (2002b). The role of ipsilateral premotor cortex in hand movement after stroke. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 14518–14523. doi: 10.1073/pnas.222536799
- Kelly-Hayes, M., Beiser, A., Kase, C. S., Scaramucci, A., D'agostino, R. B., and Wolf, P. A. (2003). The influence of gender and age on disability following ischemic stroke: the Framingham study. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 12, 119–126. doi: 10.1016/S1052-3057(03)00042-9
- Kononen, M., Tarkka, I. M., Niskanen, E., Pihlajamaki, M., Mervaala, E., Pitkanen, K., et al. (2012). Functional MRI and motor behavioral changes obtained with constraint-induced movement therapy in chronic stroke. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 19, 578–586. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03572.x

- Kopp, B., Kunkel, A., Muhlnickel, W., Villringer, K., Taub, E., and Flor, H. (1999). Plasticity in the motor system related to therapy-induced improvement of movement after stroke. *Neuroreport* 10, 807–810. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199903170-00026
- Kundu, B., Penwarden, A., Wood, J. M., Gallagher, T. A., Andreoli, M. J., Voss, J., et al. (2013). Association of functional magnetic resonance imaging indices with postoperative language outcomes in patients with primary brain tumors. *Neurosurg. Focus* 34, E6. doi: 10.3171/2013.2.FOCUS12413
- Lang, C. E., Wagner, J. M., Dromerick, A. W., and Edwards, D. F. (2006). Measurement of upper-extremity function early after stroke: properties of the action research arm test. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 87, 1605–1610. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2006.09.003
- Lang, K. C., Thompson, P. A., and Wolf, S. L. (2013). The EXCITE Trial: reacquiring upper-extremity task performance with early versus late delivery of constraint therapy. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 27, 654–663. doi: 10.1177/1545968313481281
- Liu, M., Fujiwara, T., Shindo, K., Kasashima, Y., Otaka, Y., Tsuji, T., et al. (2012). Newer challenges to restore hemiparetic upper extremity after stroke: HANDS therapy and BMI neurorehabilitation. *Hong Kong Physiother. J.* 30, 83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.hkpj.2012.05.001
- Lo, A. C., Guarino, P. D., Richards, L. G., Haselkorn, J. K., Wittenberg, G. F., Federman, D. G., et al. (2010). Robot-assisted therapy for long-term upper-limb impairment after stroke. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362, 1772–1783. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0911341
- Lotze, M., Beutling, W., Loibl, M., Domin, M., Platz, T., Schminke, U., et al. (2012). Contralesional motor cortex activation depends on ipsilesional corticospinal tract integrity in well-recovered subcortical stroke patients. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 26, 594–603. doi: 10.1177/1545968311427706
- Lotze, M., Markert, J., Sauseng, P., Hoppe, J., Plewnia, C., and Gerloff, C. (2006). The role of multiple contralesional motor areas for complex hand movements after internal capsular lesion. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 6096–6102. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4564-05.2006
- Marshall, R. S., Perera, G. M., Lazar, R. M., Krakauer, J. W., Constantine, R. C., and Delapaz, R. L. (2000). Evolution of cortical activation during recovery from corticospinal tract infarction. *Stroke* 31, 656–661. doi: 10.1161/01.STR. 31.3.656
- Miller, E. L., Murray, L., Richards, L., Zorowitz, R. D., Bakas, T., Clark, P., et al. (2010). Comprehensive overview of nursing and interdisciplinary rehabilitation care of the stroke patient: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Stroke* 41, 2402–2448. doi: 10.1161/STR.0b013e3181e7512b
- Moss, A., and Nicholas, M. (2006). Language rehabilitation in chronic aphasia and time postonset: a review of single-subject data. *Stroke* 37, 3043–3051. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000249427.74970.15
- Nakayama, H., Jorgensen, H. S., Raaschou, H. O., and Olsen, T. S. (1994). Recovery of upper extremity function in stroke patients: the copenhagen stroke study. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 75, 394–398. doi: 10.1016/0003-9993(94)90161-9
- Newton, J. M., Ward, N. S., Parker, G. J., Deichmann, R., Alexander, D. C., Friston, K. J., et al. (2006). Non-invasive mapping of corticofugal fibres from multiple motor areas–relevance to stroke recovery. *Brain* 129, 1844–1858. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl106
- Orihuela-Espina, F., Fernandez Del Castillo, I., Palafox, L., Pasaye, E., Sanchez-Villavicencio, I., Leder, R., et al. (2013). Neural reorganization accompanying upper limb motor rehabilitation from stroke with virtual reality-based gesture therapy. *Top. Stroke Rehabil.* 20, 197–209. doi: 10.1310/tsr2003-197
- Pillai, J. J., and Zaca, D. (2011). Relative utility for hemispheric lateralization of different clinical fMRI activation tasks within a comprehensive language paradigm battery in brain tumor patients as assessed by both threshold-dependent and threshold-independent analysis methods. *Neuroimage* 54(Suppl. 1), S136–S145. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.082
- Pinter, D., Pegritz, S., Pargfrieder, C., Reiter, G., Wurm, W., Gattringer, T., et al. (2013). Exploratory study on the effects of a robotic hand rehabilitation device on changes in grip strength and brain activity after stroke. *Top. Stroke Rehabil.* 20, 308–316. doi: 10.1310/tsr2004-308
- Prabhakaran, V., Raman, S. P., Grunwald, M. R., Mahadevia, A., Hussain, N., Lu, H., et al. (2007). Neural substrates of word generation during stroke recovery: the influence of cortical hypoperfusion. *Behav. Neurol.* 18, 45–52. doi: 10.1155/2007/430402
- Prasad, G., Herman, P., Coyle, D., Mcdonough, S., and Crosbie, J. (2010). Applying a brain-computer interface to support motor imagery practice in people with

stroke for upper limb recovery: a feasibility study. J. Neuroeng. Rehabil. 7, 60. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-7-60

- Ramos-Murguialday, A., Broetz, D., Rea, M., Laer, L., Yilmaz, O., Brasil, F. L., et al. (2013). Brain-machine interface in chronic stroke rehabilitation: a controlled study. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 100–108. doi: 10.1002/ana.23879
- Richards, L. G., Stewart, K. C., Woodbury, M. L., Senesac, C., and Cauraugh, J. H. (2008). Movement-dependent stroke recovery: a systematic review and meta-analysis of TMS. *Neuropsychologia* 46, 3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.08.013
- Saur, D., and Hartwigsen, G. (2012). Neurobiology of language recovery after stroke: lessons from neuroimaging studies. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 93, S15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2011.03.036
- Saur, D., Lange, R., Baumgaertner, A., Schraknepper, V., Willmes, K., Rijntjes, M., et al. (2006). Dynamics of language reorganization after stroke. *Brain* 129, 1371–1384. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl090
- Shindo, K., Kawashima, K., Ushiba, J., Ota, N., Ito, M., Ota, T., et al. (2011). Effects of neurofeedback training with an electroencephalogram-based braincomputer interface for hand paralysis in patients with chronic stroke: a preliminary case series study. J. Rehabil. Med. 43, 951–957. doi: 10.2340/1650 1977-0859
- Shirer, W. R., Ryali, S., Rykhlevskaia, E., Menon, V., and Greicius, M. D. (2012). Decoding subject-driven cognitive states with whole-brain connectivity patterns. *Cereb. Cortex* 22, 158–165. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr099
- Springer, J. A., Binder, J. R., Hammeke, T. A., Swanson, S. J., Frost, J. A., Bellgowan, P. S., et al. (1999). Language dominance in neurologically normal and epilepsy subjects: a functional MRI study. *Brain* 122(Pt 11), 2033–2046. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.11.2033
- Stagg, C. J., Bachtiar, V., O'shea, J., Allman, C., Bosnell, R. A., Kischka, U., et al. (2012). Cortical activation changes underlying stimulationinduced behavioural gains in chronic stroke. *Brain* 135, 276–284. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr313
- Stinear, C. M., Barber, P. A., Smale, P. R., Coxon, J. P., Fleming, M. K., and Byblow, W. D. (2007). Functional potential in chronic stroke patients depends on corticospinal tract integrity. *Brain* 130, 170–180. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl333
- Stoeckel, M. C., and Binkofski, F. (2010). The role of ipsilateral primary motor cortex in movement control and recovery from brain damage. *Exp. Neurol.* 221, 13–17. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.10.021
- Takahashi, M., Takeda, K., Otaka, Y., Osu, R., Hanakawa, T., Gouko, M., et al. (2012). Event related desynchronization-modulated functional electrical stimulation system for stroke rehabilitation: a feasibility study. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 9, 56. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-56
- Talairach, J., and Tournoux, P. (1988). Co-planar Stereotaxic Atlas of the Human Brain: 3-Dimensional Proportional System. New York, NY: Thieme Medical Pub.
- Traversa, R., Cicinelli, P., Bassi, A., Rossini, P. M., and Bernardi, G. (1997). Mapping of motor cortical reorganization after stroke. A brain stimulation study with focal magnetic pulses. *Stroke* 28, 110–117. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.28.1.110
- Traversa, R., Cicinelli, P., Pasqualetti, P., Filippi, M., and Rossini, P. M. (1998). Follow-up of interhemispheric differences of motor evoked potentials from the 'affected' and 'unaffected' hemispheres in human stroke. *Brain Res.* 803, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(98)00505-8
- Turton, A., Wroe, S., Trepte, N., Fraser, C., and Lemon, R. N. (1996). Contralateral and ipsilateral EMG responses to transcranial magnetic stimulation during recovery of arm and hand function after stroke. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 101, 316–328. doi: 10.1016/0924-980X(96)95560-5
- Varkuti, B., Guan, C., Pan, Y., Phua, K. S., Ang, K. K., Kuah, C. W., et al. (2013). Resting state changes in functional connectivity correlate with movement recovery for BCI and robot-assisted upper-extremity training after stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 27, 53–62. doi: 10.1177/154596831 2445910
- Volpe, B. T., Huerta, P. T., Zipse, J. L., Rykman, A., Edwards, D., Dipietro, L., et al. (2009). Robotic devices as therapeutic and diagnostic tools for stroke recovery. *Arch. Neurol.* 66, 1086–1090. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2009.182
- Ward, N. S., Brown, M. M., Thompson, A. J., and Frackowiak, R. S. (2003). Neural correlates of motor recovery after stroke: a longitudinal fMRI study. *Brain* 126, 2476–2496. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg245
- Wisneski, K. J., Anderson, N., Schalk, G., Smyth, M., Moran, D., and Leuthardt, E. C. (2008). Unique cortical physiology associated with ipsilateral hand movements and neuroprosthetic implications. *Stroke* 39, 3351–3359. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.518175

- Wolf, S. L., Thompson, P. A., Winstein, C. J., Miller, J. P., Blanton, S. R., Nichols-Larsen, D. S., et al. (2010). The EXCITE stroke trial: comparing early and delayed constraint-induced movement therapy. *Stroke* 41, 2309–2315. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.588723
- Wolf, S. L., Winstein, C. J., Miller, J. P., Thompson, P. A., Taub, E., Uswatte, G., et al. (2008). Retention of upper limb function in stroke survivors who have received constraint-induced movement therapy: the EXCITE randomised trial. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 33–40. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70294-6
- Yamada, N., Kakuda, W., Senoo, A., Kondo, T., Mitani, S., Shimizu, M., et al. (2013). Functional cortical reorganization after low-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation plus intensive occupational therapy for upper limb hemiparesis: evaluation by functional magnetic resonance imaging in poststroke patients. *Int. J. Stroke* 8, 422–429. doi: 10.1111/ijs.12056

Conflict of Interest Statement: A pending patent on the closed-loop neurofeedback device used for the therapy administered in this study (Pending U.S. Patent Application No. 12/715,090) was filed jointly by the two lead investigators Justin C. Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran. Otherwise, the authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 April 2014; accepted: 23 June 2014; published online: 15 July 2014.

Citation: Young BM, Nigogosyan Z, Walton LM, Song J, Nair VA, Grogan SW, Tyler ME, Edwards DF, Caldera K, Sattin JA, Williams JC and Prabhakaran V (2014) Changes in functional brain organization and behavioral correlations after rehabilitative therapy using a brain-computer interface. Front. Neuroeng. **7**:26. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00026

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Young, Nigogosyan, Walton, Song, Nair, Grogan, Tyler, Edwards, Caldera, Sattin, Williams and Prabhakaran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Changes in functional connectivity correlate with behavioral gains in stroke patients after therapy using a brain-computer interface device

Brittany Mei Young^{1,2,3}, Zack Nigogosyan¹, Alexander Remsik¹, Léo M. Walton^{3,4}, Jie Song^{1,4}, Veena A. Nair¹, Scott W. Grogan¹, Mitchell E. Tyler⁴, Dorothy Farrar Edwards⁵, Kristin Caldera⁶, Justin A. Sattin⁷, Justin C. Williams^{3,4,8} and Vivek Prabhakaran^{1,2,3,79}*

- ³ Neuroscience Training Program, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁴ Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁵ Departments of Kinesiology and Medicine, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁶ Department of Orthopedics and Rehabilitation, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁷ Department of Neurology, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁸ Department of Neurosurgery, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA
- ⁹ Departments of Psychology and Psychiatry, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, USA

Edited by:

Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of Glasgow, UK

Reviewed by:

Christoph Guger, University of Technology Graz, Austria Damien Coyle, University of Ulster, UK

*Correspondence:

Vivek Prabhakaran, Department of Radiology, University of Wisconsin – Madison, 600 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53792-3252, USA

e-mail: vprabhakaran@uwhealth.org

Brain-computer interface (BCI) technology is being incorporated into new stroke rehabilitation devices, but little is known about brain changes associated with its use. We collected anatomical and functional MRI of nine stroke patients with persistent upper extremity motor impairment before, during, and after therapy using a BCI system. Subjects were asked to perform finger tapping of the impaired hand during fMRI. Action Research Arm Test (ARAT), 9-Hole Peg Test (9-HPT), and Stroke Impact Scale (SIS) domains of Hand Function (HF) and Activities of Daily Living (ADL) were also assessed. Group-level analyses examined changes in whole-brain task-based functional connectivity (FC) to seed regions in the motor network observed during and after BCI therapy. Whole-brain FC analyses seeded in each thalamus showed FC increases from baseline at mid-therapy and post-therapy (p < 0.05). Changes in FC between seeds at both the network and the connection levels were examined for correlations with changes in behavioral measures. Average motor network FC was increased post-therapy, and changes in average network FC correlated (p < 0.05) with changes in performance on ARAT ($R^2 = 0.21$), 9-HPT ($R^2 =$ 0.41), SIS HF ($R^2 = 0.27$), and SIS ADL ($R^2 = 0.40$). Multiple individual connections within the motor network were found to correlate in change from baseline with changes in behavioral measures. Many of these connections involved the thalamus, with change in each of four behavioral measures significantly correlating with change from baseline FC of at least one thalamic connection. These preliminary results show changes in FC that occur with the administration of rehabilitative therapy using a BCI system. The correlations noted between changes in FC measures and changes in behavioral outcomes indicate that both adaptive and maladaptive changes in FC may develop with this therapy and also suggest a brain-behavior relationship that may be stimulated by the neuromodulatory component of BCI therapy.

Keywords: brain-computer interface, stroke rehabilitation, functional connectivity, BCI therapy, UE motor recovery, fMRI

INTRODUCTION

Decreases in stroke mortality rates began accelerating in the 1970s (Lackland et al., 2014), and reduced stroke mortality was named as one of the 10 great public health achievements in the United States from 2001 to 2010 by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2011). These trends have contributed to a growing population of stroke survivors currently estimated at 4 million

individuals in the United States alone (Go et al., 2014). Nevertheless, approximately 795,000 individuals experience a new stroke each year (Go et al., 2014), with up to 50% of survivors suffering from some persistent neurological disability (Kelly-Hayes et al., 2003). Stroke continues to be a leading cause of serious longterm disability, resulting in billions of dollars of economic costs each year (Towfighi and Saver, 2011). Given the magnitude of

¹ Department of Radiology, University of Wisconsin – Madison, Madison, WI, USA

² Medical Scientist Training Program, University of Wisconsin – Madison, Madison, WI, USA

such costs and the growing population of stroke survivors, there is a need for a better understanding of the mechanisms that underlie stroke recovery and new methods to facilitate stroke rehabilitation.

Functional connectivity (FC) is a measure of the temporal correlation of activation between spatially separate brain regions. Such activation has been shown to be distributed among neuronal areas via functionally or structurally connected networks of neurons (Biswal et al., 1995; James et al., 2009; Nocchi et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2013; Varkuti et al., 2013). With regard to stroke rehabilitation, the understanding of the FC changes that result from stroke and those observed during the recovery process is a growing area of interest that may be used to guide future therapeutic approaches (James et al., 2009; Grefkes and Fink, 2011; Westlake and Nagarajan, 2011; Jiang et al., 2013; Varkuti et al., 2013). One study of subcortical stroke survivors has shown reorganization in the ipsilesional motor cortex to be strongly associated with post stroke recovery (Zhang et al., 2014). However, another study of subcortical stroke patients found different patterns of increased resting-state FC in the sensorimotor network in those with right hemisphere strokes compared to those with strokes in the left hemisphere (Wang et al., 2014). Clearly, there is much to be learned in the process of characterizing not only changes in FC observed in stroke patients but also in understanding how these changes may be modulated during recovery facilitated by rehabilitative therapies.

Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) are systems which use detected neural activity to generate real time feedback and present this feedback to the user whose neural activity is being monitored. The user can then use this feedback to learn how to modulate context-specific brain activity. These technologies are being incorporated into a new class of devices intended to facilitate stroke rehabilitation with some success in smallscale studies (Buch et al., 2008; Daly et al., 2009; Broetz et al., 2010; Prasad et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Shindo et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; Takahashi et al., 2012). A growing number of studies have shown changes in brain activation associated with imaginary and attempted movements of an impaired upper extremity with the use of these devices in rehabilitative applications intended to improve motor function (Broetz et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013). There is evidence that such changes in activation are accompanied by changes in FC to the areas targeted by training with the BCI system (Rota et al., 2011). In one study of stroke patients, gains in resting-state FC observed after rehabilitative therapy using a BCI device also correlated positively with gains in motor outcomes documented during the same period (Varkuti et al., 2013). However, studies of FC changes observed with the administration BCI therapy remain limited. A more complete understanding of FC changes in response to therapies using BCI systems and how these changes may relate to behavioral outcomes is important in understanding the mechanisms that underlie clinical gains that may be elicited with this new class of devices.

The aim of this paper is to identify changes in motor network FC observed with the administration of interventional rehabilitation therapy using a BCI device and to examine how these changes might relate to behavioral outcomes in stroke patients. We hypothesize that FC in the motor network during finger tapping of the impaired hand will increase with the administration of BCI therapy and that these increases will correlate with gains in behavioral measures assessed outside of the scanner.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT AND CHARACTERISTICS

Thirty patients with persistent upper-extremity motor impairment resulting from ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke were contacted regarding study participation. Of these, 16 expressed interest in participating in our study with nine individuals having completed a full course of BCI therapy and MRI assessments thus far. Exclusion criteria included the presence of neurodegenerative disorder (e.g., dementia), other neurological or psychiatric disorders (e.g., schizophrenia), and the inability to provide informed consent. Subjects were also excluded if they had allergies to electrode gel used during the therapy sessions, if they had undergone treatment for recent infectious diseases, if lesions of the oral mucosa were present, if they were pregnant or likely to become pregnant during the course of the study, or if they were unable to safely and comfortably undergo MRI. Of the nine subjects described in this paper (6M, 3F), the average age was 62 years (SD = 9.2years). Average time from stroke onset was 12.9 months (SD = 7.9 months). More subjects were right-handed (N = 7) than left-handed, and more subjects had right-sided impairments (N = 7) than left-sided impairments, but these differences were not significant (p = 0.18). This study was approved by the University of Wisconsin Health Sciences Institutional Review Board. All subject provided written informed consent prior to participation.

INTERVENTION SCHEDULE AND BEHAVIORAL ASSESSMENTS

Subjects were assessed no more than 1 week prior to the start of BCI therapy (pre-therapy), at the midpoint of therapy, within 1 week after completion of all BCI therapy (post-therapy), and 1 month after the end of the BCI therapy period. Each assessment involved obtaining both behavioral measures as well as MRI scans. Four of the nine subjects were also administered the behavioral assessment at three additional time points during a pre-therapy monitoring period prior to the administration of any BCI therapy. Behavioral measures administered at each assessment included the Action Research Arm Test (Carroll, 1965; Lang et al., 2006), the 9-Hole Peg Test (9-HPT) (Beebe and Lang, 2009), and the Stroke Impact Scale (SIS; Duncan et al., 1999; Carod-Artal et al., 2008). Scores for the 9-HPT were calculated as the average of two attempts using the impaired hand. ARAT scores reflect a total score assigned for the subject's impaired hand. Of the domains of the SIS, this study focused on the Activities of Daily Living (SIS ADL) and Hand Function (SIS HF) domains, as these represent the domain most closely related to the motor functions practiced with the BCI therapy administered (SIS HF) and the domain most reflective of global function (SIS ADL) that may inform the clinical implications of the results. SIS domain scores were transformed to yield a percentage of possible points obtained, in accordance with standard SIS scoring practice. All SIS domain scores discussed in this paper refer to these transformed scores.

BCI THERAPY AND SESSION SEQUENCE

All subjects received up to 15 2-h sessions of interventional therapy using an EEG-guided BCI device, which incorporated visual display, tongue stimulation, and functional electrical stimulation as feedback. These BCI therapy sessions were scheduled over the course of up to 6 weeks with no more than three sessions per week.

All BCI therapy was set up using BCI2000 software (Schalk et al., 2004) version 2 with in-house modifications to allow for administration of additional tongue stimulation (TDU 01.30, Wicab Inc.) and functional electrical stimulation (LG-7500, LGMedSupply; Arduino 1.0.4). A 16-channel EEG cap and amplifier (Guger Technologies) were used for the detection and recording of all EEG signals during the BCI therapy sessions. Each 2-h session began first with an open-loop screening task used to identify appropriate control signals. During the screening task, the subject was cued to perform attempted movement of either hand alternating with periods of rest using the cues "right", "left", and "rest". The specific movements used varied across subjects, as the specific movements used were individualized to the baseline abilities and recovery goals of each patient. Repeated opening and closing of the hand and wrist extension were common choices among subjects in this study, although some chose to use wrist flexion or squeezing motions. Cues were shown as words on a screen one at a time in blocks of 4 s. Each cue was shown at least 10 times at the beginning of each session. During this screening task, no feedback was provided to the subject. Data collected during these open-loop trials then determined appropriate EEGbased control features to guide all subsequent closed-loop tasks, using a process previously described to determine optimal control features (Wilson et al., 2009).

Attempted movement rather than motor imagery was used for both initial screening and for subsequent closed-loop feedback conditions with the intent of making the training conditions of the neurofeedback task as similar as possible to the mental processes invoked when attempting functional real world movement. This was done because when using the BCI system as an assistive feedback device for rehabilitative therapy to help reestablish function, rather than as an augmentative means of replacing a lost function, it is important for the effects of the training to be accessible to the subject beyond the laboratory environment. Therefore, we based control signals on neural activity patterns generated during attempted movements in an attempt to maximize the extent to which the context-specific strengthening of movement-related patterns of brain activity might persist and benefit the individual when attempting movements beyond the therapy period.

While many BCI systems were originally controlled using motor imagery alone, these early systems were developed using individuals without motor impairments with motor imagery used as a way to establish the ability to control a BCI device independent of the production of normal movements (Leuthardt et al., 2004). Later studies demonstrating the ability of impaired individuals to successfully achieve similar control of BCI devices as seen with healthy subjects continued with the use of motor imagery, recreating similar task conditions to those with which healthy subjects were trained and often relying on paradigms

that did not target use of actual deficits present in the impaired populations tested (Wolpaw and Mcfarland, 2004). It may also be important to acknowledge that many early BCI devices were developed to function as augmentative devices rather than for rehabilitative purposes, which may partially explain the heavy emphasis on using mental tasks like motor imagery that could be performed consistently in the absence of any actual movement over mental tasks that might also produce more heterogeneous amounts of physical movements due to variations in the severity of deficits among subjects. Therefore, while these early systems established a precedent of motor imagery as a standard method for training with motor-oriented BCI devices, this tradition does not preclude the ability of an individual to control the device with mental tasks other than motor imagery and even with brain regions anatomically distinct from the sensorimotor cortical areas that are often used (Felton et al., 2007).

BCI devices that rely on motor imagery continue to be used today for both rehabilitative (Buch et al., 2008; Daly et al., 2009; Broetz et al., 2010; Prasad et al., 2010; Caria et al., 2011; Shindo et al., 2011; Varkuti et al., 2013) and augmentative (Kubler et al., 2005) purposes, although newer systems have also incorporated actual movement into their protocols using BCI systems for rehabilitative purposes with some success (Daly et al., 2009; Prasad et al., 2010; Takahashi et al., 2012; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013; Mukaino et al., 2014). While therapy using our BCI system encourages actual attempted movements rather than imagined movements during both open-loop and closed-loop conditions, we believe that this system can still be classified as a BCI as the feedback provided by the device is controlled purely by neural signals detected by EEG, creating a real time interface between the brain and the computer-generated stimuli.

Subjects were then taught to perform a closed-loop task during which real time visual feedback was presented to help the subject learn to modulate cortical activity during attempted movement of each hand. This feedback was presented in the context of a game. The subject was instructed to move a cursor onto a target area. Target areas were presented on either the left or right side of the screen, and subjects were instructed to use movement of the left or right hand to move the cursor in the left or right direction respectively. Lateral cursor movement was determined by the subject's real time EEG signals, with cortical activity associated with attempted left (right) hand movement translating to leftward (rightward) movement of the cursor. At each therapy session, subjects first completed a goal of at least 10 runs, each run consisting of 8–12 trials and each trial presenting one of four targets, with visual feedback alone as described.

After approximately 10 trials with visual feedback alone, functional electrical stimulation and tongue stimulation were added to the same game play task. Functional electrical stimulation was applied to the muscles of the impaired arm and triggered such that electrical stimulus was only delivered when appropriate neural activity signals corresponding to attempted movement of the impaired hand were detected on EEG during a trial in which it was necessary to move the cursor toward a target on the impaired side of the body. Tongue stimulation paralleled the spatial information of visual feedback, providing continuous electrotactile stimulation of the tongue on an electrode grid during each trial. Stimulus delivered in areas of the tongue stimulation grid represented the positions of the cursor and target on screen.

Subjects were allowed to take short breaks between trials if desired or upon request. In order to keep the sessions more interesting, game dynamics (e.g., size of the target) could be changed to make the task more difficult once subjects achieved adequate cursor control and accuracy (approximately 70% of targets attained) at a given level of difficulty. Similarly, if a subject who had previously been advanced to a more difficult level of game play showed a sudden reduction in their ability to control the cursor, the level of difficulty could be reduced temporarily as the subject reattained sufficient control to increase the proportion of targets attained. These adjustments were made to help keep the subject engaged at a task that is consistently challenging enough to minimize boredom but not so challenging that the subject loses motivation.

MRI TASK INSTRUCTIONS

Subjects were scanned during a block-design task fMRI during which they were instructed to alternate finger tapping of the impaired hand with rest in 20 s blocks. Cues to the tap and rest conditions were given using either visual or tactile cues. Subjects unable to generate tapping movements on their own performed assisted tapping during tap blocks. For both functional and anatomical scans, subjects were instructed to lie still and attempt to minimize any head movements.

MRI ACQUISITION AND PROCESSING

All MR images were acquired on one of two GE MR750 3T scanners (GE, Milwaukee, Wisconsin) equipped with high-speed gradients and using an 8-channel head coil. Padding around subjects' heads was used to help minimize movement. Functional scans were obtained using a T2*-weighted gradient-echo echo planar imaging (EPI) pulse sequence sensitive to BOLD contrast: field of view 224 mm, matrix 64×64 , TR 2600 ms, TE 22 ms, flip angle 60°, acquiring 40 axial plane slices of 3.5 mm thickness with 3.5 mm spacing between slices. In total, 70 sequential whole-brain acquisitions were recorded during each functional scan. A T1-weighted high-resolution anatomical image was also obtained during each scanning session using a BRAVO FSPGR pulse sequence: field of view 256 mm, matrix 256 \times 256, TR 8.16 ms, TE 3.18 ms, flip angle 12°, and 156 axial plane slices of 1 mm thickness with 1 mm spacing between slices.

All processing and pre-processing of MR scans was performed using Analysis of Functional NeuroImages (AFNI; Cox, 1996). The first four volumes of each functional scan were removed to allow for signal stabilization. Functional data sets were motion corrected and spatially smoothed at 6 mm with a full width at half maximum Gaussian kernel. Each voxel time-series was scaled to a mean of 100, and six motion parameters were regressed out. EPI data sets were visually inspected for alignment with anatomical T1 datasets, using align_epi_anat.py to align the anatomical T1 scan to the EPI data set if alignment was not acceptable upon first inspection.

Each of seven regions previously identified as components of the motor network (Shirer et al., 2012) was seeded with an ROI of radius 6 mm. Regions were the left thalamus, right thalamus, left primary motor cortex, right primary motor cortex, right supplementary motor area, left cerebellum, and right cerebellum. Whole-brain connectivity analyses to each seed region were conducted using the motion regressed residual time-series derived from the functional scans. Whole-brain connectivity maps were then transformed into a standardized brain space (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988). For the two subjects with right-sided stroke lesions, images were flipped along the mid-sagittal line so that in group-level comparisons the left hemisphere was ipsilesional and the right hemisphere was contralesional.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All statistical analyses were conducted using either AFNI (Cox, 1996) software or in *R* statistical software (version 3.0.1). A paired *t*-test was used to identify areas of significant connectivity change at the group level. Maps were cluster corrected for multiple comparisons, with minimal cluster size 300 voxels, and thresholded at $t \ge 2.366$ (p < 0.05). Within-subject correlation matrices for the 21 ($7 \times (7 - 1)/2$) pairs of ROI seeds were computed from motion regressed residual time-series for each subject. The Fisher *Z*-transform was applied to each of these correlation coefficients to produce measures of an approximately normal distribution, and these transformed coefficients were then used in all subsequent analyses.

Average network connectivity was calculated by averaging all 21 transformed correlation coefficients representing functional connections between each pair of seeds in the motor network. Connections were classified as either interhemispheric or intrahemispheric, and these groups were analyzed for differences using linear mixed effects modeling.

Changes from pre-therapy baseline in correlation strength between each pair of seed regions were analyzed for correlation with changes from baseline behavioral measures. This was done first by calculating Pearson's r and applying fdr correction to the resulting *p*-values obtained for each correlation examined, making the assumption of independence among data points. Recognizing that these data follow the same individuals at multiple time points and are therefore not truly independent, a follow-up analysis of correlations found to be significant using Pearson's r and fdr correction was conducted using generalized estimating equations (GEE), which does account for the repeated measures component of the data collected but requires the assumption that an independent and dependent variable can be named in the model. Subjects that exhibited floor or ceiling effects in behavioral measures were excluded from correlation analyses of that measure.

RESULTS

BEHAVIORAL MEASURES

Group performance on each of the four behavioral measures assessed is summarized in **Table 1**. No significant group differences in behavioral measures were found when comparing mid-therapy, post-therapy, and 1 month post therapy assessment scores with pre-therapy baseline measures in any of the four behavioral outcomes. The average amount of change observed in behavioral measures during the pre-therapy period and

Table 1 | Group averages on each of four behavioral measures at each of four time points.

	ARAT	9-HPT	SIS ADL	SIS HF
	(points)	(seconds)	(score)	(score)
Pre-therapy	27.78 (9.06)	52.59 (7.89)	68.06 (6.30)	26.11 (9.67)
Mid-therapy	26.44 (8.60)	52.10 (7.53)	72.22 (6.28)	30.56 (10.59)
Post-therapy	28.11 (9.03)	53.13 (6.70)	68.89 (5.59)	28.89 (10.30)
One month after BCI therapy	25.38 (10.09)	41.33 (7.00)	70.31 (6.02)	25.31 (10.74)

Numbers shown are group averages with standard error of the mean in parentheses. Scores for ARAT, SIS ADL, and SIS HF reflect data from all nine subjects. Scores for 9-HPT reflect values of only the four subjects who were able to complete the task within the allotted 5 min. ARAT = Action Research Arm Test, 9-HPT = Nine-Hole Peg Test, SIS ADL = Stroke Impact Scale—Activities of Daily Living, SIS HF = Stroke Impact Scale—Hand Function.

Table 2 Average change observed during pre-therapy and BCI therapy periods for each of four subjects with additional behaviora
assessments prior to the start of BCI therapy.

	ARAT (points)		9-HPT (seconds)		SIS-ADL (score)		SIS-HF (score)	
Subject	Pre- Therapy	BCI Therapy	Pre- Therapy	BCI Therapy	Pre- Therapy	BCI Therapy	Pre- Therapy	BCI Therapy
Α	Floor	Floor	Unable	Unable	-11.67	5	1.67	-5
В	-0.33	2.5	-33.51	-3.49	-2.5	3.75	-1.67	0
С	2.67	10	Unable	Unable	-11.67	2.5	0	26.67
D	2	-4.33	-26.11	17.52	-2.5	-21.67	18.33	-21.67

Floor = a floor effect was observed in which the subject was unable to score points for the measure at any time point assessed. Unable = subject was unable to perform the task within the allotted 5 min time period. ARAT = Action Research Arm Test, 9-HPT = Nine-Hole Peg Test, SIS ADL = Stroke Impact Scale—Activities of Daily Living, SIS HF = Stroke Impact Scale—Hand Function.

during the BCI therapy period for each of the four subjects who completed three additional behavioral assessments prior to the start of BCI therapy is presented in **Table 2**. Changes for these subjects during the pre-therapy period were smaller in magnitude for the ARAT and SIS HF scores. Average change in SIS ADL was negative for all four subjects during the waitlist period, with positive changes noted during the BCI therapy period in three of the four.

BCI PERFORMANCE RESULTS

The average performance accuracy across all subjects for the BCI cursor task for each session is shown in Figure 1A. Subjects were able to consistently maintain an average accuracy above 0.5, meaning that on average subjects were able to successfully control the cursor well enough to achieve successful target attainment in over half the trials. This maintenance of greater than 50% overall accuracy throughout the therapy period was accompanied by a general increase in the average Fitts's Index of Difficulty (Fitts, 1954) for each session, as can be seen in Figure 1B. The pattern of relatively constant accuracy over sessions along with a general increase in difficulty is consistent with the method of increasing task difficulty at an individualized pace, advancing individual subjects to more difficult game play parameters once they able to increase accuracy on individual runs to approximately 70%. Individually, a binomial test of each subject's performance showed individual accuracies across all completed non-adaptive runs to be significantly greater than chance (p < 0.05 for each subject). Due to a computer error, BCI performance data was lost for a small number of runs; however, these lost runs represented less

than 4% of all applicable data and were not known to be different from the remaining 96% of runs used in the analysis presented.

fMRI WHOLE-BRAIN CONNECTIVITY ANALYSIS

Maps of significant increases in FC to thalamic seed regions are shown in **Figure 2**. At mid-therapy, increases in FC were noted between the ipsilesional thalamus seed and parts of the bilateral precuneus and bilateral cingulate. Increases were also noted between the contralesional thalamus and the contralesional cerebellum as well as with the bilateral precuneus. Upon completion of BCI therapy, increases were noted between the ipsilesional thalamus and the contralesional cingulate, contralateral paracentral lobule, and the bilateral precuneus. Increases were also noted between the contralesional thalamus and the bilateral anterior cingulate and the ipsilesional superior and middle frontal gyri. Significant group-level changes in FC at mid-therapy and as well as upon completion of therapy were not observed for other seed regions.

NETWORK CONNECTIVITY ANALYSIS

The average connection strength over the entire network was increased from baseline upon completion of BCI therapy, but this increase was not statistically significant. No individual connections within the network showed significant changes from baseline at the group level during the study period.

Analyses of the interhemispheric and intrahemispheric components of the network showed no significant differences between the two types of connections in connection strength or in patterns of change over the study period. As shown in **Figure 3**, the



average within-subject interhemispheric connection strength correlated with average within-subject intrahemispheric connection strength using a Pearson's *r* calculation (R^2 range 0.77–0.95; p < 0.002 at all four time points).

BEHAVIORAL CORRELATIONS WITH CHANGES IN MOTOR NETWORK CONNECTIVITY

Changes from pre-therapy baseline in average within-subject network connectivity across the pre-, mid-, post-, and 1 month aftertherapy time points correlated to changes in all four behavioral measures using Pearson's *r*. As shown in **Table 3**, these relationships remained significant using a GEE approach for the 9-HPT (**Figure 4A**), SIS ADL (**Figure 4B**), and SIS HF (**Figure 4C**) measures.

BEHAVIORAL CORRELATIONS WITH CHANGES IN INDIVIDUAL CONNECTION STRENGTHS

A summary of Pearson's correlations found to be significant after fdr correction that also survived GEE analysis between changes in individual connection strength within the motor network and changes in behavioral scores is presented in **Table 4**. At least one connection achieved significance using both methods for each of the four behavioral measures examined. Of these connections, the majority were connections involving either the ipsilesional or contralesional thalamus.

DISCUSSION

The results of these preliminary analyses are suggestive of a relationship between the changes in FC and those in behavioral outcomes observed with the administration of BCI therapy. Although no significant behavioral gains were demonstrated at the group level, behavioral measure changes during the pre-therapy and BCI therapy periods for subjects assessed at additional time points prior to intervention suggest that on the individual level there may still be a differential response to therapy using the BCI system not explained by practice effects on different behavioral tasks. The lack of significant group changes over the course of the therapy period in overall FC at the network and connection levels may be due to the small number of individuals included in these analyses, rendering them underpowered to identify more subtle changes that may have been present.

The thalamus is a component of the motor network (Shirer et al., 2012) that lesion studies in both primates (Bornschlegl and Asanuma, 1987; Canavan et al., 1989) and humans (Lee and Marsden, 1994) have shown to be important for normal motor learning and motor function. In the context of motor recovery after stroke, increases in ipsilesional thalamic activation have been shown to correlate with motor performance in chronic stroke patients undergoing treadmill training (Enzinger et al., 2009), and abnormalities in resting-state FC with the thalamus have been found in stroke patients, with some of these connections found to correlate with motor outcomes (Wang et al., 2010; Park et al., 2011). One longitudinal study of subcortical stroke patients observed changes in FC between the ipsilesional thalamus and contralesional areas that correlated with functional outcomes during the first year following stroke (Wang et al., 2010). Another study focusing on supratentorial stroke patients found increased FC between the ipsilesional motor cortex and the bilateral thalamus compared to healthy controls, with FC between the ipsilesional motor cortex and the contralesional thalamus correlating positively with motor recovery 6 months following stroke (Park et al., 2011).

While the use of an EEG-guided BCI device rewards the modulation of largely cortical neural activity without direct feedback intended to target subcortical activity due to the nature of EEG, the finding of significant changes in FC to each thalamus in these patients indicates that changes in thalamic FC may be encouraged by the brain-driven nature of BCI therapy. These increases may relate to the fact that feedback from the BCI device used in this study is controlled in part by desynchronization of the mu rhythm over the sensorimotor cortex, which is thought to be produced by thalamocortical circuits (Niedermeyer and da Silva, 2005). Furthermore, it is possible that the achievement-based constraints of the BCI-guided task employed in this therapy, which encourages and rewards appropriate cortical activity with the attainment of a target that can be counted or scored, contribute to this effect. The areas observed to have increased FC to the ipsilesional and



FIGURE 2 | Areas of group-level increases from pre-therapy baseline in FC to seeds in the ipsilesional (A, C) and contralesional (B, D) thalami observed mid-therapy and upon completion of therapy. Hemispheres shown on the right side in the image correspond to the ipsilesional hemisphere.



contralesional thalami in this study, in particular the precuneus, cerebellum, cingulate, and anterior cingulate, have been implicated in a number of cognitive processes including visuospatial imagery (Cavanna and Trimble, 2006; Timmann

and Daum, 2007), motor coordination and learning (Fine et al., 2002), attention (Timmann and Daum, 2007), learning (Bussey et al., 1996), memory (Kozlovskiy et al., 2012), and reward-based learning (Shenhav et al., 2013). These results suggest that a learning process may constitute a critical component of therapy using this BCI device.

Subject performance on the BCI task, which was maintained a relatively constant accuracy over sessions while task difficulty gradually increased with time (**Figure 1**), also supports the hypothesis that therapy using this BCI system promotes an adaptive learning process. In this experiment, subjects effectively learned to achieve greater and greater degrees of neuromodulatory control in order to regain a target level of accuracy when faced with increasingly difficult tasks. In contrast to the phenomena of learned non-use sometimes observed in stroke survivors (Taub, 1976), BCI therapy allows for the practice of modulating behavioral, muscular, and neuronal output for goal attainment in a novel learning environment with multi-modal feedback. If viewed as an operant conditioning mechanism, BCI therapy may thereby facilitate neuroplasticity through this reinforcement of central-peripheral connections (Hebb, 2005).

That the connections found to correlate in degree of change with changes in behavioral outcomes were also largely thalamic connections further underscores the importance of

Measure	Pearson's r	Correlation <i>p</i> -value	GEE <i>p</i> -value
ARAT	-0.458	0.049*	0.345
9-HPT	-0.640	0.010*	$3.303 \times 10^{-6*}$
SIS ADL	0.635	$1.023 \times 10^{-4*}$	$1.796 \times 10^{-4*}$
SIS HF	0.518	0.011*	0.038*

*Significant at p < 0.05. ARAT = Action Research Arm Test, 9-HPT = Nine-Hole Peg Test, SIS ADL = Stroke Impact Scale—Activities of Daily Living, SIS HF = Stroke Impact Scale—Hand Function.

understanding the role of thalamic FC in the process of motor recovery after stroke. An examination of the relationships between these individual connections-thalamic and non-thalamic-and the behavioral measures studied also shows that both adaptive and maladaptive changes may have been present. Namely, while performance on most behavioral measures studied tended to improve with improved FC strength, ARAT performance was negatively correlated with increased connectivity between the ipsilesional thalamus and ipsilesional cerebellum and between the contralesional primary motor cortex and the contralesional supplemental motor area. The simultaneous development of adaptive and maladaptive changes in functional connection strengths during the process of stroke recovery has been documented in a previous study (Wang et al., 2010) similar to the findings presented here, while others have identified changes in FC that may facilitate motor recovery (Rosso et al., 2013). The role of such changes in the process of stroke recovery and the way in which such changes may be modulated through the use of traditional and experimental rehabilitative therapies remains to be fully characterized and understood. However, the presence of both adaptive and maladaptive connections may represent a period in an ongoing recovery process in which both types of connections are formed and subsequently modified, similar to that of synaptic pruning and strengthening observed during the learning and aging processes of normal development (Hebb, 2005).

Another factor that may have contributed to the development of maladaptive functional connections is the possibility that insufficient or unreliable feedback from the BCI device, which might be evidenced by poor BCI task performance, could result in frustrating the participant with the unintentional reinforcement of maladaptive neural activity patterns. While the subjects in this study were able to perform significantly better than chance when using the BCI device, performance accuracy was not necessarily at or above 70%-a common threshold used to indicate adequate BCI control. However, the use of 70% as a threshold for BCI performance appears to stem from earlier studies in which this level of accuracy was needed for communication using a Language Support Program (Kubler et al., 2001, 2005). There appears to be less evidence supporting the use of 70% as a threshold for performance accuracy when no communicative purpose is intended for the BCI system, and in fact significant variation in individual ability to control similar BCI cursor tasks can persist even after 10 sessions of training (McFarland et al., 2005).



It is also known that at least some of the literature exploring human performance in BCI tasks demonstrating consistent performance greater than 70% tends to be biased in favor of good performers. This bias stems from the fact that poor performers are seldom invited to return for further testing (Fazli et al., 2009), do

Behavioral Measure	Seed-seed Covariation	Pearson's r	Correlation fdr-corrected <i>p</i> -value	GEE analysis <i>p</i> -value
9-HPT	l thalamus—C primary motor cortex	-0.669	0.023	0.009
	l thalamus—l primary motor cortex	-0.678	0.023	8.123×10^{-75}
	C thalamus—C primary motor cortex	-0.851	6.36×10^{-4}	1.110×10^{-6}
ARAT	l thalamus—l cerebellum	-0.677	0.011	0.027
	C primary motor cortex—C supplementary motor area	-0.677	0.011	7.213 × 10 ⁻⁵
SIS HF	l thalamus—C cerebellum	0.790	8.028×10^{-5}	0.006
	l cerebellum—C cerebellum	0.547	0.025	0.016
	l thalamus—l primary motor cortex	0.632	0.007	0.003
SIS ADL	C thalamus—C primary motor cortex	0.686	2.315×10^{-4}	0.001

Table 4 | Correlations between changes in connection strength of individual motor network functional connections and changes in behavioral outcome measures.

I = ipsilesional, C = contralesional, ARAT = Action Research Arm Test, 9-HPT = Nine-Hole Peg Test, SIS ADL = Stroke Impact Scale—Activities of Daily Living, SIS HF = Stroke Impact Scale—Hand Function.

not always have their performance accuracy reported (McFarland et al., 2008), and are not always allowed to continue the full course of BCI training, thereby excluding them from final accuracy reports (Wolpaw et al., 1991). In studies with no indication that good performers have been preferentially enrolled, accuracies over approximately 20 or more training sessions on BCI cursor tasks can range from just above 20% to >90% depending on game play parameters and individual performance (Wolpaw and Mcfarland, 1994, 2004; McFarland and Wolpaw, 2003). Furthermore, game play parameters were dynamically adjusted in this study to make the game more difficult as subjects achieved 70% accuracy at a given level or difficulty. Therefore, subject performance in this study is not necessarily expected to be at or above 70% when averaged over all trials because subjects were not given the opportunity to perform with greater than 70-80% accuracy for long stretches of training without game difficulty increasing.

While subject performance accuracy is readily calculable based on the numbers of successful and unsuccessful trials, it is more difficult to assess the accuracy of the feedback presented based on task performance. This is because a subject may fail to achieve greater than 70% accuracy even with a perfectly calibrated BCI feedback system if the individual's ability to modulate their Mu/Beta desynchronization is not well controlled. Still, it may be that imperfect feedback effectively lowered the performance accuracy of the subjects studied, thereby frustrating the subjects and affecting subject motivation and engagement with the therapy task. Imperfect feedback may also have contributed to the formation of the maladaptive changes in FC observed, potentially rewarding suboptimal patterns of neural activity during movement attempts or discouraging patterns that would have been truly optimal. Nevertheless, it is worth noting that even imperfect feedback during BCI therapy would constitute a more reliable form of neurofeedback than the absence of such feedback that is available during standard of care therapies such as traditional physical and occupational therapy.

It will be key in future studies to determine whether the rehabilitative effects of BCI therapy can be adequately achieved with the attempted use of an imperfect feedback system or if both feedback accuracy and subject performance accuracy should be further optimized before additional feedback modalities and increased task difficulty are applied. In conducting the experiment described in this paper, many subjects actually expressed a desire for the task to be made more difficult so that the game was not "too easy" or "boring", even in cases where the participants were not consistently achieving 80-100% accuracy. Changes in game parameters to increase task difficulty appeared to help keep subjects engaged with the BCI therapy. To this end, future studies may also serve to better characterize the tradeoff between increased thresholds for feedback and performance accuracy and the benefits of maintaining subject engagement and motivation throughout the therapy period.

There has been much interest in understanding the relative contributions of interhemispheric and intrahemispheric FC to motor recovery after stroke. Studies of acute stroke patients have shown decreases in interhemispheric connectivity in the motor cortex compared to healthy controls (Carter et al., 2010; Golestani et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2014). Such disruptions have been shown to correlate with ARAT performance in the acute stage of stroke only when interhemispheric connections are considered (Carter et al., 2010). Similarly, increases in interhemispheric but not intrahemispheric FC between homologous regions of the primary sensorimotor cortex have been shown to correlate with Motricity Index scores during the first year of recovery (Xu et al., 2014), and some patients with full recovery 90 days after stroke show a return to normal motor connectivity within the same time frame (Golestani et al., 2013). Homotopic interhemispheric connectivity of the motor cortex has also been shown to correlate with motor function in chronic stroke patients (Chen and Schlaug, 2013; Urbin et al., 2014). Our analysis found no such differentiation between interhemispheric and intrahemispheric functional connections, suggesting that the

BCI therapy administered contributed to brain-behavior changes mediated by a whole-network effect, with both individual intrahemispheric and interhemispheric connections showing significant relationships with behavioral gains. Nevertheless, it may be worth noting that both individual functional connections found to be negatively correlated with changes in ARAT performance were intrahemispheric. Few studies have explored changes in FC with BCI therapy. In one study, increases in FC between the bilateral supplemental motor area and areas beyond the motor network correlated positively with gains in Fugl-Meyer scores after BCI therapy (Varkuti et al., 2013). Future studies of FC changes after stroke with spontaneous and facilitated recovery will enhance the understanding of how these changes relate to motor gains and how such relationships may differ based on patient and therapy characteristics.

At the network level, it has been suggested that motor recovery following stroke may be enhanced with reactivation of the motor network along with therapy that allows for adaptive motor network reorganization (Calautti and Baron, 2003). The strong correlation between the average strengths of inter- and intrahemispheric connections throughout the therapy period also supports the idea that the changes in FC seen with BCI therapy in this group of subjects were effected at the whole-network level rather than through the selective strengthening or weakening of one class of connections. Increases in connectivity within the motor network also correlated to changes in 9-HPT performance as well as changes in SIS ADL and SIS HF scores. It is important to note that this relationship with 9-HPT performance can only be said to exist among the higher-functioning subjects included in the study, as those with more significant impairments were unable to complete the assessment and therefore omitted from the analysis. While different patterns of FC change have been documented in severely impaired stroke patients relative to their mildly impaired counterparts (Rosso et al., 2013), the persistence of significant relationships between motor network connectivity and 9-HPT performance as well as with the subjective SIS domain scores, which included subjects at all levels of impairment, suggests the presence of a similar effect in the more impaired subjects as well. Furthermore, the difference in behavioral measure changes during the pre-therapy period relative to those observed during the BCI therapy period hints that the BCI therapy administered may be implicated in the effect.

Unfortunately it is not possible at this time to make statistical comparisons with the limited amount of data from subjects who underwent additional assessments during a pre-therapy period, which would allow for a clearer understanding of the effect of the BCI therapy administered. It is similarly difficult to disambiguate the relative contributions of the various components of therapy using this BCI system to the effects observed. This study remains limited in that it cannot establish the degree to which the changes observed are attributable to the neurofeedback aspect of the BCI therapy and how much of these same phenomena may be due to other aspects of therapy with this system, such as repetitive practice or functional electrical stimulation. Nevertheless, BCI performance results suggest that participant engagement with the neurofeedback task persisted throughout the therapy period, and both BCI performance and neuroimaging findings support the existence of an active learning process over the course of therapy as previously discussed. Therefore, it would seem that the neurofeedback component of BCI therapy is likely to contribute to the effects described in this study, as it demands consistent engagement from each participant and is the only component of the BCI system described that allows for reward-based neuromodulatory training.

Other limitations of this work include the use of a relatively small sample of heterogeneous subjects, which may have resulted in some analyses being insufficiently powered to detect smaller changes or more subtle relationships, especially after floor and ceiling effects were accounted for in analyses that incorporated behavioral data. The brain-behavior relationships observed also remain correlational, with potential causal mechanisms underlying these relationships only speculative based on the data available. To help address some of these issues, future work will aim to study larger cohorts with a more robust seeding of the motor network in order to allow for a more thorough representation of motor network regions and a better description of the FC changes that occur. Future studies will also benefit from the incorporation of data from a larger pre-therapy or control group in order to differentiate the effects of the BCI therapy from other factors such as practice effects, as well as from designs in which groups receiving passive repetitive stimuli can be compared to groups receiving stimuli triggered by neurofeedback in order to better isolate the effect of the neurofeedback component of these types of devices. As the understanding of the mechanisms by which BCI therapies may induce changes in both FC and behavioral motor function improves, these insights may be used to guide the development of future devices better targeted to the needs of the patients who use them.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Brittany M. Young assisted in subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Zack Nigogosyan assisted with data collection and writing. Alexander Remsik assisted with data collection and writing. Léo M. Walton assisted with data collection and writing. Jie Song assisted with subject recruitment and data collection. Veena A. Nair assisted with subject recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Scott W. Grogan assisted in data collection. Mitchell E. Tyler provided TDU hardware and expertise. Dorothy F. Edwards assisted with study design and data analysis. Kristin Caldera assisted with subject recruitment. Justin A. Sattin assisted with study design and subject recruitment. Justin C. Williams is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the technical and engineering aspects of the work. Vivek Prabhakaran is one of two lead PI's on this project and supervised the neuroimaging and neuroscience aspects of this work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all of our study subjects and their families for their participation and support. We would also like to thank our study coordinators Jenny Swartz, Amanda Kolterman, and Tally Mitchell, our MRI technicians Sara John and Jenelle Fuller, and our statistician consultant Alejandro Munoz del Rio. Thanks to Hui-Chun (Ruby) Chen and colleagues in the Occupational Therapy program for assistance with behavioral
assessment and electrode placement during therapy sessions. Thanks also to Cong Han Lim for technical assistance. This work was supported by NIH grants RC1MH090912-01, T32GM008692, UL1TR000427, K23NS086852, T32EB011434, R01EB000856-06, and R01EB009103-01 and by the DARPA RCI Program (MTO) N66001-12-C-4025 and HIST Program (MTO) N66001-11-14013. Additional funding was also provided through a Coulter Translational Research Award, an American Heart Association Postdoctoral Fellow Research Award, the American Heart Association Grant 1T32EB011434-01A1, the Foundation of ASNR, UW Milwaukee-Madison Intercampus Grants, the UW Graduate School, and by Shapiro Foundation Grants.

REFERENCES

- Beebe, J. A., and Lang, C. E. (2009). Relationships and responsiveness of six upper extremity function tests during the first six months of recovery after stroke. *J. Neurol. Phys. Ther.* 33, 96–103. doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e3181a33638
- Biswal, B., Yetkin, F. Z., Haughton, V. M., and Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 34, 537–541. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Bornschlegl, M., and Asanuma, H. (1987). Importance of the projection from the sensory to the motor cortex for recovery of motor function following partial thalamic lesion in the monkey. *Brain Res.* 437, 121–130. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(87)91533-2
- Broetz, D., Braun, C., Weber, C., Soekadar, S. R., Caria, A., and Birbaumer, N. (2010). Combination of brain-computer interface training and goal-directed physical therapy in chronic stroke: a case report. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair.* 24, 674–679. doi: 10.1177/1545968310368683
- Buch, E., Weber, C., Cohen, L. G., Braun, C., Dimyan, M. A., Ard, T., et al. (2008). Think to move: a neuromagnetic brain-computer interface (BCI) system for chronic stroke. *Stroke* 39, 910–917. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.505313
- Bussey, T. J., Muir, J. L., Everitt, B. J., and Robbins, T. W. (1996). Dissociable effects of anterior and posterior cingulate cortex lesions on the acquisition of a conditional visual discrimination: facilitation of early learning vs. impairment of late learning. *Behav. Brain Res.* 82, 45–56. doi: 10.1016/s0166-4328(97) 81107-2
- Calautti, C., and Baron, J. C. (2003). Functional neuroimaging studies of motor recovery after stroke in adults: a review. *Stroke* 34, 1553–1566. doi: 10.1161/01. str.0000071761.36075.a6
- Canavan, A. G., Nixon, P. D., and Passingham, R. E. (1989). Motor learning in monkeys (Macaca fascicularis) with lesions in motor thalamus. *Exp. Brain Res.* 77, 113–126. doi: 10.1007/bf00250573
- Caria, A., Weber, C., Brotz, D., Ramos, A., Ticini, L. F., Gharabaghi, A., et al. (2011). Chronic stroke recovery after combined BCI training and physiotherapy: a case report. *Psychophysiology* 48, 578–582. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01117.x
- Carod-Artal, F. J., Coral, L. F., Trizotto, D. S., and Moreira, C. M. (2008). The stroke impact scale 3.0: evaluation of acceptability, reliability and validity of the Brazilian version. *Stroke* 39, 2477–2484. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.513671
- Carroll, D. (1965). A quantitative test of upper extremity function. J. Chronic Dis. 18, 479–491. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(65)90030-5
- Carter, A. R., Astafiev, S. V., Lang, C. E., Connor, L. T., Rengachary, J., Strube, M. J., et al. (2010). Resting interhemispheric functional magnetic resonance imaging connectivity predicts performance after stroke. *Ann. Neurol.* 67, 365– 375. doi: 10.1002/ana.21905
- Cavanna, A. E., and Trimble, M. R. (2006). The precuneus: a review of its functional anatomy and behavioural correlates. *Brain* 129, 564–583. doi: 10. 1093/brain/awl004
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2011). Ten great public health achievements—United States, 2001–2010. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 60, 619–623.
- Chen, J. L., and Schlaug, G. (2013). Resting state interhemispheric motor connectivity and white matter integrity correlate with motor impairment in chronic stroke. *Front. Neurol.* 4:178. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2013.00178
- Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Comput. Biomed. Res.* 29, 162–173. doi: 10. 1006/cbmr.1996.0014

- Daly, J. J., Cheng, R., Rogers, J., Litinas, K., Hrovat, K., and Dohring, M. (2009). Feasibility of a new application of noninvasive Brain Computer Interface (BCI): a case study of training for recovery of volitional motor control after stroke. *J. Neurol. Phys. Ther.* 33, 203–211. doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e3181 c1fc0b
- Duncan, P. W., Wallace, D., Lai, S. M., Johnson, D., Embretson, S., and Laster, L. J. (1999). The stroke impact scale version 2.0. Evaluation of reliability, validity and sensitivity to change. *Stroke* 30, 2131–2140. doi: 10.1161/01.str.30.10.2131
- Enzinger, C., Dawes, H., Johansen-Berg, H., Wade, D., Bogdanovic, M., Collett, J., et al. (2009). Brain activity changes associated with treadmill training after stroke. *Stroke* 40, 2460–2467. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.550053
- Fazli, S., Popescu, F., Danoczy, M., Blankertz, B., Muller, K. R., and Grozea, C. (2009). Subject-independent mental state classification in single trials. *Neural Netw.* 22, 1305–1312. doi: 10.1016/j.neunet.2009.06.003
- Felton, E. A., Wilson, J. A., Williams, J. C., and Garell, P. C. (2007). Electrocorticographically controlled brain-computer interfaces using motor and sensory imagery in patients with temporary subdural electrode implants. Report of four cases. J. Neurosurg. 106, 495–500. doi: 10.3171/jns.2007.106.3.495
- Fine, E. J., Ionita, C. C., and Lohr, L. (2002). The history of the development of the cerebellar examination. *Semin. Neurol.* 22, 375–384. doi: 10.1055/s-2002-36759
- Fitts, P. M. (1954). The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. J. Exp. Psychol. 47, 381–391. doi: 10. 1037/h0055392
- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Blaha, M. J., et al. (2014). Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics—2014 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 129, 399– 410. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000442015.53336.12
- Golestani, A. M., Tymchuk, S., Demchuk, A., and Goodyear, B. G. (2013). Longitudinal evaluation of resting-state FMRI after acute stroke with hemiparesis. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 27, 153–163. doi: 10.1177/1545968312457827
- Grefkes, C., and Fink, G. R. (2011). Reorganization of cerebral networks after stroke: new insights from neuroimaging with connectivity approaches. *Brain* 134, 1264–1276. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr033
- Hebb, D. O. (2005). The Organization of Behavior: A Neuropsychological Theory. London: Taylor and Francis.
- James, G. A., Lu, Z. L., VanMeter, J. W., Sathian, K., Hu, X. P., and Butler, A. J. (2009). Changes in resting state effective connectivity in the motor network following rehabilitation of upper extremity poststroke paresis. *Top. Stroke Rehabil.* 16, 270–281. doi: 10.1310/tsr1604-270
- Jiang, L., Xu, H., and Yu, C. (2013). Brain connectivity plasticity in the motor network after ischemic stroke. *Neural Plast.* 2013:924192. doi: 10.1155/2013/ 924192
- Kelly-Hayes, M., Beiser, A., Kase, C. S., Scaramucci, A., D'agostino, R. B., and Wolf, P. A. (2003). The influence of gender and age on disability following ischemic stroke: the Framingham study. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 12, 119–126. doi: 10. 1016/s1052-3057(03)00042-9
- Kozlovskiy, S. A., Vartanov, A. V., Nikonova, E. Y., Pyasik, M. M., and Velichkovsky, B. M. (2012). The cingulate cortex and human memory processes. *Psychol. Russia State Art* 5, 231–243. doi: 10.11621/pir.2012.0014
- Kubler, A., Neumann, N., Kaiser, J., Kotchoubey, B., Hinterberger, T., and Birbaumer, N. P. (2001). Brain-computer communication: self-regulation of slow cortical potentials for verbal communication. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 82, 1533–1539. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2001.26621
- Kubler, A., Nijboer, F., Mellinger, J., Vaughan, T. M., Pawelzik, H., Schalk, G., et al. (2005). Patients with ALS can use sensorimotor rhythms to operate a braincomputer interface. *Neurology* 64, 1775–1777. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000158616. 43002.6d
- Lackland, D. T., Roccella, E. J., Deutsch, A. F., Fornage, M., George, M. G., Howard, G., et al. (2014). Factors influencing the decline in stroke mortality: a statement from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* 45, 315–353. doi: 10.1161/01.str.0000437068.30550.cf
- Lang, C. E., Wagner, J. M., Dromerick, A. W., and Edwards, D. F. (2006). Measurement of upper-extremity function early after stroke: properties of the action research arm test. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 87, 1605–1610. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr. 2006.09.003
- Lee, M. S., and Marsden, C. D. (1994). Movement disorders following lesions of the thalamus or subthalamic region. *Mov. Disord.* 9, 493–507. doi: 10.1002/mds. 870090502

- Leuthardt, E. C., Schalk, G., Wolpaw, J. R., Ojemann, J. G., and Moran, D. W. (2004). A brain-computer interface using electrocorticographic signals in humans. J. Neural Eng. 1, 63–71. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/1/2/001
- Liu, M., Fujiwara, T., Shindo, K., Kasashima, Y., Otaka, Y., Tsuji, T., et al. (2012). Newer challenges to restore hemiparetic upper extremity after stroke: HANDS therapy and BMI neurorehabilitation. *Hong Kong Physiother. J.* 30, 83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.hkpj.2012.05.001
- McFarland, D. J., Krusienski, D. J., Sarnacki, W. A., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2008). Emulation of computer mouse control with a noninvasive brain-computer interface. J. Neural Eng. 5, 101–110. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/5/2/001
- McFarland, D. J., Sarnacki, W. A., Vaughan, T. M., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2005). Braincomputer interface (BCI) operation: signal and noise during early training sessions. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 116, 56–62. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2004.07.004
- McFarland, D. J., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2003). EEG-based communication and control: speed-accuracy relationships. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 28, 217– 231. doi: 10.1023/A:1024685214655
- Mukaino, M., Ono, T., Shindo, K., Fujiwara, T., Ota, T., Kimura, A., et al. (2014). Efficacy of brain-computer interface-driven neuromuscular electrical stimulation for chronic paresis after stroke. J. Rehabil. Med. 46, 378–382. doi: 10. 2340/16501977-1785
- Niedermeyer, E., and da Silva, F. H. L. (2005). *Electroencephalography: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications and Related Fields.* Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Nocchi, F., Gazzellini, S., Grisolia, C., Petrarca, M., Cannata, V., Cappa, P., et al. (2012). Brain network involved in visual processing of movement stimuli used in upper limb robotic training: an fMRI study. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 9:49. doi: 10. 1186/1743-0003-9-49
- Park, C. H., Chang, W. H., Ohn, S. H., Kim, S. T., Bang, O. Y., Pascual-Leone, A., et al. (2011). Longitudinal changes of resting-state functional connectivity during motor recovery after stroke. *Stroke* 42, 1357–1362. doi: 10. 1161/STROKEAHA.110.596155
- Prasad, G., Herman, P., Coyle, D., Mcdonough, S., and Crosbie, J. (2010). Applying a brain-computer interface to support motor imagery practice in people with stroke for upper limb recovery: a feasibility study. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 7:60. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-7-60
- Ramos-Murguialday, A., Broetz, D., Rea, M., Laer, L., Yilmaz, O., Brasil, F. L., et al. (2013). Brain-machine interface in chronic stroke rehabilitation: a controlled study. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 100–108. doi: 10.1002/ana.23879
- Rosso, C., Valabregue, R., Attal, Y., Vargas, P., Gaudron, M., Baronnet, F., et al. (2013). Contribution of corticospinal tract and functional connectivity in hand motor impairment after stroke. *PLoS One* 8:e73164. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0073164
- Rota, G., Handjaras, G., Sitaram, R., Birbaumer, N., and Dogil, G. (2011). Reorganization of functional and effective connectivity during real-time fMRI-BCI modulation of prosody processing. *Brain Lang.* 117, 123–132. doi: 10.1016/j. bandl.2010.07.008
- Schalk, G., Mcfarland, D. J., Hinterberger, T., Birbaumer, N., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2004). BCI2000: a general-purpose brain-computer interface (BCI) system. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 51, 1034–1043. doi: 10.1109/tbme.2004. 827072
- Shenhav, A., Botvinick, M. M., and Cohen, J. D. (2013). The expected value of control: an integrative theory of anterior cingulate cortex function. *Neuron* 79, 217–240. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.07.007
- Shindo, K., Kawashima, K., Ushiba, J., Ota, N., Ito, M., Ota, T., et al. (2011). Effects of neurofeedback training with an electroencephalogram-based brain-computer interface for hand paralysis in patients with chronic stroke: a preliminary case series study. J. Rehabil. Med. 43, 951–957. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0859
- Shirer, W. R., Ryali, S., Rykhlevskaia, E., Menon, V., and Greicius, M. D. (2012). Decoding subject-driven cognitive states with whole-brain connectivity patterns. *Cereb. Cortex* 22, 158–165. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr099
- Takahashi, M., Takeda, K., Otaka, Y., Osu, R., Hanakawa, T., Gouko, M., et al. (2012). Event related desynchronization-modulated functional electrical stimulation system for stroke rehabilitation: a feasibility study. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 9:56. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-56
- Talairach, J., and Tournoux, P. (1988). Co-planar Stereotaxic Atlas of the Human Brain: 3-dimensional Proportional System. New York: Thieme Medical Pub.

- Taub, E. (1976). Movement in nonhuman primates deprived of somatosensory feedback. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 4, 335–374. doi: 10.1249/00003677-197600040-00012
- Timmann, D., and Daum, I. (2007). Cerebellar contributions to cognitive functions: a progress report after two decades of research. *Cerebellum* 6, 159–162.
- Towfighi, A., and Saver, J. L. (2011). Stroke declines from third to fourth leading cause of death in the United States: historical perspective and challenges ahead. *Stroke* 42, 2351–2355. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.621904
- Urbin, M. A., Hong, X., Lang, C. E., and Carter, A. R. (2014). Resting-State functional connectivity and its association with multiple domains of upperextremity function in chronic stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* doi: 10. 1177/1545968314522349. [Epub ahead of print].
- Varkuti, B., Guan, C., Pan, Y., Phua, K. S., Ang, K. K., Kuah, C. W., et al. (2013). Resting state changes in functional connectivity correlate with movement recovery for BCI and robot-assisted upper-extremity training after stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 27, 53–62. doi: 10.1177/1545968312445910
- Wang, C., Qin, W., Zhang, J., Tian, T., Li, Y., Meng, L., et al. (2014). Altered functional organization within and between resting-state networks in chronic subcortical infarction. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 34, 597–605. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm. 2013.238
- Wang, L., Yu, C., Chen, H., Qin, W., He, Y., Fan, F., et al. (2010). Dynamic functional reorganization of the motor execution network after stroke. *Brain* 133, 1224– 1238. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq043
- Westlake, K. P., and Nagarajan, S. S. (2011). Functional connectivity in relation to motor performance and recovery after stroke. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 5:8. doi: 10. 3389/fnsys.2011.00008
- Wilson, J. A., Schalk, G., Walton, L. M., and Williams, J. C. (2009). Using an EEGbased brain-computer interface for virtual cursor movement with BCI2000. *J. Vis. Exp.* 29:1319. doi: 10.3791/1319
- Wolpaw, J. R., and Mcfarland, D. J. (1994). Multichannel EEG-based braincomputer communication. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 90, 444–449. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(94)90135-x
- Wolpaw, J. R., and Mcfarland, D. J. (2004). Control of a two-dimensional movement signal by a noninvasive brain-computer interface in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 101, 17849–17854. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0403504101
- Wolpaw, J. R., Mcfarland, D. J., Neat, G. W., and Forneris, C. A. (1991). An EEGbased brain-computer interface for cursor control. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 78, 252–259. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(91)90040-b
- Xu, H., Qin, W., Chen, H., Jiang, L., Li, K., and Yu, C. (2014). Contribution of the resting-state functional connectivity of the contralesional primary sensorimotor cortex to motor recovery after subcortical stroke. *PLoS One* 9:e84729. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0084729
- Zhang, J., Meng, L., Qin, W., Liu, N., Shi, F. D., and Yu, C. (2014). Structural damage and functional reorganization in Ipsilesional M1 in well-recovered patients with subcortical stroke. *Stroke* 45, 788–793. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003425

Conflict of Interest Statement: There is one patent pending on the closed-loop neurofeedback device used for the therapy administered in this study (Pending U.S. Patent Application No. 12/715,090). This patent was filed jointly by the two lead investigators Justin C. Williams and Vivek Prabhakaran. Otherwise, the authors have no conflicts of interest to report, as this research was conducted in the absence of commercial and financial relationships that might compromise the integrity of the results reported herein.

Received: 07 March 2014; accepted: 19 June 2014; published online: 08 July 2014. Citation: Young BM, Nigogosyan Z, Remsik A, Walton LM, Song J, Nair VA, Grogan SW, Tyler ME, Edwards DF, Caldera K, Sattin JA, Williams JC and Prabhakaran V (2014) Changes in functional connectivity correlate with behavioral gains in stroke patients after therapy using a brain-computer interface device. Front. Neuroeng. 7:25. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00025

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Young, Nigogosyan, Remsik, Walton, Song, Nair, Grogan, Tyler, Edwards, Caldera, Sattin, Williams and Prabhakaran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Movement-related cortical potentials in paraplegic patients: abnormal patterns and considerations for BCI-rehabilitation

Ren Xu^{1,2}, Ning Jiang¹*, Aleksandra Vuckovic³, Muhammad Hasan^{3,4}, Natalie Mrachacz-Kersting⁵, David Allan⁶, Matthew Fraser⁶, Bahman Nasseroleslami⁷⁸, Bernie Conway⁷, Kim Dremstrup⁵ and Dario Farina¹

¹ Department of Neurorehabilitation Engineering, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

² Institute of Computer Science, Georg-August University, Goettingen, Germany

⁵ Center for Sensory-Motor Interaction, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark

⁷ Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, UK

⁸ Academic Unit of Neurology, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

Edited by:

Christoph Guger, Guger Technologies OEG, G.tec Medical Engineering GmbH, Austria

Reviewed by:

Jit Muthuswamy, Arizona State University, USA Giovanni Mirabella, University of La Sapienza, Italy

*Correspondence:

Ning Jiang, Department of Neurorehabilitation Engineering, University Medical Center Goettingen, Von-Siebold-Str. 6, 37073 Goettingen, Germany e-mail: Ning.jiang@ bccn.uni-goettingen.de Non-invasive EEG-based Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCI) can be promising for the motor neuro-rehabilitation of paraplegic patients. However, this shall require detailed knowledge of the abnormalities in the EEG signatures of paraplegic patients. The association of abnormalities in different subgroups of patients and their relation to the sensorimotor integration are relevant for the design, implementation and use of BCI systems in patient populations. This study explores the patterns of abnormalities of movement related cortical potentials (MRCP) during motor imagery tasks of feet and right hand in patients with paraplegia (including the subgroups with/without central neuropathic pain (CNP) and complete/incomplete injury patients) and the level of distinctiveness of abnormalities were the amplified execution negativity and its slower rebound in the patient group. The potential underlying mechanisms behind these changes and other minor dissimilarities in patients' subgroups, as well as the relevance to BCI applications, are discussed. The findings are of interest from a neurological perspective as well as for BCI-assisted neuro-rehabilitation and therapy.

Keywords: EEG, movement related cortical potentials, spinal cord injury, central neuropathic pain, BCI

INTRODUCTION

Movement-related cortical potentials (MRCP) reflect brain electrical activity related to the execution of overt or covert movements. MRCP resulting from either imagery or attempt of motor volition are often investigated in a cue-based paradigm (MacKay and Bonnet, 1990; Ulrich et al., 1998). In paired cuebased paradigms for Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCI), the user is asked to prepare for a movement following the first cue and to execute the movement following the second cue. The readiness potential, which is the leading part of the MRCP and precedes the movement execution, may be movement specific (Shibasaki et al., 1980) when there is only one movement option, or may present general preparation for an action (Walter et al., 1964) when there are several choices for movements. Following the execution cue, the MRCP comprises components known as premotor positivity (Deecke et al., 1976; Castro et al., 2013), motor potential (Deecke et al., 1969) and reafferent potential (Bötzel et al., 1997) related to the kinesthetic feedback once the movement has occurred.

MRCPs are influenced by impairments of the sensory-motor system. Castro et al. (2013) compared MRCPs in three subject

groups: healthy individuals who executed movement of the left and right leg, healthy subjects who only prepared for the same movements, and chronic complete spinal cord injured (SCI) patients who imagined the same movements. They observed that the amplitudes of the readiness potential and motor potential were lower in SCI patients than in healthy subject executing the movement, but were comparable between SCI patients and healthy participants who only prepared for the movements. All SCI patients had a complete injury with no preserved sensation under the level of the injury, thus in that study it was not possible to distinguish the effects of sensory and motor loss, specifically complete/incomplete injury in the sensory pathways. Therefore, our first research question is related to the role of sensory information, which can be investigated in complete/incomplete SCI subgroups.

A frequently overlooked co-morbidity of paralysis is Central Neuropathic Pain (CNP), present in 40% of the SCI population, equally affecting paraplegic and tetraplegic patients with complete or incomplete injury (Siddall et al., 2003). CNP is a consequence of an injury to the somato-sensory system (Haanpää et al., 2011),

³ School of Engineering, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK

⁴ Department of Biomedical Engineering, NED University of Engineering and Technology, Karachi, Pakistan

⁶ Queen Elizabeth National Spinal Injury Unit, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow, UK

and as such it originates at the cortical level. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies showed that this type of pain modulates the activity of the motor cortex (Gustin et al., 2010) of both paralyzed "painful" limbs and non-paralyzed limbs. In a recent study, Vuckovic et al. (2014) compared event-related synchronization/desynchronization (ERD/ERS; Pfurtscheller and Lopes Da Silva, 1999) in patients with paraplegia and CNP, patients with paraplegia and no pain and healthy individuals with no pain. Patients with CNP had strongest ERD in the theta, alpha and beta bands, while ERD was less expressed in healthy participants. Patients with no pain (PNP) had the weakest ERD. However, it is not clear if the presence of CNP would equally affect MRCP and ERD/ERS, as it is believed that the two signal modalities have different origins (Babiloni et al., 1999; Pfurtscheller and Lopes Da Silva, 1999). This raises our second research question: the role of pain in MRCPs of SCI patients, which can be studied in pain/no-pain SCI subgroups.

The role of abnormality patterns in MRCP is relevant in BCI-rehabilitation applications. Recently a BCI system based on MRCP was proposed and tested on healthy subjects and stroke patients (Niazi et al., 2011, 2013; Xu et al., 2014a,b). The MRCP was used in this system as a trigger signal (brain switch) to control an external device, such as function electrical stimulation (FES) or an active orthosis. This paradigm was shown to promote activity-dependent cortical plasticity in healthy subjects (Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2012; Niazi et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2014b) and stroke patients (Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2013). SCI patients with incomplete injury are ideal candidates for a combined sensory-motor therapy, as the one proposed by using the MRCP as brain switch. However, the characteristics of MRCPs in these patients are not known yet and this information is relevant for the design of a detector based on MRCP waveforms. Hence, the implication on potential applications of BCI for SCI patients is the third research question we will address.

This study presents the initial step in developing an MRCPbased BCI system for SCI patients. For this purpose, we investigated the difference in MRCP morphology between SCI patients and healthy subjects, as well as the unique features of MRCP in sub-groups of patients with different degrees of CNP and scale of impairment (complete or incomplete paralysis). Further, the related issues for BCI rehabilitation are discussed.

METHODS

SUBJECTS

Eight healthy volunteers (HV) and 14 SCI patients, with either complete or incomplete paralysis, participated in this study. The neurological level of injury was determined using the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) Impairment Classification (Marino et al., 2003). SCI patients were further classified on the basis of presence or absence of CNP, below the level of the injury. Inclusion criteria for patients with pain (PWP) was that they were at least 1 year post-injury, were treated for CNP for at least 6 months, had a pain level \geq 5 on the Visual Numerical Scale (VNS) and had the injury at level T1 or lower. Inclusion criteria for PNP were that they were at least 1 year post-injury, with injury at level T1 or lower. General exclusion criteria for all three groups were age under 18 or over 55, existence of any other chronic or acute pain at the time of the experiment, brain injury or other known brain condition that would influence EEG interpretation or would prevent the patients from understanding the experimental task. Details about the subjects' self-reported information are presented in **Table 1**.

Informed consent was obtained from all participants, and the study protocol was approved by the University of Strathclyde Ethical Committee for the HV group and the National Health Service for Greater Glasgow and Clyde Ethical Committee for the SCI group.

EXPERIMENT PROTOCOL

The participants were comfortably seated at a desk, at a distance of approximately 1.5 m from the computer screen on which visual instructions were provided. They were instructed to look at the center of the screen and to perform motor imagery following visual cues while minimizing eye movements. For each trial, at t = -1 s a readiness cue (a cross +) appeared and would remain for 4 s (Figure 1). At t = 0 s an initiation cue, presented as an arrow, appeared next to the cross sign, for a duration of 1.25 s. The arrow pointed either to the left, right or down, corresponding to the motor imagery tasks of left hand waving (LH), right hand waving (RH) and tapping with both feet (F), respectively. The participants were asked to continue to perform imaginary movements until the cross disappeared from the screen (3 s after the initiation cue appeared). In total, 60 trials of each of the three type of motor imagery were performed by each subject in one session. The trials were divided in groups of 10 for each type of imaginary movement (LH, RH and F). Sequences of motor imagery tasks appeared in a random order and at random 3-5 s intervals.

We instructed the participants to perform motor imagery, and we asked them specifically to imagine, not to attempt movements. However, it should be noted that while HV practiced motor

Table 1	Patient information.
---------	----------------------

Nr	Level of injury	ASIA*	Time after injury	Pain VNS ‡	Years with pain
1	Τ5	А	7	7	7
2	L1	В	15	7	15
3	T6/T7	D	4	7	3
4	T6/7	В	25	10	24
5	T6	В	N/A	N/A	N/A
6	Т8	В	11	9	11
7	T12	В	33	6	4
8	Τ7	А	7	/	/
9	Τ7	В	7	/	/
10	L1	А	6	/	/
11	T2	А	2	/	/
12	Τ5	В	15	/	/
13	Τ4	А	9	/	/
14	Τ7	А	15	/	/

 * ASIA stands for the American Spinal Injury Association, whose impairment classification was used to determine the neurological level of injury.
* VNS is Visual Numerical Scale, which was used for pain level assessment.



imagery, SCI patients might have also attempted to move their paralyzed limb.

A 61-channel EEG recording was performed with an EEG device (Synamps², Neuroscan, USA). The electrodes were placed according to the standard 10-10 locations. EOG was recorded from three channels around the right eye. EEG and EOG were recorded with respect to the linked ear reference and the ground was at AFz. In addition, EMGs were recorded from the right and the left wrist extensor muscles and right foot dorsiflexor using the bipolar inputs to the Synamps device. The purpose of EMG recording was to check for the absence of any voluntary movements when the subjects attempted motor imagery. The sampling frequency was 1000 Hz. The electrode impedance was kept below 5 k Ω during all measurements.

SIGNAL PRE-PROCESSING

The EEG signal was down-sampled to 250 Hz and pre-processed with a band-pass filter at 0.1–3 Hz (second order butter-worth), followed by the large Laplacian filter of the respective central channels (Cz and C3 for foot and right hand, respectively) and eight second-nearest channels around them (Fz, FC1, FC2, C3, C4, CP1, CP2, and Pz for foot, and F3, FC5, FC1, T7, Cz, CP5, CP1, and P3 for right hand, respectively). This was done to reject the common mode noise and thus increase the signal-to-noise ratio (McFarland et al., 1997; Niazi et al., 2011). For each trial, the segments between t = -2 s and t = 6 s, with respect to the cue onset, were extracted as MRCP. All trials were visually inspected to reject trials that were potentially corrupted by artifacts and noise. All trials were of good quality and no trial needs to be rejected.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF MRCP MORPHOLOGY ACROSS SUBJECT GROUPS

We performed the following three pair-wise analyses:

- 1. **HV vs. SCI**: healthy volunteers vs. all SCI patients independent of the level of injury or the presence of pain (8 HV vs. 14 SCI);
- 2. **PNP vs. PWP:** SCI patients with no pain vs. SCI patients with CNP (7 PNP vs. 7 PWP). Both PNP and PWP group contained patients with complete and incomplete injury;

3. **CP vs. IP**: SCI patients with complete injury (ASIA A complete loss of motor and sensory functions under the level of the injury) vs. SCI patients with incomplete injury (ASIA B/C/D with some sensations preserved under the level of the injury) (6 CP vs. 8 IP). Both CP and IP groups contained patients with and without pain.

In order to compare MRCP morphology between groups, a Wilcoxon rank-sum test was utilized for statistical analysis. Three comparisons were performed for each type of movement imagery. The null hypothesis was that, for each type of movement within each group, the MRCPs have the same average value at the same temporal location. For each comparison, the entire 8 s long interval was divided into 0.1 s long segments and statistical analysis was performed between groups separately for the 80 segments of each case. The statistical significance level was set to 0.05, with a Holm-Boniferroni correction (Holm, 1979) applied (smallest *p*-value was 0.05/80).

CLASSIFICATION OF MRCPs

Following the above statistical analysis, a two-class classification was performed on MRCPs of each task (feet and right hand) corresponding to the three pairs defined above, i.e., HV vs. SCI, PNP vs. PWP, and CP vs. IP. The classification was performed with a dimensionality reduction algorithm called locality persevering projection (LPP; He and Niyogi, 2003; He et al., 2005), followed by a k-nearest-neighborhood (kNN) classifier. LPP, a manifold-based method, was demonstrated to be superior than linear methods such as PCA and LDA when data have clear nonlinear characteristics (He et al., 2005). LPP can preserve the data structure in the original manifold when projecting data into lower linear feature space, of which classic linear dimensional reduction algorithm such as PCA or SVD is not capable. It was previously used for MRCP detection, in which it outperformed linear match filter method (Xu et al., 2014a). A five-fold crossvalidation was used to validate the classification accuracy. The classifier was trained with randomly selected 4/5 of single-trial MRCPs and the remaining 1/5 were considered as testing sets. The LPP algorithm was used to project the training samples into a lower dimensional space, while preserving its intrinsic structure in its original manifold, as in Xu et al. (2014a). The reduced dimension was chosen as 60% of the original data dimension, which was proved to be optimal for MRCP detection (Xu et al., 2014a). Next, the projected data in this LPP subspace were used to train the classifier. In the subsequent testing step, testing samples were projected into the LPP sub-space obtained through training, which was then classified using the trained kNN into either class of the pair (e.g., HV or SCI). The classification performance was quantified with the classification accuracy, i.e., the percentage of correctly classified trials with respect to the total number of testing trials.

Aiming at investigating the temporal discriminant information in the MRCPs among different groups, the classification was not performed on the entire MRCP segments, but with processing window of segments at different temporal location as well as with different segment lengths. This process was done by sliding the starting point of the processing window, from t = -2 s to t = 3 s (step size 0.1 s). At each starting point, the length of the window also changed from 1 s to 3 s (step size 0.1 s). As the movement imagery was performed until t = 3 s, it was not practically useful to process signals 3 s after the movement onset.

RESULTS

MRCP MORPHOLOGY

The MRCPs of foot imagery are compared for the subject groups (i.e., HV vs. SCI, PNP vs. PWP, and CP vs. IP) in **Figure 2**. The amount of MRCP segments is equal to the product of number of trials and number of subjects. As stated in Section Experiment Protocol, the number of trials is 60 for each type of task by each subject. E.g., we had 8 HV and 14 SCI, the amount of segments for HV and SCI is 480 and 840, respectively. The difference is particularly pronounced for the case of HV vs. SCI. In general, the amplitude of MRCP for the SCI group was significantly greater than that for the HV group (peak-to-peak value: $5.6 \pm 6.3 \,\mu$ V vs. $2.7 \pm 3.4 \,\mu$ V). The CP group's MRCP amplitude was also slightly greater than the IP group, while there was only a small difference in amplitude for PNP vs. PWP. The evoked responses following the readiness cue (the "+" sign) and the initiation cue (arrows) are clearly visible in all cases.

Period of general preparation for movement

During the period t = -1 s to t = 0 s, i.e., after the "+" appeared and before the arrow appeared, SCI subjects had a significantly larger positivity than HV subjects. This significant difference lasted until -0.7 s, i.e., 300 ms after the appearance of the "+" sign. This is an indication of altered (enhanced) response to a movement related visual cue from the SCI patients. A significant difference was found for the CP vs. IP group: CP patients had larger visual-motor positivity than IP subjects. This result suggested that complete loss of sensory information (CP group) from the foot enhanced the potential, compare to subjects with some remaining sensory input (IP group). These results imply that the level of deafferentation is positively related to the magnitude of visual evoked potentials. On the other hand, no statistical significance was found in the PWP vs. PNP group, indicating that presence of pain does not affect the magnitude of the preparation potentials.

The visual-motor potential from motor imagery of the hand at C3 during this period (**Figure 3**) was smaller in magnitude compared with that of foot imagery at Cz. For HV vs. SCI groups, similar to foot imagery, a difference was found around -0.7 s. The difference did not reach statistical significance, probably because it was much smaller both in amplitude and duration than in the case of foot imagery. No statistically significant difference was observed for the CP vs. IP group. Similar to the case of foot imagery, no significant difference was found for PNP vs. PWP group.

A difference at Cz between HV and PWP is because SCI had stronger positivity at around t = -0.7 at Cz (painful limbs) than they had at C3 which corresponds to a non-paralyzed limb. It is true that we showed Cz for MI of legs and C3 for MI of right hand, but we also checked that SCI has larger positivity at Cz than HV



FIGURE 2 | MRCP morphology and statistical comparison for large Laplacian Cz (motor imagery of foot). The figures in the upper row present the average MRCP from different groups (HV vs. SCI, PNP vs. PP, and CP vs. IP). The thick horizontal lines indicate the portions in which statistically significant difference was detected using the Wilcoxon rank-sum test with

Holm-Boniferroni correction. The *p*-values of the statistical tests were presented in the lower row, with logarithm scale (log*p*). The dashed horizontal line indicates the minimal significance level in the Holm-Bnifeernoi correction procedure, i.e., log(0.05/80), since there were 80 simultaneous tests in each case.



same as in Figure 2.

even for motor imagery of hands. For HV there does not seem to be a difference between Cz and C3 in a period t = -1 s to t = 0 s.

In summary, during this period of general preparation for movement, the subjects did not know what type of motor imagery should be performed, so the visual-motor potential was not taskspecific. Therefore, the consistent results between foot imagery and hand imagery, other than the overall magnitude difference, are expected. This is particularly the case for HV vs. SCI group, where significance was detected at this point for foot imagery. While for hand imagery a distinct peak of the *p*-value existed, no statistical significance could be established.

Period of movement specific-preparation and covert motor execution

As presented in **Figure 2**, during the period of t = 0 s to t =3 s of foot motor imagery, a statistically significant difference can be noticed in all three pairs of comparisons. The largest difference was observed between HV and SCI. SCI patients had significantly larger amplitude of the positive peak at 300 ms. The MRCP negativity of the SCI group was also significantly larger than for the HV subjects. The rebound from the negativity of the HV group appeared around t = 1 s and then returned back to baseline around t = 3 s; for the SCI group, the rebound was more gradual, reaching the baseline at approximately t = 6 s without a second positive peak. The main difference between PNP group and PWP group was located between t = 0 s and t = 1 s, where descending for the PWP group was faster than that for the PNP group. Similarly the largest difference between CP and IP group could be noticed in the first 0.5 s following the directional cue. The CP group presented higher amplitude of the positive peak and faster decreasing slope than IP group.

For hand imagery, the differences after the initialization cue were much smaller than difference for feet imagery for all groups. This is expected since none of the subjects had sensory or motor impairments of the upper extremities. Still, there was a statistically significant difference between HV and SCI groups in part of the rebound phase (from 1.2 s to 2.3 s). However, there is no statistical difference between PNP and PWP group and between CP and IP group.

In summary, largest differences during the period following the directional cue were noticed, as expected, between HV and SCI group and they were present for both paralyzed and nonparalyzed limbs. Smaller differences, both in magnitude and duration, also existed between PWP and PNP group and for CP and IP group, for motor imagery of feet. However no statistically significant difference was observed for motor imagery of right hand in either of the patient sub-groups.

CLASSIFICATION PERFORMANCE

Figure 4 illustrates the classification accuracies of the three groups, as a function of the starting point and the length of the processing windows. It was possible to classify between foot imagery of the HV and SCI group with higher accuracy than the two patient sub-groups (**Figure 4**). This is in accordance with the largest statistical difference found between the MRCP of HV vs. SCI, as presented in **Figure 2**.

The highest average accuracy of HV vs. SCI was 90.5% (at window start = -1 s and window length = 3 s), while those of PNP vs. PWP and CP vs. IP were 68.7% (at window start = -0.1 s and window length = 1.4 s) and 65.1% (at window start = 0.2 s and window length = 2 s), respectively.

In addition, the accuracies changed according to the window start and length, and the patterns of this change are different



among the three pairwise groups. For HV vs. SCI, the part with accuracies ~90% was located in the bottom right corner, where the starting point was mostly before t = 0 s, and the length was larger than 2.5 s. High classification accuracies (74%) were achieved even when only a 1 s period of general preparation (t = -1 s till t = 0 s) was used to classify between the two groups. As the analysis time window moved towards the movement specific period, shorter windows were sufficient to achieve high classification accuracy, indicating largest difference between HV and SCI during the period of task specific motor imagery. This high classification performance resulted from the large difference in MRCPs between HV and SCI, as shown in **Figure 4**.

Similar observation holds for motor imagery of the right hand (**Figure 5**), indicating a general influence of paralysis on the signal characteristics. This indicates that paralysis globally changes preparation of movement, not restricted to the paralyzed limb.

Nevertheless, the distributions of accuracies for the other two groups are notably different. For imaginary movement of feet the higher accuracy (>65%) part for PNP vs. PWP were limited in a small strip around window onset t = 0 s, with window length of 1.2–1.7 s. This strip with higher classification accuracy exactly matched the MRCP range with lower *p*-values, and higher statistical significance in **Figure 2**. These results indicate



statistically significant difference between these two groups in a period of general preparation and in the period of the early preparation/initiation of the covert movement.

The area with accuracies higher than 60% for CP vs. IP was also small, but the shape was evidently different from that of PNP vs. PWP. It was an approximately horizontal strip where the onset was around t = 0 s and the length ranges from 1.5 s to 2.5 s. This shows that preserved sensation do not considerably influence MRCP in the general preparation of movement but it does influence preparation for specific movement of a part of the body with preserved sensation vs. part of the body with no sensation.

The classification rate between PNP and PWP in motor imagery of the right hand could reach 50% only if the period of general preparation was included in the analysis. This indicates that the presence of CNP influences the general preparation of movement in the painful/non-painful and paralyzed/nonparalyzed limb. In a study on the ERS/ERD of the same group of patients (Vuckovic et al., 2014), a generalized influence of pain on movement of painful and non-painful limbs was also found.

For right hand between CP and IP group, classification accuracy was slightly higher for the period of general preparation, but it has no clear pattern anywhere else.

DISCUSSION

This study presented analysis of the difference in MRCP morphology of covert movement between HV and patients with spinal cord injury, through direct statistical comparison and through pattern classification. This has implications on performance of BCI control systems based on MRCP which has mostly been tested on healthy individuals.

The aim of this study was to compare MRCP between HV and patients during both general and movement specific preparation, therefore a period of general focus (general non-specific movement preparation) was also taken into account.

While HV presented a relatively homogeneous group, the situation of chronic paraplegic patient is more complex. In the current study, we further categorized the SCI patient volunteers into two sub-groups, based on: the severity of paralysis and presence of chronic CNP pain. By combining patients with respect to different criteria, we investigated the influence of loss of motor control (HV vs. SCI), loss of sensation (CP/IP), and presence of CNP.

DISTINCTION BETWEEN HV AND SCI GROUPS

The largest differences in MRCP morphology were found between healthy and general mixed group of paraplegic patients during covert movements of feet in all phases of MRCP. It is interesting that significant difference was found even during the period of visual stimuli. Presenting a general warning sign produced significant difference between the groups (with a peak around 300-400 ms post-stimuli). This can be explained by the combined visual-motor nature of this potential, especially as the motor area is heavily involved in their generation but do not show much sensitivity to motor task parameters at this specific positive peak (Ulrich et al., 1998). It may be speculated that this positivity is generated by the increased firing rate of cortical neurons in motor areas, as in similar instruction delay experiments on primates that showed comparable delays after the cues (Cisek and Kalaska, 2004). Higher amplitude of the peak in SCI patients might be possibly related to higher effort/concentration in SCI patients expecting to imagine/attempt movement of a paralyzed limb. In SCI patients a motor potential in period t > 0 s had significantly higher negative peak with a rebound potential also called reafferent potential (Castro et al., 2013)- being delayed for several seconds. The amplitude of the rebound potential was also much lower in SCI group, which is explained by its relation to the kinesthetic feedback.

Statistically significant differences in MRCP morphology between these two groups were also found for motor imagery of the right hand, over electrode location C3, though to a smaller extent. This demonstrated the global influence of paralysis on modified EEG responses, and is in accordance with previous studies looking into either spontaneous (Tran et al., 2004; Boord et al., 2008; Vuckovic et al., 2014) or evoked brain activity (Vuckovic et al., 2014) in SCI patients. While the larger negativity during imagination of movement in paraplegic patients resembled the study by Lacourse (1999), there were many detailed differences that may originate from different cue type or EEG referencing.

DISTINCTION BETWEEN SCI SUBGROUPS

The analyzed group of patients was mixed with respect to the severity of paralysis and presence of chronic pain, therefore the results could not be conclusive. Therefore we further compared MRCP in patients with and without CNP. CNP is known to affects the activity of the motor cortex (Vuckovic et al., 2014), thus potentially influencing the morphology of MRCPs. Assuming that CNP is unrelated to the completeness of injury, patients with complete and incomplete injury were mixed. Analysis showed much smaller difference between patients with and without pain than between healthy and general SCI population.

The effect of CNP

It is known that CNP equally affects patients with complete and incomplete SCI (Siddall et al., 2003). A previous EEG study by Vuckovic et al. (2014), performed on the same group of volunteers, and the same experimental paradigm, demonstrated a difference in brain response between SCI patients with and without CNP, as well as between both groups of SCI patients and able-bodied volunteers. Those differences were wide spread over the sensory-motor cortex and were not restricted to imagination of paralyzed, "painful" part of the body. The study was based on ERD/ERS and was primarily interested in a time period after presentation of the directional cue, in a period t = 0.4-2 s.

The MRCP results in the current study are therefore not in accordance with the ERD/ERS analysis on the same patient group (Vuckovic et al., 2014). While paralysis resulted in reduced ERD, presence of CNP increased ERD. Therefore that study showed larger difference in cortical response between patients with and with no CNP than between patients with CNP and healthy subjects. The differences were pronounced within the first 2 s after presentation of the directional cue, while in the current study, the difference in MRCP morphology was significant in a short interval (0.3-0.6 s). This supports the idea of different origin of ERD and MRCP, which has been reported in the literature. The source of MRCP is related to the cerebellar-thalamus-cortical pathway (Babiloni et al., 1999; Rektor et al., 2001), while ERD is related to the thalamo-cortical feedback loops (Pfurtscheller and Lopes Da Silva, 1999). Since CNP is known to be not related to cerebellum activities (Vuckovic et al., 2014), the difference in the neurophysiological origin of MRCP and ERD supports the observed difference of MRCP and EDR with respect to the presence/absence of CNP.

The effect of the completeness of injury

Finally patients' MRCP were compared on the basis of the completeness of the injury, assuming that presence of CNP does not have a large effect on MRCP. For MRCP measured over Cz for motor imagery of feet, the largest difference was found in periods of both general preparation and covert movement execution in patients with complete injury.

Castro et al. (2013) compared MRCP in chronic paraplegic patients with complete injury and in healthy subjects during covert movement execution of left or right leg. Although in that study larger MRCP could be noticed over electrode locations C3, C4 and Cz, no difference was found when MRCP was averaged over all electrodes. In the current study, we analyzed only electrode location where we expected largest MRCP. We also preprocessed the signal using large Laplacian filter that might have additionally enhances MRCP over these areas.

A general conclusion is that while both CNP and presence/absence of sensation affect the morphology of MRCP in paralyzed limb, the factor that most strongly influencs the MRCP is the lack of motor control, resulting in large difference between healthy subjects and general SCI group.

IMPLICATIONS FOR BCI-REHABILITATION

Results of MRCP classification supported the morphological analysis. In general the highest classification accuracy was found in the time windows which corresponded to the time windows of statistically significant difference between the groups. While classification accuracy between able-bodied group and patients exceeded 90%, classification between different patients groups was not higher than 65%. This further supports the idea that for MRCP-based BCI systems, paralysis is a factor that needs to be considered as it has a strong influence on the MRCP morphology. Therefore, the following issues should be seriously taken into consideration when developing MRCP-based BCI, especially cuebased BCI, for SCI patients.

Firstly, although the larger magnitude might probably improve the BCI performance in SCI patients, the prolonged rebound should be treated carefully with a long interval between trials. On the other hand, SCI PNP have weaker ERD than the able-bodied volunteers (Vuckovic et al., 2014), resulting in reduced BCI classification accuracy (Pfurtscheller et al., 2009). This implies that for SCI patients, BCI systems which relay on MRCP might have better classification accuracy, with greater consistency among patients.

Further, the lack of statistical difference of patient sub-groups with the distinct peaks in the corresponding *p*-value curves (lower panels of **Figure 2**) probably resulted from a much larger variability of MRCP in patients (both within and between subjects). This would affect the performance of BCI system for these patients.

Although almost no significant difference was found in the MRCP morphology between PWP and with no pain, chronic SCI patients with CNP might experience worsening of pain during prolonged MI practice (Gustin et al., 2010).

Finally, while it was the motor impairment (compared to the remaining sensory function or presence of pain) that had a considerable effect on the MRCP waveforms and can affect BCI performance, the clinical practice and therapy is by no means independent from these factors.

LIMITATIONS

The healthy group, which was comparable to the size of SCI subgroups, was not large. As the magnitude of MRCPs for hand was smaller than that of the foot task (see **Figure 3**), it would be better to have more subjects to increase statistical power of the analysis, so that statistical significance might be revealed in some cases where no significance was detected in the current analysis. Nevertheless, there were 60 trials for each type of task by each subject, so we had hundreds of segments (e.g., 480 for HV and 840 for SCI) for statistical comparison. In fact, we did find significance

for HV vs. SCI for hand motor imagery (see **Figure 3**), but not for SCI subgroups. Given the very large *p*-value for PNP vs. PWP and CP vs. IP (only one peak is close to significance level), we believe the likelihood of missing potential significant differences was not large.

Other factors, besides the abnormal patterns in MRCP, could also contribute to the BCI design. One of these factors that was not discussed in this study is volitional inhibition (Logan, 1994), which refers to the cortical involvement of suppression of ongoing voluntary movements. Even though previous studies found that volitional inhibition activates motor cortexes (Coxon et al., 2006; Mirabella et al., 2011; Mattia et al., 2012), it does not attract much attention from the majority of BCI research community (Mirabella, 2012). Recently, Ifft et al. (2012) attempted to decode the volitional inhibition from brain signal, but there is still more work leaving for BCI researcher to dig information from overt movement as well as the volitional control (Fetz, 2007).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Purcell and Dr. Mclean for choosing participants of the study and all participants. We also thank the reviewers for their insightful comments. This work was supported financially by the China Scholarship Council (Contract Nr. 201204910155). This work has been partially supported by the MRC grant G0902257/1, the Glasgow Research Partnership in Engineering, and by NED University of Pakistan PhD scholarship.

The authors acknowledge the financial support by the German Research Foundation and the Open Access Publication Funds of the Göttingen University.

REFERENCES

- Babiloni, C., Carducci, F., Cincotti, F., Rossini, P. M., Neuper, C., Pfurtscheller, G., et al. (1999). Human movement-related potentials vs desynchronization of EEG alpha rhythm: a high-resolution EEG study. *Neuroimage* 10, 658–665. doi: 10. 1006/nimg.1999.0504
- Boord, P., Siddall, P. J., Tran, Y., Herbert, D., Middleton, J., and Craig, A. (2008). Electroencephalographic slowing and reduced reactivity in neuropathic pain following spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 46, 118–123. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3102077
- Bötzel, K., Ecker, C., and Schulze, S. (1997). Topography and dipole analysis of reafferent electrical brain activity following the Bereitschaftspotential. *Exp. Brain Res.* 114, 352–361. doi: 10.1007/pl00005643
- Castro, A., Díaz, F., and Sumich, A. (2013). Long-term neuroplasticity in spinal cord injury patients: a study on movement-related brain potentials. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 87, 205–214. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.01.012
- Cisek, P., and Kalaska, J. F. (2004). Neural correlates of mental rehearsal in dorsal premotor cortex. *Nature* 431, 993–996. doi: 10.1038/nature03005
- Coxon, J. P., Stinear, C. M., and Byblow, W. D. (2006). Intracortical inhibition during volitional inhibition of prepared action. J. Neurophysiol. 95, 3371–3383. doi: 10.1152/jn.01334.2005
- Deecke, L., Grözinger, B., and Kornhuber, H. H. (1976). Voluntary finger movement in man: cerebral potentials and theory. *Biol. Cybern.* 23, 99–119. doi: 10. 1007/bf00336013
- Deecke, L., Scheid, P., and Kornhuber, H. H. (1969). Distribution of readiness potential, pre-motion positivity and motor potential of the human cerebral cortex preceding voluntary finger movements. *Exp. Brain Res.* 7, 158–168. doi: 10.1007/bf00235441
- Fetz, E. E. (2007). Volitional control of neural activity: implications for braincomputer interfaces. J. Physiol. 579, 571–579. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.127142
- Gustin, S. M., Wrigley, P. J., Siddall, P. J., and Henderson, L. A. (2010). Brain anatomy changes associated with persistent neuropathic pain following spinal cord injury. *Cereb. Cortex* 20, 1409–1419. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp205

- Haanpää, M., Attal, N., Backonja, M., Baron, R., Bennett, M., Bouhassira, D., et al. (2011). NeuPSIG guidelines on neuropathic pain assessment. *Pain* 152, 14–27. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.07.031
- He, X., and Niyogi, P. (2003). Locality preserving projections. NIPS 16, 153-160.
- He, X., Yan, S., Hu, Y., Niyogi, P., and Zhang, H.-J. (2005). Face recognition using laplacianfaces. *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* 27, 328–340. doi: 10. 1109/tpami.2005.55
- Holm, S. (1979). A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scand. J. Stat. 6, 65–70.
- Ifft, P. J., Lebedev, M. A., and Nicolelis, M. A. L. (2012). Reprogramming movements: extraction of motor intentions from cortical ensemble activity when movement goals change. *Front. Neuroeng.* 5:16. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2012.00016
- Lacourse, M. (1999). Cortical potentials during imagined movements in individuals with chronic spinal cord injuries. *Behav. Brain Res.* 104, 73–88. doi: 10. 1016/s0166-4328(99)00052-2
- Logan, G. D. (1994). "On the ability to inhibit thought and action: a users' guide to the stop signal paradigm," in *Inhibitory Processes in Attention, Memory and Language*, eds D. Dagenbach and T. H. Carr (San Diego: Academic Press), 189–239.
- MacKay, W. A., and Bonnet, M. (1990). CNV, stretch reflex and reaction time correlates of preparation for movement direction and force. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 76, 47–62. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(90)90057-q
- Marino, R. J., Barros, T., Biering-Sorensen, F., Burns, S. P., Donovan, W. H., Graves, D. E., et al. (2003). International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury. J. Spinal Cord Med. 26, S50–S56.
- Mattia, M., Spadacenta, S., Pavone, L., Quarato, P., Esposito, V., Sparano, A., et al. (2012). Stop-event-related potentials from intracranial electrodes reveal a key role of premotor and motor cortices in stopping ongoing movements. *Front. Neuroeng.* 5:12. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2012.00012
- McFarland, D. J., McCane, L. M., David, S. V., and Wolpaw, J. R. (1997). Spatial filter selection for EEG-based communication. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 103, 386–394. doi: 10.1016/s0013-4694(97)00022-2
- Mirabella, G. (2012). Volitional inhibition and brain-machine interfaces: a mandatory wedding. *Front. Neuroeng.* 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2012.00020
- Mirabella, G., Pani, P., and Ferraina, S. (2011). Neural correlates of cognitive control of reaching movements in the dorsal premotor cortex of rhesus monkeys. *J. Neurophysiol.* 106, 1454–1466. doi: 10.1152/jn.00995.2010
- Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Kristensen, S. R., Niazi, I. K., and Farina, D. (2012). Precise temporal association between cortical potentials evoked by motor imagination and afference induces cortical plasticity. *J. Physiol.* 590, 1669–1682. doi: 10. 1113/jphysiol.2011.222851
- Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Niazi, I. K., Jiang, N., Pavlovic, A. M., Radovanović, S., Kostic, V., et al. (2013). "A novel brain-computer interface for chronic stroke patients," in *Converging Clinical and Engineering Research on Neurorehabilitation*, eds J. L. Pons, D. Torricelli and M. Pajaro (Heidelberg: Springer Berlin), 837–841.
- Niazi, I. K., Jiang, N., Jochumsen, M., Nielsen, J. F., Dremstrup, K., and Farina, D. (2013). Detection of movement-related cortical potentials based on subject-independent training. *Med. Biol. Eng. Comput.* 51, 507–512. doi: 10. 1007/s11517-012-1018-1
- Niazi, I. K., Jiang, N., Tiberghien, O., Nielsen, J. F., Dremstrup, K., and Farina, D. (2011). Detection of movement intention from single-trial movement-related cortical potentials. *J. Neural Eng.* 8:066009. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/6/066009
- Niazi, I. K., Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Jiang, N., Dremstrup, K., and Farina, D. (2012). Peripheral electrical stimulation triggered by self-pace detection of motor intention enhances motor evoked potentials. *IEEE Trans. Neural Rehabil. Syst. Eng.* 20, 595–604. doi: 10.1109/tnsre.2012.2194309

- Pfurtscheller, G., Linortner, P., Winkler, R., Korisek, G., and Müller-Putz, G. (2009). Discrimination of motor imagery-induced EEG patterns in patients with complete spinal cord injury. *Comput. Intell. Neurosci.* 2009:104180. doi: 10. 1155/2009/104180
- Pfurtscheller, G., and Lopes Da Silva, F. H. (1999). Event-related EEG/MEG synchronization and desynchronization: basic principles. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 110, 1842–1857. doi: 10.1016/s1388-2457(99)00141-8
- Rektor, I., Bareš, M., and Kubová, D. (2001). Movement-related potentials in the basal ganglia: a SEEG readiness potential study. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 112, 2146– 2153. doi: 10.1016/s1388-2457(01)00662-9
- Shibasaki, H., Barrett, G., Halliday, E., and Halliday, A. M. (1980). Components of the movement-related cortical potential and their scalp topography. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 49, 213–226. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(80) 90216-3
- Siddall, P. J., McClelland, J. M., Rutkowski, S. B., and Cousins, M. J. (2003). A longitudinal study of the prevalence and characteristics of pain in the first 5 years following spinal cord injury. *Pain* 103, 249–257. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(02)00452-9
- Tran, Y., Boord, P., Middleton, J., and Craig, A. (2004). Levels of brain wave activity (8–13 Hz) in persons with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 42, 73–79. doi: 10. 1038/sj.sc.3101543
- Ulrich, R., Leuthold, H., and Sommer, W. (1998). Motor programming of response force and movement direction. *Psychophysiology* 35, 721–728. doi: 10. 1111/1469-8986.3560721
- Vuckovic, A., Hasan, M. A., Fraser, M., Conway, B. A., Nasseroleslami, B., and Allan, D. B. (2014). Dynamic oscillatory signatures of central neuropathic pain in spinal cord injury. J. Pain 15, 645–655. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2014.02.005
- Walter, W., Cooper, R., Aldridge, V. J., McCallum, W. C., and Winter, A. L. (1964). Contingent negative variation: an electric sign of sensori-motor association and expectancy in the human brain. *Nature* 203, 380–384. doi: 10.1038/203 380a0
- Xu, R., Jiang, N., Lin, C., Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Dremstrup, K., and Farina, D. (2014a). Enhanced low-latency detection of motor intentions from eeg for closed-loop brain-computer interface applications. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 61, 288–296. doi: 10.1109/tbme.2013.2294203
- Xu, R., Jiang, N., Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Lin, C., Asín, G., Moreno, J. C., et al. (2014b). A closed-loop brain-computer interface triggering an active ankle-foot orthosis for inducing cortical neural plasticity. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 61, 2092–2101. doi: 10.1109/tbme.2014.2313867

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 May 2014; accepted: 13 August 2014; published online: 27 August 2014. Citation: Xu R, Jiang N, Vuckovic A, Hasan M, Mrachacz-Kersting N, Allan D, Fraser M, Nasseroleslami B, Conway B, Dremstrup K and Farina D (2014) Movement-related cortical potentials in paraplegic patients: abnormal patterns and considerations for BCI-rehabilitation. Front. Neuroeng. 7:35. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00035 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Xu, Jiang, Vuckovic, Hasan, Mrachacz-Kersting, Allan, Fraser, Nasseroleslami, Conway, Dremstrup and Farina. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Exploration of the neural correlates of cerebral palsy for sensorimotor BCI control

Ian Daly^{1,2}, Josef Faller^{1,3}, Reinhold Scherer^{1,3,4}*, Catherine M. Sweeney-Reed⁵, Slawomir J. Nasuto², Martin Billinger^{1,3} and Gernot R. Müller-Putz^{1,3}

¹ Laboratory of Brain-Computer Interfaces, Institute for Knowledge Discovery, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria

² Brain Embodiment Lab, School of Systems Engineering, University of Reading, Reading, UK

⁴ Clinic Judendorf-Strassengel, Judendorf-Strassengel, Austria

⁵ Memory and Consciousness Research Group, University Clinic for Neurology and Stereotactic Neurosurgery, Medical Faculty, Otto-von-Guericke University, Magdeburg, Germany

Edited by:

Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of Glasgow, UK

Reviewed by:

Hun-Kuk Park, Kyung Hee University, South Korea Lei Ding, University of Oklahoma, USA Aleksandra Vuckovic, University of

Glasgow, UK

*Correspondence:

Reinhold Scherer, Laboratory of Brain-Computer Interfaces, Institute for Knowledge Discovery, Graz University of Technology, Inffeldgasse 13/IV, Graz 8010, Austria e-mail: reinhold.scherer@tugraz.at Cerebral palsy (CP) includes a broad range of disorders, which can result in impairment of posture and movement control. Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have been proposed as assistive devices for individuals with CP. Better understanding of the neural processing underlying motor control in affected individuals could lead to more targeted BCI rehabilitation and treatment options. We have explored well-known neural correlates of movement, including event-related desynchronization (ERD), phase synchrony, and a recently-introduced measure of phase dynamics, in participants with CP and healthy control participants. Although present, significantly less ERD and phase locking were found in the group with CP. Additionally, inter-group differences in phase dynamics were also significant. Taken together these findings suggest that users with CP exhibit lower levels of motor cortex activation during motor imagery, as reflected in lower levels of ongoing mu suppression and less functional connectivity. These differences indicate that development of BCIs for individuals with CP may pose additional challenges beyond those faced in providing BCIs to healthy individuals.

Keywords: electroencephalogram (EEG), brain-computer interface (BCI), cerebral palsy, sensorimotor rhythm, event-related desynchronization (ERD), phase synchrony, phase dynamics

INTRODUCTION

Cerebral palsy (CP) can be a very debilitating life-long condition affecting activities of normal living. We explored a novel approach to the use of a brain-computer interface (BCI) to assist individuals with CP experiencing motor impairment. Given the difficulties people with CP have in using standard BCIs, we investigated alternative neural correlates of movement, which may allow better BCI control by this group.

CP describes a group of brain and nervous system disorders that can involve movement, learning, visual, and auditory perception, and cognitive processing (Miller, 2005). CP is caused by brain injury occurring pre- or peri-natally, or in the first 2 years of infancy (Holm, 1982; Odding et al., 2006). It may be induced by hypoxia to a particular brain area, or result from intracerebral hemorrhage, infection, head injury, or jaundice (Perlman, 1997).

CP can lead to difficulties in maintaining posture and coordinating movement. Problems include muscle tightening, abnormal gait, muscle weakness, tremors, spasms, and loss of coordination. Severity varies, and effects may be uni- or bilateral, involving upper, lower, or all limbs, occasionally resulting in almost complete paralysis (Krigger, 2006). Therefore, individuals with CP experience a range of challenges in their day-to-day lives for which they may require assistance.

BCIs offer a promising way of providing greater independence for individuals with CP (Wolpaw et al., 2002; Neuper et al., 2003; Millán et al., 2010; Sellers et al., 2010). BCIs base control of devices on direct recording and interpretation of brain activity. As such, they can enable control of a computer without activation of the efferent nervous system. BCIs can be used to control devices that could, for example, facilitate movement limited by weakness or poor coordination, or aid communication, establishing a direct, non-muscular, communication channel between a user and the environment (Wolpaw et al., 2002). Furthermore, although CP is a non-progressive condition, the associated symptoms may change over time as the individual's body grows and develops (Badawi et al., 2008). Such changes open the possibility of BCI-based neurofeedback approaches to alleviate motor impairments (Daly et al., 2013a). Moreover, it has been proposed that a motor imagery (MI) strategy could be beneficial in rehabilitation efforts to improve motor control in cases of cortical lesion induced movement impairments (reviewed by Zimmermann-Schlatter et al., 2008). Such an approach is encapsulated in a MI-BCI. MI-BCIs are based upon the detection of changes in sensorimotor rhythms (SMRs), oscillatory activity in the motor cortical regions (Pfurtscheller and Neuper, 2001), and have been suggested as effective communication devices for users with CP (Neuper et al., 2003).

One of the most common approaches to BCIs is based on event-related desynchronization (ERD), which is a modulation in cortical electrical activity before, during, and after attempted

³ BioTechMed-Graz, Graz, Austria

execution, or imagination, of active or passive movement, manifested in the electroencephalogram (EEG) (Pfurtscheller and Lopes da Silva, 1999; Müller-Putz et al., 2003, 2007), magnetoencephalogram and electrocorticogram (Hinterberger et al., 2008; Foldes, 2011). The corresponding representation area in the motor cortex exhibits suppression of on-going oscillatory activity in the alpha (8–13 Hz) and beta (13–30 Hz) frequency bands (Niedermeyer, 1999; Pfurtscheller and Lopes da Silva, 1999). After movement cessation, beta oscillatory activity increases over baseline event-related synchronization (ERS) then returns to baseline activity. This process is considered to correspond either to a motor cortex inhibition or a sensory reafference (Baker, 2007; Müller-Putz et al., 2007). Mu and beta activity are modified by limb movement and MI (Pfurtscheller et al., 1997; Neuper et al., 1999).

Despite promising results with ERD-based BCI control in healthy populations, previous studies have shown that users with CP were not able to control an MI-BCI based upon ERD/S at comparable accuracy levels (Neuper et al., 2003; Daly et al., 2013a). However, MI-BCIs offer a number of advantages over other BCIs, including not requiring any executed movement, e.g., eye gaze, which a number of other BCIs [such as steady state visual evoked potential (SSVEP)- and event related potential (ERP)-based BCIs] require. Furthermore, they are intuitive, and in a pilot exercise, participants reported using such BCIs to be enjoyable (Daly et al., 2013b), increasing motivation, which is advantageous when BCIs are being employed for rehabilitation purposes. We therefore investigated differences in SMR activity in participants with CP and healthy participants in order to explain the diminished performance in users with CP, as well as to explore other neural correlates of MI, which may be more useful for controlling BCIs in this group.

More recently, a new way of interpreting how the brain may process information, based on interactions between different brain areas rather than solely on their activations, has been gaining prominence in cognitive neuroscience. Human and animal studies indicate that transient episodes of long- and short-range phase synchrony, between distant and adjacent cerebral areas, as measured by pair-wise interactions between electrodes at microand/or macro spacings, correspond to perceptual and cognitive processes (Varela et al., 2001). Such synchrony has been proposed to underpin cognitive acts through the transient formation and dissolution of neural assemblies (Varela et al., 2001). The phase locking value (PLV), as introduced in Lachaux et al. (1999), provides a method for quantifying the degree of phase synchrony in a particular frequency band between different time series of electrical brain activity, such as recorded from EEG electrodes at different scalp locations. In contrast to coherence measurement, the PLV is strictly sensitive to the phase and not to the amplitude of the signals (Varela et al., 2001; Brunner et al., 2006). A PLV close to 0 indicates no synchrony, while a value close to 1 indicates perfect synchrony of the two compared time series at that point.

Changes in coordination of activity through timing have been identified in motor cortex activity during movement (Meinecke et al., 2005; Sweeney-Reed and Nasuto, 2009). Local phase synchrony in the motor cortex alpha band has been found to increase prior to movement, decreasing at movement, then increasing

again afterwards in healthy participants (Sweeney-Reed and Nasuto, 2009). These electrical activity changes are also potential candidates for controlling an MI-BCI.

Furthermore, the temporal dynamics of synchrony exhibit changes during MI tasks (Daly et al., 2011). We recently proposed an approach to modeling phase synchronization dynamics in the EEG during a motor task in healthy individuals (Daly et al., 2013c). Differences in temporal dynamics of phase relations between participant groups could indicate a difference in timing of cortical integration resulting from CP lesions, offering another approach to BCI control.

A number of questions arise. It is currently unknown how CPinduced motor-cortical lesions affect ERD strength, MI efficacy, or other SMR-related activity such as phase relationships, despite the potential benefits to CP sufferers from the use of SMR activity to control a BCI. Crucial to the development of effective BCIs for this group is determination of whether CP-related impairment also results in alteration of the electrophysiological patterns usually detected during MI. The question is particularly important, as individuals with CP are among those who stand to benefit significantly from BCI use.

We therefore had two goals. First, we assessed how motor cortex SMR activity differs in individuals with CP compared with healthy individuals, in order to identify a useful approach to BCI control in users with CP. Second, we sought to further our understanding of the motor impairments in CP through detailed examination of electrical activity in the motor cortex during MI.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants with CP and healthy controls attempted to control a BCI using MI. Institutional review board ethical approval was obtained prior to all measurements. We first provide details of the EEG recording and BCI paradigm, before describing the analysis methods and inter-group comparisons.

HEALTHY PARTICIPANTS

The first dataset was from 12 able-bodied BCI-naïve volunteers (5 female and 7 male, median age 26 ± 3.0 years). Details of these participants are listed in **Table 1**.

Table 1 | Summary of the healthy participants.

Participant	Age	Gender
1	32	F
2	21	Μ
3	26	F
4	27	Μ
5	26	Μ
6	22	F
7	28	F
8	26	Μ
9	28	Μ
10	26	Μ
11	22	Μ
12	25	F

Gender is indicated by either M (male) or F (female).

These data were recorded in a cue-guided, auto-calibrating and adaptive ERD-based BCI paradigm (see Faller et al., 2012 for details). EEG was recorded from electrodes FC3, FC2, FC4, C5, C3, C1, Cz, C2, C4, C6, CP3, CPz, and CP4 via a g.GAMMAsys active electrode system along with a g.USBamp amplifier (g.tec, Guger Technologies OEG, Graz, Austria).

In this study only EEG from the first training session was used to remove bias due to practice. In every trial, we displayed a fixation cross over the entire trial duration. Between 1.5 and 2.75 s, a visual cue indicated the required task. The participants were instructed to perform kinesthetic MI of their right hand (condition 1) or both feet (condition 2) from the time the cue appeared on the screen until the time the cross disappeared (**Figure 1A**).

The system collected data offline until 10 trials were available for each class (\sim 3.5 min). After enough trials had been recorded during the training phase, online positive reinforcement regarding the strength of the mental activity was provided to the participants for each trial during data measurement. As only trials from the training phase were considered in this work, we do not detail this here. Further details may be found in Faller et al. (2012).

It is important to note that one of the aims of this work was to investigate motor control processes during BCI control. BCI control is typically based on either a small number of averaged trials or single trials. Indeed results identified from averaging across a larger number of trials could be misleading when applied to BCI.

PARTICIPANTS WITH CP

The second dataset was recorded from 14 BCI-naïve volunteers with CP (7 female and 7 male, median age 36 ± 11 years). All



participants exhibited upper limb disorders and 10 participants also exhibited lower limb disorders. Details of these participants are provided in **Table 2**.

EEG was recorded from electrodes AFz, FC3, FCz, FC4, C3, Cz, C4, CP3, CPz, CP4, PO3, POz, PO4, O1, Oz, and O2 via a g.GAMMAsys active electrode system along with a g.USBamp amplifier (g.tec, Guger Technologies OEG, Graz, Austria). Further details on the participants are reported elsewhere (Daly et al., 2013a).

A similar paradigm to that applied with the able-bodied participants was used. A cue-guided, auto-calibrating and adaptive SMR BCI paradigm was optimized for disabled users. The timing of the trials was adjusted based upon requests made by participants with CP, in a prior pilot study, for a longer MI period (see Daly et al., 2013a for details).

We presented a fixation cross from 0 to 1.5 s. From 1.5 to 3.5 s, a visual cue indicated the required task. From 3.5 to 8 s the system again displayed the fixation cross. The participants were instructed to perform four mental tasks, of which only kinesthetic MI of either hand (condition 1) or both feet (condition 2) were used for this analysis (see **Figure 1B**).

After the first auto-calibration, the system displayed feedback in the form of a bar, as with the control participants, from 3.5 to 8 s. Data were collected offline for the four conditions until a sufficient number of artifact-free trials were gathered for accurate estimation of the class boundaries. Thus, different numbers of trials were gathered per participant. Further details are provided in Daly et al. (2013a).

In this study, as with the control group, only EEG from the training period was used, to remove bias due to practice. Note that the length of the training period differed between participants, as some participants required more repetitions than others before sufficient class separation could be obtained by the classifier. Details on the feedback provided after the training phase may be found in Daly et al. (2013a).

Table 2 | Summary of the participants with CP.

Participant	Age	Gender	Orthopedic disorders
1	53	М	LLD, ULD
2	36	Μ	LLD, ULD
3	52	F	LLD
4	22	М	LLD, ULD
5	32	Μ	LLD
6	20	F	LLD, ULD
7	34	М	LLD, ULD
8	58	F	LLD
9	32	F	LLD
10	36	F	LLD, ULD
11	38	М	LLD, ULD
12	36	F	LLD, ULD
13	37	М	LLD, ULD
14	31	F	LLD, ULD

Gender is indicated by either M (male) or F (female). Orthopedic disorders are denoted by codes indicating lower limb disorders (LLD) or upper limb disorders (ULD).

PRE-PROCESSING

EEG from nine channels positioned over the motor cortex and common to the recording montage used with both participant groups was used (FC3, FCz, FC4, C3, Cz, C4, CP3, CPz, and CP4). The data were then re-referenced to a common average reference (CAR) scheme before segmentation into trials.

Trials containing artifacts were then identified as any trial for which the amplitude exceeded $\pm 80 \,\mu$ V. These trials were excluded from subsequent analysis. From the healthy users 2.58 (± 2.72) trials were removed and from the users with CP 8.07 (± 7.49) trials were removed.

As we were only interested in trials relating to the 2 MI tasks common to both groups, this leaves a total of 17.33 (\pm 2.77) trials remaining for healthy users and 19.92 (\pm 7.49) trials remaining for users with CP.

We focused on four frequency bands of interest in subsequent processing steps. These were the alpha (8-13 Hz), lower beta (13-16 Hz), mid beta (16-20 Hz), and upper beta (20-30 Hz) frequency bands.

BANDPOWER FEATURES

Band-powers (BP) were calculated for all channels as the root mean squared amplitude of the EEG filtered into the frequency bands of interest. These frequency bands were chosen as they are well-known to contain the ERD/S response observed during motor planning and execution/imagery (Pfurtscheller and Lopes da Silva, 1999). The data were then baselined; the mean BP amplitude in the 1.5 s prior to cue appearance was subtracted from the data.

Our aim was to derive a representative BP response from the EEG for the participants with CP, in order to examine potential differences to healthy participants. Even within a specific CP subtype, CP inherently has significant variability, as lesions can occur at different locations or take different forms such as malformations, periventricular lesions or cortico-subcortical lesions (Wu et al., 2006; Korzeniewski et al., 2008). We therefore averaged the BP of the nine CAR channels described above to attempt to correct for inter-participant differences in spatial locations of greatest ERD/S manifestation.

Additionally, baseline BP in the 1.5 s pre-cue baseline period was also compared between groups.

PHASE LOCKING VALUE (PLV)

Following bandpass filtering to provide a narrow band signal, PLVs between channel pairs were calculated as per Lachaux et al. (1999). We filtered the channels into the four frequency bands of interest. We then extracted the instantaneous phase from each trial using the Hilbert transform and calculated the PLV pair-wise for all possible channel combinations according to the following formula (Lachaux et al., 1999)

$$\label{eq:PLV} \text{PLV}_t = \frac{1}{N} \left| \sum\nolimits_{n \, = \, 1}^N \text{exp}(j \theta(t, n)) \right|,$$

where N denotes the number of trials to average, t denotes the time point in the time series, and $\theta(t,n)$ denotes the phase difference between the two time series. The PLVs for all possible

pairwise combinations were then averaged as per the approach taken in Sweeney-Reed et al. (2012).

Additionally, PLVs between the primary motor cortex (M1) and the supplementary motor area (SMA) were estimated by measuring the mean PLV between channels FPz-C3, FPz-Cz, and FPz-C4. This was based upon observed strong PLV between M1 and the SMA during MI-BCI control (Wang et al., 2006).

PHASE DYNAMICS

The temporal dynamics of the phase of the EEG across multiple EEG channels were compared using the method described in Daly et al. (2013c). First, the phase values from the preprocessed multivariate EEG time series from the channels over the motor cortex (FC3, FCz, FC4, C3, Cz, C4, CP3, CPz, and CP4) were used to define a relative phase vector by taking their phase relative to the average phase on a set of reference channels. These reference channels were chosen to minimize the effect of specific phase dynamics on one channel biasing the results and are symmetrically arranged about the midline. Formally,

$$\Phi_{i}(t) = \theta_{i}(t) - \theta_{R}(t),$$

where $\theta_i(t)$ denotes the phase on channel i at time t and $\theta_R(t)$ denotes the phase on a reference channel R at time t. The following four channels were used as references FC3, FC4, CP3, and CP4. These were chosen as they surround the channels most often associated with MI (C3, Cz, and C4).

A relative phase pattern vector was then defined as

$$\Upsilon (t) = (\Phi_1 (t), \ldots, \Phi_N (t)),$$

where N denotes the number of channels for which relative phase Φ_i was calculated.

The relative phase pattern vector characterizes the phase across the multivariate time series at a given moment in time. Thus, its temporal evolution is informative about the temporal dynamics of phase across the motor cortex.

The time series of relative phase patterns were then segmented into regions of phase stability. This was done via the Instantaneous Instability Index (III) (Ito et al., 2007) of the relative phase pattern vectors, which is defined as

$$I\left(t\right) = \sqrt{\sum\nolimits_{i=1}^{N} d_{i}(t)^{2}}, \label{eq:I}$$

with

$$d_{i}\left(t\right)=\frac{1}{N}\sum\nolimits_{h=1}^{N}\left\{1{-}\cos\left(\Phi_{i}\left(t\right){-}\Phi_{h}\left(t\right)\right)\right\}$$

A period of phase stability may be defined as a period for which I falls below a certain percentile of its magnitude values; the fiftieth percentile—as used in Ito et al. (2007)—was used in this work. A Global Phase Synchronization (GPS) pattern vector was then defined across each of the periods of synchronization. Formally,

$$\mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{g}} = (\Xi_1^{\mathbf{g}}, \dots, \Xi_N^{\mathbf{g}}),$$

defines the GPS pattern vector, where

$$\Xi_i^g = tan^{-1} \frac{\sum_{t\,\in\,l^g} \sin\Phi_i(t)}{\sum_{t\,\in\,l^g} \cos\Phi_i(t)} \;,$$

and where l^g denotes the gth GPS episode, with $1 \le g \le M$ and M is equal to the number of GPS episodes. Thus, the vector p^g gives the average phase pattern during a single episode of GPS.

The entire series of phase pattern vectors p^g was then clustered and labeled via a K-means clustering approach to produce a labeled GPS time-series, s^g . In this work K = 6, based upon the choice made in Ito et al. (2007) and Daly et al. (2013c).

The temporal dynamics of phase synchronization patterns (the labeled GPS time-series) were characterized by a Hidden Markov model (HMM) which attempted to capture the temporal dynamics of the process by assuming an underlying stochastic system modeled by a series of state transitions. Each of the k states within the HMM can generate observables, which comprise the values taken by the labeled GPS time-series.

HMMs may be used to model and classify the temporal dynamics of phase pattern vectors. Initial parameters were drawn from uniform distributions. Further details of how this may be done are reported elsewhere (Daly et al., 2013c). In this work the number of states in the HMM was determined by application of a summation of Akaike's information criterion and Bayesian information criteria (AIC + BIC) (Visser et al., 2002). The HMM toolbox provided by Murphy (1998) was chosen for implementation due to its low computational cost.

COMPARISON

Stepwise regressions were calculated with mean BP strengths and PLVs over all trials in the MI period used as the criteria. The time series of relative BPs and PLVs were first segmented into time windows of length 2 s from 0 s relative to the cross onset to 8 s. Thus, four time segments were created (0–2, 2–4, 4–6, and 6–8 s) and BP strengths and PLV values averaged over these time segments.

The predictors were group (healthy users vs. users with CP), age, gender, and number of artifact-free trials completed by each participant and included in the analysis. Separate regressions were performed for the classes hand and feet MI with mean ERD/S and PLV strengths in the alpha and beta bands.

Comparisons were made across four frequency bands and four time segments. It may be argued that a Bonferroni correction is required. However, subsequent time segments are not independent of one another, which is assumed by Bonferroni correction. Additionally, the frequency bands investigated were selected based upon their known involvement in motor-related activity (Pfurtscheller et al., 1997). Therefore, because of the lack of independence between time segments, and because we expect motor related responses at many of the investigated frequencies, we list all comparisons significant at p < 0.05 (uncorrected).

In order to assess the reliability of differing phase dynamics to differentiate between user groups, HMMs were trained and applied to classify the mean BP and PLV trials from each participant into either users with CP or healthy users in a leave-one-out train and validation scheme. This was done independently for the

hand and feet MI conditions. Statistical significance of the resulting accuracy was then assessed against the null hypothesis of equal probability of each class label being assigned.

Additionally, to determine whether the HMM classification result was determined by the user group (users with CP vs. healthy users), or some other factor (e.g., age), stepwise regressions were calculated. The log-likelihood ratio between the two groups was entered as the criterion. The predictors were group (healthy users vs. users with CP), age, gender, and the number of artifact-free trials completed by each of the participants. Separate regressions were performed for the classes hand and feet MI.

Note, *t*-testing was used for *post-hoc* testing and assumes normality of each tested distribution. To check for this a one sample Kolmogorov–Smirnov test for normality was performed prior to each *post-hoc t*-test reported throughout this work.

RESULTS

During periods of MI both healthy BCI users and BCI users with CP exhibited ERD/S changes from baseline in the alpha and beta frequency bands. These were accompanied by increases over baseline in the degree of observed PLV. Background PLV levels were also observed to be higher in participants with CP compared to healthy participants. Finally, significant differences were observed in phase dynamics between participant groups, with healthy participants exhibiting greater levels of inter-channel phase differences than participants with CP. These findings are summarized in **Table 3** and detailed in the following sections.

SENSORIMOTOR RHYTHM ACTIVITY

Results are summarized in **Table 4**. In the alpha frequency band (8–13 Hz) larger ERDs were found for hand MI in healthy participants. A significant effect of group (healthy users vs. users with CP) was found for the hand MI task in time segments

Table 3 | Summary of key findings.

	Healthy	СР
Papalina PIV	· · ·	
Relative PLV	>	
Relative ERD/S	>	
III dynamics	>	

Table 4 | Summary of significant ERD/S findings.

MI: hand/feet	Group with greater ERD	Frequency	Time (s)	Stepwise regression <i>r</i> ² -value	Post-hoc t-test p-value
Hand	Healthy	Alpha	4–6	0.148	=0.034
Hand	Healthy	Alpha	6–8	0.180	=0.033
Hand	Healthy	Mid beta	4–6	0.156	=0.048
Hand	Healthy	Mid beta	6–8	0.176	=0.043
Feet	Healthy	Mid beta	4–6	0.239	=0.004
Feet	Healthy	Mid beta	6–8	0.231	=0.017
Hand	Healthy	High beta	4–6	0.310	=0.005

4–6 s $(r^2 = 0.148; p = 0.0473)$ and 6–8 s $(r^2 = 0.180; p = 0.0274)$. Note, r^2 denotes the root mean squared fit of the model.

Post-hoc t-tests revealed a significantly larger (more negative) BP reduction in healthy users than users with CP (i.e., MI-related ERD was significantly less in the CP group) (p = 0.034 and p = 0.033). No other significant effects were observed in the alpha frequency band.

In all instances of *post-hoc* testing the test failed to reject the null hypothesis of normality (p > 0.05 and p > 0.01).

In the mid beta band (16–20 Hz) significantly larger ERDs were observed in healthy participants from 4 s onwards during both hand and feet MI. A significant effect of group was found during hand MI between 4 and 6 s ($r^2 = 0.156$; p = 0.042). *Posthoc* testing (*t*-test) revealed a significantly greater ERD (more negative relative BP) in healthy users (p = 0.048). Additionally, between 6 and 8 s during hand MI, there was a significant effect of group ($r^2 = 0.176$; p = 0.011). *Post-hoc* testing revealed a significantly greater ERD (more negative BP) in healthy users. Between 4–6 s ($r^2 = 0.239$; p = 0.009) and 6–8 s ($r^2 = 0.231$; p = 0.011) significant effects of group were observed, with *post-hoc t*-tests revealing significantly more ERD (negative BP) in healthy users (p = 0.004) than users with CP (p = 0.017).

In the upper beta frequency band (20–30 Hz) larger ERD was observed during hand MI in healthy participants. A significant effect of group was observed during hand MI between 4 and 6 s ($r^2 = 0.310$; p = 0.002). A *post-hoc t*-test again revealed significantly more ERD (negative relative BP) in healthy users (p = 0.005). Note, no other significant effects of any predictors were observed in any frequency band. Also of note, is the observation that the lower beta frequency band (13–16 Hz) contained no significant effects of any independent variable within any time segments.

An example of mean BPs in the mid beta frequency band during hand MI tasks for each participant group is illustrated in **Figure 2**. Note the large negative BP fluctuation exhibited by healthy users when compared to users with CP. Significant differences were observed in the 1.5 s baseline period, with significant effects of group in most frequency bands and classes (hand-alpha: $r^2 = 0.351$; p = 0.002, foot-alpha: $r^2 = 0.286$; p = 0.007, hand-lower-beta: $r^2 = 0.235$; p = 0.022, hand-mid-beta: $r^2 = 0.275$; p < 0.001, foot-mid-beta: $r^2 = 0.236$; p = 0.005, hand-upper-beta: $r^2 = 0.269$; p < 0.001, foot-upper-beta: $r^2 = 0.264$ p = 0.001). In each case *post-hoc* testing (*t*-test) revealed significantly larger baseline (background) BP recorded from individuals with CP.

PHASE LOCKING VALUES

Results for PLVs are summarized in Table 5.

In the alpha frequency band a significant effect of group was observed during hand MI between 4–6 s ($r^2 = 0.268$; p = 0.006) and 6–8 s ($r^2 = 0.364$; p = 0.001). *Post-hoc* tests (*t*-tests) revealed relative PLV values to be significantly higher in healthy users (p = 0.013) compared to users with CP (p < 0.001).

When considering the PLVs between M1 and the SMA a significant effect of group was observed during hand MI between 4–6 s ($r^2 = 0.167$; p = 0.034) and 6–8 s ($r^2 = 0.232$; p = 0.011). *Posthoc* testing revealed a significantly higher level of M1-SMA PLV in healthy users (p = 0.034 and p = 0.009). Additionally, a significant effect of gender was observed during feet MI between 0 and 2 s ($r^2 = 0.148$; p = 0.047). *Post-hoc* testing revealed significantly higher M1-SMA PLV for female participants (p = 0.029).

In the lower beta frequency band a significant effect of group was observed in the time window 6–8 s during hand MI ($r^2 = 0.239$; p = 0.009) and during feet MI ($r^2 = 0.183$; p = 0.026). A *post-hoc t*-test revealed a significant increase in PLVs in healthy users (p = 0.012 and p = 0.009). A significant effect of group was also observed for the M1-SMA PLV in the lower beta band during hand MI between 6 and 8 s ($r^2 = 0.225$; p = 0.012). *Post-hoc* testing revealed a larger PLV in healthy participants (p = 0.016).

In the mid beta frequency band a significant effect of Group was observed during hand MI in time segments 4–6 s ($r^2 = 0.336$; p = 0.001) and 6–8 s ($r^2 = 0.347$; p < 0.001). *Post-hoc t*-tests again revealed significantly larger PLVs in healthy users (p = 0.001) and p = 0.001 and p = 0.001).



Table 5 Summary	of significant P	LV findings.
-------------------	------------------	--------------

MI: hand/feet Region: MC/M1-SMA	Group with greater PLV	Frequency	Time (s)	Stepwise regression <i>r</i> ² -value	Post-hoc t-test p-value
Hand, MC	Healthy	Alpha	4–6	0.268	=0.013
Hand, MC	Healthy	Alpha	6–8	0.364	=0.001
Hand, M1-SMA	Healthy	Alpha	4–6	0.167	=0.034
Hand, M1-SMA	Healthy	Alpha	6–8	0.232	=0.009
Hand, MC	Healthy	Lower beta	6–8	0.239	=0.012
Feet, MC	Healthy	Lower beta	6–8	0.183	=0.009
Hand, M1-SMA	Healthy	Lower beta	6–8	0.225	=0.012
Hand, MC	Healthy	Mid beta	4–6	0.336	=0.006
Hand, MC	Healthy	Mid beta	6–8	0.347	=0.004
Feet, MC	Healthy	Mid beta	4–6	0.202	=0.025
Feet, MC	Healthy	Mid beta	6–8	0.376	=0.015
Hand, M1-SMA	Healthy	Mid beta	6–8	0.197	=0.014
Feet, M1-SMA	Healthy	Mid beta	4–6	0.196	=0.036
Feet, M1-SMA	Healthy	Mid beta	6–8	0.266	=0.011
Hand, MC	Healthy	Upper beta	0–2	0.214	=0.004
Hand, MC	Healthy	Upper beta	2–4	0.268	=0.003
Hand, MC	Healthy	Upper beta	4–6	0.511	< 0.001
Hand, MC	Healthy	Upper beta	6–8	0.399	=0.002
Feet, MC	Healthy	Upper beta	4–6	0.169	=0.021
Hand, M1-SMA	Healthy	Upper beta	4–6	0.341	=0.005
Hand, M1-SMA	Healthy	Upper beta	6–8	0.303	=0.009

Region denotes the region of the motor cortex considered where MC denotes the whole motor cortex and M1-SMA denotes PLVs between the M1 and SMA regions.

When considering the PLV between M1 and the SMA in the mid beta band a significant effect of group was observed during hand MI between 6–8 s ($r^2 = 0.197$; p = 0.001) and during feet MI between 4 and 6 s ($r^2 = 0.196$; p = 0.021) and 6–8 s ($r^2 = 0.266$; p = 0.006). *Post-hoc t*-tests revealed significantly larger PLVs in healthy users compared to users with CP (p = 0.014; p = 0.036; p = 0.011). Additionally, significant effects of gender were observed during hand MI between 0 and 2 s ($r^2 = 0.191$; p = 0.023), with a *post-hoc t*-test revealing significantly larger PLVs in female users (p = 0.027).

In the upper beta frequency band, significant effects of group were observed in time segments 0-2 s ($r^2 = 0.214$; p =0.015), 2–4 s ($r^2 = 0.268$; p = 0.006), 4–6 s ($r^2 = 0.511$; p < 0.015) 0.001), and 6-8s ($r^2 = 0.399$; p < 0.001) during hand MI. Post-hoc t-tests revealed that in each case there were significantly larger PLVs in the healthy users than in the users with CP (p = 0.004, p = 0.003, p < 0.001, and p = 0.002). Additionally, during feet MI a significant effect of user age was observed in the time segment 0-2 s ($r^2 = 0.195$; p =0.021), with post-hoc testing (correlation) revealing a significant negative correlation with PLV strength decreasing with increasing age (r = -0.442; p = 0.021). Finally, during feet MI significant effects of group $(r^2 = 0.169; p = 0.009)$ and participant gender ($r^2 = 0.364$; p = 0.012) were observed in the time segment 4-6s, with post-hoc t-tests revealing larger PLVs in healthy users (p = 0.021) and larger PLVs in female users (p = 0.032).

Significant effects of group were also found for PLVs between M1 and the SMA in the upper beta band during hand MI between 4–6 s ($r^2 = 0.341$; p < 0.001) and 6–8 s ($r^2 = 0.303$; p = 0.003), with *post-hoc t*-tests revealing larger PLVs in healthy users (p = 0.005 and p = 0.009). Additionally, a significant effect of gender was observed during feet MI between 4 and 6 s ($r^2 = 0.212$; p = 0.016), with a *post-hoc t*-test revealing a larger PLV in female users (p = 0.040).

An example of mean relative PLVs in the mid beta frequency band during hand MI is illustrated in **Figure 3**. Note that there



was a large increase in PLV in the healthy user group and only a very small increase in the group of users with CP.

PHASE DYNAMICS

Phase dynamics may be observed in the time series of III values. An example is illustrated in **Figure 4**. Note that healthy users exhibited greater III levels than users with CP. The higher levels indicate a greater amount of instability in the inter-channel phase differences in the healthy individuals.

Users may be differentiated by their group (either users with CP or healthy users) with an accuracy of 0.7143 (p < 0.05) for the hand MI condition and 0.7500 (p < 0.05) for the feet MI condition. Thus, a significant difference was observed in phase dynamics between users with CP and healthy users during both MI tasks.

The results of the stepwise regressions revealed a significant effect of group ($r^2 = 0.168$; p = 0.046) for hand MI.

Additionally, a significant effect of group ($r^2 = 0.179$; p = 0.039) was also revealed for feet MI with no significant effects of any other predictors. This result indicates that the difference in log likelihoods of the phase dynamics of each user being generated by one or other of the HMMs was determined by the users' group rather than other potential factors such as their age. This result, therefore, further confirms a significant difference in phase dynamics between users with CP and healthy users.

DISCUSSION

Individuals with CP exhibited statistically significantly smaller ERD strengths and PLVs in channels recorded over the motor cortex than healthy individuals while performing two common BCI control tasks: hand MI and feet MI. Significant differences were observed most often between 4 and 8 s relative to fixation cross presentation time. There was also a larger BP in the baseline period in individuals with CP. Additionally, analogous differences were also observed in motor cortex PLV strengths and PLV strengths between the primary motor cortex (M1) and the SMA.

The observed differences were most frequently explained by the participants' group (whether they have CP or not), as compared to differences in age, numbers of trials performed, or gender, which only sporadically explained the observed differences. Furthermore, a significant difference was also observed in the phase dynamics exhibited by each participant group, with individuals with CP exhibiting smaller differences in moment-tomoment phase stability.

It is important to consider the time course of the trial when discussing these results. All the trials included for analysis are from the training runs for both the healthy users and the users with CP. During these runs, no feedback was provided to the users. Hence, it was not clear to users at which point MI should cease. This is reflected in the long periods of observed MI which extend up to 8 s from fixation cross presentation time.

The lesser degree of ERD coupled with higher baseline BP activity suggests impairment of motor cortical engagement during attempted motor control tasks in individuals with CP, resulting in reduced levels of suppression of the ongoing alpha and beta frequencies and different temporal dynamics. The latter was indicated by reduced short-range synchronization of motor cortex activity and differing rates of phase state transitions. High levels of local phase synchrony in motor areas have been shown to precede movement in healthy participants, possibly due to a participant involved in a motor-related task being in a continual state of readiness to move, followed by a phase-scattering which has been interpreted as preparation for the selection of the particular neural assembly required for the selected movement (Sweeney-Reed and Nasuto, 2009). The present results indicate that such a state of preparedness is reduced or absent in participants with CP, and we suggest that this may be a result of inadequate development of the ability to form relevant functional connectivity patterns during early developmental stages. Additionally, the higher levels of background activity in the alpha and beta frequency bands (as indicated via the differences in baseline activity) may indicate less motor cortical localisation and specialization in individuals with CP.

The smaller III fluctuations in the group of participants with CP are an interesting observation. III reflects the number of transitions between phase microstates (Ito et al., 2007), which represent short lasting periods of stability in the electrical activity in the brain. Such electrical activity is thought to follow a pattern of chaotic itinerancy in which the trajectory of phase activity wanders through a landscape of ruined attractors (Ito et al., 2007). A smaller level of III fluctuation therefore corresponds to longer time periods spent at each localized attractor and a potentially less reactive set of dynamics. This may be indicative of a more diffuse (unstructured) mode of inter-cortical communication in individuals with CP.



It has been shown elsewhere that, in addition to impairment in motor planning, individuals with CP also exhibit impairment in MI as measured via rotation-related negativity by Parson's hand rotation paradigm (Crajé et al., 2010; Van Elk et al., 2010). As there is a known relationship between efficacy at hand mental rotation and ERD strength (Chen et al., 2013), it is reasonable to speculate that there may, therefore, be a relationship between CP-related impairment and ERD strength.

In contrast, individuals with severe stroke lesion induced impairments are seen to exhibit larger ERD/S strengths (Kaiser et al., 2012). Furthermore, the ERD strength may increase in the non-lesioned hemisphere (possibly as a compensatory neuroplastic change). While it is reasonable to hypothesize that lesions occurring in the fetal brain or during infancy will also induce changes in ERD strength, the lack of a compensatory increase in ERD strength elsewhere in the motor cortex may be, potentially, explained by recruitment of those cortical areas for other functions.

Additionally, post-stroke the ERD/S strength may reflect a re-learning process as the individual attempts to recruit other cortical areas to re-learn actions familiar pre-stroke. In the case of individuals with CP, such re-learning may not be possible, as the impairment was present from childhood, and motor cortical pathways are either damaged or have since been recruited for other tasks via neuroplastic processes.

Another factor that may explain the differences between individuals with CP and post-stroke individuals could relate to differences in learning processes. It has been reported that children with CP exhibit significantly slower rates of learning motor tasks than aged-matched healthy children (Hung and Gordon, 2013). Learning to use a MI-BCI may be described as akin to a motor learning task. Therefore, the lower ERD responses observed by individuals using our BCI may be a result of a slower learning process. Given further training, it is possible that individuals with CP may eventually learn to generate ERDs equivalent in strength to those generated by healthy individuals.

The effects on the analysis results of multiple comparisons should be discussed. Each set of features (ERD/S strengths and PLV values) was divided into four time segments and four frequency bands across two conditions. Therefore, 32 comparisons were made for each of the features (ERD/S values and PLVs). It should be noted, however, that many of the observed significant differences between the groups occurred in stable regions. For example, the majority of the significant differences in ERD/S strength occur in the time segments 4–6 and 6–8 s. Additionally, the investigated frequency bands are known to be involved with motor processes. We therefore suggest that application of a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons would be inappropriate here, as it takes no account of these regions of significant differences.

The findings that there are significant effects of age (upper beta) on the ability to separate ERD strength are of some interest. However, these effects are not reliably repeated across frequency bands, time segments, or conditions. The lack of repeatability suggests that these effects may be falsely positive, arising from the multiple comparisons made in the analysis.

The differing numbers of trials between participants and groups was hypothesized to be a significant factor. However, this was not observed to be the case. Additionally, it is important to note that it is common in BCI studies to attempt to determine motor control intention from a relatively small number of trials. Thus, the small number of trials used here represents a realistic challenge, while the larger number of participants adds robustness to the results.

Our findings may be contrasted with those in Pires et al. (2011), in which no differences were observed in P300-BCI performance when comparing between healthy users and users with CP. However, it is important to note that differences in profiles of P300 ERPs compared to SMR activity make comparison between these studies non-trivial. Furthermore, only three individuals with CP participated in the work described in Pires et al. (2011) and these were not differentiated from users with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS).

In contrast, Nam et al. (2012) compared functional integration, measured by coherence, during a P300 BCI control task performed by individuals with CP, ALS, and healthy controls. A lower BCI accuracy and information transfer rate was found for individuals in both the motor disabled groups (Nam et al., 2012). This was seen to occur alongside an increase in localized coherence during the task in healthy participants when compared to participants in the groups of motor impaired individuals. The difference between electrophysiological activity during MI when compared to P300 means a direct interpretation of these results against MI is not possible. However, they do indicate that some difference in performance at a BCI task may be observed in individuals with CP and that this may also relate to changing levels of connectivity.

Of particular note is that our work examines ERD (based upon the Fourier transform) and phases (based upon non-linear analysis) separately, as these have been shown to exhibit different time courses (Sweeney-Reed and Nasuto, 2009). Previous studies have investigated connectivity in the brain, during BCI control tasks, via the coherence measure (e.g., Krusienski et al., 2012). Coherence is a measure of amplitude and phase. By separating them, we have been able to reveal different aspects of neural processing and increase our understanding of the underlying physiology.

These findings have potential implications for research into the use of BCIs by individuals with CP. First, smaller ERD strengths are harder to differentiate reliably from on-going EEG activity. Hence, MI-BCI control accuracy may be expected to be lower for individuals with CP. Second, BCIs for neurofeedback rehabilitation efforts could, for example, be tailored to encourage greater ERD strength. On the one hand, a case study has already demonstrated improvement in ERD-based classification rates following neurofeedback (Neuper et al., 2003). On the other hand, we postulate that such neurofeedback may, additionally, increase the ability of this user group to accurately control their own motor functions.

Additionally, the lower ERD strength exhibited in individuals with lesions occurring in early childhood compared to lesions occurring in adulthood (e.g., stroke) suggests that delivering neurofeedback rehabilitation in childhood to individuals with CP may be one promising route of enquiry. This may encourage early neuro-plastic changes and allow acquisition of motor control, which would otherwise prove more challenging.

There are some limitations to our study: The heterogeneity of our CP participants means that we do not have enough participants to provide statistical evidence that the variation in the specific diagnoses of the participants with CP would explain the high variability of ERD/S strengths in that group. Another possible limitation was that the age of the participants was not matched. We did, however, find that this factor did not have a significant effect in our regression analysis.

In future work we intend to explore differences between individuals with CP and how this relates to their ability to produce ERD/S responses and control a BCI. We will also attempt to use the knowledge gained from this study to expedite the development of BCIs that work as effectively as possible for individuals with CP.

CONCLUSION

A significant difference was found between individuals with CP and healthy individuals in terms of the strength of the ERD response, PLV strength, and phase dynamics measured from them during hand and feet MI tasks. Individuals with CP produced significantly lower ERD strengths and PLVs. This suggests that efforts to develop MI-BCIs for individuals with CP must be tailored to the lower ERD response and differences in connectivity strengths expected in this population. Therefore, providing reliable BCI control to users with CP presents a greater challenge than providing BCIs to healthy users.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the FP7 Framework EU Research Project ABC (No. 287774). This paper only reflects the authors' views and funding agencies are not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained herein.

REFERENCES

- Badawi, N., Watson, L., Petterson, B., Blair, E., Slee, J., Haan, E., et al. (2008). What constitutes cerebral palsy? *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 40, 520–527. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.1998.tb15410.x
- Baker, S. N. (2007). Oscillatory interactions between sensorimotor cortex and the periphery. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 17, 649–655. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2008.01.007
- Brunner, C., Scherer, R., Graimann, B., Supp, G., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2006). Online control of a Brain-computer interface using phase synchronization. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 53, 2501–2506. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2006.881775
- Chen, X., Bin, G., Daly, I., and Gao, X. (2013). Event-related desynchronization (ERD) in the alpha band during a hand mental rotation task. *Neurosci. Lett.* 541, 238–242. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.02.036
- Crajé, C., Van Elk, M., Beeren, M., Van Schie, H. T., Bekkering, H., and Steenbergen, B. (2010). Compromised motor planning and motor imagery in right hemiparetic cerebral palsy. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 31, 1313–1322. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010.07.010

- Daly, I., Aloise, F., Arico, P., Belda, J., Billinger, M., Bolinger, E., et al. (2013b). "Rapid prototyping for hBCI users with Cerebral palsy," in *Proceedings of the Fifth International Brain-Computer Interface Meeting: Defining the Future* (Las Vegas, NV), S.27–S.28.
- Daly, I., Billinger, M., Laparra-Hernándex, J., Aloise, F., Garcia, M. L., Faller, J., et al. (2013a). On the control of brain-computer interfaces by users with cerebral palsy. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 124, 1787–1797. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013. 02.118
- Daly, I., Nasuto, S. J., and Warwick, K. (2011). Brain computer interface control via functional connectivity dynamics. *Pattern Recogn.* 45, 2123–2136. doi: 10.1016/j.patcog.2011.04.034
- Daly, I., Sweeney-Reed, C. M., and Nasuto, S. J. (2013c). Testing for significance of phase synchronisation dynamics in the EEG. J. Comput. Neurosci. 34, 411–432. doi: 10.1007/s10827-012-0428-2
- Faller, J., Vidaurre, C., Solis-Escalante, T., Neuper, C., and Scherer, R. (2012). Autocalibration and recurrent adaptation: towards a plug and play online ERD-BCI. *IEEE Trans. Neural. Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 20, 313–319. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2012.2189584
- Foldes, S. T. (2011). "Stability of MEG for real-time neurofeedback," in Proceedings of the Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society Conference (Boston, MA), 5778–5781.
- Hinterberger, T., Widman, G., Lal, T. N., Hill, J., Tangermann, M., Rosenstiel, W., et al. (2008). Voluntary brain regulation and communication with electrocorticogram signals. *Epilepsy Behav.* 13, 300–306. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2008.03.014
- Holm, V. A. (1982). The causes of cerebral palsy. A contemporary perspective. *JAMA* 247, 1473–1477. doi: 10.1001/jama.1982.03320350071039
- Hung, Y.-C., and Gordon, A. M. (2013). Motor learning of a bimanual task in children with unilateral cerebral palsy. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 34, 1891–1896. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2013.03.008
- Ito, J., Nikolaev, A. R., and Van Leeuwen, C. (2007). Dynamics of spontaneous transitions between global brain states. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 28, 904–913. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20316
- Kaiser, V., Daly, I., Pichiorri, F., Mattia, D., Müller-Putz, G. R., and Neuper, C. (2012). On the relationship between electrical brain responses to motor imagery and motor impairment in stroke. *Stroke* 43, 2735–2740. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.665489
- Korzeniewski, S. J., Birbeck, G., DeLano, M. C., Potchen, M. J., and Paneth, N. (2008). A systematic review of neuroimaging for cerebral palsy. J. Child Neurol. 23, 216–227. doi: 10.1177/0883073807307983

Krigger, K. W. (2006). Cerebral palsy: an overview. Am. Fam. Physician 73, 91-100.

- Krusienski, D. J., McFarland, D. J., and Wolpaw, J. R. (2012). Value of amplitude, phase, and coherence features for a sensorimotor rhythm-based brain-computer interface. *Brain Res. Bull.* 87, 130–134. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.09.019
- Lachaux, J. P., Rodriguez, E., Martinerie, J., and Varela, F. J. (1999). Measuring phase synchrony in brain signals. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 8, 194–208.
- Meinecke, F., Ziehe, A., Kurths, J., and Müller, K. (2005). Measuring phase synchronization of superimposed signals. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 94:084102. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.94.084102
- Millán, J., Rupp, R., Müller-Putz, G., Murray-Smith, R., Giugliemma, C., Tangermann, M., et al. (2010). Combining brain-computer interfaces and assistive technologies: state-of-the-art and challenges. *Front. Neurosci.* 4:161. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2010.00161
- Miller, F. (2005). Cerebral Palsy. New York, NY: Springer.
- Müller-Putz, G. R., Neuper, C., Rupp, R., Keinrath, C., Gerner, H., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2003). Event-related beta electroencephalographic changes during wrist movements induced by functional electrical stimulation of forearm muscles in man. *Neurosci. Lett.* 340, 143–147. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(03)00019-3
- Müller-Putz, G. R., Zimmermann, D., Graimann, B., Nestinger, K., Korisek, G., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2007). Event-related beta EEG-changes during passive and attempted foot movements in paraplegic patients. *Brain Res.* 1137, 84–91. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2006.12.052
- Murphy, K. (1998). *Hidden Markov Model (HMM) Toolbox for Matlab*. Available online at: http://www.cs.ubc.ca/~murphyk/Software/HMM/hmm.html
- Nam, J., Woo, S., and Bahn, S. (2012). Severe motor disability affects functional cortical integration in the context of brain-computer interface (BCI) use. *Ergonomics* 55, 581–591. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2011.647095
- Neuper, C., Müller, G. R., Kübler, A., Birbaumer, N., and Pfurtscheller, G. (2003). Clinical application of an EEG-based brain-computer interface: a case study in

a patient with severe motor impairment. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 114, 399–409. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00387-5

- Neuper, C., Schlögl, A., and Pfurtscheller, G. (1999). Enhancement of left–right sensorimotor EEG differences during feedback-regulated motor imagery. J. Clin. Neurophysiol. 16, 373–382. doi: 10.1097/00004691-199907000-00010
- Niedermeyer, E. (1999). "The normal EEG of the waking adult," in Electroencephalography: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications and Related Fields, eds E. Niedermeyer and F. Lopes da Silva (Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins), 149–173.
- Odding, E., Roebroeck, M. E., and Stam, H. J. (2006). The epidemiology of cerebral palsy: incidence, impairments and risk factors. *Disabil. Rehabil.* 28, 183–191. doi: 10.1080/09638280500158422
- Palisano, R., Rosenbaum, P., Walter, S., Russell, D., Wood, E., and Galuppi, B. (1997). Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 39, 214–223. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.1997.tb07414.x
- Perlman, J. (1997). Intrapartum hypoxic-ischemic cerebral injury and subsequent cerebral palsy: medicolegal issues. *Pediatrics* 99, 851–859. doi: 10.1542/peds.99.6.851
- Pfurtscheller, G., and Lopes da Silva, F. (1999). Event-related EEG/MEG synchronization and desynchronization: basic principles. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 110, 1842–1857. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00141-8
- Pfurtscheller, G., and Neuper, C. (2001). Motor imagery and direct brain-computer communication. *Proc. IEEE* 89, 1123–1134. doi: 10.1109/5.939829
- Pfurtscheller, G., Neuper, C., Flotzinger, D., and Pregenzer, M. (1997). EEGbased discrimination between imagination of right and left hand movement. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 103, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/S0013-4694(97)00080-1
- Pires, G., Nunes, M., and Castelo-Branco, M. (2011). Statistical spatial filtering for a P300-based BCIL tests in able-bodied, and patients with cerebral palsy and emyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 195, 270–281. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2010.11.016
- Sellers, E. W., Vaughan, T. M., and Wolpaw J. R. (2010). A brain-computer interface for long-term independent home use. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scier.* 11, 449–455. doi: 10.3109/17482961003777470
- Sweeney-Reed, C. M., and Nasuto, S. J. (2009). Detection of neural correlates of self-paced motor activity using empirical mode decomposition phase locking analysis. J. Neurosci. Methods 184, 54–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009. 07.023

- Sweeney-Reed, C. M., Riddell, P. M., Ellis, J. A., Freeman, J. E., and Nasuto, S. J. (2012). Neural correlates of true and false memory in mild cognitive impairment. *PLoS ONE* 7:e48357. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048357
- Van Elk, M., Crajé, C., Beeren, M. E., Steenbergen, B., Van Schie, H. T., and Bekkering, H. (2010). Neural evidence for compromised motor imagery in right hemiparetic cerebral palsy. *Front. Neurol.* 1:150. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2010.00150
- Varela, F., Lachaux, E., Rodriguez, E., and Martinerie, J. (2001). The brainweb: phase synchronization and large-scale integration. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 229–239. doi: 10.1038/35067550
- Visser, I., Raijmakers, P., and Molenaar, P. C. M. (2002). Fitting hidden Markov models to psychological data. Sci. Program. 20, 185–199.
- Wang, Y., Hong, B., Gao, X., and Gao, S. (2006). Phase synchrony measurement in motor cortex for classifying single-trial EEG during motor imagery. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 1, 75–78. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2006.259673
- Wolpaw, J. R., Birbaumer, N., McFarland, D. J., Pfurtscheller, G., and Vaughan, T. M. (2002). Brain-computer interfaces for communication and control. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 113, 767–791. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00057-3
- Wu, Y. W., Lindan, C. E., Henning, L. H., Yoshida, C. K., Fullerton, H. J., Ferriero, D. M., et al. (2006). Neuroimaging abnormalities in infants with congenital hemiparesis. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 35, 191–196. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2006.03.002
- Zimmermann-Schlatter, A., Schuster, C., Phan, M., Siekierka, E., and Steurer, J. (2008). Efficacy of motor imagery in post-stroke rehabilitation: a systematic review. J. Neuroeng. Rehabil. 5, 1–10. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-5-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 February 2014; accepted: 12 June 2014; published online: 09 July 2014. Citation: Daly I, Faller J, Scherer R, Sweeney-Reed CM, Nasuto SJ, Billinger M and Müller-Putz GR (2014) Exploration of the neural correlates of cerebral palsy for sensorimotor BCI control. Front. Neuroeng. 7:20. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00020 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Neuroengineering.

Copyright © 2014 Daly, Faller, Scherer, Sweeney-Reed, Nasuto, Billinger and Müller-Putz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.